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FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION
Throughout this report, references to the "Company," "we," "us" and "our" refer to Crocs, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries, unless the context
indicates otherwise.
Statements in this Form 10-K and in documents incorporated by reference (or otherwise made by us or on our behalf) contain "forward looking
statements" within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. In addition, we may make other written and oral
communications from time to time that contain such statements. Forward looking statements include statements as to industry trends and our future
expectations and other matters that do not relate strictly to historical facts and are based on certain assumptions of our management. These statements are
often identified by the use of words such as "may," "will," "expect," "believe," "anticipate," "intend," "could," "estimate," or "continue," and similar
expressions or variations. These statements are based on the beliefs and assumptions of our management based on information currently available to us.
Such forward looking statements are subject to risks, uncertainties and other factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from future results
expressed or implied by such forward looking statements. Important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from the forward looking
statements include, without limitation, the following risk factors:

•

macroeconomic issues, including, but not limited to, the current global financial crisis;

•

our ability to obtain adequate financing;

•

our significant recent expansion;

•

our ability to effectively manage our future growth or declines in revenue;

•

changing fashion trends;

•

our defense and the ultimate outcome of a pending class action lawsuit;

•

our ability to accurately anticipate and respond to seasonal or quarterly fluctuations in demand for our products;

•

our management and information systems infrastructure;

•

our ability to obtain and protect intellectual property rights;

•

our reliance on third party manufacturing and logistics providers for the production and distribution of products;

•

our reliance on a single source supply for certain raw materials;

•

inherent risks associated with the manufacture, distribution and sale of our products overseas;

•

our ability to develop and sell new products;

•

our limited operating history;

•

our ability to accurately forecast consumer demand for our products;

•

our ability to maintain effective internal controls;

•

our ability to attract, assimilate and retain management talent;

•

our ability to respond to further adverse changes in the retail environment;

•

our ability to effectively market and maintain a positive brand image;

•

the effect of competition in our industry; and

•

the effect of potential adverse currency exchange rate fluctuations.
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We caution the reader to carefully consider all such factors, including those described in Item 1A. "Risk Factors". Furthermore, such forward
looking statements speak only as of the date of this report. We undertake no obligation to update any forward looking statements to reflect events or
circumstances after the date of such statements.
PART I
ITEM I.

Business

Overview

We are a designer, manufacturer, distributor, worldwide marketer and brand manager of footwear for men, women, and children. We aspire to be
the global leader in molded footwear design and development. Crocs shoes combine fun colors and innovative design and we manufacture a product
offering that provides new and exciting molded footwear products that feature fun, comfort and functionality. We design and sell a broad offering of
footwear, apparel, gear and accessories that utilize our proprietary closed cell-resin, called Croslite. Croslite is a unique material that enables us to
produce an innovative, soft, lightweight, non-marking, slip and odor-resistant shoe. Shoes made with Croslite have been certified by US Ergonomics to
reduce peak pressure on the foot, reduce muscular fatigue while standing and walking and to relieve the musculoskeletal system.
Since the initial introduction and popularity of our Beach and Cayman models, we have expanded our Croslite products to include a variety of new
styles and products and have extended our product reach through the acquisitions of new brand platforms such as Jibbitz, LLC ("Jibbitz") and Ocean
Minded, LLC ("Ocean Minded"). We intend to continue branching out into other types of footwear, bringing a unique and original perspective to the
consumer in styles that may be unexpected from Crocs. All of our products are designed to allow the product to be defined by comfort, fun, and
function. In part, we believe this will help us to continue to build a stable year-round business as we look to offer more winter-oriented styles.

Our marketing approach is also becoming significantly more focused on a defined target consumer. All marketing efforts are integrated around
specific product launches and the majority of our marketing efforts moving forward will be focused on our retail partners, ensuring that our presentation
and story are first class and drive purchasing at point of sale.
We currently sell our Crocs-branded products throughout the U.S. and in 128 countries. We sell our products through domestic and international
retailers and distributors and directly to end-user consumers through our webstores, Company-operated retail stores, outlets and kiosks. The broad
appeal of our footwear has allowed us to market our products to a wide range of distribution channels, including department stores and traditional
footwear retailers as well as a variety of specialty channels.
Our History
We were organized as a limited liability company in 1999 and began marketing and distributing footwear products in the U.S. under the Crocs
brand in 2002, shortly after completing our first footwear design produced by Crocs Canada Inc. ("Crocs Canada"), formerly known as Foam
Creations Inc., and Finproject N.A., Inc. The unique characteristics of Croslite, developed by Crocs Canada, enabled us to offer consumers an
innovative shoe unlike any other footwear model then available. Initially, we targeted our products to water sports enthusiasts, but the comfort and
functionality of our products appealed to a more diverse group of consumers who used our footwear for a wide range of activities. To capitalize on the
broad appeal of our footwear, we expanded our sales infrastructure, strengthened our senior management team, and developed relationships with a
range of retailers in the U.S. In June 2004, we acquired Crocs Canada, including its manufacturing operations, product lines, and rights to the trade
secrets for Croslite. We converted to a Colorado corporation in

2

Table of Contents

January 2005 and reincorporated in Delaware in June 2005. Beginning in June 2004, we significantly expanded all aspects of our operations in order to
take advantage of what we believed was an attractive market opportunity.

From 2002 until 2007, our business grew tremendously, both organically and through acquisitions that we believe leveraged our business model.
In 2006, we added:
•

Jibbitz, which produces unique charms specifically suited to fit into Crocs shoes;

•

Fury Hockey Inc., formerly 55 Hockey Products Inc. ("Fury"), which produces and distributes hockey, soccer and lacrosse equipment
manufactured with Croslite. In June 2008, the Company decided to liquidate Fury after efforts to sell the entity were unsuccessful; and

•

EXO Italia, which designs and develops EVA (Ethylene Vinyl Acetate) based finished products, primarily for the footwear industry.

In 2007, we added:
•

Ocean Minded, which produces sandals primarily for the beach, action and adventure market;

•

Bite, LLC ("Bite"), a manufacturer of performance shoes and sports sandals sold worldwide in five categories, including, golf,
adventure, healthy lifestyle, travel and water sports; and

•

YOU by Crocs™, a women's fashion line that combines the comfort of Croslite with fashionable styles.

In 2008, we added:
•

Tagger International B.V. ("Tagger"), a manufacturer of messenger bags.

Recent Events
From our inception through the year ended December 31, 2007, we experienced rapid revenue growth and had difficulty meeting demand for our
footwear products. During this period, we significantly increased production capacity, warehouse space and inventory in an effort to meet demand. This
pattern changed in 2008. Our revenue growth moderated in the three month period ended March 31, 2008. This trend continued and accelerated
throughout 2008. Our total revenues declined from $847.4 million in the year ended December 31, 2007 to $721.6 million during the year ended
December 31, 2008.

Should the global economic conditions deteriorate further, we may experience further revenue declines in the Americas, European, and Asian
markets. Should we fail to develop and effectively merchandise new products that appeal to the consumer, we may not be able to compete effectively
and may experience further declines in revenues.
During 2008, we incurred significant charges related to restructuring and other activities undertaken to right-size our business. These charges
include inventory write-downs, incremental sales returns and mark down allowances, fixed asset impairments, goodwill and intangible asset
impairments, and severance, facility exit and other related expenses.
See Item 7, "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations," for further discussion of our financial
conditions and outlooks, including inventory write-downs, restructuring activities and reductions in selling, general and administrative costs.

We may continue to incur operating losses during fiscal year 2009 particularly if our revenues fall short of current expectations. In the event that
revenues and product demand fall short of our current expectations, we will need to take further actions to reduce operating costs.
3
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Product Overview
The Crocs product range is divided into three categories: everyday, style and sport. Our everyday product range is composed of fully molded
products, which are closest to our core products and targeted widely to several distribution channels. Our style product range consists of more
fashionable silhouettes targeted towards higher-end department stores. Our sport product range includes sport inspired products that offer a Crocs point
of view for active end uses like boating, walking, and hiking.

In addition to our footwear products, we market a line of Crocs-branded apparel and other accessory items that are intended to increase awareness
of our brand.
Footwear
A key differentiating feature of our footwear products is Croslite, which is uniquely suited for comfort and functionality. We have carefully
formulated Croslite to be of a density that creates a comfortable shoe with a high coefficient of friction, allowing for slip-resistant, non-marking
footwear that is extremely lightweight. For example, our size large Beach model weighs approximately six ounces, which is significantly lighter than
more traditional casual footwear products. Croslite softens as it warms to better conform to the wearer's feet. Croslite is a closed cell resin, which is
water resistant and virtually odor-free, and allows many of our footwear products to be cleaned simply with water or bleach. As we have expanded our
Crocs brand product offering, we have incorporated traditional materials such as textile fabric and leather into our products. However, we continue to
utilize Croslite for the foot bed, sole and other key structural components for these new products.

Our footwear business has grown significantly since we first introduced our Crocs product line in 2002 with a single model in six colors. Over the
past few years we:
•

Expanded our Crocs product line to 25 models in 2006, over 250 models in 2007 and over 270 models in 2008, including Ocean
Minded, YOU by Crocs™ and Bite footwear models;

•

Introduced our SolesUnited program, the first-of-its-kind recycled footwear donation program that allows customers to give back their
worn-out Crocs shoes to be recycled into new shoes which are then donated to people in need around the world. Collected worn-out
Crocs shoes are sorted, cleaned, ground and manufactured into new SolesUnited recycled footwear;

•

Established licensing agreements with Disney, Nickelodeon, Marvel, DC Comics and Warner Bros., and introduced a limited edition line
of footwear and Jibbitz charms featuring such popular characters as Cinderella, Ariel, Mickey Mouse, Sponge Bob Square Pants, Dora
the Explorer, Spiderman and Batman;

•

Introduced our Crocs at Work line that offers Crocs shoes targeted towards healthcare and food industry professionals and is marketed
toward the mid-tier distribution channel. We continue to expand the offerings in our Work category, including the introduction of an
ESD (electro-static discharge) shoe, which is designed for medical personnel;

•

Developed our Crocs Rx line, which offers five models, the Relief, the Silver Relief, the Cloud, the Silver Cloud and the Silver Fox,
targeted towards consumers who require specialized footwear that provides relief from certain medical conditions, such as diabetes,
plantar pain, heel pain, metatarsalgia, achy feet and post-op conditions. Our Crocs Rx line was rated the #1 Rx shoe in the industry, we
received the 2008 company of the year award from the American Podiatric Medical Association (the only shoe company to ever receive
this award) and in 2008 we broadened our distribution into drugstore chains;

•

Entered into and extended our existing collegiate licensing agreements with various colleges and universities, and our sports licensing
agreements with, among others, NFL, MLB, AVP and more recently, the Gaelic Athletic Association and Australian football leagues;
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•

Expanded into new footwear categories by designing new footwear using our in-house design team as well as recognized footwear
design experts. As part of this strategy, we acquired EXO Italia ("EXO") in 2006, which expanded the capabilities of our in-house
design team. EXO is based in Padova, Italy and is an Italian producer of EVA (Ethylene Vinyl Acetate) based finished products,
primarily for the footwear industry;

•

Acquired Bite (www.biteshoes.com), an adventure driven designer and manufacturer of comfortable and supportive performance shoes
and sports sandals sold worldwide in five categories, including, golf, adventure, healthy lifestyle, travel and water sports. In 2008, the
decision was made to discontinue the Bite line and we have suspended new product introductions. All of Bite's design and development
know-how has been integrated into the design and development of Crocs' sport products;

•

Introduced YOU by Crocs™www.youbycrocs.com
(
), a women's fashion line that combines the comfort of Croslite with 24 designs
including various boots, slides, and high heels composed of suede, smooth napa leather, metallic leather and patent leather. All styles
include the "Soleful™" comfort foot bed, which is manufactured with Croslite and has extra padding on the ball of the foot and heel to
provide increased comfort. We will continue to offer a limited offering of the YOU by Crocs™ styles targeting a distribution in the
Crocs operated retail stores at competitive price points;

•

Acquired substantially all of the assets of Ocean Minded (www.oceanminded.com), a designer and manufacturer of high quality leather
and EVA based sandals primarily for the beach, adventure and action sports market. Ocean Minded is headquartered in Santa Clemente,
California and strives to be innovative in style and design in order to produce the most comfortable sandals in the market. In 2008,
Ocean Minded introduced a product line that includes Croslite foot beds to provide increased comfort. As the name, "Ocean Minded"
implies, the brand takes an active role in protecting the oceans and beaches through beach clean ups, support of the Surfrider Foundation
and various other environmental efforts. Ocean Minded utilizes recycled and recyclable materials whenever possible and is well known
in the action sports industry as a leading advocate for environmental awareness and responsibility.

Footwear sales made up 91.6%, 90.1%, and 96.5% of total revenues for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively. Sales
of our classic Beach and Cayman models accounted for 25%, 30%, and 62.2% of total revenues for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and
2006, respectively. For the year ended December 31, 2008 sales of our Mammoth model accounted for 10.1% of our total sales. We intend to continue
to evaluate our product offerings to develop product collections in assortments that can be merchandised effectively to the consumer at our retailer and
Company operated stores. As such, we expect that our future product offerings will be more focused by category and for color palette and the number
of color combinations will be reduced in our seasonal offerings.
During the year ended December 31, 2008, approximately 70% of our sales consisted of products geared towards adults compared to 30% of sales
for products geared towards children.

Apparel and Accessories
Apparel.

In 2007, we expanded our clothing line and launched a new clothing line for boys, girls and men featuring Croslite material. We added

a small amount of Croslite to the material to ensure that each piece is lightweight, durable, breathable, versatile and fade resistant. In 2008, we scaled
back our apparel product offering.

Accessories.

In addition to our footwear products, we own Jibbitz (www.jibbitz.com), a unique accessory brand with colorful snap-on charms

specifically suited for Crocs shoes. We acquired Jibbitz in
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December 2006 and have expanded the product line to include a wide variety of charms in varying shapes and sizes, with designs such as flowers,
sports gear, seasonal and holiday designs, animals, symbols, letters and rhinestones. Crocs licensing agreements also extend to Jibbitz, allowing Jibbitz
to create designs bearing logos and emblems of Disney, NFL, MLB and the Crocs collegiate line. Jibbitz designs allow Crocs consumers to personalize
their footwear to creatively express their individuality. As of December 31, 2008, approximately 1,800 unique Jibbitz charm designs were available to
consumers for personalizing their Crocs footwear.

We have also introduced several Crocs-branded accessory items that complement the styling, colors, and image of our footwear, which we believe
will appeal to a similar demographic base. For example, we have developed a line of lightweight and durable backpacks and messenger bags that are
marketed to a wide range of consumers, from professionals to students. The backpacks and bags incorporate bright colors, Croslite shoulder pads for
comfort and various holes for Jibbitz so the bags can be personally decorated.
Sales and Distribution
Financial information regarding our revenues, profits and total assets is included in our consolidated financial statements beginning on page F-1.
Information relating to our geographic operations is included in Note 17 of our consolidated financial statements.

Domestic Sales
In 2008, sales in the U.S. accounted for approximately 44% of total revenues, compared to 52% in 2007 and 68% in 2006. In the U.S., we sell our
products through 148 Crocs branded retail store locations, including Company-operated kiosks and retail stores in such locations as New York, Boston,
Chicago, and Maui, and through our webstores. We also sell through a broad range of sporting goods and department stores, as well as through
specialty retailers. We do not have long term contracts with any of our retail customers, and sales to our retail customers are generally on an order-byorder basis and are subject to rights of cancellation and rescheduling by the customer.
International Sales

In 2008, international sales accounted for approximately 56% of total revenues, compared to 48% in 2007 and 32% in 2006. Outside of the U.S.,
we sell our products through over 314 Crocs branded retail store locations, including 131 Company-operated retail stores in a variety of locations
including Canada, Finland, United Kingdom, Singapore, Hong Kong, Japan, China and the Netherlands, as well as through our kiosks and webstores.
We also sell through a broad range of retailers, similar to the retail sales channels we have established in the U.S. We occasionally utilize sales agents
and buying groups in our international locations to service our retail customers. We established a direct sales presence in most major international
markets, rather than relying on distributors, which we believe enables us to obtain better margins and allows us to better control our marketing and
distribution. As of December 31, 2008, we established direct sales efforts in 31 countries. Outside of our direct sales markets, we utilize third-party
distributors.

Wholesale and Distributor Sales
In 2008, approximately 76.5% of our net revenues were derived from sales to our wholesale customers and distributors compared to 91% in 2007
and 89.8% in 2006. Our principal wholesale customers include national and regional retail chains, department stores, sporting goods stores and
specialty retailers, such as Nordstrom, Finish Line, Dicks Sporting Goods, The Sports Authority, Dillard's, The Forzani Group and Journeys. No
single customer accounted for 10% or more of our
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revenues for the year ended December 31, 2008. We believe we have established strong domestic and international wholesale customer channels.
We use distributors in select markets where we believe such arrangements are preferable to direct sales. In markets where we use third-party
distributors, these distributors purchase products pursuant to a price list and are granted the right to resell the products in a defined territory, usually a
country or group of countries. Our typical distribution agreements have terms of one to four years, are terminable on 60 days' notice prior to the end of
the term or on six months' prior notice at any time, and require our distributors to meet a minimum sales threshold. Our agreements with distributors do
not contain contractual rights of returns or price protection features. We will accept returns from wholesale and distributor customers for defective
products, quality issues, and shipment errors on an exception basis at the sole discretion of our management. We may also accept returns from our
wholesale and distributor customers, on an exception basis at the sole discretion of management, for the purpose of stock re-balancing to ensure that our
products are merchandised in the proper assortments. Additionally, at the sole discretion of management, we may provide markdown allowances to key
wholesale and distributor customers to facilitate the "in-channel" markdown of products where we have experienced less than anticipated sell-through.
Our domestic accounts are primarily serviced through our internal sales force, which focuses on selling the appropriate mix and quantity of our
products to our retail accounts. They ensure our products are displayed effectively at retail locations and educate our retailers about our Crocs brand and
the quality of our products.
Our financial success is significantly related to the willingness of our retail customers to continue to carry our products, the expansion to new retail
customers and the success of such customers, which factors are directly impacted by the slowdown in the global economy, including reduced foot
traffic in shopping malls and lessening consumer demand for our products. We do not have long term contracts with any of our retail customers, and
sales to our retail customers are generally on an order-by-order basis and are subject to rights of cancellation and rescheduling by the customer. If we
cannot fill our customers' orders in a timely manner, the sales of our products and our relationships with those customers may suffer, and this could
have a material adverse effect on our product sales and ability to grow our product line.
Retail Sales

We are currently expanding our direct sales efforts to consumers. We believe that direct sales provide us with an opportunity to showcase our
entire line of footwear, apparel, gear and accessory offerings, and that this strategy will serve as an important and effective means to enhance our
product and brand awareness. As of December 31, 2008, we operated the following retail stores:
U.S Retail Stores

Crocs Kiosk
Crocs Retail Stores
Crocs Outlet Stores

110
8
30

Total

148

International Retail Stores

67
62
2

Crocs Kiosk/Store in Store
Crocs Retail Stores
Crocs Outlet Stores

131

Total
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Kiosks. As of December 31, 2008, we operated 177 domestic and international retail kiosks located in malls and other high foot traffic areas.
With bright and colorful displays, efficient use of retail space, and limited initial capital investment, we believe that kiosks are an effective outlet for
marketing our products. Kiosks enable us to highlight a wide range of our products; more effectively interact with potential consumers, and enhance our
brand awareness among both consumers and local retailers. We plan to continue to open and operate additional kiosk sites in select, high foot traffic
locations. Our kiosk opening plans are subject to adjustment based on the impact of economic conditions and demand for our products.
Retail Stores. As of December 31, 2008, we operated 70 domestic and international retail stores. During 2008, we opened retail stores in a
variety of locations, including, but not limited to, New York, Boston, Chicago, England, Finland, Canada, Australia, Panama, Japan and China.
Company-operated retail stores are designed with colorful displays and allow us to effectively market our new and existing products and interact with
customers in order to enhance brand awareness. We plan to continue to open additional Company-operated retail stores in the future. Our retail store
opening plans are subject to adjustment based on the impact of economic conditions and demand for our products.

Outlet Stores. As of December 31, 2008, we operated 32 domestic and international outlet stores. During 2008, we opened outlet stores in a
variety of locations, including, but not limited to, Texas, Arizona, Chicago, California, Florida, Missouri, and Hong Kong. The outlet stores help us
profitably move older products in an orderly fashion. We plan to open more Company operated outlet stores in early 2009. Our outlet store opening
plans are subject to adjustment based on the impact of economic conditions and demand for our products.
Internet. We currently offer our products domestically and internationally through our webstores. Our internet presence enables us to educate
consumers about our products and brand. We continue to expand our web-based international marketing efforts to continue to drive consumer
awareness regarding the availability of our full product range on our market-specific websites.

Raw Materials
Our proprietary closed-cell resin, Croslite, is the primary raw material used in most of our footwear and some of our accessories. Our material is
soft and durable and is of a density that provides a high coefficient of friction allowing our material to be slip-resistant and non-marking in addition to
being extremely lightweight. The closed-cell nature of Croslite makes it resistant to the bacteria and fungus that cause shoe and foot odor. We continue
to invest in research and development in order to refine our materials to enhance these properties and to target the development of new properties for
specific applications.

Croslite is produced by compounding elastomer resins that we or one of our third-party processors purchase from major chemical manufacturers
together with certain other production inputs, such as color dyes. At this time, we have identified two suppliers that produce the particular elastomer
resins used in Croslite. We may, however, in the future identify and utilize materials produced by other suppliers as an alternative to the elastomer resins
we currently use in the production of our proprietary material. All of the other raw materials that we use to produce Croslite are readily available for
purchase from multiple suppliers.

We transitioned Croslite compounding from our former manufacturing facilities in Canada to other operations and third party facilities during the
second quarter of 2008. We compound Croslite internally in Mexico and China utilizing subcomponent materials produced by a third party in the U.S.
We also outsource the compounding of Croslite and continue to purchase a portion of our compounded raw materials from a third party in Europe in
accordance with the terms of a supply agreement that expires in July in 2009.
8
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Since our inception, we have substantially increased the number of footwear products that we offer. Many of our new products are constructed
using leather, textile fabrics or other materials. We, or our third party factories, obtain these materials from a number of third-party sources and we
believe these materials to be broadly available.

Manufacturing and Sourcing
Our strategy is to maintain a flexible, globally diversified, low-cost manufacturing base. We have Company operated production facilities in
Mexico and Italy and we also contract with third-party manufacturers located around the world. We believe that our in-house manufacturing capabilities
enable us to rapidly make changes to production, providing us with the flexibility to quickly respond to orders for high-demand models and colors
throughout the year, while outsourcing allows us to capitalize on the efficiencies and cost benefits of using contract manufacturing. We believe that this
production strategy will enable us to continue to minimize our production costs, increase overall operating efficiencies and shorten production and
development times to better serve our retail customers.

The process for manufacturing our footwear was developed over an eight year period of continual refinement to improve consistency, softness,
durability, and yield. In the year ended December 31, 2008, we manufactured approximately 17% of our footwear products at our Company operated
manufacturing facilities in Mexico and Italy and, for a portion of the year, from our facilities in Brazil and Canada. We obtained the remaining 83% of
our footwear products from third-party manufacturers in China and Bosnia. In the year ended December 31, 2008, our largest third-party supplier in
China produced approximately 49% of our footwear unit volume. We do not have written supply agreements with our primary third-party
manufacturers in China. During 2008, we consolidated our manufacturing capacities at the facilities we operate in Mexico and with our third-party
manufacturers and shut down our manufacturing facilities in Canada and Brazil to align our production capacities and cost structure to decreased
demand and declining revenues.

Distribution and Logistics
We continue to make enhancements to our distribution and logistics network that will streamline our supply chain increasing our speed to market.
Over the past year we have consolidated our network to leverage resources and simplify our fulfillment processes while driving down costs in our
operations. During the year ended December 31, 2008, we continued to adjust our strategy based upon projected economic conditions and demand for
our products. We continued to consolidate our global distribution centers and warehousing, thereby decreasing our fixed costs.

In 2008, approximately 24% of our products were shipped from our internal and third-party manufacturers directly to the customer. The other 76%
of our products were fulfilled from the 21 distribution locations strategically located throughout the world. We operated distribution centers in Australia,
Colorado, Finland, the Netherlands, India, Japan, Mexico, Shanghai and Singapore as of December 31, 2008. Our Company-operated distribution
centers had approximately 1,368,000 square feet of space. We also utilized third-party operated distribution centers. The third-party centers were located
in Brazil, Colorado, Dubai, Hong Kong, Korea, and Taiwan. These distribution centers gave us approximately 744,000 additional square feet of space.
We believe the combined total of 34 distribution locations and 2.1 million square feet of space gives us the flexibility to meet our rapidly changing
business requirements and positions us to support the current level of revenue and any growth of our brands.
In December 2007, we entered into an agreement with Manhattan Associates to provide warehouse management systems within all of our
Company-operated distribution centers. We plan to continue to implement the Manhattan software in strategic locations during the next 12 months.
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Intellectual Property and Trademarks
We rely on a combination of trademark, copyright, trade secret, trade dress, and patent protection to establish, protect, and enforce our intellectual
property rights in our product designs, brand, materials, and research and development efforts, although no such methods can afford complete
protection. We own the material trademarks used in connection with the marketing, distribution and sale of all of our products, both domestically and
internationally, where our products are currently either sold or manufactured. Our major trademarks include the Crocs logo and design and the Crocs
word mark, both of which are registered or pending registration in the U.S., the European Union, Japan, Taiwan, China and Canada among other
places. We also own common law trademark registrations or pending trademark applications for Jibbitz, Jibbitz Logo, YOU by Crocs™, YOU by
Crocs Logo, Ocean Minded, Fury, Fury Mambaz Logo, Tail Logo, Bite and Bite Logo, as well as for our proprietary material Croslite and the Croslite
logo, globally. We intend to continue to strategically register, both domestically and internationally, the trademarks and copyrights we utilize today and
those we develop in the future. We will also continue to aggressively police our trademarks and copyrights and pursue those who infringe, both
domestically and internationally as we deem necessary.

In the U.S., our patents are generally in effect for up to 20 years from the date of the filing of the patent application. Our trademarks are generally
valid as long as they are in use and their registrations are properly maintained and have not been found to become generic. Trademarks registered
outside of the U.S. generally have a duration of 10 years depending on the jurisdiction and are also generally subject to an indefinite number of renewals
for a like period upon appropriate application. We believe our trademarks are crucial to the successful marketing and sale of our products, and we intend
to vigorously prosecute and defend our intellectual property rights throughout the world.
We consider the formulation of Croslite used to produce our products to be a valuable trade secret. Prior to our acquisition of Crocs Canada in
June 2004, Crocs Canada developed the formula for Croslite, and we believe that it did not publish or otherwise make the formula available to third
parties without the protection of confidentiality or similar agreements. Post acquisition, we continue to protect the formula by using confidentiality
agreements with our third-party processors and by requiring our employees who have access to the formula to execute confidentiality agreements or to
be bound by similar agreements concerning the protection of our confidential information. Neither we nor Crocs Canada have attempted to seek patent
protection for the formula. We are not aware of any third-party that has independently developed the formula or that otherwise has the right to use the
formula in their products other than Finproject, our third-party supplier of Croslite in Italy. Under the terms of our supply agreement with Finproject,
Finproject has certain limited rights to use Croslite, which were originally negotiated in connection with our purchase of Crocs Canada from Finproject's
parent company. We believe the comfort and utility of our products depend on the properties achieved from the compounding of Croslite and constitute
a key competitive advantage for us, and we intend to vigorously protect this trade secret.
We also actively combat counterfeiting through monitoring of the global marketplace. We use our employees, sales representatives, distributors,
and retailers to police against infringing products by encouraging them to notify us of any suspect products and to assist law enforcement agencies. Our
sales representatives are also educated on our patents, pending patents, trademarks and trade dress and assist in preventing potentially infringing
products from obtaining retail shelf space. The laws of certain countries do not protect intellectual property rights to the same extent or in the same
manner as do the laws of the U.S., and, therefore, we may have difficulty obtaining legal protection for our intellectual property in certain jurisdictions.
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Seasonality
Due to our significant sales growth from our inception through 2007, there is still uncertainty in the degree to which sales of our footwear products
will be subject to seasonality. For the year ended December 31, 2008, we experienced a 40% increase in sales in the first quarter of 2008 compared to
2007. However, due to declining economic conditions and declining demand for our products, our sales were flat in the second quarter of 2008
compared to 2007 and our sales declined in the third and fourth quarters of 2008 compared to 2007. We expect that our business, similar to other
vendors of footwear and related merchandise, will be subject to seasonal variation. We believe many vendors that market footwear products suited for
warm weather normally experience their highest sales activity during the second and third quarters of the calendar year. We intend to continue branching
out into other types of footwear, bringing unique and original perspective, to the consumer in styles that may be unexpected from Crocs. While we have
introduced footwear models that are more suitable for cold weather, such as the Mammoth, Endeavor, Georgie, All Terrain, Snowmini, and YOU by
Crocs™ styles, we believe that demand for our products, and therefore our sales, may be subject to seasonal variations and may be significantly
impacted by weather conditions. The majority of our revenues during the year ended December 31, 2008 were attributable to our footwear styles more
suitable for fair weather. However, we believe that the expansion into other types of footwear products will help us build a stable year-round business
as we look to offer more winter-oriented styles. In addition, our quarterly results of operations may fluctuate significantly as a result of a variety of other
factors, including the timing of new model introductions or general economic or consumer conditions or fluctuating consumer preferences.

In addition, our quarterly results of operations may fluctuate significantly as a result of a variety of other factors, including the timing of new model
introductions or general economic or consumer conditions. Accordingly, results for any one quarter are not necessarily indicative of results to be
expected for any other quarter or for any year, and revenues for any particular period may fluctuate. We believe that the changes in our business
resulting from the deteriorating global economic conditions as well as the lessening demand for our products were so significant in 2008 that we cannot
reasonably determine the extent of the seasonality of our business. However, we have observed that our first and fourth quarter revenues are less than
our second and third quarter revenues and we expect this seasonality trend to continue.
Backlog
As of December 31, 2008, our backlog, which consists of open orders as of December 31 2008, was approximately $113.3 million, compared to
$145.4 million as of December 31, 2007. The backlog decreased as a result of the current economic conditions and the change in purchasing practices
by our customers as they work to aggressively manage risk through reduced inventory levels as well the decreased demand for our products. Backlog
may not be a reliable measure of future sales for any succeeding period and are subject to cancellation by customers at any time. In addition, our
historical cancellation experience may not be indicative of future cancellation rates. We expect the majority of these orders to be fulfilled within the year.

Competition
The global casual footwear and apparel industry is highly competitive. Although we believe that we do not compete directly with any single
company with respect to the entire spectrum of our products, portions of our business compete with companies such as, but not limited to, Nike Inc.,
Heelys Inc., Deckers Outdoor Corp., Sketchers USA Inc. and Wolverine World Wide, Inc. Our retail locations also compete with footwear retailers
such as Macy's Inc., Nordstrom Inc., Dicks Sporting Goods Inc., and Collective Brands Inc.
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The principal elements of competition in this industry include brand awareness, product functionality, design, quality, pricing, marketing and
distribution. We believe that our unique footwear designs, Croslite, and our expanding product offering and distribution network position us well in the
marketplace. However, some companies in the casual footwear and apparel industry have substantially greater brand awareness, financial, distribution,
and marketing resources than we currently have. Furthermore, the unique designs and resulting success of our footwear products have attracted new
players in the market with imitation products that are similar to ours, and we face competition from these new market entrants.

Product Design and Development
Our primary goal in product design and development is to create and introduce new and innovative footwear products that combine our standards
of comfort, functionality, and style, and enhance the awareness of the Crocs brand. We aspire to be the global leader in active casual footwear products.
Our footwear product line is designed by a combination of our internal design and development staff supported by outside designers. By introducing
outside sources to the design process, we believe that we are able to capture a variety of different design perspectives on a cost-efficient basis and
anticipate trends more quickly. To expand our internal design capabilities, we acquired EXO in 2006, an Italian company that has been involved in the
design of several of our new styles. We are committed to continuing to dedicate significant resources to product design and development to sustain our
commitment to innovation, maintain or grow our current level of revenue and drive our global brand.

We develop footwear models based on what we identify as opportunities in the marketplace. Once a design has been identified and demand in the
marketplace has been validated, the designs are then translated into product specifications by our developers and made into prototypes at our facility in
Italy or by one of our third-party manufacturers in China. Our designers and developers work closely with each other to develop product prototypes,
test and refine products and provide quality assurance throughout the manufacturing process. Our design and development process is highly
collaborative, as members of the design team frequently meet with our sales and marketing staff, production and supply managers and certain of our
retail customers to further refine our products to meet the particular needs of our target market. We continually strive to improve our development
function so we can bring products to market quickly and reduce costs while maintaining product quality. We spent $6.4 million, $5.3 million and
$1.8 million in Company-sponsored research, design and development activities for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively.
Employees
As of December 31, 2008, we employed approximately 3,700 persons, compared to 5,300 as of December 31, 2007. This included 1,940
employees in the U.S., 80 employees in Canada, 220 employees in Mexico, 990 employees in Asia, 90 employees in South America, and 380
employees in Europe. Due to declining economic conditions and the reduced demand for our products, we reduced our headcount by approximately
1,600 persons from 2007, primarily due to closings of our Canadian and Brazilian manufacturing facilities and other reductions in staffing, partially
offset by increases in staffing due to expansion of our Company operated retail locations. As of December 31, 2008, none of our employees were
represented by a union.

Public Filings and Corporate Information
Our internet address is www.crocs.com. On our website, we post the following filings as soon as reasonably practicable after they are
electronically filed with or furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission: our annual report on Form 10-K, our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q,
our current reports on Form 8-K and any amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to
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Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934. All such filings on our website are available free of charge. Also available on our
website are the charters of the committees of our board of directors, as well as our corporate governance guidelines and code of ethics. Copies of any of
these documents will be provided in print to any stockholder who submits a request in writing to Integrated Corporate Relations, 450 Post Road East,
Westport, CT 06880.

ITEM 1A.

Risk Factors

Our short and long-term success is subject to many factors beyond our control. If any of the following risks, as well as any risks described
elsewhere in this Form 10-K, actually occur, our business, financial condition or results of operations could suffer. Additional risk factors could exist
that we are not presently aware of which could also affect our business, our financial condition or results of operations. Given these risks and
uncertainties, investors should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements as a prediction of actual results.

Our auditors have expressed substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern.
The accompanying consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2008 were prepared under the assumption that we will
continue to operate as a going concern. The report of our registered independent public accounting firm on our consolidated financial statements for the
year ended December 31, 2008 includes an explanatory paragraph concerning conditions that raise substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a
going concern. We incurred losses of $185.1 million in the year ended December 31, 2008 and experienced a decline in revenues from $847.4 million
for the year ended December 31, 2007 to $721.6 million for the year ended December 31,2008. Continued operations are dependent on our ability to
secure adequate financing and maintain a reasonable level of liquidity such that we can timely pay our obligations when due. As of December 31, 2008,
we had $22.4 million in borrowings under our loan agreement with the Union Bank of California, N.A. ("Revolving Credit Facility"), which currently
has a maturity date of April 2, 2009, and we had $51.6 million in cash and cash equivalents.

We are currently in discussions with lending institutions to secure an asset backed borrowing arrangement to replace our current Revolving Credit
Facility. The time period required to procure a new asset backed credit facility may extend beyond the maturity date of our current Revolving Credit
Facility requiring us to seek an extension of that maturity date with our current lenders. If we cannot obtain a new arrangement prior to the maturity date
on our current Revolving Credit Facility and we are unable to obtain an extension of our current Revolving Credit Facility, we will be required to repay
all borrowed funds on the maturity date. There can be no assurance that we will be able to secure additional debt or equity financing or receive an
extension of the current Revolving Credit Facility by or before the date of maturity of the Revolving Credit Facility and, accordingly, our liquidity and
ability to timely pay our obligations when due could be adversely affected. Additionally, we may incur operating losses during fiscal year 2009 if our
revenues continue to decline, which may be accelerated by the current economic crisis resulting in less demand for our products. In the event that
revenues and product demand fall short of our current expectations, we will need to take further actions to reduce operating costs. There can be no
assurance that such actions, if taken, will result in cash flows that will be sufficient to meet our ongoing operating needs.
Our financial statements do not include any adjustments that may result from the outcome of this uncertainty. If we cannot secure additional
financing and continue to incur losses, we may be unable to maintain a level of liquidity necessary to continue operating our business.
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The recent financial crisis and general economic conditions may adversely affect consumer spending and the overall general health of our retail

customers, which, in turn, may adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations and cash resources.
Uncertainty about the current and future global economic conditions may cause consumers and retailers to defer purchases or cancel purchase
orders for our products in response to tighter credit, decreased cash availability and declining consumer confidence. Our financial success is sensitive to
changes in general economic conditions, both globally and nationally. Recessionary economic cycles, higher interest borrowing rates, higher fuel and
other energy costs, inflation, increases in commodity prices, higher levels of unemployment, higher consumer debt levels, higher tax rates and other
changes in tax laws or other economic factors that may affect consumer spending or buying habits could adversely affect the demand for our products.
In addition, a number of our third-party retailers may be impacted by the significant decrease in available credit that has resulted from the current
financial crisis. If credit pressures or other financial difficulties result in insolvency for these third parties it could adversely impact our estimated
reserves and financial results. There can be no assurances that government and consumer responses to the disruptions in the financial markets will
restore consumer confidence.

We may not be able to obtain the financing required to operate our business, particularly when the credit and capital markets are unstable, which
could limit cash flow available for operations.
Due to recent turmoil in the credit markets and the continued decline in the economy, we may not be able to obtain additional financing on terms
that are acceptable to us or at all. Also, we may be impacted by factors relating to or affecting our liquidity and capital resources due to perception in the
market that may restrict our flexibility under certain conditions. We anticipate that existing cash balances and cash flows from operations will be
sufficient to meet the ongoing needs of our business through March 31, 2009. As of December 31, 2008, we had $22.4 million outstanding on our
Revolving Credit Facility. Pursuant to Amendment 9 to the Revolving Credit Facility, we will be required to pay all amounts outstanding on April 2,
2009.

Our debt could have important consequences to our business, including the following:
•

requiring that we use a large portion of our cash flow to pay principal and interest, which will reduce the availability of cash to fund
working capital, capital expenditures and other business activities;

•

increasing our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions;

•

limiting our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the industry in which we operate;

•

restricting us from making strategic acquisitions or exploiting business opportunities;

•

placing us at a competitive disadvantage relative to competitors that have less debt; and

•

limiting our ability to borrow additional monies in the future to fund working capital and capital expenditures, sell assets, acquire other
businesses, or repurchase capital stock.

We also may incur additional debt in the future. Although the terms of our Revolving Credit Facility contain restrictions on the incurrence of
additional debt, these restrictions are subject to a number of qualifications and exceptions, and debt incurred in compliance with these restrictions could
be significant. In addition, we may refinance all or a portion of our debt, including borrowings under our Revolving Credit Facility, and incur more debt
as a result. If we incur new debt, the risks described above would intensify.
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We anticipate that existing cash resources and cash flows from operations will be sufficient to meet the ongoing needs of our business through
March 31, 2009. In order to provide liquidity beyond March 31, 2009, we are exploring alternatives for a new borrowing arrangement or an extension
of our existing Revolving Credit Facility and are currently negotiating with financial institutions to obtain an asset backed lending arrangement. We may
also explore other sources for capital to meet our ongoing needs. There can be no assurance that any such capital will be available to us on acceptable
terms or at all especially due to current conditions and uncertainty in the global credit markets. Our ability to fund working capital needs, planned capital
expenditures and scheduled debt payments depends on our future operating performance and cash flow, which in turn are subject to prevailing
economic conditions and to financial, business and other factors, some of which are beyond our control. Our inability to secure financing before the
April 2, 2009 maturity date of our Revolving Credit Facility or obtain an additional extension may result in a material adverse effect on our financial
condition.

Our future operating performance and our ability to meet our cash requirements and service our debt is dependent on many factors, some of which
are beyond our control, including prevailing economic, financial and industry conditions. Our operating performance is also dependent on our ability to
continue to realize cost savings and synergies and drive profitable growth. If these initiatives are not met within the time frame we expect, our cash flow
could be impacted. A default under our Revolving Credit Facility could restrict or terminate our access to our borrowing capacity under our Revolving
Credit Facility and materially impair our ability to meet our obligations as they come due. Any default, or the failure to generate sufficient cash from
operations, may require us to seek additional capital or modifications to our credit facility which may not be available. Our suppliers may require us to
pay cash in advance or obtain letters of credit as a condition to selling us their products and services. Any of these risks and uncertainties could have a
material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations or cash flow.
We may be unable to successfully execute our growth strategy or maintain our current revenue levels.
Although we have generally exhibited significant growth since we began operations, revenues decreased from $847.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 2007 to $721.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2008. We may experience similar decreases in revenues in the future.

Our ability to maintain our revenue levels or to grow in the future depends upon, among other things, the continued success of our efforts to
maintain our brand image and expand our footwear offerings and distribution channels. To effectively maintain or grow our current revenue levels in
our operations, we will need to continue to streamline our supply chain efforts to increase operation efficiencies and decrease costs. Failure to manage
our operations in a cost efficient manner could result in greater difficulty in completely filling customer orders, declines in product quality, difficulty
with product acceptance or other production and distribution difficulties, any of which could adversely impact our business performance and operating
results. We had net losses for the year ended December 31, 2008 and we may continue to incur losses unless our expenses are reduced or demand for
our product improves.
The popularity of our Crocs footwear may not grow as rapidly as it has in the past and may decline, which would have a negative impact on our

sales and results of operations.
Our footwear sales, which represented approximately 91.6% of our revenues for the year ended December 31, 2008, contributed to our significant
growth through 2007. We expect that footwear will constitute our principal product line for the foreseeable future. The footwear industry is subject to
rapidly changing consumer demands, preferences and fashion trends, and our footwear may not remain popular or we may fail to develop additional
models that appeal to consumers. As our products begin to mature in certain markets, we have generally experienced less demand. Likewise, we may
experience a decline in demand for our products as counterfeit or imitation products begin to gain market share.
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If the popularity of our footwear declines or does not expand in the future, we may experience, among other things:
•

lower sales;

•

loss of retail customers;

•

excess inventories;

•

inventory markdowns and discounts provided to retailers;

•

deterioration of our brand image; and

•

lower revenues and gross and operating margins, as a result of price reductions.

Further, we could experience a decline in our revenues and earnings from any or all of the above. Given the limited history of our Crocs brand, it is
especially difficult to evaluate whether our products will hold long-term consumer appeal.

We have been named as a defendant in a securities class action lawsuit that may result in substantial costs and could divert management's
attention.
In January 2008, plaintiffs filed a shareholder derivative action in the Colorado District Court for the City and County of Boulder alleging that
certain of our officers and directors breached their fiduciary duties, wasted corporate assets, and were unjustly enriched. This derivative action purports
to state a claim on behalf of the corporation. The complaint alleges that the claims arise from the same conduct as is alleged in the federal shareholder
class action discussed below. We are in the process of responding.

Starting in November 2007, certain stockholders filed several purported shareholder class actions in the U.S. District Court for the District of
Colorado alleging violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act based on alleged statements made by us between July 27, 2007 and
October 31, 2007. We and certain of our current and former officers and directors have been named as defendants in complaints filed by investors in the
United States District Court for the District of Colorado. The first complaint was filed in November 2007; several other complaints were filed shortly
thereafter. These actions were consolidated and, in September 2008, the Court appointed a lead plaintiff and counsel. An amended consolidated
complaint was filed in December 2008. The amended complaint purports to state claims under Section 10(b), 20(a), and 20A of the Exchange Act on
behalf of a class of all persons who purchased our stock between April 2, 2007 and April 14, 2008 (the "Class Period"). The amended complaint
alleges that, during the Class Period, defendants made false and misleading public statements about us and our business and prospects and that, as a
result, the market price of our stock was artificially inflated. The amended complaint also claims that certain current and former officers and directors
traded our stock on the basis of material non-public information. The amended complaint seeks compensatory damages on behalf of the alleged class in
an unspecified amount, interest, and an award of attorneys' fees and costs of litigation. Due to the inherent uncertainties of litigation and because the
litigation is at a preliminary stage, we cannot at this time accurately predict the ultimate outcome of the matter, or of the amount or range of potential loss,
if any.

In December 2007, a plaintiff filed a shareholder derivative action in the Colorado District Court for the City and County of Boulder alleging that
certain officers and directors of the Company breached their fiduciary duties, wasted corporate assets, and were unjustly enriched. This derivative action
purported to state a claim on behalf of the Company. Plaintiff filed an amended complaint in July 2008, which alleged claims that arise from the conduct
alleged in the federal shareholder class action and allegations regarding additional statements made by the Company between November 2007 and May
2008. The Company and the individual defendants filed motions to dismiss the derivative
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complaint. On February 26, 2009, the Court dismissed the derivative compliant with prejudice and denied plaintiff leave to amend. The order is subject
to appeal.

We are not able to predict the ultimate outcomes of these actions. It is possible that they could be resolved adversely to us, could result in
substantial costs, and could divert management's attention and resources, which could harm our business. Risks associated with legal liability are often
difficult to assess or quantify, and their existence and magnitude can remain unknown for significant periods of time. While we maintain director and
officer insurance, the amount of insurance coverage may not be sufficient to cover a claim, and the continued availability of this insurance cannot be
assured. We may, in the future, be the target of additional proceedings, and these proceedings may result in substantial costs and divert management's
attention and resources that are needed to successfully run our business.
We may fail to meet analyst expectations, which could cause the price of our stock to decline.
Our common stock is traded publicly, and various securities analysts follow our financial results and issue reports on us and the value of our
common stock. These reports include information about our historical financial results as well as the analysts' estimates of our future performance. The
analysts' estimates are based upon their own opinions and are often different from our estimates or expectations. If our operating results are below the
estimates or expectations of public market analysts and investors, our stock price could decline.

If we do not accurately forecast consumer demand, we may have excess inventory to liquidate or have greater difficulty filling our customers'

orders, either of which could adversely affect our business.
The footwear industry is subject to cyclical variations, consolidation, contraction, and closings, as well as fashion trends, rapid changes in
consumer preferences, the effects of weather, general economic conditions, and other factors affecting demand. These factors make it difficult to forecast
consumer demand, and if we overestimate demand for our products, we may be forced to liquidate excess inventories at a discount to customers,
resulting in markdowns and lower gross margins. Conversely, if we underestimate consumer demand, we could have inventory shortages, which can
result in lost potential sales, delays in shipments to customers, strains on our relationships with customers and diminished brand loyalty. Moreover,
because our product line is limited, we may be disproportionately affected by cyclical downturns in the footwear industry, changes in consumer
preferences, and other factors affecting demand, which may make it more difficult for us to accurately forecast our production needs, exacerbating these
risks. A decline in demand for our products, or any failure on our part to satisfy increased demand for our products, could adversely affect our business
and results of operations.

Our current management information systems may not be sufficient for our business, and planned system improvements may not be successfully
implemented on a timely basis or be sufficient for our growing business.

We have made significant improvements to our management information systems over the past several years, specifically to upgrade our financial
reporting systems and to implement new information technology systems to better track our business, streamline our financial reporting, and improve
our internal controls. However, for certain business planning, finance and accounting functions, we still rely on manual processes that are difficult to
control and are subject to human error. We may experience difficulties in transitioning to our new or upgraded systems, including loss of data and
decreases in productivity as our personnel become familiar with new systems. In addition, our management information systems will require
modification and refinement as our business needs change, which could prolong difficulties we experience with systems transitions, and we may not
always employ the most effective systems for our purposes. If we experience difficulties in implementing new or upgraded information systems or
experience significant system failures, or if we are unable to successfully modify our management information systems to respond to changes in our
business needs, our ability to properly run our business could be adversely affected.
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We have substantial cash requirements in the U.S. while a majority of our cash is generated and held outside of the U.S. The risks attendant to
holding cash abroad could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.
We have substantial cash requirements in the U.S., but a majority of our cash is generated and held abroad. Since repatriation of such cash is
subject to limitations and may be subject to significant taxation, we cannot be certain that we will be able to repatriate such cash on favorable terms or in
a timely manner. If we continue to incur operating losses and require cash held in international accounts for use in our U.S. operations, a failure to
repatriate such cash in a timely and cost-effective manner could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Failure to adequately protect our trademarks and other intellectual property rights and counterfeiting of our brands could divert sales, damage

our brand image and adversely affect our business.
We utilize trademarks, trade names, copyrights, trade secrets, issued and pending patents, and trade dress and designs on nearly all of our products
and believe that having distinctive marks that are readily identifiable is an important factor in creating a market for our goods, in identifying us, and in
distinguishing our goods from the goods of others. We believe that our trademarks, patents, and other intellectual property rights are important to our
brand, our success and our competitive position. We periodically discover products that are counterfeit reproductions of our products or that otherwise
infringe on our intellectual property rights. If we are unsuccessful in challenging another party's products on the basis of trademark or design or utility
patent infringement, or if we are required to change our name or use a different logo, continued sales of such competing products by third parties could
harm our brand and adversely impact our business, financial condition, and results of operations by resulting in the shift of consumer preference away
from our products. We have taken actions to protect our intellectual property rights, some of which are described in Part I, Item 3 Legal Proceedings.
The actions we have taken or those we will take to establish and protect trademarks, patents, and other intellectual property rights may not be adequate to
prevent imitation of our products by others or to prevent others from seeking to block sales of our products as violations of proprietary rights.

In addition, the laws of certain foreign countries may not protect intellectual property rights to the same extent as do the laws of the U.S. We have
registered Crocs as a trademark for footwear in Aruba, Australia, the European Union, Israel, Japan, Mexico, Netherlands, Antilles, New Zealand,
Panama, and the World Intellectual Property Office. As of December 31, 2008, we have applied to register Crocs and the Crocs logo as trademarks in
over 67 other jurisdictions around the world, including the U.S., but such applications have not been approved and are currently pending. In addition,
we have recently extended the scope of our trademark registrations and applications for both the Crocs mark and logo to cover non-footwear products
such as sunglasses, goggles, knee pads, watches, luggage, and some of our internet sales activities. We cannot assure you that the actions we have taken
to establish and protect our trademarks and other intellectual property rights outside the U.S. will be adequate to prevent imitation of our products by
others or, if necessary, successfully challenge another party's counterfeit products or products that otherwise infringe on our intellectual property rights
on the basis of trademark or patent infringement. We may face significant expenses and liability in connection with the protection of our intellectual
property rights outside the U.S., and if we are unable to successfully protect our rights or resolve intellectual property conflicts with others, our
business or financial condition could be adversely affected.
We also rely on trade secrets, confidential information, and other unpatented proprietary information related to, among other things, the formulation
of Croslite and product development, especially where we do not believe patent protection is appropriate or obtainable. Using third-party manufacturers
and compounding facilities may increase the risk of misappropriation of our trade secrets, confidential information and other unpatented proprietary
information. The agreements we use to try to protect our intellectual property, confidential information and other unpatented proprietary
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information may not effectively protect such intellectual property and information and may not be sufficient to prevent unauthorized use or disclosure of
such trade secrets and information. A party to one of these agreements may breach the agreement and we may not have adequate remedies for such
breach. As a result, our trade secrets, confidential information, and other unpatented proprietary information may become known to others, including
our competitors. Furthermore, as with any trade secret, confidential information, or other proprietary information, others, including our competitors,
may independently develop or discover such trade secrets and information, which would render them less valuable to us.

Because we depend on third-party manufacturers, we may face challenges in maintaining a sufficient supply of goods to meet sales demand, and
we may experience interruptions in our supply chain. Any shortfall in the supply of our products may decrease our sales and have an adverse

impact on our customer relationships.
In the year ended December 31, 2008, third-party manufacturers produced approximately 83% of our footwear products as measured by number
of units, and one such manufacturer in China produced approximately 49% of our third-party footwear products. Currently, we have footwear
manufacturing arrangements with third-party manufacturers located in China and Bosnia. We depend on these manufacturers' ability to finance the
production of goods ordered and to maintain adequate manufacturing capacity. We do not exert direct control over the third-party manufacturers and as
such, have experienced at times, delays or inabilities to fulfill customer demand and orders. While we are increasing our communication and
relationships with our third-party manufacturers, we cannot guarantee that we will be able to fully mitigate any delays in the production and shipment of
our products.

In addition, we do not have long-term supply contracts with most of these third-party manufacturers, including the third-party manufacturer that
produced the majority of our footwear products in the year ended December 31, 2008, and any of them may unilaterally terminate their relationship with
us at any time or seek to increase the prices they charge us. As a result, we are not assured of an uninterrupted supply of products of an acceptable
quality and price from our third-party manufacturers. We may not be able to offset any interruption or decrease in supply of our products by increasing
production in our Company-operated manufacturing facilities due to capacity constraints, and we may not be able to substitute suitable alternative thirdparty manufacturers in a timely manner or at acceptable prices. Any disruption in the supply of products from our third-party manufacturers may harm
our business and could result in a loss of sales and an increase in production costs, which would adversely affect our results of operations.
We manufacture a portion of our Crocs products, and any difficulties or disruptions in our manufacturing operations could adversely affect our
sales and results of operations.
In the year ended December 31, 2008, we produced approximately 17% of our footwear products at our Company-operated manufacturing
facilities in North America, Brazil and Italy. The manufacturing of our products from our proprietary closed-cell resin, which we refer to as Croslite,
requires the use of a complex process, and we may experience difficulty in producing footwear that meets our high quality control standards. We will be
required to absorb the costs of manufacturing and disposing of products that do not meet our quality standards. These costs are primarily incurred in
connection with the initial production of new products, although we may also experience increases in training costs when we initiate production of new
products. We may incur increased costs as a result of the introduction of new manufacturing equipment, such as molds and injection molding machines.
Any increases in our manufacturing costs could adversely impact our margins. Furthermore, our manufacturing capabilities are subject to many of the
same risks and challenges noted above with respect to our third-party manufacturers, including our ability to scale our production capabilities to meet the
needs of our customers, and our manufacturing may be disrupted for reasons beyond our
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control, including work stoppages, fires, earthquakes, floods, or other natural disasters. Any disruption to our manufacturing operations will hinder our
ability to deliver products to our customers in a timely manner, and could have a material and adverse effect on our business.

We depend on a limited number of suppliers for key production materials, and any disruption in the supply of such materials could interrupt

product manufacturing and increase product costs.
We depend on a limited number of sources for the primary materials used to make our footwear. We source the elastomer resins that constitute the
primary raw materials used in compounding Croslite, which we use to produce our footwear products, from two suppliers. We do not have any formal
purchase agreement with the providers of the elastomer resins, and we purchase these elastomer resins on a purchase order basis. If the suppliers we
rely on for elastomer resins were to cease production of these materials, we may not be able to obtain suitable substitute materials in time to avoid
interruption of our production cycle, if at all. We may also have to pay materially higher prices in the future for the elastomer resins or any substitute
materials we use, which would increase our production costs and could have a materially adverse impact on our margins and results of operations.

If we are unable to obtain suitable elastomer resins or if we are unable to procure sufficient quantities of Croslite, we may not be able to meet our
production requirements in a timely manner. Such failure could result in lost potential sales, delays in shipments to customers, strained relationships
with customers, and diminished brand loyalty.
Our products are subject to risks associated with overseas sourcing, manufacturing, shipping and financing.
Because independent manufacturers manufacture a majority of our products outside of our principal sales market, our products must be transported
by third parties over large geographic distances. Delays in the shipment or delivery of our products due to the availability of transportation, work
stoppages, port strikes, infrastructure congestion, or other factors, and costs and delays associated with transitioning between manufacturers, could
adversely impact our financial performance. In addition, manufacturing delays or unexpected demand for our products may require us to use faster, but
more expensive, transportation methods such as aircraft, which could adversely affect our profit margins. The cost of fuel is a significant component in
transportation costs, so increases in the price of petroleum products can adversely affect our profit margins.

We are dependent on sales of a small number of products, and the absence of continued market demand for these products would have a
significant adverse effect on our operating results.
We generated approximately 91.6% of our revenues for the year ended December 31, 2008 from sales of our footwear products, which consisted
of more than 270 models, including Ocean Minded, Bite, YOU by Crocs™ and our Crocs footwear models. Sales of our classic Beach and Cayman
models accounted for approximately 25% of our footwear revenues in the year ended December 31, 2008. A high portion of our Crocs footwear
models are developed from the same base design as our Beach and Cayman models, and we expect to continue to derive a substantial portion of our
revenues from these models or related products in the foreseeable future. Because we are dependent on a line of footwear models that have substantial
similarities, factors such as changes in consumer preferences and general market conditions in the footwear industry may have a disproportionately
greater impact on us than on our competitors. In addition, other footwear companies have introduced products that are substantially similar to our
footwear models, which may reduce sales of our footwear products. In the event that consumer preferences evolve away from our footwear models or
from casual lifestyle footwear in general, or if our retail customers purchase similar products sold by our competitors, the resulting loss of sales,
increase in inventories and discounting of our products are likely to be significant, which could have a material and adverse impact on our business and
operations.
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Expanding our footwear product line may be difficult and expensive, and if we are unable to successfully continue such expansion, our brand
may be adversely affected, and we may not maintain or grow our current revenue levels and our revenues may continue to decline.
Our ability to maintain or grow our current revenue levels is founded primarily on the continued sales of our footwear, and we intend to continue
to refine the number of models offered in our footwear product line to broaden the appeal of our products to consumers. To successfully expand our
footwear product line, we must anticipate, understand, and react to the rapidly changing tastes of consumers and provide appealing merchandise in a
timely manner. New footwear models that we introduce, may not be successful with consumers, or our brand may fall out of favor with consumers. If
we are unable to anticipate, identify, or react appropriately to changes in consumer preferences, we may not continue to grow and our revenues may
decline further, and our brand image and operating performance may suffer.

We may also encounter difficulties in producing new footwear models that we did not anticipate during the development stage. Our development
schedules for new products are difficult to predict and are subject to change as a result of shifting priorities in response to consumer preferences and
competing products. For example, once we begin to design a new footwear model, it can take six to nine months to progress to full production because
of the need to fabricate new molds and to implement modified production tooling and revised manufacturing techniques. If we are not able to efficiently
manufacture newly-developed products in quantities sufficient to support retail distribution, we may not be able to recoup our investment in the
development of new models and product lines, and we would continue to be subject to the risks inherent in having a limited product line. Even if we
develop and manufacture new footwear products that consumers find appealing, the ultimate success of a new model may depend on our pricing. We
have a limited history of introducing new products, and we may set the prices of new models too high for the market to bear or not provide the
appropriate level of marketing in order to educate the market and potential consumers of new products. Achieving market acceptance will require us to
exert substantial product development and marketing efforts, which could result in a material increase in our selling, general, and administrative expense,
and there can be no assurance that we will have the resources necessary to undertake such efforts effectively. Failure to gain market acceptance for new
products that we introduce could impede our ability to maintain or grow our current revenues, reduce our profits, adversely affect the image of our
brands, erode our competitive position, and result in long term harm to our business
Sales of our products are likely to be subject to seasonal variations, which could increase the volatility of the price of our common stock.
Due to our significant sales growth since our inception, followed by the global economic crisis in 2008, there is still uncertainty in the degree to
which sales of our footwear products will be subject to seasonality. For the year ended December 31, 2008, we experienced a 40% increase in sales in
the first quarter of 2008 compared to 2007. However, due to declining economic conditions and declining demand for our products, our sales were flat
in the second quarter of 2008 compared to 2007 and our sales declined in the third and fourth quarters of 2008 compared to 2007. We expect that our
business, similar to other vendors of footwear and related merchandise, will be subject to seasonal variation. We believe many vendors that market
footwear products suited for warm weather normally experience their highest sales activity during the second and third quarters of the calendar year.
While we have introduced footwear models that are more suitable for cold weather, such as the Mammoth, Endeavor, Georgie, All Terrain, Snowmini,

and YOU by Crocstm styles, we expect that demand for our products, and therefore our sales, may be subject to seasonal variations and significantly
impacted by weather conditions because the majority of our revenues during the year ended December 31, 2008 were attributable to our footwear styles
more suitable for fair weather.
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In addition, our quarterly results of operations may fluctuate significantly as a result of a variety of other factors, including the timing of new model
introductions or general economic or consumer conditions. Accordingly, results for any one quarter are not necessarily indicative of results to be
expected for any other quarter or for any year, and revenues for any particular period may fluctuate. This could lead to results outside of analyst and
investor expectations which could cause the volatility in our stock price to increase.
We will incur significant time and expense in documenting, testing and certifying our internal control over financial reporting, and any
deficiencies in our financial reporting or internal controls could adversely affect our business and the price of our common stock.

Beginning with our Annual Report on Form 10-K for our fiscal year ended on December 31, 2007, the Securities and Exchange Commission
("SEC") rules require that our chief executive officer and chief financial officer periodically certify the existence and effectiveness of our internal control
over financial reporting. This process generally requires significant documentation of policies, procedures, and systems, review of that documentation
by our internal accounting staff and our outside auditors, and testing of our internal control over financial reporting by our internal accounting staff and
the independent auditors. Continued documentation and testing of our internal controls will involve considerable time and expense, and may strain our
internal resources and have an adverse impact on our costs.

During the ongoing course of our testing, we may identify deficiencies which we may not be able to remediate in time to meet the annual deadlines
imposed by SEC rules for certification of our internal control over financial reporting. As a consequence, we may have to disclose in periodic reports
we file with the SEC any material weaknesses in our system of internal controls. For example, during the three months ended March 31, 2008, we
identified a control deficiency that was determined to be a material weakness in our system of internal controls. The material weakness identified related
to controls over the preparation and calculation of the consolidated income tax provision and related reserves.
The existence of such material weaknesses would preclude management from concluding that our internal control over financial reporting is
effective and would preclude our independent auditors from issuing an unqualified opinion that our internal controls are effective. In addition,
disclosures of this type in our SEC reports could cause investors to lose confidence in our financial reporting and may negatively affect the price of our
common stock. Moreover, effective internal controls are necessary to produce reliable financial reports and to prevent fraud. If we have deficiencies in
our internal control over financial reporting, such deficiencies may negatively impact our business, results of operations and reputation.

Third parties may claim that we are infringing their intellectual property rights, and such claims may be costly to defend, may require us to pay

licensing fees, damages, or other amounts, and may prevent, or otherwise impose limitations on, the manufacture, distribution or sale of our

products.
From time to time, third parties may claim that we are infringing their intellectual property rights, and we may be found to infringe those intellectual
property rights. While we do not believe that any of our products infringe the valid intellectual property rights of third parties, we may be unaware of the
intellectual property rights of others that may cover some of our technology or products. If we are forced to defend against such third-party claims,
whether or not such claims are resolved in our favor, we could encounter expensive and time consuming litigation, which could divert our management
and key personnel from business operations. If we are found to be infringing on the intellectual property rights of other companies, we may be required
to pay damages or ongoing royalty payments, or comply with other unfavorable terms. If we are found to be infringing on the intellectual property
rights of other companies, we may not be able to obtain license agreements on terms acceptable to us, or at all,
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and this may prevent us from manufacturing, marketing or selling our products. Thus, such third-party claims may significantly reduce the sales of our
products or increase our cost of goods sold. Any such reductions in sales or cost increases could be significant, and could have a material and adverse
affect on our business.

Our business could suffer if our third-party manufacturers violate labor laws or fail to conform to generally accepted ethical standards.
We require our third-party manufacturers to meet our standards for working conditions and other matters before we are willing to do business with
them. As a result, we may not always obtain the lowest cost production. Moreover, we do not control our third-party manufacturers or their respective
labor practices. If one of our third-party manufacturers violates generally accepted labor standards by, for example, using forced or indentured labor or
child labor, failing to pay compensation in accordance with local law, failing to operate its factories in compliance with local safety regulations, or
diverging from other labor practices generally accepted as ethical, we likely would cease dealing with that manufacturer, and we could suffer an
interruption in our product supply. In addition, such a manufacturer's actions could result in negative publicity, damage to our reputation and the value
of our brand, and discourage retail customers and consumers from buying our products.

If we are unable to recruit and retain key personnel necessary to operate our business, our ability to successfully manage our business and
develop and market our products may be harmed.
We are reliant on key personnel and our officers, including our new Chief Executive Officer, John Duerden. To expand our business we will need
to attract, retain, and motivate highly skilled design, development, management, accounting, sales, merchandising, marketing, and customer service
personnel. Competition for many of these types of personnel is intense. As a result, we may be unable to successfully attract or retain qualified
personnel. Any of our officers or employees can terminate their employment with us at any time, and we do not maintain key person life insurance on
any of our employees. The loss of any key employee or our inability to attract or retain other qualified employees could harm our business and results of
operations.

As a result of the difficult global macroeconomic conditions and extremely challenging retail environments, particularly in the U.S. and Europe,
we implemented restructuring and workforce reductions, which may adversely affect the morale and performance of our personnel and our ability

to hire new personnel.
Our business has been adversely affected by challenging retail environments in many of the markets in which we operate due in large part to the
current global economic downturn. Accordingly, we made the decision in 2008 to right-size our operations to better align with our lower sales volumes
and revenues, resulting in us reducing our workforce in North America and Europe. Additionally, we made the decision in 2008 to close our
manufacturing plants in Brazil and Canada. This restructuring plan, or any restructuring plans undertaken in the future, may yield unintended
consequences, such as attrition beyond our intended reduction in workforce and reduced employee morale, which may cause our employees who were
not affected by the reduction in workforce to seek employment elsewhere. We run the risk that our restructuring efforts may not sufficiently reduce
costs to maintain profitability, or, in the alternative, our restructuring efforts may result in too many reductions, which could adversely affect our
operations and may potentially stunt our growth. Additional attrition or an inability to find adequate replacements for lost personnel could adversely
affect our ability to meet our operational or financial goals.
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Our financial success may be limited to the strength of our relationships with our retail customers and to the success of such retail customers.
Our financial success is significantly related to the willingness of our retail customers to continue to carry our products, the expansion to new retail
customers, and to the success of such customers. We do not have long term contracts with any of our retail customers, and sales to our retail customers
are generally on an order-by-order basis and are subject to rights of cancellation and rescheduling by the customer. If we cannot fill our retail customers'
orders in a timely manner, the sales of our products and our relationships with those customers may suffer, and this could have a material adverse effect
on our product sales and ability to grow our product line.

Furthermore, many of our retail customers compete with each other, and if they perceive that we are offering their competitors better pricing and
support, they may reduce purchases of our products. In addition, we compete directly with our retail customers by selling our products to consumers via
the internet and through our Company-operated kiosks and stores. If our retail customers believe that our direct sales to consumers divert sales from
their stores, this may weaken our relationships with such customers and cause them to reduce purchases of our products.

The changes in the global economy could also affect our customers' liquidity and capital resources and their ability to meet their payment
obligations to us, which in turn would decrease their credit terms and our ability to collect our accounts receivable, which may have a material adverse
impact on our cash flows and capital resources. We continue to monitor our accounts receivable aging and have recorded appropriate reserves as we
deem appropriate.

We face significant competition, and if we are unable to compete effectively, sales of our products may decline and our business could be harmed.
The footwear industry is highly competitive. Recent growth in the market for casual footwear has encouraged the entry of new competitors into the
marketplace and has increased competition from established companies. Some of our competitors are offering products that are substantially similar, in
design and materials, to our Crocs-branded footwear. In addition, access to offshore manufacturing is also making it easier for new companies to enter
the markets in which we compete.

Our competitors include most major athletic and footwear companies, branded apparel companies, and retailers with their own private labels. A
number of our competitors:
•

have significantly greater financial resources than us;

•

have more comprehensive product lines than ours;

•

have broader market presence than we have in retail stores, or have more Company-operated retail stores than us;

•

have longer-standing relationships with retailers than us;

•

have a longer operating history than ours;

•

have greater distribution capabilities than us;

•

have stronger brand recognition than us; and

•

spend substantially more on product advertising and sales than us.

Our competitors' greater capabilities in these areas may enable them to better withstand periodic downturns in the footwear industry, compete more
effectively on the basis of price and production, and more quickly develop new products. If we fail to compete successfully in the future, our sales and
profits may decline, our financial condition may deteriorate, and the market price of our common stock is likely to fall.
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We may fail to successfully streamline our distribution network or introduce our products internationally, and this may cause our results of
operations to fall short of expectations.
As part of our strategy, we plan to streamline our supply chain network and expand the sales of our products into new locations internationally.
Successfully executing this strategy will depend on many factors, including:

•

the strength of the Crocs brand and competitive conditions in new markets that we attempt to enter;

•

our ability to attract and retain qualified distributors or agents or to develop direct sales channels;

•

our ability to use and protect the Crocs brand, and our other intellectual property, in these new markets and territories; and

•

our ability to consolidate our network to leverage resources and simplify our fulfillment process.

If we are unable to successfully streamline our supply chain and sell our Crocs-branded products internationally, our business may fail to grow,
our brand may suffer, and our results of operations may be adversely impacted.
We conduct, and in the future expect to conduct, a significant portion of our activities outside the U.S., and, therefore, we are subject to the risks
of international commerce.
We use third-party manufacturers located in foreign countries; we operate manufacturing facilities located in North America, Brazil and Italy; and
we sell our products to retailers outside of the U.S. Foreign manufacturing and sales activities are subject to numerous risks, including the following:

•

tariffs, import and export controls, and other non-tariff barriers such as quotas and local content rules;

•

delays associated with the manufacture, transportation and delivery of foreign-sourced products;

•

increased transportation costs due to distance, energy prices, or other factors;

•

delays in the transportation and delivery of goods due to increased security concerns;

•

foreign currency fluctuations, for which we do not currently engage in any material hedging transactions;

•

restrictions on the transfer of funds;

•

changing economic conditions;

•

restrictions, due to privacy laws, on the handling and transfer of consumer and other personal information;

•

changes in governmental policies and regulations;

•

political unrest, terrorism, or war, any of which can interrupt commerce;

•

expropriation and nationalization;

•

difficulties in managing foreign operations effectively and efficiently from the U.S.; and

•

difficulties in understanding and complying with local laws, regulations, and customs in foreign jurisdictions.

Furthermore, our manufacturing activity outside of the U.S., including the production of our products by third-party manufacturers, particularly in

China, is subject to risks of poor infrastructure,
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shortages of equipment, and labor unrest, in addition to those risks noted above. Once our products are manufactured, we may also suffer delays in
distributing our products due to work stoppages, strikes, or lockouts at the ports where our products arrive. Such labor disruptions could result in
product shortages and delays in distributing our products to retailers. These factors and the failure to properly respond to them could make it difficult to
obtain adequate supplies of quality products when we need them, resulting in reduced sales and harm to our business.

In addition, during 2008, we generated $400.3 million, or 56%, of our revenues outside of the U.S., and in the year ended December 31, 2007, we
generated approximately $407.8 million, or 48% of our revenues outside of the U.S. Our ability to maintain the current level of operations in our
existing international markets is subject to risks associated with international sales operations, as noted above, as well as the difficulties associated with
promoting products in unfamiliar cultures.
We may be adversely affected by currency exchange rate fluctuations.
The market has recently seen significant volatility in the value of the dollar against other foreign markets and currency. We purchase products and
supplies from third parties in U.S. dollars and receive payments from certain of our international customers in foreign currencies. The cost of these
products and supplies sourced overseas, and payments received from customers, may be affected by changes in the value of the relevant currencies.
Price increases caused by currency exchange rate fluctuations could make our products less competitive or have an adverse effect on our profitability.
Currency exchange rate fluctuations could also disrupt the business of the third-party manufacturers that produce our products by making their
purchases of raw materials more expensive and more difficult to finance. Foreign currency fluctuations could have a material adverse effect on our
results of operations and financial condition. For the year ended December 31, 2008, we experienced $25.5 million in non-cash foreign currency
exchange rate losses primarily on intercompany balances.

Acquisitions may be difficult to identify and successfully integrate into our business and could have other adverse consequences.
We have made, and may in the future make, acquisitions of, or investments in, other companies. We expect to consider other opportunities to
acquire or make investments in other businesses and products that could enhance our manufacturing capabilities, complement our current products or
expand the breadth of our markets or customer base. The pursuit of acquisitions may divert the attention of management and cause us to incur various
expenses in identifying, investigating and pursuing suitable acquisitions, whether or not they are consummated. In the event we finance acquisitions by
issuing equity or convertible debt securities, our stockholders may be diluted.

If we acquire additional businesses, we may not be able to integrate the acquired operations successfully with our business or effectively manage
the combined business following completion of the acquisition. We may not achieve the anticipated benefits from the acquired business due to any of
the following factors:
•

unanticipated costs associated with the acquisition;

•

diversion of management's attention from our core business;

•

harm to our existing business relationships with manufacturers and customers as a result of the acquisition;

•

the potential loss of key employees; or

•

risks associated with entering new product lines or markets in which we have little or no prior experience.
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If we are unable to integrate any new business successfully, we could be required either to dispose of the acquired operations or to undertake
changes to the acquired operations in an effort to integrate them with our business. If we experience any of the difficulties noted above, our business
and financial condition could be materially and adversely affected.
We can issue shares of preferred stock without stockholder approval, which could adversely affect the rights of common stockholders.
Our restated certificate of incorporation permits us to establish the rights, privileges, preferences, and restrictions, including voting rights, of future
series of our preferred stock and to issue such stock without approval from our stockholders. The rights of holders of our common stock may suffer as
a result of the rights granted to holders of preferred stock that we may issue in the future. In addition, we could issue preferred stock to prevent a change
in control of us, depriving common stockholders of an opportunity to sell their stock at a price in excess of the prevailing market price.

Our restated certificate of incorporation, amended and restated bylaws and Delaware law contain provisions that could discourage a third-party

from acquiring us and consequently decrease the market value of an investment in our stock.
Our restated certificate of incorporation, amended and restated bylaws, and Delaware corporate law each contain provisions that could delay, defer,
or prevent a change in control of us or changes in our management. Among other things, these provisions:

•

authorize us to issue preferred stock that can be created and issued by the board of directors without prior stockholder approval, with
rights senior to those of common stock;

•

do not permit cumulative voting in the election of directors, which would otherwise allow less than a majority of stockholders to elect
director candidates;

•

prohibit stockholders from calling special meetings of stockholders;

•

prohibit stockholder action by written consent, thereby requiring all stockholder actions to be taken at a meeting of our stockholders;

•

allow the authorized number of directors to be changed only by resolution of the board of directors;

•

establish advance notice requirements for submitting nominations for election to the board of directors and for proposing matters that can
be acted upon by stockholders at a meeting; and

•

classify our board of directors so that only some of our directors are elected each year.

These provisions could discourage proxy contests and make it more difficult for our stockholders to elect directors and take other corporate
actions, which may prevent a change of control or changes in our management that a stockholder might consider favorable. In addition, Section 203 of
the Delaware General Corporation Law may discourage, delay, or prevent a change in control of us. Any delay or prevention of a change of control or
change in management that stockholders might otherwise consider to be favorable could cause the market price of our common stock to decline.

ITEM 1B.

Unresolved Staff Comments

None.
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ITEM 2. Properties
Our principal executive and administrative offices are located at 6328 Monarch Park Place, Niwot, Colorado. We lease, rather than own, all of our
facilities. We consider our facilities to be suitable for our needs.

The general location, use and approximate size of our principal properties are given below:
Location

Rotterdam, the Netherlands
Aurora, Colorado
Narita, Japan
Leon, Mexico
Niwot, Colorado
Zhangbei, China
Shanghai, China
Longmont, Colorado
Boulder, Colorado
Melbourne, Australia
Den Haag, the Netherlands
Sorrecaba, Brazil
Singapore
Singapore
Tempere, Finland
Shanghai, China
Haryana, India
Padova, Italy

Use

Warehouse
Warehouse
Warehouse
Warehouse/office
Corporate offices/warehouse
Manufacturing facility
Warehouse
Warehouse
Jibbitz's Corporate offices/warehouse
Warehouse
Corporate office
Corporate office
Warehouse
Corporate offices
Corporate office and storage
Corporate office
Warehouse
EXO's corporate offices/manufacturing facility

Approximate Square
Feet

357,000
264,000
260,000
207,000
147,000
100,000
81,000
72,000
52,000
48,000
40,000
39,000
32,000
26,000
34,000
18,000
17,000
10,000

We also maintain small branch sales offices in Hong Kong, Taiwan, Korea, Australia, Puerto Rico, Hawaii, California and India. We enter into
short-term leases for kiosks domestically and internationally with fixed monthly rents subject to certain covenants with contingent rents based on
percentage of revenues. We also lease retail space at 8 domestic and 62 international retail stores and 30 domestic and 2 international outlet stores. Our
short term and long term leases expire at various dates throughout the year 2026. We also still hold a lease on facilities in Quebec City, however, as a
result of our restructuring efforts during 2008, we have shut down these facilities and taken the appropriate lease termination charges.
ITEM 3. Legal Proceedings
On March 31, 2006, Crocs filed a complaint with the ITC against Acme Ex-Im, Inc., Australia Unlimited, Inc., Cheng's Enterprises, Inc.,
Collective Licensing International, LLC, D. Myers & Sons, Inc., Double Diamond Distribution, Ltd., Effervescent, Inc., Gen-X Sports, Inc., Holey
Soles Holdings, Ltd., Inter-Pacific Trading Corporation, and Shaka Holdings, Inc., alleging patent and trade dress infringement and seeking an
exclusion order banning the importation and sale of infringing products. On August 10, 2006, Crocs filed a motion to voluntarily remove its trade dress
claim from the investigation to focus on the patent claims. Crocs' motion was granted by Order No. 20 on August 24, 2006. The utility and design
patents asserted in the complaint were issued to Crocs, Inc. on February 7, 2006 and March 28, 2006 respectively, by the United States Patent and
Trademark Office. The ITC has issued final determinations terminating Shaka Holdings, Inc., Inter-Pacific Trading Corporation, Acme Ex-Im, Inc., D.
Myers & Sons, Inc. and Australia Unlimited, Inc. from the ITC investigation No. 337-TA-567 on the basis of settlement and Cheng's Enterprises, Inc.
on the suspension of accused activities. The ITC Administrative Law Judge ("ALJ") issued an Initial Determination of

28

Table of Contents

non-infringement related to one of the patents at issue. Crocs filed a petition with the Commission to review this determination. The Commission
granted Crocs' petition and on February 15, 2007, after briefing by the parties, the Commission vacated the ALJ's determination of non-infringement
with respect to the remaining respondents and remanded it to the ALJ for further proceedings consistent with the Commission's order. In light of the
Commission's Order, the procedural schedule and hearing date were reset pursuant to Order No. 38. A trial was held before the ALJ from September 7
to14, 2007. The ALJ issued an Initial Determination on April 11, 2008 with a finding of no violation, finding infringement of the utility patent by
certain accused products, but also finding that the utility patent was invalid as obvious. The ALJ also found that the design patent was valid, but not
infringed by the accused products. Crocs filed a Petition for Review of the Initial Determination which was due on April 24, 2008. On June 18, 2008,
the Commission issued a Notice that it would review the ALJ's findings in the Initial Determination with respect to the determination of noninfringement of the design patent and the determination of invalidity of the utility patent. On July 25, 2008, the Commission issued a Notice of its
decision to terminate the Investigation with a finding of no violation as to either patent. Crocs filed a Petition for Review of the decision with the United
States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit on September 22, 2008, and filed its initial brief on January 21, 2009. Briefing before the Federal Circuit
is expected to be completed in March 2009 and oral argument has not yet been scheduled.

On April 3, 2006, Crocs filed a complaint in the U.S. District Court for the District of Colorado alleging patent and trade dress infringement and
seeking injunctive relief against Acme EX-IM, Inc., Australia Unlimited, Inc., Cheng's Enterprises, Inc., Collective Licensing International, LLC, D.
Myers & Sons, Inc., Double Diamond Distribution, Ltd., Effervescent, Inc., Gen-X Sports, Inc., Holey Soles Holdings, Ltd, Inter-Pacific Trading
Corporation, Shaka Holdings, Inc., and Does 1-10 based upon certain utility and design patents that were issued to Crocs, Inc. on February 7, 2006 and
March 28, 2006 respectively, by the United States Patent and Trademark Office. Consent judgments have been entered against Shaka Holdings, Inc.,
Interpacific Trading Corporation and Acme Ex-Im, Inc. Crocs entered into a settlement with Australia Unlimited, and filed a stipulation for dismissal of
all claims and counterclaims on January 25, 2007. Crocs has entered into a settlement agreement with D. Myers & Sons and obtained a consent
judgment in connection therewith on May 23, 2007. This action has been stayed pending resolution in the ITC Proceeding, Investigation No. 337-TA567, which is currently on appeal to the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit. The Company does not expect that the ultimate resolution of this
matter will have a material adverse impact on its business.
The Company and certain current and former officers and directors have been named as defendants in complaints filed by investors in the United
States District Court for the District of Colorado. The first complaint was filed in November 2007; several other complaints were filed shortly thereafter.
These actions were consolidated and, in September 2008, the Court appointed a lead plaintiff and counsel. An amended consolidated complaint was
filed in December 2008. The amended complaint purports to state claims under Section 10(b), 20(a), and 20A of the Exchange Act on behalf of a class
of all persons who purchased the Company's stock between April 2, 2007 and April 14, 2008 (the "Class Period"). The amended complaint alleges that,
during the Class Period, defendants made false and misleading public statements about the Company and its business and prospects and that, as a result,
the market price of the Company's stock was artificially inflated. The amended complaint also claims that certain current and former officers and
directors traded in the Company's stock on the basis of material non-public information. The amended complaint seeks compensatory damages on behalf
of the alleged class in an unspecified amount, interest, and an award of attorneys' fees and costs of litigation. The Company believes the claims lack
merit and intends to defend the action vigorously. Due to the inherent uncertainties of litigation and because the litigation is at a preliminary stage, the
Company cannot at this time accurately predict the ultimate outcome of the matter.
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In December 2007, a plaintiff filed a shareholder derivative action in the Colorado District Court for the City and County of Boulder alleging that
certain officers and directors of the Company breached their fiduciary duties, wasted corporate assets, and were unjustly enriched. This derivative action
purported to state a claim on behalf of the Company. Plaintiff filed an amended complaint in July 2008, which alleges claims that arise from the conduct
alleged in the federal shareholder class action and allegations regarding additional statements made by the Company between November 2007 and May
2008. The Company and the individual defendants filed motions to dismiss the derivative complaint. On February 26, 2009, the Court dismissed the
derivative compliant with prejudice and denied plaintiff leave to amend. The order is subject to appeal.
Due to the inherent uncertainties of litigation and because the litigation is at a preliminary stage, the Company cannot at this time accurately predict
the ultimate outcome of the matter.
On March 17, 2008, Cellect LLC and Sentinel Products Corp. filed a complaint against Crocs, Inc. in the U.S. District Court for the Northern
District of New York alleging that Crocs' Croslite materials infringe U.S. Patent No. 5,932,659. Crocs filed an answer on July 11, 2008. On
January 12, 2009, the Court entered an order dismissing the action without prejudice. The court's order became a dismissal with prejudice on
February 10, 2009.
Although the Company is subject to other litigation from time to time in the ordinary course of business, including employment, intellectual
property and product liability claims, the Company is not party to any other pending legal proceedings that the Company believes will have a material
adverse impact on its business.

ITEM 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders
Not Applicable.
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PART II

ITEM 5.

Market for the Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Market Information
Our common stock, par value $0.001, is listed on the NASDAQ Global Select Market and trades under the stock symbol CROX. The following
table sets forth, for each of the quarterly periods indicated, the high and low sales prices of our common stock as reported on the NASDAQ Global
Select Market. Prices prior to June 14, 2007 have been adjusted to reflect the 2-for-1 stock split, which was effected as a 100% common stock dividend
distributed on that date.
Fiscal Year 2008 Three Months Ended

March 31, 2008
June 30, 2008
September 30, 2008
December 31, 2008

Fiscal Year 2007 Three Months Ended

March 31, 2007
June 30, 2007
September 30, 2007
December 31, 2007

High

Low

$39.29
$20.98
$10.55
$ 3.69

$16.14
$ 7.67
$ 3.51
$ 0.79

High

Low

$29.29 $21.43
47.40 23.41
68.12
41.18
75.21 33.75

On November 1, 2007, our board of directors approved an authorization to repurchase up to one million shares of our common stock. On
April 14, 2008 , the board of directors also approved an additional authorization to repurchase an additional 5,000,000 shares of our common stock.
Share repurchases under these authorizations may be made in the open market or in privately negotiated transactions. The timing and actual number of
shares repurchased will depend on a variety of factors, including price, corporate and regulatory requirements and other market conditions. The
repurchase authorizations do not have an expiration date and do not oblige us to acquire any particular amount of shares of our common stock. The
repurchase authorizations may be modified, suspended or discontinued at any time. The Company did not repurchase any shares in the year ended
December 31, 2008.
Performance Graph
The following performance graph compares the cumulative total return of our common stock with that of the NASDAQ Composite Index and the
Dow Jones US Footwear Index from February 8, 2006 through December 31, 2008. Our stock was initially listed on NASDAQ on February 8, 2006,
the date our shares began to trade publicly. Prior to that time, there was no public market for our stock. The graph assumes an investment of $100 on
February 8, 2006 and reinvestments of all dividends and other distributions.
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Comparison of Cumulative Total Return on Investment

February 8,
2006

Crocs, Inc.
Nasdaq Composite Index
Dow Jones US Footwear Index

$
$
$

100.00
100.00
100.00

Year Ended December 31,
2006

2007

2008

$ 144.00 $ 245.40 $ 8.27
$ 106.86 $ 117.35 $ 69.77
$ 114.93 $ 143.58 $ 102.81

The Dow Jones U.S. Footwear Index consists of Crocs, Inc., NIKE, Deckers Outdoor Corp., Timberland Co. and Wolverine World Wide, Inc.
Because Crocs, Inc. is part of the Dow Jones U.S. Footwear Index, the price and returns of Crocs, Inc. stock have a significant effect on this index. The
Dow Jones U.S. Footwear Index include companies in the major line of business in which the Company competes. This index does not encompass all
of the Company's competitors, nor all product categories and lines of business in which the Company is engaged.
The stock performance shown on the performance graph above is not necessarily indicative of future performance. The Company will not make
nor endorse any predictions as to future stock performance.
Holders

The approximate number of stockholders of record of our common stock was 115 as of January 31, 2009. Because many of the shares of our
common stock are held by brokers and other institutions on behalf of stockholders, we are unable to estimate the total number of beneficial owners
represented by these stockholders of record.

Dividends
We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our common stock. We currently intend to retain all available funds and any future earnings for
use in the operation of our business and do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Any future determination to declare cash
dividends will be made at the discretion of our board of directors, subject to compliance with covenants under any then existing financing agreements,
which may restrict or limit our ability to declare or pay dividends, and will depend on our financial condition, results of operations, capital requirements,
general business conditions, and other factors that our board of directors may deem relevant. We issued a stock dividend in connection with our 2-for-1
stock split, which was effected in the form of a 100% common stock dividend distributed on June 14, 2007.
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ITEM 6. Selected Financial Data
The following table presents selected historical financial data of the Company for each of the last five fiscal years. The information in this table
should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes beginning on page F-1 and with "Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditions and Results of Operations," which is included in Item 7 of this Form 10-K.
Year Ended December 31,
2008

2007

Consolidated Statements of
Operations Data
Revenues
Cost of sales
Restructuring charges

$

Gross profit
Selling, general and
administrative expenses
Restructuring charges
Impairment charges
Income (loss) from operations
Interest expense
Other (income) expenses—net
Income (loss) before income
taxes
Income tax expense
(benefit)(1)(2)
Net income (loss)
Dividend on redeemable
convertible preferred
shares(3)
Net income (loss) attributable
to common stockholders

2006

2005

2004

(in thousands, except per share data)

721,589
486,722
901

$

847,350
349,701
—

$

354,728
154,158
—

$

108,581
47,773
—

$

13,520
7,162
—

233,966

497,649

200,570

60,808

6,358

368,800
7,664
45,784

259,882
—
—

105,224
—
—

33,916
—
—

7,929
—
—

(188,282)
1,793
(565)

237,767
438
(2,997)

95,346
567
(1,847)

26,892
611
(8)

(1,571)
47
19

(189,510)

240,326

96,626

26,289

(1,637)

(4.434)
(185,076)

72,098
168,228

32,209
64,417

9,317
16,972

(143)
(1,494)

—

33

275

142

—
$

(185,076) $

168,228

$

64,384

$

16,697

$

(1,636)

$

(2.24) $

2.08

$

0.87

$

0.26

$

(0.04)

$

(2.24) $

2.00

$

0.81

$

0.26

$

(0.04)

Income (loss) per common
share:
Basic
Diluted
Weighted average common
shares:(4)

Basic

82,767,540

80,759,077

74,598,400

50,987,154

49,283,906

Diluted

82,767,540

84,194,883

80,170,512

67,140,000

49,283,906

As of December 31,
2008

Consolidated Balance Sheets Data
Cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities

Total assets
Long term obligations
Redeemable common shares
Redeemable convertible preferred stock
Total stockholders' equity (deficit)

2007

2006

2005

2004

(in thousands)

$ 51,665 $ 36,335 $ 64,981
455,999
627,425
299,457
35,303
15,864
3,290
—
—
—
—
—
—
287,163 444,113 208,258

$ 4,787 $ 1,054
78,032
16,224
5,513
3,660
1,800
1,800
5,500
5,500
18,914
(3,591)

Total stockholders' equity (deficit)

(1)

287,163

444,113

208,258

18,914

(3,591)

On January 4, 2005, we converted from a limited liability company to a taxable corporation. For the tax years beginning on January 1, 2005 and
afterward, we are subject to corporate-level U.S. federal, state and foreign income taxes. The statement of operations for the year ended
33

Table of Contents

December 31, 2005 reflects a one-time income tax benefit of $797,000 to record the net deferred tax assets at the date of conversion.
(2)

The income tax benefit recognized in 2004 represents the tax benefit recognized by Crocs Canada subsequent to its acquisition.

(3)

Dividends accrued in 2004 were paid to holders of our Class C convertible preferred membership units. Our Class C membership units were
converted into shares of our Series A preferred stock in connection with our conversion from a limited liability company to a corporation on
January 4, 2005.

(4)

We issued a stock dividend in connection with our 2-for-1 stock split, which was effected in the form of a 100% common stock dividend
distributed on June 14, 2007. All share and per share amounts prior to June 14, 2007 have been adjusted to reflect the 2-for-1 stock split.
Diluted weighted average shares have been calculated excluding the dilutive effect of stock options and awards in years where the Company was
in a net loss position as their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive.

ITEM 7.

Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Basis of Presentation
This Management Discussion and Analysis should be read in conjunction with the accompanying consolidated financial statements which have
been prepared assuming we will continue as a going concern. As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the maturity of our
Revolving Credit Facility in April, 2009 and losses from operations raise substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern.
Management's plans concerning these matters are also described in Note 1. The consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments that
might result from this uncertainty.

Overview

We are a designer, manufacturer, distributor, worldwide marketer, and brand manager of footwear and accessories for men, women, and children.
We primarily design and sell a broad offering of products that use our proprietary closed-cell resin, called Croslite. Croslite is a unique material that
enables us to produce an innovative, soft, lightweight, non-marking, slip and odor-resistant shoe. Crocs shoes combine fun colors and innovative
designs to provide a new level of comfort, functionality and style in the casual lifestyle footwear category.
Since the initial introduction and popularity of our Beach and Cayman models, we have expanded our Croslite products to include a variety of new
styles and products and have extended our product reach and appeal through acquisitions of companies with complementary accessories and other
footwear. We continue to actively promote brand recognition through various licensing agreements, sponsorships and print and media commercials.

We currently sell our Crocs branded products in 128 countries. We sell our products through domestic and international retailers and distributors
and directly to end-user consumers through our web stores, Company operated retail stores, outlets and kiosks. The broad appeal of our footwear has
allowed us to market our products to a wide range of distribution channels, including department stores and traditional footwear retailers as well as a
variety of specialty channels.
We currently manufacture our footwear products at our Company-operated facilities located in Mexico and Italy in addition to contracting with
third-party manufacturers in China, and Bosnia for production of our footwear products and accessories. We believe our in-house production
capabilities and the geographic proximity of our in-house production facilities to certain markets enables us to make rapid changes to manufacturing
schedules and provide us the flexibility to quickly ship in-demand models and colors, while outsourcing allows us to lower our capital investment and
retain the
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cost-effectiveness of using third-party manufacturing. During 2008, we closed our manufacturing facilities in Canada and Brazil in conjunction with our
restructuring activities. See "Recent Events" below for further discussion.

Recent Events
From our inception through the year ended December 31, 2007, we experienced rapid revenue growth and had difficulty meeting demand for our
footwear products. During this period, we significantly increased production capacity, warehouse space and inventory in an effort to meet demand. This
pattern changed in 2008. Our revenue growth moderated in the three month period ended March 31, 2008 and decreased from 2007 in the three months
ended June 30, 2008. This trend continued and accelerated throughout the remainder of 2008 and our total revenues declined 14.8% during the year
ended December 31, 2008 compared to the year ended December 31, 2007.

In the year ended December 31, 2008, our revenues declined 28.3% in the Americas, and 13.2% in the European market compared to the year
ended December 31, 2007. In the Asian market, our revenue growth slowed throughout 2008, and declined slightly on a year-over-year basis in the
fourth quarter of 2008. We believe the decline in revenues in the Americas and in the European market and the moderation of Asian revenue growth are
largely attributable to the following factors:
•

the economic conditions in the United States, Europe and Asia, namely reduced consumer spending and decreased foot traffic at
shopping malls; and

•

the challenges we face in merchandising our expanded product lines in existing wholesale channels as well as lessening demand for our
products as such products reach a more mature stage in their product life and competitors enter the market with imitation products that
are sold at substantially lower prices.

Should the global economic conditions deteriorate further, we may experience further revenue declines in the Americas, European, and Asian
markets. Should we fail to develop and effectively merchandise new products that appeal to the consumer, we may not be able to compete effectively
and may experience further declines in revenues.
During 2008 we incurred significant charges related to restructuring and other activities undertaken to right-size our business. These charges
include inventory write-downs, incremental sales returns and mark down allowances, fixed asset impairments, goodwill and intangible asset
impairments, and severance, facility exit and other related expenses.
During the year ended December 31, 2008, we experienced challenges related to the build up of inventory of our products at many of our North
and South American and European customers because sales were lower than the initial internal projections of many of our wholesale customers and
distributors. Certain major retailers and distributors have curtailed orders to reduce their inventories to target levels. We also observed increased
discounting of certain product styles and colors at a number of our resellers. We are working closely with each of our key wholesale customers and
distributors to provide support to facilitate a well structured work-down of their inventories. As a result of customer inventory build up, we incurred
further declines in revenue during the year ended December 31, 2008 because of increases in sales returns and allowances.

Our inventory included certain styles and colors with substantially diminished demand during the year ended December 31, 2008. Based on
decreased demand for these products, we discontinued certain styles and certain colors of other styles from our product portfolio and implemented our
plan for the disposal of our discontinued product inventories. This plan includes structured sales to established discount retailers, sales through our
Company-operated outlet stores, warehouse sales and other disposition activities as well as donations to our Soles United charitable organization. These
actions were designed to minimize adverse impacts to our resellers, distributors, and Company-operated
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retail channels. We recorded write-downs of $76.3 million and an additional $4.2 million in charges related to losses on future purchase commitments

for inventory with a market value lower than cost, of which $2.1 million remains accrued for the year ended December 31, 2008.

As a result of these changes in demand, we evaluated our production capacity and operations structure, and during the year ended December 31,
2008, we took the following actions with respect to our operations:
•

we restructured our Canadian operations by discontinuing our Canadian manufacturing operations and consolidating our Canadian
distribution activities with other existing North American distribution operations;

•

we abandoned certain manufacturing equipment and molds that represent excess capacity;

•

we discontinued manufacturing operations at our Brazilian manufacturing facility;

•

we continued to consolidate our global distribution centers and warehousing, thereby decreasing our fixed costs through the reduction of
our global footprint of warehouse space; and

•

we reduced our non- retail global headcount by approximately 2,000 people in 2008.

We believe these actions were necessary in order to align our production and distribution capacities with our revised demand projections.
Furthermore, we have taken actions to reduce our selling, general and administrative costs, including reductions in personnel, reducing our space costs
by consolidating certain offices and reducing other discretionary spending.
We may incur operating losses during fiscal year 2009 if our revenues continue to decline, which may be accelerated by the current economic crisis
resulting in less demand for our products. In the event that revenues and product demand fall short of our current expectations, we will need to take
further actions to reduce operating costs.
During the three month period ended September 30, 2008, our stock price declined substantially, which represented a triggering event for potential
goodwill impairment. As of September 30, 2008, we performed an interim goodwill impairment evaluation. Based on that evaluation we concluded our
goodwill was impaired and we recorded a charge of $22.8 million, which was our entire goodwill balance as of September 30, 2008.
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The following table summarizes our restructuring, asset impairment, including goodwill and other intangible assets, and inventory write-down
charges for the year ended December 31, 2008:
Brazilian
Restructuring

Inventory write-downs
Estimated losses on purchase
commitments
Asset impairment charges

$

$

—

Asset
Impairments

$

Inventory
Writedowns

—

$ 76,258

Total

$

76,258

—

—

—

4,200

4,200

Goodwill

—

—

23,867

—

23,867

Equipment and molds

—

—

20,885

—

20,885

Intangible assets

—

—

882

—

882

—

—

150

—

150

Operating lease exit costs

87

1,766

—

—

1,853

Other restructuring costs(1)

70

2,056

—

—

2,126

676

3,849

—

—

4,525

7,671

$ 45,784

$ 80,458

Jibbitz trade name
Restructuring charges

Termination benefits

$
(1)

—

Canadian
Restructuring

833

$

$

134,746

Other restructuring costs include cancellation of purchase obligations and freight and duty charges related to transferring inventory and
equipment to our United States and Mexico facilities.

At December 31, 2008, we had $51.6 million in cash and cash equivalents compared to $36.3 million at December 31, 2007. Our primary sources
of cash are working capital from operations and borrowings under our Revolving Credit Facility. Our primary uses of cash are working capital for
operations, capital expenditures, and repayments of borrowing against our Revolving Credit Facility. As of December 31, 2008, we can no longer
borrow under our Revolving Credit Facility. At December 31, 2008 we had $22.4 million outstanding on the Revolving Credit Facility. Our current
Revolving Credit Facility matures on April 2, 2009.
General

Revenues are recorded when products are shipped and the customer takes title and assumes risk of loss, collection of related receivables are
probable, persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, and the sales price is fixed or determinable. Title passes on shipment or on receipt by the
customer depending on the country of the sale and the agreement with the customer. Allowances for estimated returns and discounts are recognized
when related revenue is recorded. Because we use both internal manufacturing and contract with third parties to manufacture our products, our cost of
sales represents our costs to manufacture products in our Company-operated facilities, including raw materials costs and all overhead expenses related
to production, as well as the cost to purchase finished products from our third-party manufacturers. Cost of sales also includes the cost to transport
these products to our facilities and all warehouse and outbound freight expenses. Our selling, general and administrative expense consists primarily of
selling, marketing, wages and related payroll and employee benefit costs for selling, marketing and administrative employees, travel and insurance
expenses, depreciation, amortization, unrealized gains or losses on foreign currency exchange, all retail related expenses, including rent and depreciation,
and professional fees, facility expenses, bank charges and non-cash charges for share-based compensation.

Acquisitions
On April 1, 2008, we acquired substantially all of the assets of Tidal Trade, Inc. ("Tidal Trade"), the Company's third party distributor in South
Africa, for $4.6 million. We recorded $1.4 million in
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customer relationships on the date of acquisition. As part of the acquisition, we repurchased inventory previously sold to Tidal Trade and accordingly
recognized a reduction of revenue of approximately $2.1 million.

On April 2, 2008, we acquired substantially all of the assets of Tagger International B.V. ("Tagger"), a private limited liability company
incorporated under the laws of the Netherlands that manufactures messenger bags. Tagger was partially operated by the Managing Director of Crocs
Europe B.V. We acquired all of the assets of Tagger for $2.0 million, of which approximately $90,000 was assigned to inventory and the remaining
$1.9 million was assigned to the value of the Tagger trademark on the date of acquisition.
On January 31, 2007, we acquired substantially all of the assets of Ocean Minded, LLC ("Ocean Minded") for $1.75 million in cash, plus a
potential earn-out of up to $3.75 million based on Ocean Minded achieving certain earnings targets over a three year period. Ocean Minded is a designer
and manufacturer of high quality leather and EVA (Ethylene Vinyl Acetate) based sandals primarily for the beach, adventure and action sports markets.
We recorded $600,000 in customer relationships and other identifiable intangible assets and $953,000 in goodwill on the date we acquired Ocean
Minded.
On June 26, 2007, we amended the membership interest purchase agreement with Jibbitz, LLC ("Jibbitz") ("Purchase Agreement") to amend the
terms of the potential earn-out consideration included in the Purchase Agreement. The amendment removed the earnings targets for payment of the earnout with $3.5 million payable on the effective date of the amended Purchase Agreement and the remaining $6.5 million payable in equal monthly
installments of $500,000 due on the first business day of each month until July 2008. We recorded the additional $9.8 million, net of discounting on
future payments, to goodwill in the second quarter of 2007 as an additional cost of the acquisition.
On July 27, 2007, we acquired all of the assets of Bite, LLC ("Bite") for $1.75 million in cash and the assumption of $1.3 million in debt, plus a
potential earn out of up to $1.75 million based on Bite achieving certain earnings targets over a three year period. Bite is a designer and manufacturer of
comfortable and supportive performance shoes and sports sandals sold worldwide in five categories including, golf, adventure, healthy lifestyle, travel
and water sports. We recorded $512,000 in customer relationships and $530,000 in goodwill on the date of acquisition for Bite.
In October 2006, the Company acquired Fury Hockey Inc., formerly 55 Hockey Products Inc. ("Fury"), and EXO Italia ("EXO") as part of the
Company's effort to expand into new markets and expand the Company's internal design capabilities. Fury produces and distributes hockey, soccer and
lacrosse equipment for adults and children. In June 2008, the Company decided to liquidate Fury after efforts to sell the entity were unsuccessful. EXO,
headquartered in Padova, Italy, designs and develops EVA (Ethylene Vinyl Acetate) based finished products, primarily for the footwear industry.
Goodwill related to these acquisitions was fully impaired as of September 30, 2008 and no balance existed at December 31, 2008. See "Recent
Trends, Risks and Uncertainties" above. Our goodwill balance of $23.8 million as of December 31, 2007, related predominately to the acquisitions of
Bite and Ocean Minded in 2007, Jibbitz, Fury and EXO in 2006 as well as the acquisition of Crocs Canada in 2004.

As a result of the Company's evaluation of indefinite lived intangible assets in accordance with SFAS 142, the Jibbitz trade name of $150,000 was
fully impaired as of December 31, 2008.
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Results of Operations
Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2008 and 2007
Set forth below are the results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2008, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2007 (in
thousands, except for percentages).
(Year Ended December 31,)
2008

Revenues
Cost of sales
Restructuring charges

$ Change

$ 721,589 $847,350 $(125,761)
486,722
349,701
137,021
901
—
901

Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Restructuring charges
Impairment charges

% Change

(14.8)%
39.2
*

233,966
368,800
7,664
45,784

497,649
259,882
—
—

(263,683)
108,918
7,664
45,784

(53.0)
41.9
*
*

Income (loss) from operations
Interest expense
Other (income) expenses—net

(188,282)
1,793
(565)

237,767
438
(2,997)

(426,049 )
1,355
2,432

(179.2)
309.4
(81.2)

Income (loss) before income taxes
Income tax expense (benefit)

(189,510)
(4,434)

240,326
72,098

(429,836)
(77,804)

(178.9)
(108.0)

$(185,076) $168,228

$(352,032)

Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders

*

2007

(209.3)%

Percentage change is not relevant as prior year amounts were zero.

Revenues. Revenues decreased 14.8%, or $125.8 million, to $721.6 million, in the year ended December 31, 2008, from $847.4 million in the
year ended December 31, 2007. The decline is primarily attributed to a decrease in our revenues in our Americas and European markets, specifically
driven by a decrease in unit sales of our footwear and Jibbitz products. Unit sales of footwear products decreased 24.7% or 11.6 million pairs, to
35.3 million pairs in the year ended December 31, 2008, from 46.9 million pairs in the year ended December 31, 2007. Sales of our Jibbitz products
decreased 30.2% to $47.2 million in the year ended December 31, 2008, from $67.5 million in the year ended December 31, 2007.

Our wholesale channel revenues decreased 25.3%, or $186.8 million, to $552.1 million, in the year ended December 31, 2008, from
$738.9 million in the year ended December 31, 2007. We believe that this decrease is due to lower unit sales primarily resulting from lessening
consumer demand due to the global economic downturn. We believe unit sales of our footwear also declined due to the challenges we face in
merchandising our expanded product lines in existing wholesale channels as well as lessening consumer demand for our products as such products
reach a more mature stage in their product life and competitors enter the market with imitation products that are sold at substantially lower prices.
Declines in revenue are also attributable to an increase in sales returns and allowances which are recorded as a reduction of net revenue as sales returns
and allowance increased from $32.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 to $83.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2008.
Our Company operated retail locations, including retail stores, kiosks and outlets, increased to 279 locations at December 31, 2008, which is up
from 209 at December 31, 2007. Total revenue from Company operated retail locations increased 68.5%, or $51.6 million, to $125.8 million in the year
ended December 31, 2008, from $74.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2007. We expect
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revenues from our Company operated retail stores to increase in the future as we continue to increase the number of our retail locations and focus on
expanding our visual and fixture merchandising platforms. Our plans for expanding retail locations in future periods may be adjusted, or suspended
should economic conditions worsen or demand for our products decline.
Revenues from our webstores increased $9.8 million, or 28.8%, to $43.7 million in the year ended December 31, 2008 from $33.9 million in the
year ended December 31, 2007. The increase in revenues during 2008 is due primarily to increased web-based and other marketing efforts aimed at
driving consumer awareness of our webstores. We intend to expand our webstores and web-based and other marketing initiatives into other markets
depending on business and economic conditions.
The majority of our revenues during the year ended December 31, 2008 were attributable to our non-classic footwear models. Sales of our classic
models, Beach and Cayman, represented 25% of total revenues for the year ended December 31, 2008, compared to 30% for the year ended
December 31, 2007. Sales of new 2008 footwear product lines represented approximately 15% of our overall revenues for the year ended December 31,
2008. We intend to continue to diversify our product offerings in order to expand our brand and expect that sales of our classic models will represent a
smaller portion of our overall revenues in the future. We also intend to segment our product offerings into our various sales channels and to enhance our
visual and fixture merchandising platforms in Company operated and wholesale customers' stores to more effectively display our expanded product
portfolio.

Changes in foreign currency exchange rates since December 31, 2007 contributed $31.3 million to our revenues in the year ended December 31,
2008. We expect that sales in international markets in foreign currencies will continue to represent a substantial portion of our overall revenues.
Accordingly, changes in foreign currency exchange rates could materially affect our overall revenues or the comparability of those revenues from period
to period as a result of translating our financial statements into our reporting currency, the U.S. dollar.
Americas Market. Our revenues from the Americas decreased 28.3%, or $144.7 million, to $365.9 million in the year ended December 31, 2008
compared to $510.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2007. We believe the decline is reflective of economic conditions in the United States
coupled with the challenges we face in merchandising our expanded product lines as well as the maturity of our core products in the consumer market
and lessening demand for such products, as discussed in "Recent Events" above.

We experienced an increase in sales returns and allowances, which are included as a net adjustment to revenue, of 94.4% or $20.2 million, to
$41.6 million in the year ended December 31, 2008 from $21.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2007. The increase in sales returns and
allowances is primarily attributable to known and anticipated returns as well as price mark down allowances for certain product styles and colors for
which we have experienced less than anticipated sell through in our wholesales customer channel, as discussed in the "Recent Events" above.
The number of Company operated retail locations in the Americas, including retail stores, kiosks and outlets, increased slightly to 157 locations at
December 31, 2008 from 153 locations at December 31, 2007. Revenue from Company operated retail locations increased 45.0%, or $21.3 million, to
$68.7 million in the year ended December 31, 2008, from $47.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2007. Our Company operated retail locations
allow us to showcase our entire product offering, which we believe results in better sales of new product offerings and increased brand awareness.

Asian Market. Our revenues in Asia increased 25.7%, or $41.9 million, to $204.9 million in the year ended December 31, 2008 from
$163.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2007. The increase is attributable to higher unit sales period over period as we increased our direct sales
in China and expanded our product offerings as well as our increase in door openings in 2008. Although we
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continue to experience revenue growth in the Asian market as we expand into new countries, we believe the global economic downturn and the maturity
of our core products could affect our ability to grow revenues in this region and we could experience declines in revenues similar to those that we have
recently experienced in the Americas and European markets.

The overall increase in revenues in our Asian region was partially offset by an increase in sales returns and allowances of 329.8%, or
$12.2 million, to $15.9 million in the year ended December 31, 2008 from $3.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2007. The increase in sales
returns and allowances is primarily related to returns which enabled our wholesale customers to properly balance their portfolios of our products with
respect to size, color and style.

We increased the number of Company operated retail venues in Asia to 107 locations at December 31, 2008, from 53 locations at December 31,
2007. Revenue from Company operated retail locations increased 85.5%, or $23.0 million, to $49.9 million in the year ended December 31, 2008, from
$26.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2007.
European Market. Our revenues in Europe decreased 13.2%, or $23.0 million, to $150.7 million in the year ended December 31, 2008 from
$173.7 million for the same period in 2007. We have noted a decline in revenues in certain European countries, particularly in those which represent a
more mature market for our products. We believe a portion of this decline is due to an increased number of imitation products that we believe infringe
on our intellectual property as well as the maturity of our core products in the consumer market and lessening demand for such product. We believe the
decline in revenues in our European market may result from the challenge of increased competition from producers of imitation products that are sold at
lower products. We expect to continue defending our intellectual property rights in the European and other markets to mitigate such impacts, as we deem
necessary.
Sales returns and allowances, which is recorded as a net adjustment to revenue, increased 263.9%, or $19.0 million, to $26.2 million in the year
ended December 31, 2008 from $7.2 million in the year ended December 31, 2007. The increase in sales returns and allowances is primarily attributable
to known and anticipated returns as well as price mark down allowances for certain products and other products in certain colors for which we have
experienced less than anticipated sales in our wholesales customer channel, as discussed in the "Recent Events" above.

As of December 31, 2008, we operated 15 retail locations in Europe versus 3 in the same period of 2007. Revenue from Company operated retail
locations was $7.2 million in the year ended December 31, 2008 versus $262 thousand for the year ended December 31, 2007.
Gross profit. Gross profit decreased 53.0% to $234.0 million in the year ended December 31, 2008. Gross margin declined to 32.4% in the year
ended December 31, 2008, compared to 58.7% for the year ended December 31, 2007. The decrease in gross profit was partially the result of excess
capacity in our Company-operated manufacturing and distribution facilities, which are recognized in our results of operations as period costs. As of
December 31, 2008, we recorded accrued losses on purchase commitments for inventory with a market lower than cost of $4.2 million, our write-down
of inventories relates to certain products that were or are going to be discontinued of $76.3 million, including core products in colors that have
experienced substantial declines in consumer demand, as discussed in "Recent Events" above. Likewise, we recorded $0.9 million in restructuringrelated costs in cost of sales as a result of the closure of our Canadian manufacturing operation, as explained more fully in "restructuring charges"
below. For the year ended December 31, 2008, we also experienced a change in our sales mix to include products with lower profit margins when
compared to the sales mix for the year ended December 31, 2007. We now manufacture a wide range of products which require additional materials,
such as canvas, cloth lining and suede, and additional processes, such as stitching, to manufacture. As we continue to expand our portfolio and
nonclassic models become a larger portion of our business, we expect this trend to continue. The additional costs in raw materials, duties and
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processes associated with these styles ultimately result in lower gross profit margins. These changes in our manufacturing structure, coupled with the
inventory write-downs, decrease in revenues and increase in returns and allowances were primarily responsible for the decrease in gross profit for the
year ended December 31, 2008 compared to the year ended December 31, 2007.
Changes in foreign currency exchange rates since December 31, 2007 increased our gross margin by $16.4 million, in the year ended
December 31, 2008. We expect that sales at subsidiary companies with functional currencies other than the U.S. dollar will continue to generate a
substantial portion of our overall gross profit. Accordingly, changes in foreign currency exchange rates could materially affect our overall gross profit
or the comparability of our gross profit from period to period as a result of translating our financial statements into our reporting currency, the U.S.
dollar.
Selling, general and administrative expenses. Selling, general and administrative expense increased 41.9% to $368.8 million in the year ended
December 31, 2008, from $259.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2007. As a percentage of net revenues, selling, general and administrative
expenses increased to 51.1% in the year ended December 31, 2008 from 30.7% for the year ended December 31, 2007. This increase was primarily
attributable to increases in marketing expenses of $22.3 million, of which $5.4 million is related to corporate sponsorships and $12.0 million is related
to advertising expenses, increases in building expenses of $19.6 million related to additional retail and office space, increases in salaries and wages of
$10.3 million and increases in legal expenses of $16.8 million as a result of increased legal fees for ongoing litigation and intellectual property
enforcement. In addition, total share-based compensation expense was $18.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2008, compared to $21.7 million
for the year ended December 31, 2007. Also included in selling, general and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2008 is a net loss
on changes in currency exchange rates for transactions denominated, and settled or to be settled, in a currency other than the functional currency of the
consolidated entity of $25.5 million compared to a net gain on changes in currency exchange rates of $10.1 for the year ended December 31, 2007.

Changes in the average foreign currency exchange rates used to translate expenses from our functional currencies to our reporting currency, the
U.S. dollar, from 2007 fiscal year to 2008 fiscal year contributed approximately $3.8 million to our change in selling, general and administrative
expenses. We expect operations at consolidated companies with functional currencies other than the U.S. dollar will continue to represent a substantial
portion of our overall business. Accordingly, changes in foreign currency exchange rates could materially affect our overall selling, general and
administrative expenses, or the comparability of our selling, general and administrative expenses from period to period as a result of translating our
financial statements into our reporting currency, the U.S. dollar.
During the 2008 fiscal year, we took certain actions to reduce our selling, general and administrative expenses. Those actions included; workforce
reductions, office space reductions, and reductions in certain discretionary spending, including discontinuation of certain sponsorship and consulting
arrangements. We are continuing to evaluate our operating expenses, including selling, general and administrative expenses. Should economic
conditions further deteriorate or demand for our products decline further, we may experience further declines in revenues and we may take additional
actions to reduce our selling, general and administrative expenses further.

Restructuring charges. We recorded $8.5 million in restructuring charges in the year ended December 31, 2008, of which $7.6 million was
reflected in restructuring charges and $0.9 million was reflected in cost of sales. We did not recognize any restructuring charges during the year ended
December 31, 2007.
During 2008, we announced our decision to restructure our North American operations. This decision included the closure of our Canadian and
Brazilian manufacturing facilities and the consolidation of distribution activities into other existing North American operations. Accordingly,
restructuring charges of $1.9 million related to our facility operating leases were established during the
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year ended December 31, 2008, as a firm "cease use" date was established relating to these leases. This is our estimated future expense related to the
future abandonment of facilities under the operating leases in accordance with FASB Statement No. 146, Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or
Disposal Activities. We recorded $2.1 million in the year ended December 31, 2008 related to early termination costs for certain equipment operating
leases, cancellation of purchase obligations and freight and duty charges related to transferring inventory and equipment to the United States and Mexico
facilities. Furthermore, we recorded $4.5 million in termination benefits accounted for in accordance with SFAS 112, Employers' Accounting for Post
Employment Benefits—an amendment of FASB Statements No. 5 and 43.

We established reserves covering future known obligations related to the closure of our Canadian and Brazilian manufacturing operations and the
move of our Canadian distribution operations. Reserves at December 31, 2008 were $2.4 million and have been included in the line items accrued
restructuring charges and long-term restructuring in our consolidated balance sheets.
Impairment charges. Impairment charges were $45.8 million during the year ended December 31, 2008. We did not recognize any impairment
charges during the year ended December 31, 2007. During 2008, we recognized the following impairment charges:
•

A $20.9 million impairment charge on fixed assets, primarily related to equipment and shoe molds. We evaluated our production capacity
at our facilities compared with demand projections and capacity requirements and decided to abandon certain manufacturing equipment
that clearly represents excess capacity. The impairment charge on molds relate to shoe styles that we either no longer intend to
manufacture or styles for which we have more molds on hand than necessary to meet projected demand.

•

A $0.6 million impairment charge related to patents which we no longer intend to utilize.

•

A $0.3 million impairment charge related to the Fury trade name and customer relationships and $0.2 million related to the Jibbitz trade
name.

•

$23.8 million write-off of goodwill and other indefinite lived intangible assets, consisting of $1.0 million in goodwill related to the
closure of Fury, and $22.8 million in goodwill written off as a result of an impairment analysis.

Interest expense. Interest expense increased 350.0%, or $1.4 million, to $1.8 million in the year ended December 31, 2008. The increase in
interest expense is the result of larger borrowings against our revolving credit facility for a larger portion of the year in 2008 compared to 2007.
Other income/expense, net. Other income decreased 80.0%, or $2.4 million, to $0.6 million in the year ended December 31, 2008. The decrease
resulted primarily from a decrease in interest bearing cash and cash equivalents.
Income tax expense. During the year ended December 31, 2008, we recognized an income tax benefit of $4.4 million on a pre-tax loss of
$189.5 million, compared to income tax expense of $72.1 million on pre-tax income of $240.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2007. The
effective income tax rate was a 2.3% tax benefit rate during the year ended December 31, 2008 compared to a 30.0% tax expense rate during the year
ended December 31, 2007. The decrease in effective tax rate is primarily the result of valuation allowances being recorded on net deferred tax assets in
tax jurisdictions where we believe it is not more likely than not that those tax benefits will be realized, due to our financial outlook as of December 31,
2008 and increases in reserves for uncertain tax positions.
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Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2007 and 2006
Set forth below are the results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2007, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2006 (in
thousands, except for percentages).
(Year Ended December 31,)
2007

Revenues
Cost of sales

2006

$ Change

$ 847,350 $ 354,728 $ 492,622
349,701
154,158 (195,543)

Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative expenses

497,649
259,882

Income (loss) from operations
Interest expense
Other (income) expenses—net

237,767
438
(2,997)

Income (loss) before income taxes
Income tax expense (benefit)

Net income (loss)
Dividend on redeemable convertible preferred shares
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders

200,570
105,224

% Change

138.9%
(126.8)

297,079
(154,658)

148.1
(147.0)

95,346
567
(1,847)

142,421
129
1,150

149.4
22.8
62.3

240,326
72,098

96,626
32,209

143,700
(39,889)

148.7
(123.8)

168,228
—

64,417
33

103,811
33

161.2
100.0

$ 168,228

$ 64,384

$ 103,844

161.3%

Revenues. Revenues increased 138.9%, or $492.6 million, to $847.4 million, in the year ended December 31, 2007, from $354.7 million in the
year ended December 31, 2006. This increase was primarily a result of significantly higher unit sales of our footwear products in our Asian and
European markets driven by growing awareness and increased acceptance of our brands and products. Unit sales of footwear products increased
117.1% or 25.3 million pairs, to 46.9 million pairs in the year ended December 31, 2007, from 21.6 million pairs in the year ended December 31, 2006.
Sales of our Jibbitz products were $67.5 million in the year ended December 31, 2007.

Our wholesale channel revenues increased 132.0%, or $420.3 million, to $738.9 million, in the year ended December 31, 2007, from
$318.5 million in the year ended December 31, 2006. This increase was primarily a result of significantly higher unit sales of our footwear products in
our Asian and European markets driven by growing awareness and increased acceptance of our brands and products.
Our Company-operated retail locations, including retail stores, kiosks and outlets, increased to over 200 locations at December 31, 2007 from just
over 95 at December 31, 2006. Total revenue from Company-operated retail locations was $74.2 million in the year ended December 31, 2007,
compared to $22.2 million in the year ended December 31, 2006. Revenues from our webstores increased $19.9 million, or 142.1%, to $33.9 million in
the year ended December 31, 2007 from $14.0 million in the year ended December 31, 2006. The increase in revenues during 2007 is due primarily to
increased web-based and other marketing efforts aimed at driving consumer awareness of our webstores.
The majority of our revenues during the year ended December 31, 2007 were attributable to the sale of our classic footwear models. Sales of our
classic models increased by approximately 46.3% during the year ended December 31, 2007 when compared to sales in the year ended December 31,
2006 and now amounted to approximately 30% of total sales, compared to 50% during the year ended December 31, 2006. Sales of footwear product
styles introduced in 2007 represented approximately 18.2% or $154.1 million of our overall revenues for the year ended December 31,
2007.
Businesses acquired in 2006 and 2007 contributed approximately $78.6 million to our revenues during the year ended December 31, 2007.
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Changes in foreign currency exchange rates since December 31, 2006 contributed $22.1 million to our revenues in the year ended December 31,
2007. We expect that sales in international markets in foreign currencies will continue to represent a substantial portion of our overall revenues.
Accordingly, changes in foreign currency exchange rates could materially affect our overall revenues or the comparability of those revenues from period
to period as a result of translating our financial statements into our reporting currency, the U.S. dollar.
Americas Market. Our revenues from domestic sales increased 89.1%, or $240.6 million, to $510.6 million in the year ended December 31, 2007
compared to $270.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2006. We believe the increase is due to an increase in the number of doors selling our
product, new product offerings, and our business acquisitions.
The number of Company operated retail locations in the Americas, including retail stores, kiosks and outlets, increased to 153 locations at
December 31, 2007 from 83 locations at December 31, 2006. Revenue from Company operated retail locations increased 126.8%, or $26.5 million, to
$47.4 million in the year ended December 31, 2007, from $20.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2006. Our Company operated retail locations
allow us to showcase our entire product offering, which we believe results in better sell through of new product offerings and increased brand
awareness.

Asian Market. Our revenues in Asia increased 199.6%, or $108.6 million, to $163.10 million in the year ended December 31, 2007 from
$54.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2006. Sales in Asia were led by Japan where sales increased 579.2% or $69.5 million, to $81.5 million
in the year ended December 31, 2007, from $12.0 million in the year ended December 31, 2006. We believe this increase can be attributed to the
increase in number of doors selling our products, increased brand awareness and the introduction of our new footwear and other product offerings.

We increased the number of Company operated retail venues in Asia to 53 locations at December 31, 2007, from 20 locations at December 31,
2006. Revenue from Company operated retail locations was $26.9 million in the year ended December 31, 2007, up from $1.3 million for the year
ended December 31, 2006.
European Market. Our revenues in Europe increased 473.3% or $143.4 million, to $173.7 million in the year ended December 31, 2007 from
$30.3 million for the same period in 2006 We believe this increase can be attributed to the increase in number of doors selling our products, increased
brand awareness and the introduction of our new footwear and other product offerings.

As of December 31, 2007, we operated 3 retail locations in Europe. Revenue from these Company operated retail locations was $0.3 million in the
year ended December 31, 2007. We did not have any Company operated retail locations in the year ended December 31, 2006.
Gross profit. Gross profit increased 148.1%, or $297.1 million, to $497.6 million, in the year ended December 31, 2007,from $200.6 million in
the year ended December 31, 2006 due primarily to higher revenues. Our gross profit margin increased to 58.7% in the year ended December 31, 2007,
compared to 56.6% in the year ended December 31, 2006. This increase in margin was primarily attributable to increases in direct and international sales
and the addition of Jibbitz, where we recognize higher margins on sales.
Changes in foreign currency exchange rates since December 31, 2006 increased our gross margin by $11.8 million while causing our gross profit
margin to decline in the year ended December 31, 2007 to 58.6%. We expect that sales at subsidiary companies with functional currencies other than the
U.S. dollar will continue to generate a substantial portion of our overall gross profit. Accordingly, changes in foreign currency exchange rates could
materially affect our overall gross profit or the comparability of our gross profit from period to period as a result of translating our financial statements
into our reporting currency, the U.S. dollar.
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Selling, general and administrative expenses. SG&A increased 147.0% or $154.7 million, to $259.9 million, or 30.7% of sales, in the year
ended December 31, 2007, from $105.2 million, or 29.7% of sales in the year ended December 31, 2006. The increase in SG&A as a percentage of
sales is a result of our strategic decision to increase our global marketing spend and increased expenses associated with developing market opportunities
in Brazil, China, Russia and India. This increase was also a result of higher costs associated with increased sales volumes, and expanding operations,
including an increase in selling and marketing expenses of $40.4 million and increases in personnel expenses of $70.9 million. In addition, professional
and consulting fees increased approximately $20.8 million, primarily as a result of increased legal fees related to defending our intellectual property,
accounting fees, contract labor and consultants. In addition, share-based compensation expense was $21.7 million for the year ended December 31,
2007, compared to $10.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2006.

Changes in the average foreign currency exchange rates used to translate expenses from our functional currencies to our reporting currency, the
U.S. dollar, from 2006 fiscal year to 2007 fiscal year contributed approximately $5.6 million to our change in selling, general and administrative
expenses. We expect operations at consolidated companies with functional currencies other than the U.S. dollar will continue to represent a substantial
portion of our overall business. Accordingly, changes in foreign currency exchange rates could materially affect our overall selling, general and
administrative expenses, or the comparability of our selling, general and administrative expenses from period to period as a result of translating our
financial statements into our reporting currency, the U.S. dollar.
Interest expense. Interest expense was approximately $438,000 in the year ended December 31, 2007, compared to approximately $567,000 in
the year ended December 31, 2006. Interest expense decreased due to our use of a portion of the proceeds from our initial public offering in 2006 to
retire bank loans. This debt retirement led to a decrease in average borrowings outstanding on our line of credit and long term debt during the year ended
December 31, 2007 compared to average borrowings outstanding under those arrangements during the year ended December 31, 2006.
Other income/expense, net. Other income was $3.0 million in the year ended December 31, 2007, compared to income of $1.8 million in the year
ended December 31, 2006. The increase primarily resulted from a refund due to a change in our tax filing position related to value added taxes in our
international locations.
Income tax expense. In the year ended December 31, 2007, income tax expense was $72.1 million, representing an effective income tax rate of
30.0%, compared to income tax expense of $32.2 million in the year ended December 31, 2006, representing an effective income tax rate of 33.3%. The
decrease relates primarily to an increase in the pre-tax earnings in jurisdictions with lower relative income tax rates as a percentage of total pre-tax
earnings.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
The accompanying audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2008 were prepared under the assumption that we
will continue to operate as a going concern, which contemplates the realization of assets and the liquidation of liabilities in the normal course of
business. At December 31, 2008, we had $51.6 million in cash and cash equivalents. We have $22.4 million in borrowings outstanding under our
Revolving Credit Facility which has no further available borrowings. On February 13, 2009, we entered into Amendment No. 9 to the Revolving Credit
Facility, extending the maturity date on this facility to April 2, 2009, at which time we will be required to pay all amounts then outstanding. Prior to
April 2, 2009, we are required to make five installment payments of $0.2 million each on dates agreed upon by us and Union Bank of California, N.A.
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We are currently in discussions to obtain an asset backed credit facility to replace the existing Revolving Credit Facility. The time period required to
procure a new asset backed credit facility may extend beyond the maturity date of our current Revolving Credit Facility, requiring us to seek an
extension of that maturity date with our current lenders. We are also exploring other means of raising capital including equity financing. There can be no
assurance that we will be able to secure additional debt or equity financing or receive an extension of the current Revolving Credit Facility by or before
the date of maturity of the Revolving Credit Facility and, accordingly, our liquidity and ability to timely pay its obligations when due could be adversely
affected.
Additionally, we are currently evaluating our operating plans for 2009 and considering certain restructuring and right-sizing activities to address
the potential for continued decreases in revenues. Our ability to continue as a going concern is dependent upon achieving a cost structure which
supports the levels of revenues we are able to achieve. Our ability to return to profitability is dependent on the timely completion of these activities and
there can be no assurance that any actions taken by us will result in a return to profitability. As discussed in the previous paragraphs, we face various
uncertainties that raise substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern. These accompanying consolidated financial statements do not
include any adjustments that may result from the outcome of these uncertainties.

We incurred losses of $185.1 million in the year ended December 31, 2008 and experienced a decline in revenues from $847.4 million for the year
ended December 31, 2007 to $721.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2008. During the year ended December 31, 2008, we took certain actions
to reduce our operating cost structure in response to declining revenues. Those actions included the closing of our Canadian and Brazilian
manufacturing operations, personnel reductions, and reductions in certain discretionary spending. Should revenues continue to decline in future periods,
we may be required to take further cost reduction actions in order to maintain a level of liquidity necessary to meet our ongoing operational needs.
We experienced rapid growth in our revenues and earnings from our inception through December 31, 2007 and had difficulty meeting customer
demand for our footwear products. During this period, we significantly increased production capacity, warehouse space and inventory in an effort to
meet demand. This pattern changed in 2008. During the three months ended March 31, 2008 revenue growth moderated and during the three months
ended June 30, 2008, revenues declined compared to 2007. This trend continued and accelerated during the remainder of 2008. Our total revenues
declined during the year ended December 31, 2008 on a 24.7% decline in the total number of footwear units sold compared to the previous year, which
was attributable in large part to deteriorating global economic conditions, lessened demand for our products and difficulty marketing our expanded
product line. Due to the decline in revenues, we incurred various one-time cash and non-cash restructuring and impairment costs as we took steps to
right-size our production and distribution capacity. We incurred losses of $185.1 million in the year ended December 31, 2008 and we expect to incur
additional operating losses during the quarter ended March 31, 2009 as year-over-year revenue declines continue to occur. We may incur additional
losses through 2009.
Continued declines in revenues could have a material adverse effect on our operating results, cash flow and our ability to raise capital. We cannot
fully anticipate future conditions given the substantial uncertainties in the credit markets and the economy in general. We may have unexpected costs and
liabilities; revenue and cash provided by operations may decline; economic conditions may continue to weaken; and competitive pressures may increase,
resulting in difficulty maintaining liquidity. Due to recent turmoil in the credit markets and the continued decline in the economy, we may not be able to
obtain additional financing on terms that are acceptable to us or at all.

Seasonal variations in product demand and the associated changes in operating assets and liabilities in response to such seasonal variations may
directly and adversely affect our cash flows from
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operating activities. Accordingly, cash flows from operating activities for any period are not necessarily indicative of cash flows from operating
activities to be expected for any other period. We are actively reviewing our expenses to ensure that future operations reflect expenses, both in cost of
sales and selling, general and administrative expenses, which are commensurate with our revenues. We will continue to evaluate the need for additional
restructuring of our business in order to meet this objective. Any such restructuring activities may have a material adverse impact on our cash flows and
capital resources.

The changes in the global economy could also affect our customers' liquidity and capital resources and their ability to meet their payment
obligations to us, which in turn would decrease their credit terms and our ability to collect our accounts receivable, which may have a material adverse
impact on our cash flows and capital resources. We continue to monitor our accounts receivable aging and have recorded reserves as we deem
appropriate.

We are a global business with operations in many different countries, which requires cash accounts to be held in various different currencies. The
global market has recently experienced many fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates which impacts our results of operations and cash positions.
The future fluctuations in foreign currencies may have a material impact on our cash flows and capital resources. Cash balances held in foreign countries
have additional restrictions and covenants associated with them, which adds increased strains on our liquidity and ability to timely access and transfer
cash balances between entities.
Most of the amounts held outside of the U.S. could be repatriated to the U.S., but under current law, would be subject to U.S. federal income
taxes, less applicable foreign tax credits. In some countries repatriation of certain foreign balances is restricted by local laws and could have adverse tax
consequences if we were to move the cash to another country. Certain countries, including China, may have monetary laws which may limit our ability
to utilize cash resources in those countries for operations in other countries. These limitations may affect our ability to fully utilize our cash resources for
needs in the U.S. or other countries and may adversely affect our liquidity.
We have entered into various sponsorship agreements and operating leases that require cash payments on a specified scheduled. Over the next five
years we will make payments of $137.1 million related to our operating lease agreements and $22.7 million related to our corporate sponsorship
agreements. See "Contractual Obligations" below. We plan to continue to enter into operating leases related to our retail stores. Our evaluation of cost
reduction opportunities will include an evaluation of contracts for sponsorships, operating lease contracts and other contracts that require future
minimum payments resulting in fixed operating costs. Any changes to these contracts may require early termination fees or other charges that could
result in significant cash expenditures.
Our inventories decreased to $143.2 million at December 31, 2008, from $248.4 million as of December 31, 2007. In 2008, as the result of lessthan-previously-anticipated sales, we have been actively managing our inventory levels through decreased production and actively selling through our
existing inventory with the goals of decreasing inventories and increasing our cash position. We expect new product introductions, limitations on
production capacities and seasonal variations may cause our inventory to increase or decrease materially in the future as we adjust to meet changing
market conditions. We believe our inventory levels will continue to decrease in 2009 due to projected sales and inventory management plans. In addition
to these activities to manage our inventory, we recognized $76.3 million of inventory write-down charges and an additional $4.2 million in charges
related to losses on future purchase commitments for inventory with a market value lower than cost, of which $2.1 million was included as an accrued
expense, for the year ended December 31, 2008.
We intend to continue to evaluate our product offerings to develop product collections in assortments that can be merchandised effectively to the
consumer at our retailer and Company operated stores. As such, we expect that our future product offerings will be more focused by category
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and for color palette and the number of color combinations will be reduced in our seasonal offerings. During the years ended December 31, 2008 and
2007, we had capital expenditures of $55.6 million and $57.4 million, respectively, related to the build out our global infrastructure and to support our
planned future growth. We also had expenditures of $10.7 million and $16.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively, in
related capital costs for internally developed software intangibles. We will continue to make ongoing capital investments in molds and other tooling
equipment related to manufacturing new products and footwear styles as well as those related to opening additional retail stores; however, we plan to
reduce our expenditures in our distribution, manufacturing and software development efforts due to our reduction in revenues. We plan to continue to
selectively invest in information technology systems that will increase efficiencies as well as increase the operating effectiveness of our manufacturing,
warehousing, and distribution operations. We expect to continue to invest in our global information systems infrastructure to further strengthen our
management information and financial reporting capabilities.

Over the past two years we have developed or acquired businesses, such as Jibbitz, Bite, Tagger, Ocean Minded and EXO and we may acquire
other business in the future that we believe are complementary to our own. On June 26, 2007, we amended the membership interest purchase agreement
("Purchase Agreement") with Jibbitz, to amend the terms of the potential earn-out consideration included in the Purchase Agreement. The amendment
removed the earnings targets for payment of the earn-out with $3.5 million payable on the effective date of the amended Purchase Agreement and the
remaining $6.5 million payable over the following thirteen months, for a total payment of $10.0 million. The earn-out was fully paid as of July 2008.
The agreements for the acquisitions of Ocean Minded and Bite contain contingent earn-out amounts of up to $3.75 million and $1.75 million,
respectively, which are required to be paid as an additional cost of the acquisition if the business units achieve certain specified earnings targets in future
periods. No material amounts have been paid or accrued in relation to the Ocean Minded or Bite acquisitions as earning targets were not achieved. We
may have to make future payments under these earn-out arrangements.
In April 2008, we acquired substantially all of the assets of Tidal Trade, Inc ("Tidal Trade"), our third party distributor in South Africa, for
$4.6 million and acquired substantially all of the assets of Tagger, a private limited liability company incorporated under the laws of The Netherlands,
for $2.0 million. There are no contingent earn-out provisions related to these two acquisitions.
We anticipate that cash flows from operations will be sufficient to meet the ongoing needs of our business through March 31, 2009. In order to
provide liquidity beyond March 31, 2009, we are exploring alternatives for a new borrowing arrangement or an extension of our existing Revolving
Credit Facility and are currently negotiating with financial institutions to obtain an asset backed lending arrangement. We may also explore other sources
for capital to meet our ongoing needs. There can be no assurance that any such capital will be available to us on acceptable terms or at all especially due
to current conditions and uncertainty in the global credit markets. Our ability to fund working capital needs, planned capital expenditures and scheduled
debt payments depends on our future operating performance and cash flow, which in turn are subject to prevailing economic conditions and to financial,
business and other factors, some of which are beyond our control. Our inability to secure financing before the April 2, 2009 maturity date of our
Revolving Credit Facility or obtain an extension may result in a material adverse effect on our financial condition.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
Our operating lease obligations, which include various building and equipment transactions, are not reflected on our balance sheet. See
"Contractual Obligations" below for further detail.

We also guarantee payments to our third-party manufacturer in China for purchases of material for the manufacture of finished shoe products,
which is not reflected on our balance sheet. The maximum potential amount of future payments that we could be required to make under the guarantee is
€ 2.1 million (approximately $3.0 million). SeeNote 15 in the consolidated financial statements for further discussion.
At December 31, 2008, we had purchase commitments with our third party manufacturers for $14.0 million in inventory. Approximately
$2.1 million of this commitment was for certain products at prices in excess of net realizable value, given our plans for sales of the product.
Accordingly, $2.1 million was recorded related to expected losses on future purchase commitments and is included in accrued expenses at
December 31, 2008. On July 26, 2005, we entered into an amended and restated four-year supply agreement with Finproject S.P.A., the former
majority owner of Crocs Canada, in which we have the exclusive right to purchase the material for the manufacture of finished shoe products, except for
certain current customer dealings (including boot manufacturers). Based on the supply agreement, we have contractual purchase requirements to
maintain exclusivity throughout the term of the agreement. The pricing is to be agreed upon each quarter and fluctuates based on order volume, currency
fluctuations, and raw material prices.
We do not believe that these arrangements are material to our current or future financial condition, results of operations, liquidity, capital resources
or capital expenditures.
Contractual Obligations
The following table discloses aggregate information about our contractual cash obligations as of December 31, 2008 and the periods in which
payments are due (in thousands):
Payments due by period
Total

Less than
1 year

1-3
years

3-5
years

More than
5 years

Operating Lease Obligations
Corporate Sponsorships(1)
Revolving Credit Facility(2)
Minimum Licensing Royalties(3)
Purchase Obligations(4)
FIN 48 estimated liability(5)
Capital Lease Obligations

$179,316 $47,559 $62,630 $26,915 $ 42,212
22,737
6,662
10,760
5,315
—
23,123
23,123
—
—
—
3,830
2,753
1,051
26
—
19,261 19,261
—
—
—
28,210
—
24,456
1,905
1,849
9
9
—
—
—

Total

$276,486

$99,367

$98,897

$34,161 $ 44,061

(1)

Includes sponsorships such as AVP and collegiate sports teams.

(2)

On February 13, 2009, we signed Amendment No. 9 to the Revolving Credit Facility, thereby extending the maturity date of the Revolving
Credit Facility to April 2, 2009. The facility bore interest at a rate of 12.25% per annum at December 31, 2008. Amount includes $0.7 million in
projected interest based on the best known interest rates at the date of filing.

(3)

Includes royalties relating to licensing agreements with companies such as Disney, MLB, MBA and Nickelodeon.

(4)

Represents our purchase obligation to buy back inventory from a distributor as a result of the termination of our distributor agreement, which
will be paid during the first 9 months of 2009 and the current purchase commitments with third party manufacturers.
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(5)

Represents estimated liabilities as a result of the our adoption of the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued FASB
Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes ("FIN 48").

Excluded from the table above is the contingent cash purchase price of up to $3.75 million for Ocean Minded and $1.75 million for Bite, related to
the earn-out provisions of the agreements, see Note 6—Acquisitions in the consolidated financial statements for further discussion. These amounts were
excluded from the above contractual obligations table as Ocean Minded and Bite have not achieved the earnings targets for the earn-out provisions of
the agreement as of December 31, 2008.

We also guarantee payments to our third-party manufacturer in China for purchases of material for the manufacture of finished shoe products,
which is also excluded from the table. The maximum potential amount of future payments the Company could be required to make under the guarantee
is € 2.1million, approximately $3.0 million. SeeNote 15—Commitments and Contingencies in the consolidated financial statements for further
discussion.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Our financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S., which require us to make
estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and related disclosure at the date of our financial
statements. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates and judgments, including those related to revenue, intangible assets, and stock
compensation. We base our estimates and judgments on historical experience and on various other factors that we believe to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of our judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. Actual results or changes in the estimates or other judgments of matters inherently uncertain that are included within these accounting
policies could result in a significant change to the information presented in the consolidated financial statements. We believe that the estimates and
assumptions below are among those most important to an understanding of our consolidated financial statements contained in this report.

We consider certain accounting policies related to revenue recognition, reserves for uncollectible accounts receivable, sales returns, allowances and
discounts, inventory valuation, share-based compensation, income taxes and goodwill and other intangible assets, impairment of long-lived assets,
acquisitions and restructuring charges to be critical policies due to the estimates and judgments involved in each.
Revenue Recognition. The majority of our revenues are derived from wholesale sales to retailers. Our standard arrangement for our customers
includes a valid purchase order or contract with no customer acceptance provisions. We recognize revenues from sales of products when:

•

we enter into an agreement with a customer or persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists;

•

delivery has occurred;

•

customer payment is deemed fixed or determinable and free of contingencies or significant uncertainties;

•

collection is reasonably assured; and

•

title passes on shipment or on receipt by the customer depending on the arrangement with the customer.

Reserves for uncollectible accounts receivable. We make ongoing estimates relating to the collectability of our accounts receivable and maintain a
reserve for estimated losses resulting from the inability of our customers to make required payments. In determining the amount of the reserve, we
consider our historical level of credit losses and make judgments about the creditworthiness of significant customers based on ongoing credit
evaluations. Since we cannot predict future changes in
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the financial stability of our customers, actual future losses from uncollectible accounts may differ from our estimates and we may experience changes in
the amount of reserves we recognize for accounts receivable we deem uncollectible. If the financial condition of some of our customers were to
deteriorate, resulting in their inability to make payments, a larger reserve might be required. In the event we determine that a smaller or larger reserve is
appropriate, we would record a credit or a charge to selling, general and administrative expenses in the period in which we made such a determination.
We may also accept returns from our wholesale and distributor customers, on an exception basis at the sole discretion of management for the purpose of
stock re-balancing to ensure that our products are merchandised in the proper assortments. Additionally, at the sole discretion of management, we may
provide markdown allowances to key wholesale and distributor customers to facilitate the "in-channel" markdown of products where we have
experienced less than anticipated sell-through.

Sales Returns, Allowances and Discounts. We record reductions to revenue for estimated customer returns, allowances and discounts. We base
our estimates on historical rates of customer returns and allowances as well as the specific identification of outstanding returns that have not yet been
received by us. We base our estimates for customer returns and allowances primarily on anticipated sales volume throughout the year. The actual
amount of customer returns and allowances, which is inherently uncertain, may differ from our estimates. If we determined that actual or expected
returns or allowances were significantly greater or lower than the reserves we had established, we would record a reduction or increase, as appropriate,
to net sales in the period in which we made such a determination. Provisions for customer specific discounts based on contractual obligations with
certain major customers are recorded as reductions to net sales. We also record reductions to revenue for estimated customer credits as a result of price
mark-downs in certain markets. Fluctuations in our estimates for sales returns, allowances and discounts may be caused by many factors, including, but
not limited to, fluctuations in our sales revenue, changes in demand for our products and customer acceptance of new products we offer.
Inventory Valuation. At least quarterly, we analyze our inventory positions and make estimates regarding the net realizable value of our
inventories and, if necessary, adjust them to the lower of cost or market. Our estimate of the net realizable value for our excess and discontinued
products is based on significant judgments made by management based on industry experience considering only limited company-specific historical
experience with the sell-through of such products to liquidation or other "off-price" channels. The ultimate results achieved in selling excess and
discontinued products in future periods may differ significantly from management's estimates of net realizable value as of December 31, 2008.
Fluctuations in our estimated net realizable value of our inventory may be caused by multiple factors, including, but not limited to, changes in companyspecific experience with the sell-through of products, global and regional economic conditions, and demand for our products or shifting demand
between the products we offer. Declines in the estimated net realizable value of our inventory, if the declines result in a write-down of our inventory
balance, could have a significant effect on our reported financial results.

From our inception and through 2007, we experienced substantial growth due to the high consumer demand for our core products and our
expansion into new markets globally. During the year ended December 31, 2008, we experienced a decline in demand due to the current economic
downturn and the challenges we face in merchandising our expanded product lines in existing wholesale channels as well as lessening demand for our
products as such products reach a more mature stage in their product life and competitors enter the market with imitation products that are sold at
substantially lower prices. Based on our estimate, we recorded additional inventory write-downs during the year ended December 31, 2008, of
$76.3 million and an additional $4.2 million in charges related to losses on future purchase commitments for inventory with a market value lower than
cost, of which $2.1 million was included as accrued expenses, for the year ended December 31, 2008. Please refer to
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Note 3 of our Consolidated Financial Statements set forth in the "Index To Consolidated Financial Statements" of this Form 10-K.
Stock-Based Compensation. Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 123R, ShareBased Payment, ("SFAS 123R"), which requires recognition of the fair value of share-based compensation over the vesting period of the option. We
adopted the prospective method for all stock option grants issued prior to August 15, 2005, which was the date we initially filed a Registration
Statement on Form S-1 with the SEC in connection with our initial public offering. Prior to August 15, 2005, we used the minimum value method of
measuring equity share options and similar instruments for either recognition or pro forma disclosure purposes. We continue to account for any portion
of awards outstanding at the date of initial application using the accounting principles originally applied to those awards which were the provisions of
APB 25 and its related interpretive guidance.

For stock option grants issued after August 15, 2005, we applied the modified prospective method. Under this method we use the Black-Scholes
valuation model to determine the fair value of our stock options, which requires assumptions to be made regarding our stock price volatility, the
expected life of the option and expected dividend rates. The volatility assumptions were derived from our historical volatilities and historical volatilities
of competitors whose shares are traded in the public markets. If factors change and we use different assumptions for estimating share-based
compensation in future periods, share-based compensation expense may differ materially in the future from that recorded in the current period. The
amount of stock-based compensation expense recognized during any fiscal period can fluctuate based on, among other things, future stock option
grants, changes in our estimated forfeiture rate pursuant to SFAS 123R, and changes in the assumptions used in the Black-Scholes valuation model for
future stock option grants. Because the calculation of the estimate for stock-based compensation is reliant on multiple inputs, which in some cases are,
themselves, estimates, an increase or decrease in any of these variables could have a significant effect on the amount of expense recognized during a
reporting period.
Income Taxes. In July 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued FASB Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for
Uncertainty in Income Taxes ("FIN 48"). Effective January 1, 2007, we adopted FIN 48, which prescribes a comprehensive model for how a company
should recognize, measure, present and disclose in its financial statements uncertain tax positions that the company has taken or expects to take on a tax
return. Though the validity of any tax position is a matter of tax law, the body of statutory, regulatory and interpretive guidance on the application of the
law is complex and often ambiguous. Because of this, whether a tax position will ultimately be sustained may be uncertain. Under FIN 48, the impact of
an uncertain tax position that is more likely than not of being sustained upon examination by the relevant taxing authority must be recognized at the
largest amount that is more likely than not to be sustained. No portion of an uncertain tax position will be recognized if the position has less than a 50%
likelihood of being sustained. Also, under FIN 48, interest expense is recognized on the full amount of deferred benefits for uncertain tax positions. The
adoption of FIN 48 did not have a material impact on our consolidated balance sheet, statement of operations or cash flows.
Our annual tax rate is based on our income, statutory tax rates and tax planning opportunities available to us in the various jurisdictions in which
we operate. Significant judgment is required in determining our annual tax expense and in evaluating our tax positions. We establish reserves at the time
we determine it is probable we will be liable to pay additional taxes related to certain matters. We adjust these reserves, including any impact on the
related interest and penalties, in light of changing facts and circumstances, such as the progress of a tax audit.
Tax laws require items to be included in our tax returns at different times than when these items are reflected in the consolidated financial
statements. As a result, the annual tax rate reflected in our consolidated financial statements is different than that reported in our tax return (our cash tax
rate).
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Some of these differences are permanent, such as expenses that are not deductible in our tax return, and some differences reverse over time, such as
depreciation expense. These timing differences create deferred tax assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on
temporary differences between the financial reporting and tax basis of assets and liabilities. The tax rates used to determine deferred tax assets or
liabilities are the enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. Based on the evaluation of all available
information, we recognize future tax benefits, such as net operating loss carry forwards, to the extent that realizing these benefits is considered more
likely than not.

We evaluate our ability to realize the tax benefits associated with deferred tax assets by analyzing our forecasted taxable income using both
historical and projected future operating results, the reversal of existing temporary differences, taxable income in prior carry back years (if permitted)
and the availability of tax planning strategies. A valuation allowance is required to be established unless management determines that it is more likely
than not that we will ultimately realize the tax benefit associated with a deferred tax asset.
Undistributed earnings of a subsidiary are accounted for as a temporary difference, except that deferred tax liabilities are not recorded for
undistributed earnings of a foreign subsidiary that are deemed to be indefinitely reinvested in the foreign jurisdiction. We have formulated a specific plan
for reinvestment of undistributed earnings of our foreign subsidiaries which demonstrates that such earnings will be indefinitely reinvested in the
applicable tax jurisdictions. Should we change our plans, we would be required to record a significant amount of deferred tax liabilities.

We recognize interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits within the income tax expense line in the accompanying consolidated
statement of operations. Accrued interest and penalties are included within the related tax liability line in the consolidated balance sheet.
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. In accordance with SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets ("SFAS 142"), goodwill and
intangible assets with indefinite lives are not amortized but are instead measured for impairment at least annually, or when events indicate that an
impairment exists. As required by SFAS 142, in our impairment tests for goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets, we compare the
estimated fair value of goodwill and other intangible assets to their carrying value. If the carrying value exceeds our estimate of fair value, we calculate
impairment as the excess of the carrying value over our estimate of fair value. Our estimates of fair value utilized in goodwill and other indefinite-lived
intangible asset tests may be based upon a number of factors, including our assumptions about the expected future operating performance of our
reporting units. Our estimates may change in future periods due to, among other things, technological change, economic conditions, and changes to our
business operations or inability to meet business plans.

During the three month period ended September 30, 2008, our stock price declined substantially, which represented a triggering event for potential
goodwill impairment. As of September 30, 2008, we performed an interim goodwill impairment evaluation, as required under FASB Statement
No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets ("SFAS 142"). Based on that evaluation we concluded our goodwill was impaired and we recorded a
charge of $22.8 million, which was our entire goodwill balance as of September 30, 2008. Please refer to Note 5 of our Condensed Consolidated
Financial Statements set forth in the "Index To Consolidated Financial Statements" of this Form 10-K.
Intangible assets that are determined to have definite lives, such as customer relationships, core technology, capitalized software, patents and noncompete agreements are amortized over their useful lives and are measured for impairment only when events or circumstances indicate the carrying
value may be impaired. In these cases, we estimate the future undiscounted cash flows to be derived from the asset to determine whether or not a
potential impairment exists. If the carrying value exceeds our estimate of future undiscounted cash flows, we then calculate the impairment as the excess
of the carrying value of the asset over our estimate of its fair value.
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Impairment of Long-Lived Assets. In accordance with SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment of Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,
("SFAS 144"), we estimate the future undiscounted cash flows to be derived from an asset to assess whether or not a potential impairment exists when
events or circumstances indicate the carrying value of a long-lived asset may be impaired. If the carrying value exceeds the estimate of future
undiscounted cash flows, we calculate the impairment as the excess of the carrying value of the asset over the estimate of its fair value. Recoverability of
assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to future net undiscounted cash flows expected to be
generated by the asset. If such assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount by which the carrying
amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets. Assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value less
costs to sell. Fair value is determined by independent third party appraisals, projected discounted cash flows, or other valuation techniques as
appropriate.
During the year ended December 31, 2008, we recognized an impairment charge of $20.9 million on fixed assets, primarily related to equipment
and shoe molds. Management evaluated the production capacity at Company-operated facilities compared with demand projections and capacity
requirements and made the decision to abandon certain manufacturing equipment that represented excess capacity. The impairment charge on molds
relates primarily to shoe styles that we either no longer intends to manufacture or to styles for which we have more molds on hand than is necessary to
meet projected demand. These charges are recorded in the impairment charges line item of the consolidated statement of operations for the year ended
December 31, 2008, and are accounted for as assets to be abandoned in accordance with SFAS 144. Also refer to Note 8 of our Consolidated Financial
Statements set forth in the "Index To Consolidated Financial Statements", of this Form 10-K.

Due to the nature of impairment charges, changes in the liabilities and expenses related to these charges incurred between reporting periods can be
significant as they are driven by, among other things, changes in our strategic operational and financial decisions, global and regional economic
conditions, demand for our product or shifting demand between different products we offer and other corporate initiatives which may eliminate or
significantly decrease the realization of future benefits from our long-lived assets. Likewise, significant impairment charges recognized during a
reporting period could have adversely affected our reported financial results.
Restructuring Charges. We recognize restructuring charges related to our plans to close manufacturing and administrative facilities according to
SFAS No. 112, Employers' Accounting for Postemployment Benefits—an amendment of FASB Statements No. 5 and 43("SFAS 112"). In connection
with these activities, we recognize restructuring charges for employee termination costs, long-lived asset impairment and other restructuring-related
costs. We also recognize restructuring charges related to our future expense related to the future abandonment of facilities under the operating leases in
accordance with FASB Statement No. 146, Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities ("SFAS 146"). During the year ended
December 31, 2008, we recorded $8.6 million in restructuring charges associated with the closure of the Canadian and Brazilian manufacturing
facilities. Please refer to Note 8 of our Consolidated Financial Statements set forth in the "Index To Consolidated Financial Statements" of this Form 10K.
The recognition of these restructuring charges require that we make certain judgments and estimates regarding the nature, timing and amount of
costs associated with the planned exit activity. To the extent our actual results in exiting these facilities differ from our estimates and assumptions, we
may be required to revise the estimates of future liabilities, requiring the recognition of additional restructuring charges or the reduction of liabilities
already recognized. At the end of each reporting period, we will evaluate the remaining accrued balances to ensure that no excess accruals are retained
and the utilization of the provisions are for their intended purpose in accordance with developed exit plans. Due to the nature of restructuring charges,
changes in the liabilities and expenses related to these charges incurred between reporting periods can be significant as they are driven by, among other
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things, our strategic operational and financial decisions, global and regional economic conditions, staffing levels relative to demand for our products and
other corporate initiatives which may eliminate the need for certain assets or staff positions in our locations. Significant restructuring charges could
adversely affect our reported financial results in the reporting period in which the charges are recognized and, to the extent we are required to make
future cash payments for items such as severance and lease buyouts or penalties, could adversely affect our liquidity.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurement ("SFAS 157"), which defines fair value, establishes a framework
for measuring fair value in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements.
SFAS 157 is effective for financial statements issued for the first annual or interim reporting period beginning after November 15, 2007. We have
adopted SFAS 157 effective January 1, 2008. We have evaluated the impact of this new standard and the adoption did not have a material impact on our
consolidated financial position or results of operations.
In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities ("SFAS 159").
SFAS 159 permits entities to choose to measure many financial instruments and certain other items at fair value. We have adopted SFAS 159 beginning
January 1, 2008. We have evaluated the impact of this new standard and the adoption did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial
position or results of operations.
In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141(R), Business Combinations ("SFAS 1411(R)"), which amends SFAS No. 141,and
provides revised guidance for recognizing and measuring identifiable assets and goodwill acquired, liabilities assumed, and any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree. It also provides disclosure requirements to enable users of the financial statements to evaluate the nature and financial effects of the
business combination. SFAS 141(R) is effective for the fiscal year beginning January 1, 2009 and is to be applied prospectively. We are currently
evaluating the potential impact of adopting this statement on its consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows. We do not expect
that the adoption will have a material impact on our consolidated financial position or results of operations.
In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, Non-controlling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements- an amendment of ARB
No. 51 ("SFAS 160") which establishes accounting and reporting standards pertaining to ownership interests in subsidiaries held by parties other than
the parent, the amount of net income attributable to the parent and to the non-controlling interest, changes in a parent's ownership interest, and the
valuation of any retained non-controlling equity investment when a subsidiary is deconsolidated. SFAS 160 also establishes disclosure requirements
that clearly identify and distinguish between the interests of the parent and the interests of the non-controlling owners. SFAS 160 is effective for the
fiscal year beginning January 1, 2009. We are currently evaluating the impact this new standard will have on our consolidated financial position, results
of operations and cash flows. We do not expect that the adoption will have a material impact on our consolidated financial position or results of
operations.
In March 2008, the FASB issued FASB Statement No. 161, Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities ("SFAS 161"),
which is intended to improve financial reporting regarding derivative instruments and hedging activities by requiring enhanced disclosures to provide
transparency to these activities and their effects on an entity's financial position, financial performance and cash flows. The provisions of SFAS 161 are
effective for our fiscal year beginning January 1, 2009. We are currently evaluating the impact this new standard will have on its consolidated financial
position, results of operations and cash flows. We do not expect that the adoption of SFAS 161 will have a material impact on its consolidated financial
position or results of operations.
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In May 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 162, The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles ("SFAS 162"), which identifies the
sources of accounting principles and the framework for selecting principles used in the preparation of financial statements of nongovernmental entities
that are presented in conformity with GAAP. SFAS 162 emphasizes that an organization's management and not its auditors has the responsibility to
follow GAAP and categorizes sources of accounting principles that are generally accepted in descending order of authority. We will be required to
adopt SFAS 162 within 60 days following the Securities and Exchange Commission's ("SEC") approval of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board amendments to AU Section 411, The Meaning of Present Fairly in Conformity With Generally Accepted Accounting Principles. AU Section 411
has not yet been approved by the SEC. We do not expect SFAS 162 to materially impact our consolidated financial statements.
In December, 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff Positions ("FSP") FIN 46(R)-8, Interests in Variable Interest Entities and FSP FAS 140-4,
Disclosures about Transfers of Financial Assets, which will increase disclosure requirements for public reporting companies for reporting periods that
end after December 15, 2008. This FSP amends SFAS 140, to require public entities to provide additional disclosures about transfers of financial assets
and variable interests in qualifying special-purpose entities. It also amends FIN 46(R) to require public enterprises to provide additional disclosures
about their involvement with variable interest entities. We adopted the requirements of FSP FAS 140-4 and FSP FIN 46(R) beginning January 1, 2008.
The adoption of FSP FAS 140-4 and FSP FIN 46(R) did not have a material impact on our consolidated balance sheet, statement of operations or cash
flows.
ITEM 7A.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Credit and Interest Rate Risk
We are exposed to interest rate risk to the extent that interest rates change due to inflation or other factors. This exposure is directly related to our
normal operating and funding activities. As of December 31, 2008, the effective interest rate on our Revolving Credit Facility was 12.25%. The interest
payable on our Revolving Credit Facility is determined based on the lender's applicable reference rate plus 9.0%, and, therefore, is affected by changes
in market interest rates. As of December 31, 2008, we had $22.4 million outstanding on our Revolving Credit Facility. Based on this aggregate amount
borrowed as of December 31, 2008, we would have a resulting decline in future annual earnings and cash flows of approximately $0.2 million for every
1% increase in the lender's reference lending rate.

We earned interest income of $0.4 million on our cash and cash equivalents during the year ended December 31, 2008. We have performed a
sensitivity analysis to estimate our exposure to market risk of interest rates, and if the weighted average rate of return on cash and cash equivalents, and
restricted cash, were to increase or decrease by 1%, the impact on interest income would be approximately $0.6 million, net of tax during the year ended
December 31, 2008.
Please also refer to Item 7, "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, Liquidity," for a discussion
of risks related to the recent global economic downturn and the current state of the credit markets

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk
We have significant revenues from foreign sales in recent periods. While the majority of expenses attributable to our foreign operations are paid in
the functional currency of the country in which such operations are conducted, we pay the majority of our overseas third-party manufacturers in U.S.
dollars. Our ability to sell our products in foreign markets and the U.S. dollar value of the sales made in foreign currencies can be significantly
influenced by foreign currency fluctuations. A decrease in the value of foreign currencies relative to the U.S. dollar could result in downward price
pressure for our products or losses from currency exchange rates. We have performed a sensitivity analysis to estimate our exposure to market risk of
foreign exchange rates. If the U.S. dollar were to increase or decrease,
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as applicable, in value by 1%, the impact on international sales of $403.7 million during the year ended December 31, 2008 would have been an increase
or decrease in consolidated revenues by $3.9 million. The volatility of the applicable exchange rates are dependent on many factors that cannot be
forecast with reliable accuracy. In the event our foreign sales and purchases increase and are denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar, our
operating results may be affected by fluctuations in the exchange rate of currencies we receive for such sales. Please see Item 7, "Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations," for a discussion of the impact of foreign exchange rate variances
experienced in the year ended December 31, 2008. We may, in the future, engage in foreign exchange hedging contracts to reduce our economic
exposure to changes in exchange rates. If we do engage in foreign exchange hedging, the foreign exchange hedging contracts will be entered into to
hedge specific commitments and anticipated transactions but not for speculative or trading purposes. As of December 31, 2008, we did not have any
foreign exchange hedging contracts.
ITEM 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
The consolidated financial statements and supplementary data are as set forth in the "Index To Consolidated Financial Statements" on page F-1.

ITEM 9.

Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.
ITEM 9A.

Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Under the supervision and with the participation of our senior management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we
conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and
15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act, as of the end of the period covered by this annual report (the "Evaluation Date"). Based on this evaluation, our Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that as of the Evaluation Date, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective such that
the information relating to us, including our consolidated subsidiaries, required to be disclosed in our Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC")
reports (i) is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms, and (ii) is accumulated and
communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding
required disclosure.

Management's Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate control over financial reporting, as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f)
and 15d-15(f). Our management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008, using the criteria
set forth in the Internal Control—Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).
Based on this assessment, management has concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2008.
Deloitte & Touche LLP, our independent registered public accounting firm, has issued an attestation report on our internal control over financial
reporting, which is included herein.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
During the three months ended December 31, 2008, we did not make any changes to our internal control over financial reporting that have
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Crocs, Inc.
Niwot, Colorado
We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Crocs, Inc. and subsidiaries (the "Company") as of December 31, 2008, based on
criteria established in Internal Control—IntegratedFramework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.
The Company's management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness
of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying "Management Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting". Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a
material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing
such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the company's principal executive and
principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and effected by the company's board of directors, management, and other personnel
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the
company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition,
use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion or improper management
override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation
of the effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008, based
on the criteria established in Internal Control—IntegratedFramework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission.
We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated
financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2008 of the Company and our report dated March 17, 2009 expressed an unqualified
opinion on those financial statements and included (a) an explanatory paragraph expressing substantial doubt about the Company's ability to continue as
a going concern; and (b) an explanatory paragraph
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regarding the Company's accounting for uncertain tax positions on January 1, 2007 in accordance with the Financial Accounting Standards Board's
Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes.
/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Denver, Colorado
March 17, 2009
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ITEM 9B. Other Information
Not applicable.

PART III
ITEM 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive proxy statement for the 2009 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after December 31, 2008.

Code of Ethics
We have a written code of ethics in place that applies to all our employees, including our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, and
controller. A copy of our business code of conduct and ethics policy is available on our website: www.crocs.com. We are required to disclose any
change to, or waiver from, our code of ethics for our senior financial officers. We intend to use our website as a method of disseminating any change to,
or waiver from, our business code of conduct and ethics policy as permitted by applicable SEC rules.

ITEM 11.

Executive Compensation

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive proxy statement for the 2009 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after December 31, 2008.

ITEM 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters
The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive proxy statement for the 2009 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008.

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans
As shown in the table below, as of December 31, 2008, we reserved 9,808,876 shares of common stock for future issuance on exercise of
outstanding options under equity compensation plans.

Number of
Securities
to be Issued
on Exercise of
Outstanding
Options

Plan Category

(1)

Equity compensation plans approved by stockholders(1)(2)
Equity compensation plans not approved by stockholders(3)

9,506,871
302,005

Total

9,808,876

Weighted
Average
Exercise Price
of
Outstanding
Options

$
$

15.10
0.60

Number of
Securities
Remaining
Available
for Future
Issuance Under
Plans,
Excluding
Securities
Available
in First Column

3,709,287
—
3,709,287

On July 9, 2007, at the annual stockholders' meeting, our stockholders approved the 2007 Equity Incentive Plan (the "2007 Plan"), which
previously had been approved by our board of directors. The 2007 Plan was effective as of July 9, 2007. The total number of shares of our
common stock
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available for distribution under the 2007 Plan is 9,000,000, subject to adjustment for future stock splits, stock dividends and similar changes in
our capitalization.

(2)

On April 27, 2005, our board of directors adopted the 2005 Equity Incentive Plan ("the 2005 Plan"). On January 10, 2006, our board of
directors amended the 2005 Plan to increase the number of shares of our common stock available for issuance under the 2005 Plan from
11,681,000 shares to 14,017,200 shares. Following the adoption ofthe 2007 Plan, no future grants may be made from the 2005 Plan.

(3)

Represents non-plan stock options granted to our officers, directors and employees prior to the adoption of the 2005 Equity Incentive Plan.
Following the adoption of the 2007 Plan, no future grants may be made from this plan.

ITEM 13.

Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive proxy statement for the 2009 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after December 31, 2008.

ITEM 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services
The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive proxy statement for the 2009 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after December 31, 2008.

PART IV
ITEM 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
(1) Financial Statements
The financial statements filed as part of this report are listed on the index to financial statements on page F-1.

(2) Financial Statement Schedules
All financial statement schedules have been omitted because they are not required, are not applicable or the information is included in the Financial
Statements or Notes thereto.

(3) Exhibit list
Exhibit
Number

Description

3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Crocs, Inc. (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Crocs, Inc.'s Registration Statement on
Form S-8, filed on March 9, 2006 (File No. 333-132312))
3.1 Certificate of Amendment to the Restated Certificate of Incorporate of Crocs, Inc. (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to
Crocs, Inc. Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on July 12, 2007 (File No. 000-51754)).
3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Crocs, Inc. (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to Crocs, Inc.'s Registration Statement on
Form S-8, filed on March 9, 2006 (File No. 333-132312))
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Exhibit
Number

Description

4.1 Specimen common stock certificate (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to Crocs, Inc.'s Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed
on August 15, 2005 (File No. 333-127526)).
10.1* Form of Indemnity Agreement between Crocs, Inc. and each of its directors and executive officers (Incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to Crocs, Inc.'s Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed on August 15, 2005 (File No. 333-127526)).
10.2* Crocs, Inc. 2005 Equity Incentive Plan (the "2005 Plan") (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Crocs, Inc.'s Registration
Statement on Form S-1, filed on August 15, 2005 (File No. 333-127526)).
10.3* Amendment No.1 to the 2005 Plan (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2.2 to Crocs, Inc.'s Registration Statement on Form S-1/A
[Amendment No. 4], filed on January 19, 2006 (File No. 333-127526)).
10.4* Form of Notice of Grant of Stock Option under the 2005 Plan (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Crocs, Inc.'s Registration
Statement on Form S-1, filed on August 15, 2005 (File No. 333-127526)).
10.5* Form of Notice of Grant of Stock Option for Non-Exempt Employees under the 2005 Plan (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.4
to Crocs, Inc.'s Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed on August 15, 2005 (File No. 333-127526)).
10.6* Form of Stock Purchase Agreement under the 2005 Plan (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to Crocs, Inc.'s Registration
Statement on Form S-1, filed on August 15, 2005 (File No. 333-127526)).
10.7* Form of Stock Option Agreement under the 2005 Plan (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to Crocs, Inc.'s Registration
Statement on Form S-1, filed on August 15, 2005 (File No. 333-127526)).
10.8* Form of Restricted Stock Award Grant Notice under the 2005 Plan (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to Crocs, Inc.'s
Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed on August 15, 2005 (File No. 333-127526)).
10.9* Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement under the 2005 Plan (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to Crocs, Inc.'s
Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed on August 15, 2005 (File No. 333-127526)).
10.10* Form of Non-Statutory Stock Option Agreement under the 2005 Plan (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to Crocs, Inc.'s
Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed on August 15, 2005 (File No. 333-127526)).
10.11 Stock Purchase Agreement among 4246519 Canada, Inc., Finproject Group S.p.A., 3107019 Canada, Inc. and Daniel J. Hunter dated as of
June 29, 2004 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to Crocs, Inc.'s Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed on August 15,
2005 (File No. 333-127526)).
10.12 Asset Purchase and Property Transfer Agreement between Hana Phylon Tech S.A. de C.V. and Crocs Mexico, S.de.R.L de C.V. dated as of
April 23, 2005 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to Crocs, Inc.'s Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed on August 15,
2005 (File No. 333-127526)).
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Exhibit
Number

Description

10.13. Asset Purchase and Property Transfer Agreement between St. Vrain Trading, LLC, d/b/a Crocs Hawaii, LLC and the Registrant dated
May 19, 2005 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to Crocs, Inc.'s Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed on August 15,
2005 (File No. 333-127526)).
10.14*† Board of Directors Compensation Plan dated June 26, 2008.
†
10.15*† Amended and Restated 2007 Senior Executive Deferred Compensation Plan and Non-Qualified Plan Trust
†
10.16 Distribution Agreement between Crocodile Distribution and the Registrant dated as of April 1, 2005 (Incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.19 to Crocs, Inc.'s Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed on August 15, 2005 (File No. 333-127526)).
10.17 Kiosk Agreement between Crocodile Kiosk, LLC and the Registrant dated as of July 1, 2005 (Incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.20 to Crocs, Inc.'s Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed on August 15, 2005 (File No. 333-127526)).
10.18† Amended and Restated Agreement for Supply between Finproject S.p.A. and the Registrant dated as of July 26, 2005 (Incorporated herein
by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to Crocs, Inc.'s Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed on August 15, 2005 (File No. 333-127526)).
10.21* Nonstatutory Stock Option Agreement between the Registrant and Raymond D. Croghan dated September 1, 2004 (Incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 99.9 to Crocs, Inc.'s Registration Statement on Form S-8, filed on March 9, 2006 (File No. 333-132312)).
10.23* Nonstatutory Stock Option Agreement between the Registrant and Ronald R. Snyder dated September 1, 2004 (Incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 99.12 to Crocs, Inc.'s Registration Statement on Form S-8, filed on March 9, 2006 (File No. 333-132312).
10.26 Membership Interest Purchase Agreement among Crocs, Inc. and the Members of Jibbitz, LLC, dated September 13, 2006 (File No. 00051754)).
10.27* 2008 Cash Incentive Plan (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Crocs, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on July 12,
2007 (File No. 000-51754)).
10.28* 2007 Equity Incentive Plan (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Crocs, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on July 12,
2007 (File No. 000-51754)).
10.29* Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement under the 2007 Plan (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Crocs, Inc.'s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q, filed on November 14, 2007 (File No. 000-51754)).
10.30* Form of Non-Statutory Stock Option Agreement under the 2007 Plan (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Crocs, Inc.'s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on November 14, 2007 (File No. 000-51754)).
10.31* Form of Non-Statutory Stock Option Agreement for Non-Employee Directors under the 2007 Plan (Incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.3 to Crocs, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on November 14, 2007 (File No. 000-51754)).
10.32* Employment Agreement dated as of January 16, 2008 by and between Crocs, Inc. And Russell Hammer (Incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to Crocs, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on May 15, 2009 (File No. 000-51754)).
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Exhibit
Number

Description

10.33 Loan Agreement, dated as of May 8, 2007, by and between Crocs, Inc. and Union Bank of California, N.A. (Incorporated herein by reference
to Exhibit 10.2 to Crocs, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on May 15, 2009 (File No. 000-51754)).
10.34 Amendment No. 1 to Loan Agreement, dated as of November 21, 2007, by and between Crocs, Inc. and Union Bank of California, N.A.
(Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Crocs, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on May 15, 2009 (File No. 00051754)).
10.35 Amendment No. 2 to Loan Agreement, dated as of January 4, 2008, by and between Crocs, Inc. and Union Bank of California, N.A.
(Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to Crocs, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on May 15, 2009 (File No. 00051754)).
10.36 Amendment No. 3 to Loan Agreement, dated as of March 4, 2008, by and between Crocs, Inc. and Union Bank of California, N.A.
(Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to Crocs, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on May 12, 2008 (File No. 00051754)).
10.37 Amendment No. 4 to Loan Agreement, dated as of August 7, 2008 by and between Crocs, Inc. and Union Bank of California, N.A.
(Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Crocs, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on August 14, 2008 (File No. 00051754)).
10.38† Amendment No 5 to Loan Agreement, dated as of November 17, 2008 by and between Crocs, Inc. and Union Bank of California, N.A.
†
10.39† Amendment No 6 to Loan Agreement, dated as of December 1, 2008 by and between Crocs, Inc. and Union Bank of California, N.A.
†
10.40† Amendment No 7 to Loan Agreement, dated as of December 19, 2008 by and between Crocs, Inc. and Union Bank of California, N.A.
†
10.41† Amendment No 8 to Loan Agreement, dated as of January 27, 2009 by and between Crocs, Inc. and Union Bank of California, N.A.
†
10.42† Amendment No 9 to Loan Agreement, dated as of February 13, 2009 by and between Crocs, Inc. and Union Bank of California, N.A.
†
10.43* Employment Agreement dated February 9, 2009 by and between Crocs, Inc. and John McCarvel (Incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to Crocs, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on February 13, 2009 (File No. 000-51754)).
2 1 † † Subsidiaries of the Registrant.
2 3 † † Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP.
3 1 . 1 † † Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as adopted
pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.
3 1 . 2 † † Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as adopted
pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.
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Exhibit
Number

Description

3 2 † † Certification of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.
*

Compensatory plan or arrangement

†

The Registrant has been granted confidential treatment with respect to portions of these exhibits.

† †

Filed herewith.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed
on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, as of March 17, 2009.

CROCS, INC.
a Delaware Corporation
By: /s/ RONALD R. SNYDER
Name: Ronald R. Snyder
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below as of March 17, 2009 by the following
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities indicated.
Signature

Title

/s/ RONALD R. SNYDER

President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

Ronald R. Snyder
/s/ RUSSELL C. HAMMER
Russell C. Hammer

Senior Vice President of Finance,
Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

/s/ W. STEPHEN CANNON
W. Stephen Cannon

Director

/s/ RAYMOND D. CROGHAN
Raymond D. Croghan

Director

/s/ RONALD L. FRASCH
Ronald L. Frasch

Director

/s/ PETER A. JACOBI
Peter A. Jacobi

Director

/s/ RICHARD L. SHARP
Richard L. Sharp

Chairman of the Board

/s/ THOMAS J. SMACH
Thomas J. Smach

Director
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Crocs, Inc.
Niwot, Colorado
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Crocs, Inc. and subsidiaries (the "Company") as of December 31, 2008 and
2007, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' equity (deficit), and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2008. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Crocs, Inc. and subsidiaries as
of December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31,
2008, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
The accompanying consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2008 have been prepared assuming that the Company will
continue as a going concern. As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the maturity of the Company's Revolving Credit Facility
on April 2, 2009 and losses from operations raise substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern. Management's plans concerning
these matters are also described in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements. The consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments
that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its method of accounting for uncertain tax positions on
January 1, 2007 in accordance with the Financial Accounting Standards Board's Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes.
We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the Company's
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008, based on the criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework
issued
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated March 17, 2009 expressed an unqualified opinion on
the Company's internal control over financial reporting.
/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Denver, Colorado
March 17, 2009
F-1
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CROCS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share data)
December 31,
2008

2007

ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents

$

Restricted cash
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of
$5,262 and $3,795, respectively

51,665

$

36,335

—

300

35,305

152,919

143,205

248,391

Deferred tax assets, net

11,364

12,140

Income tax receivable

24,417

—

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

13,415

17,865

279,371
95,892
2,922
—
40,892
21,231
15,691

467,950
88,184
1,014
23,759
31,634
8,051
6,833

Inventories

Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Restricted cash
Goodwill
Intangible assets, net
Deferred tax assets, net
Other assets

Total Assets

$

455,999

$

627,425

$

35,137

$

82,979

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities

50,076

57,246

30

265

1,439

—

Income taxes payable

24,420

19,851

Notes payable and capital lease obligations

22,431

7,107

133,533
—
2,917
959
31,427

167,448
9
1,858
—
13,997

168,836

183,312

Deferred tax liabilities, net

Accrued restructuring charges

Total current liabilities
Long-term capital lease obligations, net of current portion
Deferred tax liabilities, net
Long term restructuring.
Other liabilities
Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies (Notes 6, 9 and 15)
Stockholders' equity:
Common shares, par value $0.001 per share; 250,000,000
authorized 83,543,501 issued and 83,019,501 shares issued
and outstanding in 2008, 82,722,426 issued and 82,198,426
issued and outstanding in 2007

84

83

Treasury Stock, 524,000 shares, at cost

(25,022)

(25,022)

Additional paid-in capital

232,037

211,936

Deferred compensation

(246)

(2,402)

Retained earnings

64,233

249,309

Accumulated other comprehensive income

16,077

10,209

287,163

444,113

Total stockholders' equity
Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity

$
See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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455,999

$

627,425
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CROCS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except share and per share data)
Year Ended December 31,
2008

Revenues
Cost of sales
Restructuring charges

$

2007

2006

721,589 $
486,722
901

847,350 $
349,701
—

354,728
154,158
—

233,966
368,800
7,664
23,867
21,917

497,649
259,882
—
—
—

200,570
105,224
—
—
—

Income (loss) from operations
Interest expense
Other (income)—net

(188,282)
1,793
(565)

237,767
438
(2,997)

95,346
567
(1,847)

Income (loss) before income taxes
Income tax expense (benefit)

(189,510)
(4,434)

240,326
72,098

96,626
32,209

Net income (loss)
Dividends on redeemable convertible preferred
shares

(185,076)
—

168,228
—

64,417
33

$

(185,076) $

168,228

$

64,384

$

(2.24) $

2.08

$

0.87

$

(2.24) $

2.00

$

0.81

Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Restructuring charges
Goodwill impairment charges
Asset impairment charges

Net income (loss) attributable to common
stockholders

Income (loss) per common share:
Basic
Diluted

Weighted average common shares:
Basic
Diluted

82,767,540

80,759,077

74,598,400

82,767,540

84,194,883

80,170,512

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CROCS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY (DEFICIT)
(In Thousands)
Accummulated
Treasury Stock Additional
Other
Total StockPaid in
Deferred
Retained Comprehensive Holders' Comprehensive
Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Compensation Earnings
Income
Equity
Income (Loss)
34,898 $ 3 4
— $
— $ 13,959
$ (12,364) $ 16,697
$
588 $
18,914
Common Stock

BALANCE—December 31, 2005
Issuance of common stock in connection with initial
public offering, net of offering costs
Conversion of redeemable convertible preferred shares
to common shares
Adjustment for adoption of SFAS 123R (note 5)
Amortization of stock compensation
Exercises of stock options and vesting of share-based
awards
Forfeitures
Excess tax benefit on share-based compensation
Accrued preferred dividend
Net income
Foreign currency translation

9,900

10

—

—

94,445

—

—

—

94,455

31,726
—
—

32
—
—

—
—
—

—
—
—

7,268
(1,442)
6,233

—
1,442
4,022

—
—
—

—
—
—

7,300
—
10,255

2,158
—
—
—
—
—

3
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—
—

2,281
(1,198)
10,248
—
—
—

—
1,198
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—
418

2,284
—
10,248
(33)
64,417
418

79
—
—

— $
—
—

— $ 131,794
—
18,578
—
43,216

—
—
—
(33)
64,417
—

Total comprehensive income
BALANCE—December 31, 2006
Amortization of stock compensation
Excess tax benefit stock based compensation
Exercises of stock options and vesting of share-based
awards
Forfeitures
Treasury Stock
Net income
Foreign currency translation

78,682
—
—

$

4,040
—
(524)
—
—

4
—
—
—
—

—
—
524
—
—

—
—
(25,022)
—
—

$

18,543
(195)
—
—
—

(5,702) $ 81,081
3,105
—
—
—
—
195
—
—
—

$

—
—
—
168,228
—

1,006 $
—
—

208,258
21,683
43,216

—
—
—
—
9,203

18,547
—
(25,022)
168,228
9,203

Total comprehensive income
BALANCE—December 31, 2007
Amortization of stock compensation
Excess tax benefit stock based compensation
Exercises of stock options and vesting of share-based
awards
Forfeitures
Treasury Stock
Net loss
Foreign currency translation

82,198
—
—

$

821
—
—
—
—

83
—
—
1
—
—
—
—

524 $(25,022) $ 211,936
—
—
16,951
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—

$

3,281
(131)
—
—
—

(2,402) $ 249,309
1,388
—
—
—
637
131
—
—
—

$

—
—
—
(185,076)
—

10,209 $
—
—

444,113
18,339
—

—
—
—
—
5,868

3,919
—
—
(185,076)
5,868

16,077 $

287,163

Total comprehensive loss
BALANCE—December 31, 2008

83,019

$

84

524 $(25,022) $ 232,037
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$

(246) $ 64,233

$

$

64,417
418

$

64,835

$

168,228
9,203

$

177,431

$

(185,076)
5,868

$

(179,208)
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CROCS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)
Year Ended December 31,
2008

2007

2006

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net (loss) income
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to net cash provided by
operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Loss on disposal of fixed assets

$

(185,076)

37,450

$

168,228

$

64,417

20,949

8,053

633

199

137

Unrealized loss (gain) on foreign exchange rates

21,570

(8,583)

—

Deferred income taxes

(5,429)

(14,866)

Goodwill impairment

23,837

—

—

Asset impairment

21,927

—

—

Inventory write-down charges

76,258

1,829

588

Loss on purchase commitments

4,200

—

—

Bad debt expense

3,153

4,671

1,719

Share based compensation

(2,037)

18,976

21,683

10,255

—

(43,216)

(10,248)

111,318

(83,948)

(45,702)

Inventories

18,239

(153,419)

(55,548)

Prepaid expenses and other assets

(4,342)

(10,912)

(13,049)

(60,168)

27,149

19,959

13,951

79,174

33,799

(23,634)

—

—

8,938

12,343

Excess tax benefit on share-based compensation
Changes in operating assets and liabilities—net of effect of acquired
businesses:
Accounts receivable

Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Income taxes receivable
Cash provided by operating activities

72,863

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of short-term investments

—

(64,880)

(52,600)

Sales of short-term investments

—

87,205

30,275

(57,379)

(23,828)

Cash paid for purchases of property and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment
Cash paid for intangible assets

(55,559)
2,383
(10,659)

—
(16,525)

155
(5,216)

Restricted cash

(1,624)

1,753

(2,890)

Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired

(7,977)

(12,391)

(15,399)

(73,436)

(62,217)

(69,503)

7,000

1,808

(541)

(14,072)

Cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from note payable, net
Repayment of note payable and capital lease obligations

76,024
(60,707)

Proceeds from initial public offering, net of offering costs

—

Payment of preferred dividends

—

—

( 1 7 1)

Excess tax benefit on share-based compensation

—

43,216

10,248

3,283

18,547

2,284

—

(25,022)

—

Exercise of stock options
Purchase of Treasury Stock
Cash provided by financing activities

18,600

—

43,200

94,454

94,551

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash

(2,697)

3,758

478

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents—beginning of year

15,330
36,335

(6,321)
42,656

37,869
4,787

Cash and cash equivalents—end of year

$

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information—cash paid during the
year for:
Interest

51,665

$

36,335

$

42,656

1,581

$

44

$

353

16,367

$

19,991

$

24,789

Fair value of assets acquired

—

$

7,074

$

21,566

Cash paid

—

Liabilities assumed

—

Income taxes
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash, investing, and financing activities:
In conjunction with the acquisitions made, liabilities were assumed as
follows:

5,093
$

1,981

15,399
$

6,167

Accrued acquisitions purchase price

—

3,429

Assets acquired under capitalized leases

—

—

$

282

11,165

$

1,011

Accrued purchases of property and equipment and intangibles

$

12,596

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CROCS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. FORMATION AND BUSINESS OF THE COMPANY
Crocs, Inc. and its subsidiaries (collectively, the "Company") are engaged in the design, development, and manufacturing of consumer products
from specialty resins. The Company was organized as a limited liability company in Colorado in 1999 under the name of Western Brands, LLC. In
January 2005, the Company changed its name to Crocs, Inc. and converted to a Colorado corporation. The Company reincorporated in Delaware in
June 2005.

The Company's wholly owned subsidiary, Crocs Canada, Inc. ("Crocs Canada"), formerly known as Foam Creations, Inc., and Finproject
N.A. Inc., located in Quebec, Canada, designed, developed, and manufactured consumer products from specialty resins since 1995. In 2000, Crocs
Canada completed the formulation of, and began manufacturing, a footwear model made from the proprietary closed-cell resin the Company currently
uses in its footwear product line, which it refers to as Croslite. In 2002, the Company established a business relationship with Crocs Canada to
distribute footwear in the U.S. In October 2002, the Company modified and improved the design of the footwear and began marketing and distributing
it under the Crocs brand in the U.S. In June 2004, Crocs, Inc. acquired Crocs Canada, including its manufacturing operations, product lines and rights
to the trade secrets for Croslite.

In October 2006, the Company acquired Fury Hockey Inc., formerly 55 Hockey Products Inc. ("Fury"), and EXO Italia ("EXO") as part of the
Company's effort to expand into new markets and expand the Company's internal design capabilities. Fury produced and distributed hockey, soccer and
lacrosse equipment for adults and children. In June 2008, the Company decided to liquidate Fury after efforts to sell the entity were unsuccessful. EXO,
headquartered in Padova, Italy, designs and develops EVA (Ethylene Vinyl Acetate) based finished products, primarily for the footwear industry. Since
1993, EXO has worked with several leading branded consumer companies to produce high quality EVA based footwear for the global marketplace.
In December 2006, the Company acquired Jibbitz, LLC ("Jibbitz"), a unique accessory brand with colorful snap-on charms specifically suited for
Crocs shoes. Today, over 1,800 Jibbitz designs are available to consumers for personalizing and customizing their Crocs footwear.
In January 2007, the Company acquired substantially all of the assets of Ocean Minded, LLC ("Ocean Minded"). Ocean Minded is a designer and
manufacturer of high quality leather and EVA based sandals primarily for the beach, adventure and action sports markets. Ocean Minded utilizes
recycled and recyclable materials whenever possible and is well known in the action sports industry as a leading advocate for environmental awareness
and responsibility.
In July 2007, the Company acquired all of the assets of Bite, LLC ("Bite"), an adventure driven designer and manufacturer of comfortable and
supportive performance shoes and sports sandals sold worldwide in five categories, including, golf, adventure, healthy lifestyle, travel and water sports.
In 2008, the Company decided to discontinue the Bite line.
In April 2008, the Company acquired substantially all of the assets of Tidal Trade, Inc. ("Tidal Trade"), the Company's third party distributor in
South Africa. As part of the acquisition, the Company repurchased inventory previously sold to Tidal Trade.
In April 2008, the Company acquired substantially all of the assets of Tagger International B.V. ("Tagger"), a private limited liability company
incorporated under the laws of the Netherlands that manufactures messenger bags. Tagger was partially operated by the Managing Director of Crocs
Europe B.V. The Company acquired all of the assets of Tagger.
F-6
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CROCS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
1. FORMATION AND BUSINESS OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
Going Concern
From its inception through the year ended December 31, 2007, the Company experienced rapid revenue growth and had difficulty meeting demand
for its footwear products. During this period, the Company significantly increased production capacity, warehouse space and inventory in an effort to
meet demand. This pattern changed in 2008. During the three months ended March 31, 2008 revenue growth moderated and during the three months
ended June 30, 2008 revenues declined compared to 2007. This trend continued and accelerated during the remainder of 2008. The Company's total
revenues declined during the year ended December 31, 2008 on a 24.7% decline in the total number of footwear units sold compared to the previous
year, which was attributable in large part to deteriorating global economic conditions, lessened demand for the Company's products and difficulty
marketing the Company's expanded product line. Due to the decline in revenues, the Company incurred various one-time cash and non-cash
restructuring and impairment costs as the Company took steps to right-size our production and distribution capacity. The Company incurred losses of
$185.1 million in the year ended December 31, 2008 and the Company expects to incur additional operating losses during the quarter ended March 31,
2009 as year-over-year revenue declines continue to occur and we may incur additional losses through 2009.

Continued declines in revenues could have a material adverse effect on the Company's operating results, cash flow and its ability to raise capital.
The Company cannot fully anticipate future conditions given the substantial uncertainties in the credit markets and the economy in general. The
Company may have unexpected costs and liabilities including costs related to further restructuring and right-sizing should that be necessary; revenue
and cash provided by operations may decline; economic conditions may continue to weaken; and competitive pressures may increase, resulting in
difficulty maintaining liquidity. Due to recent turmoil in the credit markets and the continued decline in the economy, the Company may not be able to
obtain additional financing on terms that are acceptable to the Company or at all.

At December 31, 2008, the Company had $51.6 million in cash and cash equivalents. The Company has $22.4 million in borrowings outstanding
under its Revolving Credit Facility which has no further available borrowings. On February 13, 2009, the Company entered into Amendment No. 9 to
the Revolving Credit Facility, extending the maturity date on this facility to April 2, 2009, at which time the Company will be required to pay all
amounts then outstanding. Prior to April 2, 2009, the Company is required to make five installment payments of $0.2 million each on dates agreed upon
by the Company and Union Bank of California, N.A.
The Company is currently in discussions to obtain an asset backed credit facility to replace the existing Revolving Credit Facility. The time period
required to procure a new asset backed credit facility may extend beyond the maturity date of its current Revolving Credit Facility requiring the
Company to seek an extension of that maturity date with its current lenders. The Company is also exploring other means of raising capital including
equity financing. There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to secure additional debt or equity financing or receive an extension of the
current Revolving Credit Facility by or before the date of maturity of the Revolving Credit Facility and, accordingly, the Company's liquidity and ability
to timely pay its obligations when due could be adversely affected.

Additionally, the Company is currently evaluating its operating plans for 2009 and considering certain restructuring and right-sizing activities to
address the potential for continued decreases in
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CROCS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
1. FORMATION AND BUSINESS OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

revenues. The Company's ability to continue as a going concern is dependent upon achieving a cost structure which supports the levels of revenues the
Company is able to achieve. The ability of the Company to return to profitability is dependent on the timely completion of these activities and there can
be no assurance that any actions taken by the Company will result in a return to profitability.
The accompanying consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2008 were prepared under the assumption that the Company
will continue to operate as a going concern, which contemplates the realization of assets and the liquidation of liabilities in the ordinary course of
business. As discussed in the previous paragraphs, the Company faces various uncertainties that raise substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a
going concern. These financial statements do not include any adjustments that may result from the outcome of these uncertainties.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Consolidation —The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Crocs, Inc. and all of its subsidiaries. All of theCompany's
subsidiaries are 100% operated except for Crocs India Private Limited. The minority interest in this subsidiary is immaterial and are included in Other
(income) expenses—net onthe Company's consolidated statements of income and in Other liabilities on the Company's consolidated balance sheets. All
intercompany transactions and balances are eliminated in consolidation. The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and
all entities that are wholly-operated by the Company, variable interest entities for which the Company is the primary beneficiary, and entities that are not
variable interest entities but are voting-controlled subsidiaries of the Company.

Management Estimates —The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America, ("GAAP"). These accounting principles require management of the Company to make certain estimates, judgments and
assumptions. Management believes that the estimates, judgments and assumptions made when accounting for items and matters such as, but not limited
to, the allowance for doubtful accounts, returns and discounts, impairment assessments and charges, recoverability of assets, including deferred tax
assets, uncertain tax positions, share-based compensation expense, fair value of acquired intangibles, assessment of lower of cost or market on
inventory, useful lives assigned to long-lived assets, depreciation and provisions for contingencies, are reasonable, based on information available at the
time they are made. These estimates, judgments and assumptions can affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities as of the date of the
consolidated financial statements, as well as the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the periods presented. Management also makes
estimates in our assessments of potential losses in relation to threatened or pending legal and tax matters. See Note 18—Legal Proceedings.Actual
results could materially differ from these estimates. For matters not related to income taxes, if a loss is considered probable and the amount can be
reasonably estimated, the Company recognizes an expense for the estimated loss. If there is the potential to recover a portion of the estimated loss from a
third party, the Company makes a separate assessment of recoverability and reduces the estimated loss if recovery is also deemed probable.
Effective January 1, 2007, for matters related to income taxes, the Company applies Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB")
Interpretation No. ("FIN") 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes ("FIN 48"). See Note 13—Income Taxes for further discussion.
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CROCS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Concentration of Risk —The Company's cash and cash equivalents are maintained in several different financial institutions in amounts that
typically exceed U.S. federally insured limits or in financial institutions in international jurisdictions where insurance is not provided. The Company has
not experienced any losses in such accounts and believes it is not exposed to significant credit risk.

The Company considers its concentration risk related to accounts receivable to be mitigated by the Company's credit policy, the insignificance of
outstanding balances owed by each individual customer at any point in time and the geographic dispersion of these customers.
The Company relies on both internal and external manufacturers for its products. Establishing a replacement source for the Company's product
offerings could require significant additional time and expense.

Variable Interest Entities—According to Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") Interpretation ("FIN") No. 46R, Consolidation of
Variable Interest Entities ("FIN 46R"), Variable Interest Entities ("VIEs") lack one or more of the characteristics of a voting interest entity as described
above. FIN 46R provides that a controlling financial interest in an entity is present when an entity has one or more variable interests that are expected to
absorb a majority of the entity's expected losses, receive a majority of the entity's residual returns, or both. The entity that is determined to be the primary
beneficiary holds the controlling financial interest and is required to consolidate the VIE. Accordingly, the Company consolidates VIEs in which the
Company is deemed to be the primary beneficiary.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments—The carrying value of financial instruments, including cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts
payable and accrued liabilities, approximate fair value due to their short maturities. Based on borrowing rates currently available to the Company, with
similar terms, the carrying values of the capital lease obligations and the line of credit approximate their fair values.

Cash and Cash Equivalents —Cash and cash equivalents represent cash and short-term, highly liquid investments with maturities of threemonths
or less at date of purchase. The Company considers receivables from credit card companies to be cash equivalents, if received within five days. The
carrying amounts reflected in the consolidated balance sheet for cash and cash equivalents approximate fair value due to the short maturities.

Restricted Cash —Restricted cash represents cash commitments related to building and lease deposits. The classification of restricted cash on the
consolidated balance sheet as current or noncurrent is dependent on the duration of the restriction and the purpose for which the restriction exists.

Accounts Receivable—Accounts receivable represent amounts due from customers. Accounts receivable are recorded at invoiced amounts, net of

reserves and allowances, are not collateralized and do not bear interest. The Company uses its best estimate to determine the required allowance for
doubtful accounts based on a variety of factors, including the length of time receivables are past due, economic trends and conditions affecting our
customer base, significant one-time events and historical write-off experience. Specific provisions are recorded for individual receivables when we
become aware of a customer's inability to meet its financial obligations.

Inventories—Raw materials and supplies are valued at the lower of cost, replacement cost, or net realizable value. Work in process and finished
goods are valued at the lower of cost or net realizable
F-9
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CROCS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

value. Cost is determined on the first in, first out basis. The cost of work in process and finished goods consists of the cost of raw materials and an
applicable share of the cost of labor and manufacturing overhead. See Note 3—Inventories for a discussion of inventory write-down charges recorded
in 2008.

Property and Equipment —Depreciation of machinery and equipment is computed using the straight-line method based on estimated useful lives
ranging from three to five years. Leasehold improvements are amortized on the straight-line basis over their estimated economic useful lives or the lease
term, whichever is shorter. See Note 4—Property and Equipment for further discussion.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets —In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 144,Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets , ("SFAS 144"), the Company estimates the future undiscounted cash flows to be derived from an asset
to assess whether or not a potential impairment exists when events or circumstances indicate the carrying value of a long-lived asset, including property
and equipment and finite-lived intangible assets, may be impaired. If the carrying value exceeds the estimate of future undiscounted cash flows, the
Company calculates the impairment as the excess of the carrying value of the asset over the estimate of its fair value. See Note 4—Property and
Equipment and Note 5—Goodwill and Intangibles for impairment chargesrecorded in 2008. There were no impairments recorded during 2007 or 2006.
Intangible Assets Finite-Lived —SFAS 142, requires that intangible assets with finite lives be amortized over their estimated useful lives and

reviewed for impairment in accordance with SFAS 144. The Company is currently amortizing its acquired intangible assets with finite lives over
periods ranging from five to ten years. Intangible assets are comprised of capitalized software, core technology, customer relationships, a noncompetition agreement entered into in connection with the acquisition of assets in Mexico, and capitalized costs related to pending patents that the
Company is pursuing related to its technology. Patents are amortized on approval of the patent registration application over their estimated useful lives.
See Note 5—Goodwilland Intangible Assets for discussion of impairment charges recorded in 2008. There was no impairment of finite-lived intangible
assets at December 31, 2007.
Capitalized Software —The Company capitalizes certain internal and external software acquisition and development costs that benefit future years
in accordance with Standards of Practice ("SOPs") SOP 98-1, Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal
Use. Internal-use capitalized software costs are amortized over their expected useful life, which is generally seven years. The Company capitalizes
certain costs associated with software such as costs of employees devoting time to the projects and external direct costs for materials and services. Costs
associated with internally developed software to be used internally are expensed until the point at which the project has reached the application
development stage. Subsequent additions, modifications or upgrades to internal-use software are capitalized only to the extent that they allow the
software to perform a task it previously did not perform. Software maintenance and training costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
The determination of when the software is in the application development stage and the ongoing assessment of the recoverability of capitalized computer
software development costs requires considerable judgment by management with respect to certain factors, including but not limited to, estimated
economic life and changes in software and hardware technology. See Note 5—Goodwill and Intangibles Assets for further discussion.
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CROCS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Goodwill —In accordance with SFAS 142,
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets , ("SFAS 142"), goodwill represents the excess purchase price
paid over the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in acquisitions. The Company assesses goodwill for impairment annually on the last
day of the fourth quarter, or more frequently if events and circumstances indicate impairment may have occurred. If the carrying value of goodwill
exceeds its implied fair value, the Company records an impairment loss equal to the difference. See Note 5-Goodwill and Intangible Assets for
discussion of impairment charges recorded in 2008. There was no impairment of goodwill at December 31, 2007.

Earnings per Share —Basic earnings (loss) per common share ("EPS") is computed by dividing the net income available to common stockholders
by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted EPS reflects the potential dilution from securities that could
share in the earnings of the Company. Anti-dilutive securities are excluded from diluted EPS.
On May 2, 2007, the Board of Directors of the Company declared a two-for-one stock split of the Company's common shares, which was effected
in the form of a 100% common stock dividend distributed on June 14, 2007 to stockholders of record on May 31, 2007. All references to share and per
share amounts in the consolidated financial statements and in these notes to the consolidated financial statements have been retroactively restated to
reflect the two-for-one stock split.
Recognition of Revenues—Revenues are recognized when the customer takes title and assumes risk of loss, collection of related receivables is
reasonably assured, persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, and the sales price is fixed or determinable. Title passes on shipment or on receipt by
the customer depending on the country of the sale and the agreement with the customer. Allowances for estimated returns, allowances and discounts are
recognized as a reduction of the related revenue when it is recorded.

Shipping and Handling Costs —Shipping and handling costs are expensed as incurred and included in cost of sales. Freight billed to customers is
included in revenues.

Share-Based Compensation—The Company grants restricted stock and stock option grants to employees and non-employees with vesting
schedules of varying lengths. Typically, these grants range from immediate vesting to vesting periods of up to four years. Effective January 1, 2006, the
Company adopted SFAS No. 123R, Share-Based Payment ("SFAS 123R"), which establishes accounting guidelines for share-based awards
exchanged for employee services, using the prospective method for option grants and restricted stock issued prior to August 15, 2005, the date on
which the Company filed its initial Registration Statement on Form S-1, and the modified prospective method for option grants issued after August 15,
2005. The Company was required to adopt the prospective method for grants prior to August 15, 2005 as the Company had elected to value employee
grants using the minimum value method under SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Share-based Compensation ("SFAS 123"). For option grants and
restricted stock accounted for under the prospective method, the Company will continue to account for the grants under the intrinsic value-based method
prescribed by Accounting Principles Board Opinion ("APB") No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees ("APB 25"), and the related
interpretations in accounting for employee stock options. Therefore, the Company does not record any compensation expense for stock options granted
to employees prior to August 15, 2005 if the exercise price equaled the fair market value of the stock option on the date of grant, and the exercise price,
number of shares eligible for issuance under the options and vesting periods were fixed.
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CROCS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Compensation expense is recognized over the vesting term for employees and non-employees on a straight-line basis. Deferred compensation
represents the unvested portion of employee grants made prior to August 15, 2005 and is recorded as a reduction of equity. The fair value of employee
grants is fixed at date of grant, or the measurement date, if later, while grants to non-employees are remeasured to fair value at each reporting period
until vesting occurs. The related compensation expense is recognized over the vesting period. See Note 10-Equity for further discussion.

Advertising —Advertising costs are expensed as incurred and production costs are generally expensed when the advertising is first run.

Advertising expenses were $16.8 million, $5.5 million, and $1.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively and are
included in selling, general, and administrative expenses.

Research and Development—Research and development costs are expensed as incurred. Research and development expenses amounted to
$6.4 million, $5.3 million, and $1.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively, and are included in selling, general,
and administrative expenses.

Foreign Currency Translation and Foreign Currency Transactions—The U.S. dollar is the Company's reporting currency. Assets and
liabilities of foreign operations denominated in local currencies are translated at the rate of exchange at the balance sheet date. Revenues and expenses
are translated at the weighted average rate of exchange during the applicable period. Adjustments resulting from translating foreign functional currency
financial statements into U.S. dollars are included in the foreign currency translation adjustment, a component of accumulated other comprehensive
income in stockholders' equity. Gains and losses generated by transactions denominated in foreign currencies are recorded in selling, general and
administrative expense in the period in which they occur.

Net realized gains and losses on foreign currency transactions was a $3.9 million loss for the year ended December 31, 2008, a $1.5 million gain
for the year ended December 31, 2007 and a $747,000 loss for the year ended December 31, 2006. Net unrealized gains and losses on foreign currency
transactions was a $21.6 million loss for 2008, a $8.6 million gain for 2007 and immaterial for the year ended December 31, 2006.

Derivative Foreign Currency Contracts—The Company is exposed to global market risks, including the effect of changes in foreign currency
exchange rates. During the year ended December 31, 2007, the Company used derivatives to manage financial exposures that occur in the normal course
of business. The Company does not hold or issue derivatives for trading purposes. The Company formally documents all relationships between hedging
instruments and hedged items, as well as its risk-management objective and strategy for undertaking hedge transactions. This process includes linking
all derivatives to either specific assets and liabilities on the balance sheet, specific firm commitments or forecasted transactions. The Company has
entered into forward exchange contracts to hedge certain portions of future cash flows denominated in foreign currencies. These contracts were not
designated as hedges under SFAS No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities ("SFAS 133"). The futures contracts were
marked to market and gains and losses were recognized in earnings. The net realized gains and losses for these contracts were not material for the years
ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006. The Company has no unsettled derivative contracts as of December 31, 2008.
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CROCS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Income Taxes—The Company accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability method. This approach requires the recognition of deferred
tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences between the carrying amounts and the tax bases of other
assets and liabilities. The Company provides for income taxes at the current and future enacted tax rates and laws applicable in each taxing jurisdiction.
Prior to the Company's conversion to a C corporation on January 4, 2005, the Company was not a taxpaying entity for U.S. federal and state income tax
purposes.

Effective January 1, 2007, the Company adopted FIN 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes. FIN 48 requires the use of a two-step
approach for recognizing and measuring tax benefits taken or expected to be taken in a tax return and disclosures regarding uncertainties in income tax
positions. The adoption of FIN 48 did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated balance sheet, statement of operations or cash flows.
See Note 13—Income Taxes for further
details.

Reclassifications —The Company reclassified inventory write-down charges in the statement of cash flows from changes in inventories tononcash adjustments within operating activities. These write-down charges were previously included within changes in inventories because they were
immaterial. There was no change to operating cash flows as a result of this reclassification. The Company reclassified bad debt expense in the statement
of cash flows from changes in operating assets and liabilities to non-cash adjustments within operating activities. These charges were previously
included within changes in accounts receivable because they were immaterial. There was no change to the operating cash flows as a result of these
reclassifications.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements —In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157,
Fair Value Measurement ("SFAS 157"), which
defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and expands
disclosures about fair value measurements. The Company adopted SFAS 157 beginning January 1, 2008. The adoption of SFAS 157 did not have a
material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities ("SFAS 159").
SFAS 159 permits entities to choose to measure many financial instruments and certain other items at fair value. The Company adopted SFAS 159
beginning January 1, 2008. The adoption of SFAS 159 did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements.
In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141(R), Business Combinations ("SFAS 1411(R)"), which amends SFAS No. 141and provides
revised guidance for recognizing and measuring identifiable assets and goodwill acquired, liabilities assumed, and any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree. It also provides disclosure requirements to enable users of the financial statements to evaluate the nature and financial effects of the business
combination. SFAS 141(R) is effective for the fiscal year beginning January 1, 2009 and is to be applied prospectively. The Company is currently
evaluating the potential impact of adopting this statement on its consolidated financial statements.
In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, Non-controlling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements—an amendment of ARB
No. 51 ("SFAS 160"), which establishes accounting and reporting standards pertaining to ownership interests in subsidiaries held by parties other than
the parent, the amount of net income attributable to the parent and to the non-controlling interest, changes in a parent's ownership interest, and the
valuation of any retained non-controlling equity investment when a subsidiary is deconsolidated. SFAS 160 also establishes disclosure requirements
that
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clearly identify and distinguish between the interests of the parent and the interests of the non-controlling owners. SFAS 160 is effective for the
Company's fiscal year beginning January 1, 2009. The Company is currently evaluating the impact this new standard will have on its consolidated
financial statements, but does not expect that the adoption will have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial position or results of
operations.

In March 2008, the FASB issued FASB Statement No. 161, Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities ("SFAS 161"),
which is intended to improve financial reporting regarding derivative instruments and hedging activities by requiring enhanced disclosures to provide
transparency to these activities and their effects on an entity's financial position, financial performance and cash flows. The provisions of SFAS 161 are
effective for the Company's fiscal year beginning January 1, 2009. The Company is currently evaluating the impact this new standard will have on its
consolidated statements but does not expect that the adoption of SFAS 161 will have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.
In May 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 162, The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles ("SFAS 162"), which identifies the
sources of accounting principles and the framework for selecting principles used in the preparation of financial statements of nongovernmental entities
that are presented in conformity with GAAP. SFAS 162 emphasizes that an organization's management and not its auditors has the responsibility to
follow GAAP and categorizes sources of accounting principles that are generally accepted in descending order of authority. The Company will be
required to adopt SFAS 162 within 60 days following the Securities and Exchange Commission's ("SEC") approval of the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board amendments to AU Section 411, The Meaning of Present Fairly in Conformity With Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles . SFAS 162 will not impact the Company's consolidated financial statements.
In December, 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff Positions ("FSP") FIN 46(R)-8, Interests in Variable Interest Entities and FSP FAS 140-4,
Disclosures about Transfers of Financial Assets, which will increase disclosure requirements for public reporting companies for reporting periods that
end after December 15, 2008. This FSP amends SFAS 140, Disclosures about Transfers of Financial Assets, to require public entities to provide
additional disclosures about transfers of financial assets and variable interests in qualifying special-purpose entities. It also amends FIN 46(R) to require
public enterprises to provide additional disclosures about their involvement with variable interest entities. The Company adopted the requirements of
FSP FAS 140-4 and FSP FIN 46(R) beginning January 1, 2008. The adoption of FSP FAS 140-4 and FSP FIN 46(R) did not have a material impact
on the Company's consolidated financial statements.
3. INVENTORIES
Inventories by major classification are as follows (in thousands):
December 31,

Finished goods
Work-in-progress
Raw materials
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2008

2007

$126,078
184
16,943

$224,658
3,346
20,387

$143,205

$248,391
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In the year ended December 31, 2008, the Company recorded approximately $76.3 million of inventory write-down charges and an additional
$4.2 million in charges related to losses on future purchase commitments for inventory with a market value lower than cost, of which $2.1 million was
included as an accrued expense, as of December 31, 2008. These charges are reported in the cost of sales line item in the consolidated statement of
operations for the year ended December 31, 2008.

4. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Property and equipment includes the following (in thousands):
December 31,

Machinery and equipment
Leasehold improvements

Subtotal
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization

2008

2007

$108,552
32,771

$103,049
12,322

141,323

115,371

(45,431)

(27,187)

$ 95,892

$ 88,184

Depreciation expense of $30.7 million, $17.0 million and $6.2 million was recorded for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006,
respectively. As the Company translates the ending fixed assets and accumulated depreciation balances utilizing the balance sheet exchange rate and
records depreciation expense using the weighted average of exchange rates for the applicable period, a difference between the recorded depreciation
expense and the change in accumulated depreciation exists. Certain equipment held under capital leases in the amounts of $9,000 and $116,000 at
December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively, are classified as equipment and amortized using the straight-line method over the lease term. Amortization
of assets under capitalized leases is included in depreciation expense.

During the year ended December 31, 2008, the Company recognized an impairment charge of $20.9 million on fixed assets, primarily related to
equipment and shoe molds. Management evaluated the production capacity at Company-operated facilities compared with demand projections and
capacity requirements and made the decision to abandon certain manufacturing equipment that represented excess capacity. The impairment charge on
molds relates primarily to shoe styles that the Company either no longer intends to manufacture or to styles for which the Company has more molds on
hand than is necessary to meet projected demand. These charges are recorded in the impairment charges line item of the consolidated statement of
operations for the year ended December 31, 2008.

5. GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Goodwill

The Company's goodwill balance of $23.8 million as of December 31, 2007, was primarily related to the acquisitions of Ocean Minded and Bite in
2007, Jibbitz and Fury in 2006, and Crocs Canada in 2004.

The goodwill balance of Fury in the amount of $1.0 million was written off in the three months ended March 31, 2008 prior to its liquidation in
June 2008.
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During the three months ended September 30, 2008, the Company's stock price declined substantially, which represented a triggering event for
potential goodwill impairment. Accordingly, at September 30, 2008, the Company performed an interim goodwill impairment evaluation. Goodwill and
intangible assets with indefinite lives must be tested for impairment at least once a year or more frequently if management believes indicators of
impairment exist. Carrying values are compared with fair values, and when the carrying value exceeds the fair value, the carrying value of the impaired
asset is reduced to its fair value.
Management reviewed the results of the preliminary analysis and concluded that the entire $22.8 million balance of the Company's goodwill was
impaired at September 30, 2008. Management reviewed the results of the final analysis completed during the fourth quarter of 2008 and concluded that
the provisional impairment adjustment recorded at September 30, 2008 should not be revised and that the Company's goodwill was fully impaired as of
December 31, 2008, the Company's annual goodwill impairment evaluation date.
The following table summarizes the activity in the Company's goodwill account during the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 (in
thousands):
Balance at January 1, 2007
Bite acquisition
Ocean Minded acquisition
Jibbitz earn out
Foreign currency translation adjustment

$ 11,552
530
953
10,191
533
23,759
(23,867)
108

Balance at December 31, 2007
Less: Goodwill impairment charges
Impact of foreign currency translation

$

Balance at December 31, 2008

—

Intangible Assets
In June 2008, the Company decided to liquidate Fury after efforts to sell the entity were unsuccessful. As a result, the Company wrote off
$0.3 million related to the remaining customer relationships intangible asset and trademarks.

As a result of the Company's evaluation of indefinite lived intangible assets, the Jibbitz trade name, with a book value of approximately
$0.2 million, and patents the Company no longer intends to utilize, with a book value of approximately $0.6 million, were fully impaired.
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The following table summarizes the Company's identifiable intangible assets at December 31, 2008 and 2007 (in thousands):
2008
Gross
Carrying
Amount

2007
Net
Carrying
Amount

Gross
Carrying
Amount

694

$ 7,496

$ 4,344

Accumulated
Amortization

Accumulated
Amortization

Net
Carrying
Amount

Finite lived intangible assets:

Patents and trademarks

$ 8,190

201

$ 4,143

Customer relationships

6,075

3,685

2,390

5,437

2,437

3,000

Core technology

4,001

3,602

636

466

399

4,931

3,455

1,476

170

636

339

297

Capitalized software

35,309

4,872

30,437

24,177

1,612

22,565

Total finite lived assets
Indefinite lived intangible
assets:
Jibbitz trade name

54,211

13,319

40,892

39,525

8,044

31,481

—

—

—

153

—

153

$ 13,319 $ 40,892

$ 39,678

$ 8,044

$31,634

Non-competition agreement

Total

$ 54,211

$

$

Intangible assets that are determined to have finite lives are amortized over their useful lives on a straight-line basis for patents, core technology,
non-competition agreement and capitalized software. Customer relationships are amortized on a straight-line basis or an accelerated basis. Amortization
expense of intangible assets with finite lives, which is included in selling, general and administrative expense, was $5.6 million, $4.1 million and
$1.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. For amortizable intangible assets denominated in a foreign currency,
the Company translates the ending asset and accumulated amortization at the balance sheet rate and records amortization expense using the weighted
average rate of exchange for the applicable period. A difference between the recorded amortization expense and the change in accumulated amortization
exists. Below are the weighted average amortization period by major intangible asset class and the total weighted average amortization period for the
Company as of December 31, 2008.
Weighted Average
Amortization Period

Intangible Asset Class

10 years
7 years
7 years
5 years
7 years

Patents
Customer Relationships
Core Technology
Non-competition Agreement
Capitalized Software
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Estimated future annual amortization of intangible assets is as follows (in thousands):
Fiscal years ending December 31,

Amortization

2009
2010
2011
2012
2013
Thereafter

$ 7,014
6,898
6,592
6,337
5,937
8,114

Total

$ 40,892

6. ACQUISITIONS
On April 1, 2008, the Company acquired substantially all of the assets of Tidal Trade, Inc. ("Tidal Trade"), the Company's third party distributor in
South Africa, for $4.6 million. The Company recorded $1.4 million in customer relationships on the date of acquisition. As part of the acquisition, the
Company repurchased inventory previously sold to Tidal Trade and accordingly recognized a reduction of revenue of approximately $2.1 million.

On April 2, 2008, the Company acquired substantially all of the assets of Tagger, a private limited liability company incorporated under the laws of
the Netherlands that manufactures messenger bags. Tagger was partially operated by the Managing Director of Crocs Europe B.V. The Company
acquired all of the assets of Tagger for $2.0 million, of which approximately $90,000 was assigned to inventory and the remaining $1.9 million was
assigned to the value of the Tagger trademark on the date of acquisition.
On January 31, 2007, the Company acquired substantially all of the assets of Ocean Minded for $1.75 million in cash, plus a potential earn-out of
up to $3.75 million based on Ocean Minded achieving certain earnings targets over a three year period. The Company recorded $600,000 in customer
relationships and other identifiable intangible assets and $1.0 million in goodwill on the date of acquisition.
On June 26, 2007, the Company amended the membership interest purchase agreement ("Purchase Agreement") with Jibbitz to amend the terms of
the potential earn-out consideration included in the Purchase Agreement. The amendment replaced the earnings targets for payment of the earn-out with
absolute rights to receive $3.5 million payable on the effective date of the amended Purchase Agreement and the remaining $6.5 million payable in equal
monthly installments of $0.5 million due on the first business day of each of the 13 months following the effective date of the amended Purchase
Agreement. The Company recorded the additional $9.8 million, net of discounting on future payments, to goodwill in the second quarter of 2007 as an
additional cost of the acquisition.
On July 27, 2007, the Company acquired all of the assets of Bite for $1.75 million in cash and the assumption of $1.3 million in debt, plus a
potential earnout of up to $1.75 million based on Bite achieving certain earnings targets over a three year period. The Company recorded $512,000 in
customer relationships and other identifiable intangible assets and $530,000 in goodwill on the date of acquisition for Bite.
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In October 2006, the Company acquired Fury, and EXO. In June 2008, the Company decided to liquidate Fury after efforts to sell the entity were
unsuccessful.
See Note 5—Goodwill and Intangible Assets for further discussion of impairment of goodwill and intangible assets originally recorded in
connection with the aforementioned acquisitions.

7. ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accrued expenses and other liabilities include the following (in thousands):
December 31,
2008

Accrued compensation and benefits
Fulfillment and freight and duties
Professional services
Sales/Use tax payable
Accrued loss on purchase commitments
Pforce inventory buyback
Accrued purchase price related to Acquisitions
Other

2007

$10,178 $22,416
7,832
4,065
4,340
5,625
3,577
2,573
2,102
—
5,260
—
150
3,429
16,637
19,138
$50,076

$57,246

8. RESTRUCTURING ACTIVITIES
During the year ended December 31, 2008, the Company announced its decision to restructure its operations. This decision included the closure of
its Canadian and Brazilian manufacturing facilities and the consolidation of Canadian distribution activities into other existing North American
operations. The Company has established reserves to cover future known obligations related to the closure of the Canadian and Brazilian manufacturing
operations and the move of the Canadian distribution operations.

Reserves are included in the line items accrued restructuring and long-term restructuring in the Company's consolidated balance sheets and are
recorded under the line items restructuring charges and cost of sales on the Company's consolidated statement of operations.
Reserves at December 31, 2008, were $2.4 million, consisting of $0.7 million of accrued termination benefits, $1.5 million of rent obligations for
leased facilities, net of expected sublease income, and $0.2 million of contract termination fees and termination benefits accounted for in accordance with
SFAS 112, Employers' Accounting for Post Employment Benefits—an amendment of FASB Statements No. 5 and 43,and FASB Statement No. 146,
Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities.
During 2008, the Company sold assets relating to the Company's Canadian manufacturing operations for a net gain of approximately $779,000.
The gain on disposal of assets is recorded in the selling, general and administrative expenses on the consolidated statement of operations for the year
ended December 31, 2008. There were no assets held for sale as of December 31, 2008 or December 31, 2007.
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The Company recorded $7.7 million and $0.8 million of expenses associated with the closure of the Canadian facilities and Brazilian facilities,
respectively, in the year ended December 31, 2008. The expenses consisted of the following:
(i) termination benefits of $3.8 million and $0.7 million for Canada and Brazil, respectively;

(ii) rent obligations for leased facilities, net of expected sublease income of $1.8 million and $0.1 million for Canada and Brazil,
respectively; and
(iii) early termination costs for operating leases, cancellation of purchase obligations and freight and duty charges related to
transferring inventory and equipment to facilities in the United States and Mexico of $2.1 million, of which $0.9 million was recorded in
cost of sales.

The following table details the changes in the restructuring accruals during the year ended December 31, 2008 (in thousands):
Year Ended
December 31,
2007

Description

Termination benefits
Operating lease exit costs
Other restructuring costs(1)

(1)

Additions

Cash
Payments

Adjustments

Year Ended
December 31,
2008

$

—
—
—

$4,525
1,853
2,126

$ (3,849)
(365)
(1,892)

$

—
—
—

$
$

676
1,488
234

$

—

$8,504

(6,106)

$

—

$

2,398

Other restructuring costs include early termination costs for operating leases, cancellation of purchase obligations and freight and duty charges
related to transferring inventory and equipment to the other Company facilities.

9. NOTES PAYABLE AND CAPITAL LEASE OBLIGATIONS
Notes payable and capital lease obligations consist of the following (in thousands):
December 31,
2008

2007

Revolving credit facility
Capital lease obligations
Long-term portion of capital lease obligations

$22,422
9
—

$7,000
116
(9)

Total notes payable and capital lease obligations

$22,431

$7,107

Notes Payable
On May 8, 2007, the Company entered into the Revolving Credit Facility, which initially consisted of a $15.0 million revolving loan facility.
Borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility are unsecured and initially bore an interest rate based, at the option of the Company, on (i) a base rate
defined as the higher of the Fed Funds rate less 0.50%, or the rate of interest most recently announced by the lender, or (ii) the Libor rate plus 0.875%.
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On November 21, 2007, the Company amended the Revolving Credit Facility, increasing the available borrowing amount to $25.0 million. Under
the amended Revolving Credit Facility, the Company was required to satisfy specified financial covenants, such as a minimum level of consolidated
EBITDA, minimum net worth requirement and a minimum adjusted quick ratio.
On January 4, 2008, the Company entered into a second amendment of the Revolving Credit Facility to increase the borrowing amount to
$50.0 million. No financing fees were incurred as part of the amendment. In addition, terms of specified financial covenants were modified.
On March 6, 2008, the Company entered into a third amendment of the Revolving Credit Facility to increase the borrowing amount to
$60.0 million. No financing fees were incurred as part of the amendment.
As of June 30, 2008, the Company was not in compliance with the financial covenants of the Revolving Credit Facility related to the minimum
quarterly EBITDA test. The Company obtained a waiver of such covenants, effective June 30, 2008, and was required to pay a fee to Union Bank in the
amount of $40,000. The fee addressed charges associated with the covenant violation and those necessary to amend the then current agreement.
On August 7, 2008, the Company entered into a fourth amendment of the Revolving Credit Facility to decrease the borrowing amount to
$40.0 million. As part of this amendment, the borrowing amount further decreased to $30.0 million as of October 1, 2008, and the maturity date was
extended to December 31, 2008. Borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility were unsecured and bore an interest rate based, at the option of the
Company, on (i) a base rate defined as the Bank's LIBOR rate plus 3.0%, or (ii) 1.0% in excess of the Reference Rate. In addition, terms of specified
financial covenants were modified.
On November 17, 2008, the Company entered into a fifth amendment of the Revolving Credit Facility. The amendment removed all financial
covenants in the Revolving Credit Facility as of September 30, 2008. In addition, the amendment limited the available borrowings to $19.8 million plus
an outstanding $2.6 million letter of credit, subject to the total outstanding amount not being in excess of the "borrowing base," defined as the sum of
70% of the Company's U.S. receivables plus 40% of the Company's U.S. inventories. If at any time the amount outstanding is in excess of the
borrowing base, the Company must pay down the loan to the borrowing base. Any amounts repaid on the Revolving Credit Facility cannot be
borrowed again. The amendment also required that the Company pay a fee of $112,000 to Union Bank. On December 1, 2008, the Company entered
into a sixth amendment of the Revolving Credit Facility. The sixth amendment modified the Revolving Credit Facility by reducing the committed loan
amount to $22.4 million, eliminating loan advances and requiring that all principal and interest be repaid no later than December 31, 2008.
On December 19, 2008 and January 27, 2009, the Company entered into the seventh and eighth amendments, respectively, of the Revolving Credit
Facility. The seventh amendment modifies the Revolving Credit Facility by extending the maturity date to February 16, 2009. The seventh amendment,
also limited to borrowings of $22.4 million, modified the interest rate on the loan to 9% above the bank's reference rate and required the Company to
perform certain non-financial covenants and pay certain fees. The Bank's Reference rate as of December 31, 2008 was 3.25%, which generated a total
modified interest rate of 12.25%. This amendment does not allow for new borrowings. The eighth amendment did not amend any material terms.
F-21

Table of Contents

CROCS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
9. NOTES PAYABLE AND CAPITAL LEASE OBLIGATIONS (Continued)
In connection with the seventh amendment, the Company entered into an Intellectual Property Security Agreement ("the IP Security Agreement")
in favor of the bank. Pursuant to the IP Security Agreement, the Company pledged to the bank substantially all of the Company's intellectual property.
The IP Security Agreement specifies that the collateral includes all after-acquired assets, damage claims, license fees, royalties and all proceeds and
products generated from these assets.

On February 13, 2009, the Company entered into Amendment No. 9 to the Loan Agreement, extending the maturity date on this facility to April 2,
2009, at which time the Company will be required to pay all amounts then outstanding. Until April 2, 2009, the Company is required to make five
installment payments of $0.2 million each on dates agreed upon by the Company and Union Bank of California, N.A. The Company is currently
exploring alternatives for a new borrowing arrangement or an extension of the existing credit facility and may seek other sources of capital for ongoing
needs. There can be no assurance that any such lending arrangement of capital will be available on terms acceptable to the Company or at all.
10. EQUITY
On November 1, 2007, the Company's board of directors approved an authorization to repurchase up to one million shares of its common stock.
On April 14, 2008 , the board of directors also approved an additional authorization to repurchase an additional 5,000,000 shares of our common stock.
Share repurchases under these authorizations may be made in the open market or in privately negotiated transactions. The timing and actual number of
shares repurchased will depend on a variety of factors including price, corporate and regulatory requirements and other market conditions. The
repurchase authorizations do not have an expiration date and do not obligate the Company to acquire any particular amount of shares of its common
stock. The repurchase authorizations may be modified, suspended or discontinued at any time. On November 7, 2007, the Company repurchased
approximately 524,000 shares for a total of approximately $25.0 million.

Share-Based Compensation
Under the modified prospective method, compensation expense recognized in the year ended December 31, 2008, includes: (i) compensation
expense of all share-based payments granted after August 15, 2005 but not yet vested as of January 1, 2006, based on the grant-date fair value estimated
in accordance with the provisions of SFAS 123R and (ii) compensation expense for all share-based payments granted subsequent to January 1, 2006,
based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of SFAS 123R. Results for prior periods have not been retrospectively
adjusted. The Company records compensation expense related to non-employees under the provisions of SFAS 123R and Emerging Issues Task Force
EITF 96-18, Accounting for Equity Instruments that are Issued to Other than Employees for Acquiring, or in conjunction with Selling, Goods or
Services ("EITF 96-18"), and recognizes compensation expense over the vesting periods of such awards. Total pre-tax share-based compensation
expense recognized was $19.0, $21.7 million, and $10.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006. Due to our loss position in
the year ended December 31, 2008, the Company did not recognize any associated tax benefits. Associated tax benefits in the years ended December 31,
2007 and 2006 were approximately $6.4 million and $3.8 million, respectively. Capitalization of the stock based compensation into inventory and
intangibles as part of the overhead allocation was $150,000 and $49,000, respectively, for 2008 and $ 3.3 million and $160,000, respectively, for 2007.
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SFAS 123R also required the Company to change the classification of any excess tax benefits realized on the exercise of stock options or issuance
of restricted stock unit awards in excess of that which is associated with the expense recognized for financial reporting purposes in its consolidated
statement of cash flows. These amounts are presented as a financing cash inflow rather than as a reduction of income taxes paid in the consolidated
statement of cash flows.
The Company has computed the fair value of options granted using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. In order to calculate the fair value of
the options, certain assumptions are made regarding components of the model, including risk-free interest rate, volatility, expected dividend yield rate,
and expected option term. Changes to the assumptions could cause significant adjustments to the valuation. For options granted before August 15,
2005, expected volatility was not considered for employee grants as the Company was a non-public entity at the grant date of these options. For stock
option grants issued after the filing of the Company's initial Registration Statement on Form S-1 on August 15, 2005, the minimum value method is no
longer used and the Company used a volatility rate of 50% and began to include estimated forfeiture rates. The Company estimated the volatility of its
common stock at the date of grant based on the historical volatility of the underlying shares of common stock as well as the historical volatility of
comparable companies. The Company factored in historical forfeiture rates, expected future retention rates, and vesting periods of the options to
determine the average expected term. The risk-free interest rate for periods within the contractual life of the options is based on the U.S. Treasury yield
curve in effect at the time of each grant. Accordingly, the Company has computed the fair values of all options granted during the years ended
December 31, 2008, 2007 and in 2006 using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and the following weighted average assumptions:
Year Ended December 31,
2008

2007

2006

50% 50%
50%
—
—
—
2.81% 4.58% 4.71%
4.59
5.0
5.0

Expected volatility
Dividend yield
Risk-free interest rate
Expected life (in years)

Because the Company applied the minimum value method of valuing employee stock options prior to becoming a public company, as allowed by
SFAS 123, the Company is precluded from presenting pro forma historical statement of operations information under SFAS 123R.

Equity Incentive Plans
The Company adopted the 2005 Equity Incentive Plan (the "2005 Plan") on August 15, 2005. The Plan permits the grant of non-qualified stock
options, incentive stock options, and restricted stock to eligible employees, consultants and non-employee members of our Board of Directors. As of
December 31, 2008, approximately 5,546,617 options were outstanding under the 2005 Plan and no shares were available for future issuance under the
2005 Plan.
The Company adopted the 2007 Equity Incentive Plan (the "2007 Plan") on July 19, 2007. The Plan permits the grant of non-qualified stock
options, incentive stock options, restricted stock, restricted stock units, stock appreciation rights, performance units, common stock or any other stockbased award

F-23

Table of Contents

CROCS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
10. EQUITY (Continued)

to eligible employees, consultants and non-employee members of our Board of Directors. As of December 31, 2008, approximately 5,201,259 options
and awards were outstanding under the 2007 Plan and approximately 3,709,287 shares were available for future issuance under the 2007 Plan.

Stock options under both the 2005 Plan and the 2007 Plan generally vest ratably over four years with the first year vesting on a "cliff" basis
followed by monthly vesting for the remaining three years. Restricted stock awards generally vest ratably over three years.
Stock Option Activity

The following summarizes stock option transactions under the 2005 and 2007 Plans for the year ended December 31, 2008:

Options

Shares

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Life
(Years)

7.8

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value
(in
thousands)

Outstanding at December 31, 2007

8,292,497

$ 16.76

$ 176,911

Granted
Exercised
Forfeited or expired

4,069,900
644,063
1,909,458

11.16
5.21
19.68

Outstanding at December 31, 2008

9,808,876

$ 14.62

7.65

$

293

Exercisable at December 31, 2008

3,281,276 $ 14.02

7.49

$

266

Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 2008

7,713,559 $ 14.43

6.01

$

192

Options awarded under the 2005 Plan prior to September 30, 2006 are exercisable immediately on the date of grant with the exception of 467,248
shares granted to members of the Board of Directors. In order to preserve the vesting provisions of the immediately exercisable options, the options that
are exercised early are subject to a repurchase right by the Company at the lower of exercise price or fair market value of the underlying stock at the date
of repurchase. This repurchase right expires on vesting of the underlying option. Immediately exercisable stock options outstanding under the 2005 Plan
were 2,966,729 at December 31, 2007 of which 1,744,168 are fully vested and no longer subject to the repurchase right. Options awarded after
October 1, 2006 are exercisable as they vest. To date, no options have been exercised early.
The weighted average fair value of options granted during the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 and 2006 was approximately $4.90,
$15.83, and $6.49, respectively.
The aggregate intrinsic value of all options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 was $9.4 million, $113.7 million
and $15.2 million, respectively. Cash received from stock option exercises for fiscal year 2008 was $3.3 million with no income tax benefit due to the
Company's loss position, and cash received from stock option exercises for fiscal year 2007 was $18.5 million with an income tax benefit of
$43.2 million. The total grant date fair value of stock options vested during 2008, 2007, and 2006 was $22.5 million, $19.2 million and $8.5 million,
respectively.
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The outstanding options at December 31, 2008 had the following characteristics:
Options Outstanding

Exercise Prices

$0.51 - 1.69
$1.70 - 10.50
$10.51 - 14.98
$14.99 - 22.92
$22.93 - 47.88
$47.89 - 59.98

Number of
Shares

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Life
(Years)

Options Exercisable

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

2,128,893
3,373,324
932,642
1,283,635
1,811,448
278,934

7.15 $ 1.24
8.00
7.24
6.12
14.23
7.38
22.39
8.43
32.48
8.50
56.75

9,808,876

7.65

$ 14.62

Number
Exercisable

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

736,453
971,950
467,250
621,928
390,076
93,619

$

1.25
7.41
14.19
22.42
31.26
56.74

3,281,276

$

14.02

Fair Value
Determination

Black-Scholes
Black-Scholes
Black-Scholes
Black-Scholes
Black-Scholes
Black-Scholes

As of December 31, 2008, the Company issued unvested options to purchase 6.5 million shares of the Company's common stock with a weighted
average grant date fair value of $7.22. As of December 31, 2008, the Company had $40.1 million of total unrecognized share-based compensation
expense related to unvested options, net of expected forfeitures, which is expected to be amortized over the weighted average period of 2.8 years.
Non-vested Stock Awards
The following summarizes stock award transactions for the year ended December 31, 2008:

Non-vested

Weighted
Average
Grant Date
Fair Value

Shares

Outstanding at December 31, 2007
Granted
Vested
Forfeited or expired

87,558
1,062,454
(177,012)
(34,000)

$
$
$
$

2.96
4.11
0.51
10.77

Outstanding at December 31, 2008

939,000

$

3.87

At December 31, 2008, the Company had $2.4 million of total unrecognized share-based compensation expense related to non-vested stock
awards, net of expected forfeitures. The non-vested stock awards are expected to be amortized over the weighted average period of 2.7 years.
11. VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITIES
The Company established a relationship with Shanghai Shengyiguan Trade, Ltd Co ("ST") for the purpose of serving as a distributor of the
Company's products in the People's Republic of China ("PRC"). The Company has determined that ST is a variable interest entity for which it is the
primary beneficiary and there are no other non-controlling interests. The Company currently controls all business activities and absorbs substantially all
of the expected residual returns and substantially all of the expected losses of ST based on agreements with ST. The Company determined that it is the
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primary beneficiary of ST by virtue of its variable interest in the equity of ST. All voting rights have been assigned to the Company and there is a
transfer agreement between ST and the Company under which all of the equity, assets, and liabilities are to be transferred to the Company at the
Company's sole discretion, subject to certain conditions. Accordingly, the Company's consolidation of ST does not reflect a non-controlling interest.

The Company provided $4.0 million of financial support in 2008 for the funding of ST's operations. The consolidated financial statements include
$15.8 million in total assets as of December 31, 2008, primarily consisting of cash, inventory and receivables partially offset by $2.0 million in liabilities
as of December 31, 2008 primarily consisting of accounts payable and accrued expenses and excluding liabilities related to the support provided by the
Company. The amounts in 2007 were not significant.

12. ALLOWANCES
The changes in the Company's allowance for doubtful accounts and reserve for sales returns and allowances for the years ended December 31,
2008, 2007 and 2006, are as follows (in thousands):

Year ended December 31, 2006:
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Reserve for sales returns and allowances

Year ended December 31, 2007:
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Reserve for sales returns and allowances

Year ended December 31, 2008:
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Reserve for sales returns and allowances

Balance at
Beginning
of
Year

Charged to
costs and
expenses

$

566

$

1,719 $

595

$

1,690

$

562

$

3,266

$

1,014

$

2,814

$ 1,690

$

4,671

Deductions
and
write-offs

Balance at
End of Year

$

2,566

$

3,795

$ 2,814 $

7,168 $

3,991

$

5,991

$ 3,795

$

3,091

1,624

$

5,262

$ 5,991

$ 52,597
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Income Tax Provision
The expense (benefit) for income taxes consisted of the following (in thousands):
December 31,
2008

Current—U.S. federal
Current—U.S. state
Current—foreign

2007

2006

(9,162) $ 38,399 $20,196
206
3,646
1,009
9,951
44,919 13,041
995

86,964

34,246

7,276
723
(13,428)

(5,269)
(727)
(8,870)

(1,741)
(8)
(288)

Total deferred income taxes

(5,429)

(14,866)

(2,037)

Total income tax expense (benefit)

(4,434) $ 72,098

Total current income taxes

Deferred—U.S. federal
Deferred—U.S. state
Deferred—foreign

$32,209

Income (loss) before taxes is as follows (in thousands):
December 31,
2008

2007

2006

U.S.
Foreign

(124,502) $ 95,048 $52,429
(65,008) 145,278 44,197

Total

(189,510) $240,326

$96,626

Reconciliations of the statutory federal income tax rate to the Company's actual rates based on income or loss before income taxes are summarized
as follows:
December 31,
2008

Consolidated income before taxes
State income taxes net of federal benefit
Foreign tax rate differential
Permanent portion of equity compensation
Other
Change in valuation allowance

2007

2006

35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
1.4
0.8
1.1
(8.8) (6.7) (2.8)
—
0.7
—
.8
0.2
—
(26.1)
—
—
2.3% 30.0% 33.3%
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The Company's deferred income tax assets and liabilities are as follows (in thousands):
December 31,
2008

Current deferred tax assets: Accrued expenses
Inventory

$

Intangible assets
Other

2007

18,980
14,317

$

374

—

739

—

(25,330)

Valuation Allowance

$

Total current deferred tax assets

Non-current deferred tax assets: Accrued expenses
Stock compensation expense

Inventory

2,733
9,087

—

9,080

$ 11,820

6,143
7,203

158
2,439

—

496

1,119

506

13,844

1,349

Intangible assets

3,319

—

Property and equipment

1,211

—

—

—

12,586

6,436

Long-term accrued expenses

Net operating loss carryovers

Other
Future uncertain tax position offset

Valuation Allowance

$

Total non-current deferred tax assets

—

21,641

$ 11,384

—

Non-current deferred tax liabilities: Property and
equipment
Intangible assets
Other
Total non-current deferred tax liabilities

(23,784)

$

$

3,932

—
(1,073)

1,088
116

(1,073) $

5,136

At December 31, 2008 and 2007, U.S. income and foreign withholding taxes have not been provided on approximately $114.5 million and
$143.8 million, respectively, of unremitted earnings of subsidiaries operating outside of the U.S. These earnings are estimated to represent the excess of
the financial reporting over the tax basis in our investments in those subsidiaries. These earnings, which are considered to be indefinitely reinvested,
would become subject to U.S. income tax if they were remitted to the U.S. The amount of unrecognized deferred U.S. income tax liability on the
unremitted earnings has not been determined because the hypothetical calculation is not practicable.
The Company has deferred tax assets related to certain deductible temporary differences in various tax jurisdictions for which the Company has
recorded a valuation allowance of $40.5 million against these deferred tax assets because the Company believes that it is not more likely than not that the
Company will be able to realize these deferred tax assets.
The Company has recorded a foreign deferred tax asset of $4.3 million reflecting the benefit of $12.6 million in foreign net operating loss
carryforwards. Such deferred tax assets expire at various dates between 2013 and 2028. The Company believes it is not more likely than not that the
benefit from certain foreign net operating loss carryforwards will be realized. The Company has provided a
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valuation allowance of $3.3 million on the deferred tax assets relating to these foreign net operating loss carryforwards.

The Company has U.S.federal and state net operating loss carryforwards of $21.8 million and $2.0 million which will expire at various dates
between 2013 and 2028. The Company believes that it is not more likely than not that the benefit from certain U.S. federal and state net operating losses
will be realized. The Company has provided a valuation allowance of $5.3 million on the deferred tax assets relating to these federal and state net
operating loss carryforwards.

As a result of certain realization requirements under SFAS 123(R), the table of deferred tax assets and liabilities shown above does not include
certain deferred tax assets at December 31, 2008 that arose directly from tax deductions related to equity compensation in excess of compensation
recognized for financial reporting. Equity will be increased by $2.9 million if and when such deferred tax assets are ultimately realized. The Company
uses tax law ordering for purposed of determining when excess tax benefits have been realized.
A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows (in thousands):
2008

2007

Unrecognized tax benefit—January 1
Gross increases—tax positions in prior period
Gross decreases—tax positions in prior period
Gross increases—tax positions in current period
Settlements
Lapse of statute of limitations

$11,264 $
—
13,063
4,838
—
—
4,868
6,877
(985)
—
—
—

Unrecognized tax benefit

$28,210 $11,715

The unrecognized tax benefits of $28.2 million and $11.7 million at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively, if recognized, would reduce the
Company's annual effective tax rate.

Interest and penalties related to income tax liabilities are included in income tax expense in the Company's consolidated statement of operations.
During 2008 and 2007, the Company recorded approximately $1.6 million and $0.5 million, respectively, of penalties and interest which resulted in a
cumulative accrued balance of penalties and interest of $2.1 million and $0.5 at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.
The Company's unrecognized tax benefits consist primarily of tax positions related to intercompany transfer pricing in multiple international
jurisdictions. The gross increase for tax positions in prior periods of $13.1 million primarily includes specific transfer pricing exposures for which the
filing positions were changed on the returns completed and filed in 2008 based on changes in transfer pricing methodology. This increase was offset
entirely by a reduction in current income taxes payable, accordingly there was no impact to the statement of operations resulting from these adjustments.
The Company believes that it is reasonably possible that no increases or decreases or immaterial increases or decreases to unrecognized tax benefits will
occur in the next twelve months.
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As of December 31, 2008, the following tax years remain subject to examination for the major jurisdictions where the Company conducts
business:
2005 to 2008
2004 to 2008
2005 to 2008
2004 to 2008

United States
Canada
Netherlands
Singapore

State income tax returns are generally subject to examination for a period of 3 to 5 years after filing of the respective return. The state impact of any
federal changes remains subject to examination by various state jurisdictions for a period up to 2 years after formal notification to the states.

14. EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic income (loss) per common share ("EPS") is computed by dividing the net income available to common stockholders by the weighted average
number of common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted EPS reflects the potential dilution that could occur if certain outstanding stock options are
exercised, restrictions lapse on restricted stock awards and preferred stock is converted. Anti-dilutive securities are excluded from diluted EPS.

The following is a reconciliation of the number of shares used in the basic and diluted EPS computations for the years ended December 31, 2008,
2007 and 2006:
Years Ended December 31,
2008

Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders for basic
computation

2007

2006

(in thousands, except share and per share data)

$ (185,076) $

168,228

$

64,384

$ (185,076) $

168,228

$

64,384

Reconciliation of net income (loss) for dilutive computation:
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders

—

Preferred dividend

$ (185,076) $

Net income (loss) for dilutive computation

—
168,228

33
$

64,417

Basic income (loss) per common share:

82,767,540

Weighted average common shares outstanding

$

Basic income (loss) per common share

(2.24) $

80,759,077
2.08

74,598,400
$

0.87

Diluted income (loss) per common share:

82,767,540

Weighted average common shares outstanding

80,759,077

74,598,400

Dilutive effect of preferred stock

—

—

1,592,652

Dilutive effect of stock options

—

3,144,607

2,998,156

Dilutive effect of unvested stock

—

291,199

981,304

82,767,540

84,194,883

80,170,512

Weighted average diluted common shares outstanding

$

Diluted income (loss) per common share
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Due to the Company's net loss for the year ended December 31, 2008, the dilutive effect of stock options and awards were not included in the
computation of EPS, as their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive.
For the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 there were options outstanding and unvested restricted stock, which could potentially
dilute basic EPS in the future, but which were not included in diluted EPS as their effect was anti-dilutive. The weighted-average exercise price per
share for the options was $4.42, $48.35, and $33.53 for 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively. The following table summarizes the anti-dilutive securities:
Years Ended December 31.
2008

Anti-dilutive effect:
Stock options

Unvested stock

2007

2006

9,808,876

906,700

654,350

294,500

—

—

10,103,376

906,700

654,350

15. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
The Company leases space for certain of its offices, warehouses, vehicles and equipment under leases expiring at various dates through 2027.
Certain leases also contain rent escalation clauses (step rents) that require additional rental amounts in the later years of the term. Rent expense for leases
with step rents is recognized on a straight-line basis over the minimum lease term. Deferred rent is included in the consolidated balance sheet in accrued
expenses. Rent expense was $52.7 million, $26.0 million, and $8.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively.

Minimum future annual rental commitments under non-cancelable operating leases for each of the five succeeding years as of December 31, 2008,
are as follows (in thousands):
Fiscal years ending December 31,

2009
2010
2011
2012
2013
Thereafter

$ 47,559
37,009
25,621
15,750
11,165
42,212

Total

$179,316

At December 31, 2008, the Company had purchase commitments with our third party manufacturers for $14.0 million in inventory. Approximately
$2.1 million of this commitment was for certain products at prices in excess of net realizable value, given our plans for sales of the product.
Accordingly, $2.1 million was recorded related to expected losses on future purchase commitments and is included in accrued expenses at
December 31, 2008.
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The Company indemnifies certain of its vendors and its directors and executive officers for specified claims. To date, the Company has not paid or
been required to defend any indemnification claims, and accordingly, has not accrued any amounts for its indemnification obligations.
The Company guarantees the payment of its third-party manufacturer in China for purchases of material for the manufacture of finished shoe
products. The maximum potential amount of future payments the Company could be required to make under the guarantee is €2.1 million
(approximately $3.0 million) as of December 31, 2008. The Company evaluates the estimated loss for the guarantee under SFAS No. 5, Accounting for
Contingencies ("SFAS 5"), as interpreted by FIN No. 45, Guarantor's Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect
Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others ("FIN 45"). The Company considers such factors as the degree of probability of an unfavorable outcome and the
ability to make a reasonable estimate of the amount of loss. The Company has recourse as a matter of common law. To date, the Company has not made
any payments under the guarantee and as of December 31, 2008, has not recorded a liability related to the guarantee in its financial statements as the
Company does not believe the potential obligation under this guarantee is material.
The Company has a commitments for corporate sponsorships for each of the four succeeding years as of December 31, 2008, are as follows (in
thousands):
Fiscal years ending December 31,

2009
2010
2011
2012

$ 6,662
5,460
5,300
5,315

Total

$22,737

16. RELATED PARTIES
The Company entered into the following related party transactions:

In May 2005, the Company subleased an office building from Flextronics USA, Inc. One of our directors, Mr. Sharp, and our former director,
Mr. Marks, also served as directors of Flextronics and another of our directors, Mr. Smach, served as Flextronics' Chief Financial Officer, at such time.
The Company paid Flextronics $111,000 and $159,000 for lease payments for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. This lease
expired on March 31, 2007 and was not renewed.
In connection with a separation agreement, the Company and its former Chief Executive Officer entered into an exclusive distribution agreement
that commenced July 1, 2005. The distribution agreement is for specified territories in Central America and has an initial term of two years. The
agreement provides for renewal periods at the former Chief Executive Officer's option, if specified sales volumes are attained. Pricing under this
agreement is set at a discount off the Company's then current wholesale pricing. Additionally, effective July 1, 2005, the Company and the former Chief
Executive Officer entered into an agreement providing him the right to license and/or franchise airport kiosks selling the Company's products for a
period of 10 years, subject to the Company's right to terminate the agreement if specified numbers of kiosks are not opened in timeframes specified.
F-32

Table of Contents

CROCS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
16. RELATED PARTIES (Continued)
On February 24, 2009, the Company's board of directors appointed Mr. John Duerden to serve as the Company's president and Chief Executive
Officer effective March 16, 2009. Concurrent with his appointment, the Company entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Duerden, as
described more fully in Note 20—Subsequent Events.
The Company owns, operates and maintains its own aircraft. From time to time, the Company's directors and executive officers have used the
aircraft for personal purposes. These directors and executive officers have fully reimbursed the Company for expenses related to their personal use of
this aircraft during the year ended December 31, 2008, determined based on the cost of fuel and other variable costs associated with the flights under
FAR 91-501(d).

17. OPERATING SEGMENTS AND RELATED INFORMATION
The Company operates in the consumer products industry in which the Company designs, manufactures, markets and distributes footwear, apparel
and accessories. Operating results are assessed on an aggregate basis to make decisions about necessary resources and in assessing performance.
Consequently, under the provisions of SFAS No. 131, Disclosure About Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information ("SFAS 131"), and based
on the nature of the financial information that is received by the chief executive officer as chief operating decision maker, the Company has one
reportable segment for financial statement purposes.

The Company's sales by product line are as follows (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,

Footwear
Other

2008

2007

2006

$660,734
60,855

$763,303
84,047

$342,437
12,291

$721,589 $847,350 $354,728
Geographic information about the U.S. and international territories is presented below. The Company has allocated revenues to the geographic
locations based on the location of the customer (in thousands):
December 31,
Revenue

2008

2007

2006

$321,241 $439,486 $242,227
23,214
41,113
21,779
7,295
6,995
1,499

United States
Canada
Mexico
North America Total

Asia-Pacific
Europe
All other

351,750

487,694

265,505

204,943
150,717
14,179

163,046
173,671
22,939

54,382
30,286
4,555

$721,589 $847,350 $354,728
$400,348

Total for countries outside the United
States
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December 31,
Long-lived assets

United States
Canada
Mexico
North America Total

Asia-Pacific
Europe
Other

Total for countries outside the United States

2008

2007

$64,340
1,857
2,302

$47,144
14,111
2,988

68,499

64,243

12,720
14,024
649

7,793
12,379
3,769

$95,892

$88,184

$31,552 $41,040

There were no customers who represented 10% or more of consolidated revenues during the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006.

18. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
On March 31, 2006, Crocs filed a complaint with the ITC against Acme Ex-Im, Inc., Australia Unlimited, Inc., Cheng's Enterprises, Inc.,
Collective Licensing International, LLC, D. Myers & Sons, Inc., Double Diamond Distribution, Ltd., Effervescent, Inc., Gen-X Sports, Inc., Holey
Soles Holdings, Ltd., Inter-Pacific Trading Corporation, and Shaka Holdings, Inc., alleging patent and trade dress infringement and seeking an
exclusion order banning the importation and sale of infringing products. On August 10, 2006 Crocs filed a motion to voluntarily remove its trade dress
claim from the investigation to focus on the patent claims. Crocs' motion was granted by Order No. 20 on August 24, 2006. The utility and design
patents asserted in the complaint were issued to Crocs, Inc. on February 7, 2006 and March 28, 2006 respectively, by the United States Patent and
Trademark Office. The ITC has issued final determinations terminating Shaka Holdings, Inc., Inter-Pacific Trading Corporation, Acme Ex-Im, Inc., D.
Myers & Sons, Inc. and Australia Unlimited, Inc. from the ITC investigation No. 337-TA-567 on the basis of settlement and Cheng's Enterprises, Inc.
on the suspension of accused activities. The ITC Administrative Law Judge ("ALJ") issued an Initial Determination of non-infringement related to one
of the patents at issue. Crocs filed a petition with the Commission to review this determination. The Commission granted Crocs' petition and on
February 15, 2007, after briefing by the parties, the Commission vacated the ALJ's determination of non-infringement with respect to the remaining
respondents and remanded it to the ALJ for further proceedings consistent with the Commission's order. In light of the Commission's Order, the
procedural schedule and hearing date were reset pursuant to Order No. 38. A trial was held before the ALJ from September 7-14, 2007. The ALJ
issued an Initial Determination on April 11, 2008 with a finding of no violation, finding infringement of the utility patent by certain accused products,
but also finding that the utility patent was invalid as obvious. The ALJ also found that the design patent was valid, but not infringed by the accused
products. Crocs filed a Petition for Review of the Initial Determination which was due on April 24, 2008. On June 18, 2008, the Commission issued a
Notice that it would review the ALJ's findings in the Initial Determination with respect to the determination of non-infringement of the design patent and
the determination of invalidity of the utility patent. On July 25, 2008, the Commission issued a Notice of its decision to terminate the Investigation with
a finding of no violation
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as to either patent. Crocs filed a Petition for Review of the decision with the United States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit on September 22,
2008, and filed its initial brief on January 21, 2009. Briefing before the Federal Circuit is expected to be completed in March 2009 and oral argument
has not yet been scheduled.
On April 3, 2006, Crocs filed a complaint in the U.S. District Court for the District of Colorado alleging patent and trade dress infringement and
seeking injunctive relief against Acme EX-IM, Inc., Australia Unlimited, Inc., Cheng's Enterprises, Inc., Collective Licensing International, LLC, D.
Myers & Sons, Inc., Double Diamond Distribution, Ltd., Effervescent, Inc., Gen-X Sports, Inc., Holey Soles Holdings, Ltd, Inter-Pacific Trading
Corporation, Shaka Holdings, Inc., and Does 1-10 based upon certain utility and design patents that were issued to Crocs, Inc. on February 7, 2006 and
March 28, 2006 respectively, by the United States Patent and Trademark Office. Consent judgments have been entered against Shaka Holdings, Inc.,
Interpacific Trading Corporation and Acme Ex-Im, Inc. Crocs entered into a settlement with Australia Unlimited, and filed a stipulation for dismissal of
all claims and counterclaims on January 25, 2007. Crocs has entered into a settlement agreement with D. Myers & Sons and obtained a consent
judgment in connection therewith on May 23, 2007. This action has been stayed pending resolution in the ITC Proceeding, Investigation No. 337-TA567, which is currently on appeal to the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit. The Company does not expect the ultimate resolution of this
matter will have a material adverse impact on its business.
The Company and certain current and former officers and directors have been named as defendants in complaints filed by investors in the United
States District Court for the District of Colorado. The first complaint was filed in November 2007; several other complaints were filed shortly thereafter.
These actions were consolidated and, in September 2008, the Court appointed a lead plaintiff and counsel. An amended consolidated complaint was
filed in December 2008. The amended complaint purports to state claims under Section 10(b), 20(a), and 20A of the Exchange Act on behalf of a class
of all persons who purchased the Company's stock between April 2, 2007 and April 14, 2008 (the "Class Period"). The amended complaint alleges that,
during the Class Period, defendants made false and misleading public statements about the Company and its business and prospects and that, as a result,
the market price of the Company's stock was artificially inflated. The amended complaint also claims that certain current and former officers and
directors traded in the Company's stock on the basis of material non-public information. The amended complaint seeks compensatory damages on behalf
of the alleged class in an unspecified amount, interest, and an award of attorneys' fees and costs of litigation. The Company believes the claims lack
merit and intends to defend the action vigorously. Due to the inherent uncertainties of litigation and because the litigation is at a preliminary stage, the
Company cannot at this time accurately predict the ultimate outcome of the matter, or of the amount or range of potential loss, if any.

In December 2007, a plaintiff filed a shareholder derivative action in the Colorado District Court for the City and County of Boulder alleging that
certain officers and directors of the Company breached their fiduciary duties, wasted corporate assets, and were unjustly enriched. This derivative action
purported to state a claim on behalf of the Company. Plaintiff filed an amended complaint in July 2008, which alleges claims that arise from the conduct
alleged in the federal shareholder class action and allegations regarding additional statements made by the Company between November 2007 and May
2008. The Company and the individual defendants filed motions to dismiss the derivative
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18. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS (Continued)

complaint. On February 26, 2009, the Court dismissed the derivative compliant with prejudice and denied plaintiff leave to amend. The order is subject
to appeal.

On March 17, 2008, Cellect LLC and Sentinel Products Corp. filed a complaint against Crocs, Inc. with the U.S. District Court for the Northern
District of New York alleging that Crocs' Croslite materials infringe U.S. Patent No. 5,932,659. Crocs filed an answer on July 11, 2008. Discovery is
ongoing and Plaintiff's preliminary infringement contentions were due on November 17, 2008. On January 12, 2009, the Court entered an order
dismissing the action without prejudice. The Court's Order became a dismissal with prejudice on February 10, 2009. This matter is considered closed.
Although the Company is subject to other litigation from time to time in the ordinary course of business, including employment, intellectual
property and product liability claims, the Company is not party to any other pending legal proceedings that the Company believes will have a material
adverse impact on its business.

As of December 31, 2008, the Company has not accrued any amounts related to estimated losses for legal contingencies. While there is a
reasonable possibility that certain legal matters may result in an unfavorable outcome and loss, the Company's estimated potential losses, or range of
losses, when aggregated, would be immaterial to the financial statements.
19. UNAUDITED QUARTERLY CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Quarter
Ended
March 31

Quarter
Ended
June 30

Quarter
Ended
September 30

Quarter
Ended
December 31

Year Ended December 31, 2008
Revenues
Gross profit
Restructuring charges
Goodwill impairment charges
Asset impairment charges
Loss from operations
Net income (loss)
Basic income (loss) per common share
Diluted income (loss) per common share

$ 198,540 $ 222,770
85,235
90,288
3,849
1,371
1,036
—
9,777
2,903
(6,404 )
(2,942)
(4,527)
2,132
$
(0.05) $
0.03
$
(0.05) $
0.03

$ 174,187 $
2,399(a)
2,450
22,831
8,753
(136,026)
(147,980)
$
(1.79) $
$
(1.79) $

$ 142,002
84,485
37,158
24,945
$
0.31
$
0.30

$ 256,275
155,392
78,236
56,548
$
0.69
$
0.66

126,092
56,044
895
—
484
(42,910)
(34,701)
(0.42)
(0.42)

Year Ended December 31, 2007
Revenues
Gross profit
Income from operations
Net income
Basic income per common share
Diluted income per common share
(a)

$ 224,273
131,944
68,472
48,451
$
0.60
$
0.58

$ 224,800
125,828
53,901
38,284
$
0.47
$
0.45

For the three months ended September 30, 2008, the Company had significant inventory write-down charges, asset abandonment, and writedown of goodwill which effects the comparability between periods.
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20. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
February 13, 2009, the Company entered into Amendment No. 9 to the Loan Agreement, extending the maturity date on the Revolving Credit
Facility to April 2, 2009, at which time the Company will be required to pay all amounts then outstanding. As part of the ninth amendment, the
Company agreed to make five payments of $0.2 million on dates agreed upon in the Amendment.

On February 24, 2009, the Company's current Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Ron Snyder, announced he would be retiring and resigning as
President and Chief Executive Officer from the Company. Mr. Snyder will continue to serve as a member of the Company's board of directors and will
stay with the Company to assist with the transition until at least April 1, 2009.
Also on February 24, 2009, the Company's board of directors appointed Mr. John Duerden to serve as the Company's President and Chief
Executive Officer effective March 18, 2009. The board also intends to appoint Mr. Duerden to the board of directors on March 18, 2009. The Company
also entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Duerden which provides for an annual salary of $850,000, subject to annual adjustments, as well
as a $350,000 signing bonus and relocation benefits. Mr. Duerden is also eligible for an annual bonus at a target rate of 100% of his annual base salary.
Mr. Duerden was granted 400,000 options to purchase shares of the Company's common stock at $1.37 per share, the closing price of the Company's
common stock on the NASDAQ Global Select Market on the date of grant, as well as 400,000 shares of restricted common stock of the Company. The
employment agreement also provides for certain termination benefits if Mr. Duerden is terminated by the Company involuntarily and without cause.
On February 24, 2009, the Company's board of directors appointed Mr. W. Stephen Cannon as a Director. Mr. Cannon is expected to serve on the
Compensation Committee and the Governance and Nominating Committee of the Company's board of directors.
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CROCS, INC.
Board of Directors Compensation Plan
On June 26, 2008, the Board of Directors of Crocs, Inc. (the "Company") approved a new compensation arrangement for non-employee directors
effective as of June 26, 2008. The new compensation arrangement provides the following for non-employee directors:

(a) Annual cash compensation of $80,000 payable to each non-employee director in quarterly payments of $20,000 each;
(b) Additional annual cash compensation of $10,000 payable to the chair of the Audit Committee and additional annual cash compensation
of $5,000 payable to each of the chairs of the Governance and Nominating Committee and the Compensation Committee;

(c) Annual grant to each non-employee director of $100,000 of common stock of the Company based on the fair market value of the
common stock on the date of grant; and

(d) Annual grant to the Chairman of the Board of options to purchase 10,000 shares of common stock of the Company at an exercise
price equal to the fair market value of the common stock on the date of grant, which options will vest in four equal annual installments on the
date of the annual meeting of stockholders each year.

QuickLinks
Board of Directors Compensation Plan
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Exhibit 10.15
CROCS, INC.
AMENDED AND RESTATED 2007 SENIOR EXECUTIVE
DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN
1. Purpose.
Crocs, Inc. (the "Company") hereby adopts the Crocs, Inc. Amended and Restated 2007 Senior Executive Deferred Compensation Plan (as
amended and restated, the "Plan"). This Amended and Restated Plan is adopted to clarify and amend the Crocs, Inc. 2007 Senior Executive Deferred
Compensation Plan. The Plan sets forth the terms of an unfunded deferred compensation plan for a select group of management and highly
compensated employees of the Company as designated or to be designated by the Compensation Committee (the "Committee") of the Board of
Directors of the Company (the "Participants"). It is intended that the Plan constitute an unfunded "top hat plan" for purposes of the Employee
Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended ("ERISA"). The Plan is intended to provide for the deferral of portions of performance bonuses
("Performance Bonuses") awarded pursuant to the Bonus Plan approved by the Committee on March 30, 2007 by the Company to Participants for the
year ended December 31, 2007 (the "2007 Performance Period"), Performance Bonuses to be awarded in future years, and other compensation payable
to Participants as determined by the Committee. The Plan shall be administered and construed in accordance with Section 409A of the Code and any
administrative guidance issued thereunder.

2. Definitions.
The following terms used in the Plan shall have the meanings set forth below:

(a) " 2007 Performance Period" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.

(b) " Affiliate " means, with respect to the Company, any entity directly or indirectly controlling, controlled by, or under common control with the
Company or any other entity designated by the Board in which the Company or an Affiliate has an interest.
(c) " Award Agreement" shall mean any agreement between the Company and a Participant for the payment to the Participant of compensation that
is deferred under this Plan.

(d) " Beneficiary " shall mean any person, persons, trust or other entity designated by a Participant to receive benefits, if any, under the Plan upon
such Participant's death. No designation or change in designation of a Beneficiary shall be effective until received and acknowledged in writing by the
Committee or Plan Administrator.
(e) " Board" shall mean the Board of Directors of the Company

(f) " Change in Control" shall mean a change in the ownership or effective control of the Company, or in the ownership of a substantial portion
of its assets, within the meaning of Section 409A(a)(2)(A)(v) and Treasury Regulations § 1.409A-3(i)(5).
(g) " Claimant" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 9(a).
(h) " Code" shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and Treasury Regulations issued thereunder.
(i) " Committee" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.
(j) " Company" shall mean Crocs, Inc., any successor to all or a major portion of the Company's assets or business that assumes the obligations
of the Company, and any other corporation or unincorporated trade or business that has adopted the Plan with the approval of the Company, and is a
member of the same controlled group of corporations or the same group of trades or businesses under common control (within the meaning of Code
sections 414(b) and 414(c) as modified by Code section 415(h)) as the Company, or an affiliated service group (as defined in Code section 414(m))
which includes the Company, or any other entity required to be aggregated with the Company pursuant

to regulations under Code sections 414(o) and 409A or any other affiliated entity that is designated by the Company as eligible to adopt the Plan.

(k) " Deferral Account" shall mean the recordkeeping account, and any sub-accounts if determined by the Committee or the Plan Administrator to
be necessary or appropriate for the proper administration of the Plan, established and maintained by the Company in the name of a Participant as
provided in Section 4(b) for compensation payable to a Participant pursuant to a Deferral Agreement.
(l) " Deferral Agreement" shall mean an agreement executed by the Participant and the Company, in such form as approved by the Committee or
the Plan Administrator, and as may be revised from time to time with respect to any one or more Participants by or at the direction of the Committee or
Plan Administrator, whereby (A) the Participant (i) agrees to receive certain types of compensation in the future pursuant to the provisions of this Plan,
(ii) elects to defer future compensation such Participant would otherwise be entitled to receive in cash from the Company, including an amount or
percentage of compensation to be deferred, and/or (iii) makes such other elections as are permitted and provides such other information as is required
under the Plan, and (B) the Participant specifies a schedule according to which the Participant will receive payout of his or her compensation that is
payable in the future under this Plan. Each Deferral Agreement shall be consistent with this Plan and shall incorporate by its terms the provisions of this
Plan.
(m) " Deferral Day" shall mean, for each Participant, the day on which the Company is required, by the terms of the applicable Deferral
Agreement form or any other agreement between the Participant and the Company, to credit an amount to the Participant's Deferral Account under this
Plan.

(n) " Disabled" shall mean a Participant who (i) is unable to engage in any substantial gainful activity by reason of any medically determinable
physical or mental impairment which can be expected to result in death or can be expected to last for a continuous period of not less than twelve
(12) months; or (ii) is, by reason of any medically determinable physical or mental impairment which can be expected to result in death or can be
expected to last for a continuous period of not less than twelve (12) months, receiving income replacement benefits for a period of not less than three
(3) months under an accident and health plan covering employees of the Participant's employer. This definition shall be construed and administered in
accordance with the requirements of Code Section 409A(a)(2)(C) and Treasury Regulations § 1.409A-3(i)(4).
(o) " ERISA" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.
(p) "Fair Market Value" shall mean, on a given date of valuation, (i) with respect to any mutual fund, the closing net asset value as reported in
The Wall Street Journal with respect to the date of valuation and (ii) with respect to a security traded on a national securities exchange or the NASDAQ
National Market, the closing price on the date of valuation as reported in The Wall Street Journal.
(q) " Hypothetical Investments" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4(d).
(r) " Involuntary Separation from Service " shall have the meaning set forth in Treasury Regulations § 1.409A-1(n).

(s) "Manager" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4(d).
(t) " Officers " shall mean the officers of the Company and its Affiliates.

(u) " Participant" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1. Participants will include individuals who are eligible to receive Performance
Bonuses for the 2007 Performance Period.
(v) "Performance Bonus" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.
(w) " Plan" shall mean this Crocs, Inc. 2007 Senior Executive Deferred Compensation Plan.
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(x) " Plan Administrator" shall mean the Plan Administrator, if any, appointed pursuant to Section 3(a).
(y) " Released Party" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 8(b)(iv).
(z) " Separation from Service " shall mean the cessation of employment with the Company. This definition shall be construed and administered in
accordance with the requirements of Code Section 409A(a)(2)(A)(i) and Treasury Regulations § 1.409A-1(h).
(aa) " Specified Employee " shall mean a key employee (as defined in Code Section 416(i) without regard to paragraph 5 thereof) of the Company or
its affiliates, for so long as any of its stock is publicly traded on an established securities market or otherwise. This definition shall be construed and
administered in accordance with the requirements of Code Section 409A(a)(2)(B)(i) and Treasury Regulations § 1.409A-1(i).

(bb) "Target Bonus" shall mean the target Performance Bonus for each Participant as determined by the Board or the Committee.
(cc) " Trust" shall mean any trust or trusts established or designated by the Company pursuant to Section 5(a) to hold assets in connection with the
Plan.

(dd) "Trustee" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5(a).
(ee) " Unforeseeable Emergency" shall mean a severe financial hardship to a Participant resulting from an illness or accident of the Participant, the
Participant's Spouse, the Participant's beneficiary or a dependent (as defined in Section 152(a) of the Code) of the Participant, loss of the Participant's
property due to casualty, or other similar extraordinary and unforeseeable circumstances arising as a result of events beyond the control of the
Participant. This definition shall be construed and administered in accordance with the requirements of Code Section 409A(a)(2)(B)(ii) and Treasury
Regulations §1.409A-3(i)(3).

(ff) " Unvested Account List" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4(d).
(gg) " Unvested Balance" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4(k).
(hh) " Vested Account List" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4(d).
(ii)

3.

"Voluntary Separation from Service " shall mean any Separation from Service that is not an Involuntary Separation from Service.

Authority and Administration of the Committee and Plan Administrator.

(a) Authorization of Committee or Plan Administrator . The Committee shall administer the Plan and may select one or more persons to serve as
the Plan Administrator. The Plan Administrator shall have authority to perform any act that the Committee is entitled to perform under this Plan, except
to the extent that the Committee specifies limitations on the Plan Administrator's authority. The initial Plan Administrator shall be the Company's Chief
Financial Officer. Any person selected to serve as the Plan Administrator may, but need not, be a Committee member or an officer or employee of the
Company. However, if a person serving as Plan Administrator or a member of the Committee is a Participant, such person may not decide or vote on a
matter affecting his interest as a Participant.

(b) Administration by Committee or Plan Administrator . The Committee or Plan Administrator shall administer the Plan in accordance with its
terms, and shall have all powers necessary to accomplish such purpose, including the power and authority to reasonably construe and interpret the Plan,
to reasonably define the terms used herein, to reasonably prescribe, amend and rescind rules and regulations, agreements, forms, and notices relating to
the administration of the Plan, and to make all other determinations reasonably necessary or advisable for the administration of the Plan. The
3

Committee or Plan Administrator may appoint additional agents and delegate thereto powers and duties under the Plan.

4. Deferral Agreements and Deferral Accounts.
(a) Deferral Agreement. The Company and any Participant may agree to defer all or a portion of his or her compensation, under the terms
provided in any Deferral Agreement form provided to the Participant in accordance with the Plan, by executing a completed Deferral Agreement. An
election to defer compensation for a taxable year pursuant to a Deferral Agreement must be made not later than the close of the preceding taxable year,
or at such other time provided in Treasury Regulations issued under Code Section 409A (or earlier date specified in the applicable Deferral Agreement
form); provided that, in the case of the first year in which a Participant becomes eligible to participate in the Plan within the meaning of Code
Section 409A and applicable administrative guidance, such election may be made with respect to services to be performed subsequent to the election
within 30 days after the date the Participant becomes eligible to participate in the Plan (or earlier date specified in the applicable Deferral Agreement
form); and, in the case of any performance-based compensation based on services performed over a period of at least twelve (12) months, such election
may be made no later than six (6) months before the end of the period (or the earliest of such date, the day immediately prior to the date such
compensation has become reasonably ascertainable, or date specified in the applicable Deferral Agreement form) provided that the Participant is
continuously employed from the date that the applicable performance criteria are established through the date of the election. The Deferral Agreement
form shall establish for each Participant the amount and type of compensation (including bonuses and/or salary) that may or shall be deferred pursuant
to the Plan and such determination will be reflected on the relevant Deferral Agreement form, and may establish maximum or minimum amounts of
aggregate deferrals that may be elected for a Participant. A Participant shall not be entitled to vary any term that is set forth in the Deferral Agreement
form except to the extent that the form of Deferral Agreement itself permits variations.

(b) Establishment of Deferral Accounts. The Committee or Plan Administrator shall establish a Deferral Account for each Participant. Each
Deferral Account shall be maintained for the Participant solely as a bookkeeping entry by the Company to evidence unfunded obligations of the
Company. For the 2007 Performance Period, Performance Bonuses in excess of 200% of the Participant's Target Bonus (together with hypothetical
earnings thereon) will be deferred under the Plan and will vest ratably on a quarterly basis from December 31, 2007 through December 31, 2010 so that
the fraction of the unvested balance thereof that vests on each calendar quarter ending after December 31, 2007 shall be equal to 1 divided by the
number of calendar quarters beginning with such calendar quarter and ending before January 1, 2011; provided that any unvested balance thereof shall
vest upon the death or Disability of the Participant or upon a Change in Control. All other compensation of a Participant that is deferred under the Plan
will be 100% vested except as otherwise provided by the Committee in connection with the award of such compensation. A Participant's Deferral
Account shall be credited with the amounts required to be credited to the Participant's Deferral Account pursuant to the Participant's initial Deferral
Agreement or pursuant to any subsequent Deferral Agreement entered into by that Participant and the Company, in each case, less the amount of
federal, state or local tax required by law to be withheld with respect to such amounts, unless such withholding is provided from another source, and
shall be adjusted for Hypothetical Investment results as described herein.
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(c) Rabbi Trust. A rabbi trust (the "Trust") will be established in connection with the Plan. The Company will transfer to the Trust cash in the
amount of the aggregate amounts deferred. The Trust will be irrevocable and will terminate on the earlier to occur of (i) all funds having been distributed
from the Trust, or (ii) the date all obligations under the Plan have been satisfied. The Trust will provide that the assets of the Trust will be distributed
only to or for the benefit of the Participants or their beneficiaries unless the insolvency provisions of the Trust apply, in which case, the Participants will
become general creditors of the Company; provided that, upon Separation from Service of a Participant, the Trustee shall distribute to the Company a
portion of the Trust equal to any unvested portion of the Participant's Deferral Account. The Company will be authorized to distribute part or all of a
Participant's deferred compensation in marketable securities, to be selected by the Committee or Plan Administrator, rather than in cash. The Company
will appoint an independent trustee for the Trust. The Committee shall select the initial independent trustee.

(d) Hypothetical Investments and Managers. Subject to the provisions of Section 4(g), amounts credited to a Deferral Account shall be deemed
to be invested in one or more hypothetical investments ("Hypothetical Investments"). Each Participant shall select an investment manager (a "Manager")
from a list established by the Committee or Plan Administrator, and the Manager will then select Hypothetical Investments on the Participant's behalf. A
Participant may select a successor Manager from such list of Managers from time to time. For the unvested portion of a Participant's Deferral Account,
a Manager may select Hypothetical Investments from a list of investments selected from time to time by the Committee or Plan Administrator (the
"Unvested Account List"), and subject to any limitation on permissible allocations among groups of Hypothetical Investments that the Committee or
Plan Administrator may establish. For the vested portion of a Participant's Deferral Account (which shall be accounted for in a separate vested
subaccount pursuant to Section 4(k)), a Manager may select Hypothetical Investments from a list of publicly available mutual funds, publicly traded
stock and bonds selected from time to time by the Committee or Plan Administrator (the "Vested Account List"). No Hypothetical Investments may be
made in any debt or equity issued by the Company or its Affiliates. The Committee or Plan Administrator shall consider requests from any Participant
to add to the list of Managers and/or to the Vested Account List, and shall satisfy such requests if they are reasonably acceptable to the Committee or
Plan Administrator. The Committee or Plan Administrator may change or discontinue any Hypothetical Investment or Manager if reasonably necessary
to satisfy business objectives of the Company or its Affiliates; provided that, following a Change in Control, neither the Committee nor the Plan
Administrator may change or modify the investment options existing immediately prior to such Change in Control in any manner that is adverse to the
Participants. In any case, the Trust may (but will not be required to) make actual investments that mirror a Participant's Hypothetical Investments.
(e) List of Hypothetical Investments and Managers. An initial list of Managers, an initial Unvested Account List, and an initial Vested Account
List shall be established by the Board, the Committee or the Plan Administrator and each such list shall be provided to each Participant in connection
with the initial Deferral Agreement.

(f) Investment of Deferral Accounts. As provided in Sections 4(d), each Deferral Account shall be deemed to be invested in one or more
Hypothetical Investments as of the date of the deferral or credit, as the case may be. The amounts of hypothetical income, appreciation and depreciation
in value of the Hypothetical Investments shall be credited and debited to, or otherwise reflected in, such Deferral Account from time to time in
accordance with procedures established by the Committee or Plan Administrator. Unless otherwise determined by the Committee or Plan Administrator,
amounts credited to a Deferral Account shall be deemed invested in Hypothetical Investments as of the date so credited. Each Participant shall assume
the investment risk of the Hypothetical Investments.
(g) Allocation and Reallocation of Hypothetical Investments.
Account to one or more of the Hypothetical

A Manager may allocate and reallocate amounts credited to a Participant's Deferral
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Investments authorized under the Plan with such frequency as determined by the Committee or the Plan Administrator. Subject to the rules established
by the Committee or Plan Administrator, a Manager may reallocate amounts credited to a Participant's Deferral Account to other Hypothetical
Investments by filing with the Committee or Plan Administrator a notice, in such form as may be specified by the Committee or Plan Administrator. No
Participant shall have the right, at any time, to direct a Manager to enter into specific transactions in connection with his or her Deferral Account;
provided that this provision shall not prohibit the Participant from communicating with the Manager regarding Hypothetical Investments, including
communication regarding preferred Hypothetical Investment objectives. Each Manager shall have the power to acquire and dispose of such Hypothetical
Investments as the Manager determines necessary in connection with its portfolio. The Committee or Plan Administrator may restrict or prohibit
reallocation of amounts deemed invested in specified Hypothetical Investments or invested by specified Managers to comply with applicable law or
regulation.
(h) No Actual Investment. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Plan that may be interpreted to the contrary, the Hypothetical
Investments are to be used for measurement purposes only. A Participant's election of any such Hypothetical Investments, the allocation of such
Hypothetical Investments to his or her Deferral Account, the calculation of additional amounts and the crediting or debiting of such amounts to a
Participant's Deferral Account shall not be considered or construed in any manner as an actual investment of his or her Deferral Account in any such
Hypothetical Investments. In the event that the Committee, in its discretion, decides to cause the Trustee to invest funds in any or all of the Hypothetical
Investments, no Participant shall have any rights in or to such investments themselves. Without limiting the foregoing, a Participant's Deferral Account
shall at all times be a bookkeeping entry only and shall not represent any investment made on his or her behalf by the Company or the Trust. The
Participant shall at all times remain an unsecured creditor of the Company.
(i) Forfeiture of Unvested Portions of Deferral Accounts Upon Separation from Service. Upon a Participant's Separation from Service, any
unvested portion of the Participant's Deferral Account (excluding the portion, if any, that vests as a result of such termination) shall be forfeited and
terminated in accordance with the applicable Deferral Agreement, except as otherwise determined by the Committee in its sole and absolute discretion.
(j) Change in Law. If a future change in law would, in the judgment of the Committee or Plan Administrator, likely accelerate taxation to a
Participant of amounts that would be credited to the Participant's Deferral Account in the future under the Participant's Deferral Agreement, the
Company and the Participant will attempt to amend the Plan to satisfy the requirements of the change in law and, unless and until such an amendment is
agreed to, Company shall cease deferrals under this Deferral Agreement on the effective date of such change in law; provided however, the Company
shall not cease deferrals if such cessation would violate the provisions of Code Section 409A.

(k) Separate Maintenance of Vested Subaccounts. A separate vested subaccount shall be established and maintained for each Participant who
either (a) elects to defer amounts of salary and/or cash bonus payments pursuant to a Deferral Agreement, or (b) becomes vested in a portion of the
unvested balance of the Participant's Deferral Account (the "Unvested Balance"). A Participant's vested subaccount shall constitute part of the
Participant's Deferral Account. Whenever a portion of a Participant's Unvested Balance becomes vested, the portion that becomes vested shall be
transferred to the Participant's separate vested subaccount. If a Participant elects to defer amounts of salary and cash bonus pursuant to a Deferral
Agreement, the deferral salary and cash bonus shall be accounted for in the Participant's separate vested subaccount. The amounts of hypothetical
income, appreciation and depreciation in value of the Hypothetical Investments of amounts in a vested subaccount shall be credited and debited to, or
otherwise reflected in, such vested subaccount from time to time in accordance with procedures established by the Committee or Plan Administrator.
Unless otherwise
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determined by the Committee or Plan Administrator, amounts credited to a vested subaccount shall be deemed invested in Hypothetical Investments as
of the date so credited.

5.

Establishment of Trust.

(a) The Trust Agreement. The Company will enter into a Trust Agreement for the Plan, providing for the establishment of a trust to be held and
administered by an independent trustee (the "Trustee") designated in the Trust Agreement (the "Trust"). The Trustee shall be the agent for purposes of
such duties delegated to the Trustee by the Committee or Plan Administrator as set forth in the Trust Agreement.

(b) Funding the Trust. On the relevant Deferral Day, the Company shall deposit into the Trust cash or other assets, as specified in the
applicable Deferral Agreement, equal to the aggregate amount required to be credited to the Participant's Deferral Account for that Deferral Day, less
applicable taxes required to be withheld, if any. The assets of the Trust shall remain subject to the claims of the general creditors of the Company in the
event of an insolvency of the Company. Assets of the Trust shall at all times be located within the United States.
(c) Taxes and Expenses of the Trust. The Committee and the Plan Administrator shall make all investment decisions for the Trust, and no
Participant shall be entitled to direct any investments of the Trust. All taxes on any gains and losses from the investment of the assets of the Trust shall
be recognized by the Company and the taxes thereon shall be paid by the Company and shall not be recovered from the Deferral Accounts or the Trust.
The third-party administrative expenses of the Plan and the Trust, including expenses charged by the Trustee to establish the Trust and the Trustee's
annual fee per Deferral Account, shall be paid by the Company, and shall neither be payable by Trustee from the Trust nor reduce any Deferral
Accounts; provided that any Managers' fees or other expenses incurred with respect to particular Hypothetical Investment or any asset of the Trust
which corresponds to a particular Hypothetical Investment shall be charged to the Deferral Account that is deemed invested in such Hypothetical
Investment. No part of the Company's internal expenses to administer the Plan, including overhead expenses, shall be charged to the Trust or the
Deferral Accounts.

6. Settlement of Deferral Accounts.
(a) Payout Elections. The Company shall pay or direct the Trustee to pay the net amount credited to a Deferral Account as elected by the
Participant in the Participant's Deferral Agreement in accordance with the provisions of this Plan or as provided in an Award Agreement. A Participant
shall be required to select one of the payout alternatives set forth in the form of Deferral Agreement provided to the Participant by the Plan
Administrator. Except for payouts due to the death, Disability, Unforeseeable Emergency, Separation from Service of the Participant, or Change in

Control, no payout of amounts credited to a Participant's Deferral Account shall occur prior to the fifteenth (15 th) day of the first January following the
calendar year of the Participant's Separation from Service with the Company, or, if later and if the Participant is then a Specified Employee, the first
business day that is at least six (6) months after the termination of employment, except to the extent that a payment at an earlier date will not result in the
imposition of additional tax and interest under IRC Section 409A. The Committee or Plan Administrator may allow a Participant to modify the
Participant's Payout election if, and only to the extent that, the modification will not result in the imposition of additional taxes pursuant to transitional
guidance issued by the IRS under Code Section 409A. The Committee or Plan Administrator may, in its sole discretion, allow a Participant to redefer
the payout of his Deferral Account one or more times; provided, that (i) such redeferral may not take effect until at least twelve (12) months after the
date on which such election is made; (ii) in the case of an election related to any payment other than a payment that would be made upon the Participant's
death, Disability, or the occurrence of an Unforeseeable Emergency, the first payment with respect to which such election is made must be deferred for a
period of not less than five (5) years from the date such payment would otherwise have been made; and (iii) any election that would affect a scheduled
payout may be made
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not less than twelve (12) months prior to the date of the first scheduled payout date. The preceding restrictions on redeferrals shall be construed and
administered in accordance with the requirements of Code Section 409A(a)(4)(C) and Treasury Regulations § 1.409A-2(b). No Participant shall be
entitled to accelerate the time or schedule of any payment under the Plan, except where an acceleration would not result in the imposition of additional
tax under Code Section 409A.

(b) Payment in Cash or Securities. The Company shall settle a Participant's Deferral Account, and discharge all of its obligations to pay
deferred compensation under the Plan with respect to such Deferral Account, by payment of cash in an amount equal to or, at the option of the
Committee, in marketable securities selected by the Committee with a Fair Market Value equal to the net amount credited to the applicable Deferral
Account. Any such distributions to a Participant shall reduce the Company's obligations under the Plan to such Participant. The Company's obligation
under the Plan may be satisfied by distributions from the Trust.
(c)

Timing of Payments.

(i) Payments in settlement of a Participant's Deferral Account may be distributed no earlier than the Participant's Separation from Service,
Disability, death, a specified time (or pursuant to a fixed schedule) specified in the applicable Deferral Agreement, Change in Control as
specified in the applicable Deferral Agreement, or the occurrence of an Unforeseeable Emergency. A payment on account of a Voluntary
Separation from Service may not be made before the date, which is six (6) months after the date of Separation from Service, except to the extent
that a payment at an earlier date will not result in the imposition of additional tax under IRC Section 409A.
(ii) Payments in settlement of a Deferral Account shall be made as soon as practicable after the date or dates (including upon the
occurrence of specified events), and in such number of installments, as directed by the Participant in the Participant's Deferral Agreement, unless
otherwise provided in this Section 6. All amounts needed for a payment shall be deemed withdrawn from the Hypothetical Investments as close
in time as is practicable to the requested payment date. If a Participant has elected to receive installment payments, the amount of the distribution
payable is based upon the value of the Deferral Account at the time of the installment payment date and shall act to reduce Hypothetical
Investments in the following order: (A) cash and money market accounts, and (B) each other Hypothetical Investment on a pro rata basis, based
on the value of the Participant's Deferral Account. For purposes of a redeferral election as permitted under this Section 6, the right to receive
installment payments shall be treated as a right to receive a series of separate payments. If a Participant has elected to receive partial payments of
the amount in his or her Deferral Account, unpaid balances shall continue to be deemed to be invested in the Hypothetical Investments that such
Participant has designated pursuant to Section 4(d) or 4(f).

(d) Distribution on Death. In the event of a Participant's death prior to the payment of all net amounts credited to his or her Deferral Account,
the net vested amount credited to a Participant's Deferral Account (including the amount that vests as a result of Participant's death) shall be paid to the
Participant's designated Beneficiary in a single lump sum as soon as practicable after the Participant's death. If a Participant fails to designate a
Beneficiary or if all designated Beneficiaries predecease the Participant or die prior to complete distribution of the Participant's benefits, the Participant's
designated Beneficiary shall be the executor or personal representative of the Participant's estate, if a probate proceeding is open at the time for the
distribution(s), and otherwise shall be the person(s) who would be entitled to the distribution(s) under the Participant's last will and /or revocable trust
(if such will distributes the residuary estate to such trust) and otherwise to the person(s) who would inherit the Participant's property under the law of
the Participant's last domicile. If the Committee or Plan Administrator has any doubt as to the proper Beneficiary to receive payments pursuant to this
Plan, the Committee or Plan Administrator shall have the right, exercisable in its
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discretion, to withhold such payments until this matter is resolved to the Committee's or Plan Administrator's satisfaction. The payment of benefits
under the Plan to a Beneficiary shall fully and completely discharge the Company from all further obligations under this Plan with respect to the
Participant, and such Participant's interest in the Plan shall terminate upon such full payment of benefits.

(e) Distribution on Disability. Irrespective of any elections made by a Participant, if the Committee or Plan Administrator determines that a
Participant has become Disabled, the net vested amount credited to a Participant's Deferral Account (including the amount that vests as a result of
Participant's Disability) shall be paid out in a single lump sum to the Participant.

(f) Distribution on Unforeseeable Emergency. Other provisions of the Plan notwithstanding, if the Committee or Plan Administrator
determines that the Participant has an Unforeseeable Emergency, the Committee or Plan Administrator shall direct the immediate lump sum payment to
the Participant of vested amounts that the Committee or Plan Administrator determines to be necessary to satisfy such Unforeseeable Emergency plus
amounts necessary to pay taxes reasonably anticipated as a result of the distribution, after taking into account the extent to which such Unforeseeable
Emergency is or may be relieved through reimbursement, compensation by insurance, any additional compensation that is available due to the
cancellation of a deferral election upon a payment due to an unforeseeable emergency, or otherwise or by liquidation of the Participant's assets (to the
extent the liquidation of such assets would not itself cause severe financial hardship). The preceding sentence shall be construed and administered in
accordance with the requirements of Code Section 409A(a)(2)(B)(ii) and Treasury Regulations § 1.409A-3(i)(3). If the Committee determines that a
Participant has suffered an Unforeseeable Emergency, the Plan Administrator shall authorize the cessation of deferrals by such Participant under the
Plan.
(g)

Distribution in Event of Taxation.

(i) It is intended that a Participant will be subject to federal income taxes on amounts credited to the Participant's Deferral Account only
when and as such amounts are distributed to the Participant. There can be no assurance that this objective will be accomplished. If a Participant
is prematurely taxable on compensation deferred under the Plan, the Participant could also be subject to a 20% penalty tax on amounts deferred
under the Plan under Code Section 409A. There are substantial uncertainties concerning how Code Section 409A will be interpreted and
administered. If, for any reason, it has been determined that the Plan fails to meet the requirements of Code Section 409A and the regulations
promulgated thereunder, the Committee or the Plan Administrator shall distribute to the Participant the portion of the Participant's Deferral
Account that is required to be included in income as a result of the failure of the Plan to comply with the requirements of Code Section 409A
and the regulations promulgated thereunder.

(ii) If, for any reason, it is determined that state, local or foreign tax obligations, or FICA, Medicare or income tax at source on wages
imposed under Code Section 3401, arise from a Participant's participation in the Plan with respect to an amount deferred under the Plan before
the amount is otherwise payable or made available to the Participant, the Committee may distribute an amount to the Participant (either in the
form of withholding pursuant to provisions of applicable law or by distributions directly to the Participant) to reflect such tax obligation,
provided the amount so distributed may not exceed the amount of such taxes due as a result of participation in the Plan.

(h) Effect on Deferral Account.
this Section 6.

A Participant's Deferral Account shall be debited to the extent of any distributions to the Participant pursuant to
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7. Amendment and Termination.
(a) Amendment. The Committee, Plan Administrator or the Board may, with prospective or retroactive effect, amend or terminate the Plan
(i) any time, if determined to be necessary, appropriate or advisable in response to administrative guidance issued under Code Section 409A or to
comply with the provisions of Code Section 409A, or (ii) if no Participant is materially adversely affected by such action with respect to amounts
required to be credited to the Participant's Deferral Account under any previously executed Deferral Agreement; (iii) if each Participant who is materially
adversely affected by such action with respect to any rights previously accrued by the Participant under the Plan consents in writing to such action; or
(iv) at the discretion of the Committee or Board, to provide for an acceleration of payments under the Plan in accordance with Treasury Regulation
Section 1.409A-3(j)(4).

(b) Change in Control. Notwithstanding the previous paragraph, following a Change in Control, the Plan will not be subject to amendment or
termination without the prior written consent of each Participant who would be materially adversely affected by such action.
(c) Termination. Notwithstanding any other provision to the contrary and except as may otherwise be provided by the Committee or Plan
Administrator, the Plan shall terminate as soon as possible following the payment of all amounts in respect of all Deferral Accounts.

8. General Provisions.
(a) Limits on Transfer of Awards. Other than by will, the laws of descent and distribution, or by appointing a Beneficiary, no right, title or
interest of any kind in the Plan shall be transferable or assignable by a Participant (or the Participant's Beneficiary) or be subject to alienation,
anticipation, encumbrance, garnishment, attachment, levy, execution or other legal or equitable process, nor subject to the debts, contracts, liabilities or
engagements, or torts of any Participant or the Participant's Beneficiary. Any attempt to alienate, sell, transfer, assign, pledge, garnish, attach or take any
other action subject to legal or equitable process or encumber or dispose of any interest in the Plan shall be void.

(b)

Waiver, Receipt and Release.

(i) As between the Participant and the Company, a Participant and the Participant's Beneficiary shall assume all risk (other than gross
negligence of the Company or the Committee or Plan Administrator, or breach by the Company of the terms of this Plan) in connection with the
Plan, Trust design, implementation or administration, Hypothetical Investment decisions made by the Participant's Manager and the resulting
value of the Participant's Deferral Account, the selection and actions of the Trustee or any other third party providing services to the Company or
the Trust in connection with the Plan or Trust (including their administrative and investment expenses), including any income taxes of the
Participant or Participant's Beneficiary relating to or arising out of his or her participation in the Plan, and neither the Company nor the
Committee or Plan Administrator shall be liable or responsible therefor other than as provided in Section 5(c); provided, however, that the
Company may, in the sole and absolute discretion of the Committee, indemnify any Participant for any additional 20% tax imposed under Code
Section 409A and any additional interest resulting from an inclusion in income under Code Section 409A as a result of any actions of the
Company in administering or carrying out the purposes the Plan.
(ii) As a condition of being a Participant in the Plan, each Participant must sign a waiver (which may be a part of the Deferral Agreement)
releasing the Company and its Affiliates, the Committee, the Plan Administrator, Officers and the Board from any claims and liabilities
regarding the matters to which the Participant has assumed the risk as set forth in this Section. Payments (in any form) to any Participant or
Beneficiary in accordance with the provisions of the Plan shall, to the extent thereof, be in full satisfaction of all claims for compensation
deferred and relating to the Deferral Account to which the payments relate against the Company or any
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Affiliate or the Committee or Plan Administrator, and the Committee or Plan Administrator may require such Participant or Beneficiary, as a
condition to such payments, to execute a waiver, receipt and release to such effect.

(iii) As a condition of being a Participant in the Plan, a Participant and the Participant's Beneficiary must acknowledge that they assume all
risk in connection with (i) the performance of the Managers, (ii) the performance of the Hypothetical Investments, and (iii) the tax treatment of
amounts deferred under or paid pursuant to the Plan, and the Company, the Committee, the Plan Administrator, and the Board shall not be liable
or responsible therefor.

(iv) As a condition of being a Participant in the Plan, each Participant must sign a waiver releasing the Trustee and each of its Affiliates
(each, a "Released Party") against any and all loss, claims, liability and expenses imposed on or incurred by any Released Party as a result of
any acts taken or any failure to act by the Trustee, where such act or failure to act is in accordance with the directions from the Committee or
Plan Administrator or any designee of the Committee or Plan Administrator.
(v) Subject only to the any indemnification of Participants in accordance with Section 8(b)(i), each Participant agrees to pay any taxes,
penalties and interest such Participant or Beneficiary may incur in connection with his or her participation in this Plan, and further agrees to
indemnify the Company and its Affiliates, the Committee, the Plan Administrator, Officers, the Board and the Company's agents for such taxes,
penalties and interest the Participant or Participant's Beneficiary incurs and fails to pay and for which the Company is made liable by the
appropriate tax authority.

(c) Unfunded Status of Awards, Creation of Trusts. The Plan is intended to constitute an unfunded plan for deferred compensation and each
Participant shall rely solely on the unsecured promise of the Company for payment hereunder. With respect to any payment not yet made to a Participant
under the Plan, nothing contained in the Plan shall give a Participant any rights that are greater than those of a general unsecured creditor of the
Company.

(d) Participant Rights. No provision of the Plan or transaction hereunder shall confer upon any Participant any right or impose upon any
Participant any obligation to be employed by the Company or an Affiliate, or to interfere in any way with the right of the Company or an Affiliate to
increase or decrease the amount of any compensation payable to such Participant. Subject to the limitations set forth in Section 8(c) hereof, the Plan shall
inure to the benefit of, and be binding upon, the parties hereto and their successors and assigns.
(e) Tax Withholding. The Company shall have the right to deduct from amounts otherwise credited to or paid from a Deferral Account any
sums that federal, state, local or foreign tax law requires to be withheld (including FICA taxes for social security and/or Medicare, as applicable).

(f) Governing Law; Jurisdiction. The validity, construction, and effect of the Plan and any rules and regulations relating to the Plan shall be
determined in accordance with the laws of the State of Colorado, without giving effect to principles of conflicts of laws to the extent not pre-empted by
federal law. Subject to Section 9(d), the enforcement or interpretation of the Plan and any disputes under or arising out of the Plan shall be submitted to
the exclusive jurisdiction and venue of the federal and state courts located in the County of Denver, Colorado.
(g) Construction. The captions and numbers preceding the sections of the Plan are included solely as a matter of convenience of reference and
are not to be taken as limiting or extending the meaning of any of the terms and provisions of the Plan. Whenever appropriate, words used in the
singular shall include the plural or the plural may be read as the singular.
(h) Severability. In the event that any provision of the Plan shall be declared illegal or invalid for any reason, said illegality or invalidity shall
not affect the remaining provisions of the Plan but shall
11

be fully severable, and the Plan shall be construed and enforced as if said illegal or invalid provision had never been inserted herein.

(i) Status. The establishment and maintenance of, or allocations and credits to, the Deferral Account of any Participant shall not vest in any
Participant any right, title or interest in or to any Plan or Company assets or benefits except at the time or times and upon the terms and conditions and to
the extent expressly set forth in the Plan and in accordance with the terms of any Trust.
(j) Spouse's Interest. The interest in the benefits hereunder of a Participant's spouse who has predeceased the Participant shall automatically
pass to the Participant and shall not be transferable by such spouse in any manner, including but not limited to such spouse's will, nor shall such interest
pass under the laws of intestate succession.

(k)

Successors.

The provisions of the Plan shall bind the Company and its successors.

9. Claims Procedures.
(a) Presentation of Claim. If any Participant or Beneficiary does not believe that he or she has received Plan benefits to which he or she is
entitled, such person (a "Claimant") must file a written claim with the Plan Administrator or, if a Plan Administrator has not been appointed, the
Committee under the procedures set forth in this Article. The claim must state with particularity the benefit or other determination desired by the
Claimant. The claim must be accompanied with sufficient supporting documentation for the benefit or other determination requested by the Claimant.

(b) Notification of Decision. The Committee or Plan Administrator shall consider a Claimant's claim and shall notify the Claimant in writing
within twenty-five (25) days of receipt of the claim that either:
(i) the Claimant's requested determination has been made, and that the claim for benefits has been allowed in full; or
(ii) the Committee or Plan Administrator has reached a conclusion contrary, in whole or in part, to the Claimant's requested determination,
and such notice must set forth in a manner calculated to be understood by the Claimant:

(A) specific reason or reasons the claim was denied;
(B) specific reference(s) to the pertinent Plan provisions upon which the decision was based;

(C) a description of any additional material or information necessary for the Claimant to perfect the claim, and an explanation of
why such material or information is necessary;

(D) an explanation of the claim review procedure set forth below;
(E) a statement of the Claimant's right to bring a civil action under ERISA in the event of an adverse determination upon review;
and

(F) if the determination is with respect to a claim for benefits upon Disability, a disclosure of any internal rule, guidelines, protocol
or similar criteria relied on in making the adverse determination or a statement that such information will be provided free of charge upon
request.
(c) Review of a Denied Claim. Within sixty (60) days (180 days for a Disability claim) after receiving a notice from the Committee or Plan
Administrator that a claim has been denied in whole or in part, but not thereafter, a Claimant (or the Claimant's duly authorized representative) may file
with the Committee, if the initial claim was reviewed by the Plan Administrator or, if not, the Committee's
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designee a written request for a review of the denial of the claim. The Claimant (or the Claimant's duly authorized representative):

(i) may submit any written comments, documents, records and other information relating to the claim;

(ii) may, upon reasonable request and free of charge, have reasonable access to, and copies of, all documents, records and other
information relevant to the Claimant's claim;
(iii) will be entitled to a review that takes into account all comments, documents, records and other information submitted by the Participant
related to the claim, without regard to whether such information was submitted or considered in the initial benefit determination;

(iv) will be informed of such other matters as the Committee or its designee deems relevant; and

(v) if the review is for an adverse decision with respect to a claim for benefits upon Disability, no deference shall be given to the initial
benefit determination. The review shall be conducted by a different individual than the person who made the initial benefit determination or a
subordinate of that person. The following additional procedures will apply to the review of such an adverse benefit determination:

(A) In the case of a claim denied on the grounds of a medical judgment, the Committee will consult with a health professional with
appropriate training and experience. The health care professional who is consulted on review will not be the same individual who was
consulted, if any, regarding the initial benefit determination or a subordinate of that individual.
(B) A Claimant shall, on request and free of charge, be given reasonable access to, and copies of, all documents, records, and other
information Relevant to the Claimant's claim for benefits. If the advice of a medical or vocational expert was obtained in connection with
the initial benefit determination, the names of each such expert shall be provided on request by the Claimant, regardless of whether the
advice was relied on by the Plan Administrator.
The Committee or its designee shall conduct a full and fair review of the claim and the initial adverse benefit determination and notify the Claimant
in writing of its decision within sixty (60) days (forty-five (45) days for a Disability claim) after receipt of Claimant's request for a review, unless such
Committee or designee holds regularly scheduled meetings at least quarterly and the underlying claim is not a claim for benefits upon Disability.

If the Committee or designee holds regularly scheduled meetings at least quarterly and the underlying claim is not a claim for benefits upon
Disability, written notice of the Committee or designee's decision, in accordance with the following paragraph, shall be provided to the Claimant within
five (5) days after the date when the benefit determination is made. The Committee or designee shall make its benefit determination no later than the date
of the meeting immediately following its receipt of the Claimant's written request for review, provided that the such request was received more than
thirty (30) days prior to such meeting. If the request for review is received within thirty (30) days prior to such meeting, the Committee or designee shall
make its benefit determination no later than the date of the second meeting following the date of its receipt of the Claimant's written request for review.
An extension of time for processing the written request for review is allowable if special circumstances require an extension, but such an extension shall
not extend beyond the third meeting following the date of the Committee or designee's receipt of the Claimant's written request for review. Written
notice of any extension of time shall be delivered or mailed within the initial determination period and shall include an explanation of the special
circumstances requiring the extension and the date by which the Committee or designee expects to render the final decision.
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In the case of an adverse benefit determination, the notification shall set forth (i) the specific reason or reasons for the adverse determination,
(ii) reference to the specific Plan provisions on which the determination is based, (iii) a statement that the Claimant is entitled to receive, upon request
and free of charge, reasonable access to, and copies of, all documents, records, and other information relevant to the Claimant's claim for benefits, (iv) a
statement describing the voluntary arbitration procedures offered under the Plan and the right to bring an action under Section 502(a) of ERISA; and
(v) if the determination is with respect to a claim for benefits upon Disability, the Claimant shall also receive (A) a disclosure of any internal rule,
guidelines, protocol or similar criteria relied on in making the adverse determination or a statement that such information will be provided free of charge
upon request, and (B) the statement that "You and your Plan may have other voluntary dispute resolution options, such as mediation. One way to find
out what may be available is to contact your local U.S. Department of Labor Office and your State insurance regulatory agency."
(d) Elective Arbitration. If a Claimant's claim described in Section 9(a) is denied pursuant to Sections 9(b) and 9(c) (an "Arbitrable Dispute"),
the Claimant may, in lieu of the Claimant's right to bring a civil action under Section 502(a) of ERISA, and as the Claimant's only further recourse,
submit the claim to final and binding arbitration in the city of Denver, state of Colorado, before an experienced employment arbitrator selected in
accordance with the Employment Dispute Resolution Rules of the American Arbitration Association. Except as otherwise provided in this Section 9(d)
or Section 9(f), each party shall pay the fees of their respective attorneys, the expenses of their witnesses and any other expenses connected with the
arbitration, but all other costs of the arbitration, including the fees of the arbitrator, costs of any record or transcript of the arbitration, administrative fees
and other fees and costs shall be paid in equal shares by each party (or, if applicable, each group of parties) to the arbitration. In any Arbitrable Dispute
in which the Claimant prevails, the Company shall reimburse the Claimant's reasonable attorneys fees and related expenses. Arbitration in this manner
shall be the exclusive remedy for any Arbitrable Dispute for which an arbitration is elected. The arbitrator's decision or award shall be fully enforceable
and subject to an entry of judgment by a court of competent jurisdiction. Should any party attempt to resolve an Arbitrable Dispute for which an
arbitration is elected by any method other than arbitration pursuant to this Section, the responding party shall be entitled to recover from the initiating
party all damages, expenses and attorneys fees incurred as a result.
(e) Legal Action. Prior to a Change in Control, except to enforce an arbitrator's award, no actions may be brought by a Claimant in any court
with respect to an Arbitrable Dispute that is arbitrated.

(f) Following a Change in Control. Upon the occurrence of a Change in Control, an independent party selected jointly by the Participants in the
Plan prior to the Change in the Control and the Committee or the Plan Administrator or other appropriate person shall assume all duties and
responsibilities of the Committee or Plan Administrator under this Article 9 and actions may be brought by a Claimant in any appropriate court with
respect to an Arbitrable Dispute that is arbitrated. After a Change in Control, if any person or entity has failed to comply (or is threatening not to
comply) with any of its obligations under the Plan, or takes or threatens to take any action to deny, diminish or to recover from any Participant the
benefits intended to be provided thereunder, the Company shall reimburse the Participant for reasonable attorneys fees and related costs incurred in the
pursuance or defense of the Participant's rights. If the Participant does not prevail, attorneys fees shall also be payable under the preceding sentence to
the extent the Participant had reasonable justification for pursuing its claim, but only to the extent that the scope of such representation was reasonable.
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10. Effective Date.
The Plan is amended and restated as of December 20, 2007 with effect from June 30, 2007.

Crocs, Inc.

By: /s/ Peter Case
Chief Financial Officer
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Merrill Lynch Trust Company
A division of Merrill Lynch Bank & Trust Co., FSB
1300 Merrill Lynch Drive MSC-0303
Pennington, New Jersey 08534
[LOGO]

March 7, 2008
Mr. Erik Rebich
General Counsel & Secretary
Crocs, Inc.
6328 Monarch Park Place
Niwot, CO 80503

RE: Crocs, Inc. Senior Executive Deferred Compensation Plan
Dear Mr. Rebich,

Thank you for submitting your Merrill Lynch FutureCompSM New Account Application for your non-qualified deferred compensation account(s).

We have reviewed and approved the account(s) and provided your Merrill Lynch Financial Advisor with your account number(s). They are as
follows:
Account number listing:
431-95Y41 FAO Ronald R. Snyder
431-95Y43 FAO Michael C. Margolis

431-95Y42 FAO John P. McCarvel
431-95Y44 FAO Peter S. Case

Your accounts have been assigned to the North Region trust team. Your Trust Officer is Albert Boccardo at (609) 274-1320 and your Trust
Administrator is Coleen Liverpool at (609) 274-5693.
Investment to the plan:
You may now commence investment activity by calling your Financial Advisor as soon as a contribution to the plan is made, however, please be
aware that all check deposits and check issuance requests must be forwarded to the Merrill Lynch Trust Company for processing, NOT your local

branch office.

Below is our address for your convenience:
Mailing Address:

Overnight Courier

Merrill Lynch Trust Company
Employee Benefit Trust Administration
P.O. Box 1522
Pennington, New Jersey 08534
Attention: Coleen Liverpool

Merrill Lynch Trust Company
Employee Benefit Trust Administration
1300 Merrill Lynch Drive, MSC-0303
Pennington, New Jersey 08534
Attention: Coleen Liverpool

To assure that you and your Plan Administrator have a complete file of all pertinent documents, enclosed please find the trust agreement, executed
by Merrill Lynch Trust Company. We recommend that you maintain this Agreement in a file with your Deferred Compensation Plan and Adoption
Agreement that you have already signed.
As a courtesy to our clients, we have provided the FutureComp Informational Guide with the following additional sample forms under separate
cover by email for your use in conjunction with your plan and trust account(s).
•

Contribution Form

•

Disbursement Form

•

Designation of Beneficiary Form

•

Eligible Participant/Payment Election Form

•

Sample Format for Plan Sponsor Department of Labor Filing (DOL)

Your Financial Advisor is, of course, available to assist you with questions.
Thank you for choosing the Merrill Lynch Trust Company for your retirement plan needs.

Sincerely,

MERRILL LYNCH TRUST COMPANY
A division of Merrill Lynch Bank & Trust Co., FSB
Enclosure

NON-QUALIFIED PLAN
TRUST AGREEMENT
This Non-Qualified Plan Trust Agreement ("Trust Agreement") entered into as of March 10, 2008 by and between Crocs, Inc. (the "Employer")
and Merrill Lynch Bank & Trust Co., FSB, (the "the Trustee") with respect to a trust forming part of the CROCS, INC. 2007 SENIOR EXECUTIVE
DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN, as the same may be amended from time to time (the "Plan").

WHEREAS, the Employer has adopted the Non-Qualified Deferred Compensation Plan identified above.
WHEREAS, the Employer has incurred or expects to incur liability under the terms of such Plan with respect to the individuals participating in
such Plan.

WHEREAS, the Employer wishes to establish a trust (the "Trust") and to contribute to the Trust assets that shall be held therein, subject to the
claims of the Employer's creditors in the event of the Employer's Insolvency, as herein defined, until paid to Plan participants and their beneficiaries in
such manner and at such times as specified in the Plan;

WHEREAS, it is the intention of the parties that this Trust shall constitute an unfunded arrangement and shall not affect the status of the Plan as
an unfunded plan maintained for the purpose of providing deferred compensation for a select group of management or highly compensated employees
for purpose of Title I of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.

WHEREAS, it is the intention of the Employer to make contributions to the Trust to provide itself with a source of funds to assist it in the meeting
of its liabilities under the Plan;

NOW, THEREFORE, the parties do hereby establish the Trust and agree that the Trust shall be comprised, held and disposed of as follows:
Section 1. Establishment Of Trust

(a)

Deposit of Funds.

The Employer hereby deposits with the Trustee in trust such cash and/or marketable securities, if any, which shall

become the principal of the Trust to be held, administered and disposed of by the Trustee as provided in this Trust Agreement.

(b)

Irrevocability. The Trust hereby established shall be irrevocable.

(c)

Grantor Trust. The Trust is intended to be a grantor trust, of which the Employer is the grantor, within the meaning of subpart E,
part I, subchapter J, chapter 1, subtitle A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and shall be construed accordingly.

(d)

Trust Assets. The principal of the Trust, and any earnings thereon, shall be held separate and apart from other funds of the Employer
and shall be used exclusively for the uses and purposes of Plan participants and general creditors as herein set forth. Plan participants
and their beneficiaries shall have no preferred claim on, or any beneficial ownership interest in, any assets of the Trust. Any rights
created under the Plan and this Trust Agreement shall be mere unsecured contractual rights of Plan Participants and their beneficiaries
against the Employer. Any assets held by the Trust will be subject to the claims of the Employer's general creditors under federal and
state law in the event of Insolvency, as defined in Section 3(a) herein.

(e)

Additional Deposits.

The Employer, in its sole discretion, may at any time, or from time to time, make additional deposits of cash or

other property in trust with the Trustee to augment the principal to be held, administered and disposed of by the Trustee as provided in
this Trust Agreement. Neither the Trustee nor any Plan participant or beneficiary shall have any right to compel such additional deposits.

(f)

Acceptance of Additional Deposits. The Trustee shall not be obligated to receive such cash and/or property unless prior thereto the
Trustee has agreed that such cash and/or property is acceptable to the Trustee and the Trustee has received such reconciliation, allocation,
investment or other information concerning, or representation with respect to, the cash and/or property as the Trustee may require. The
Trustee shall have no duty or authority to (a) require any deposits to be made under the Plan or to the Trustee; (b) compute any amount
to be deposited under the Plan to the Trustee; or (c) determine whether amounts received by the Trustee comply with the Plan. Assets of
the Trust may, in the Trustee's discretion, be held in an account with an affiliate of the Trustee.

(g)

Excess Amount.

Notwithstanding Section 1(b), the Employer may certify at any time to the Trustee a specified amount by which the

assets of the Trust exceed all liabilities of the Plan (the "Excess Amount") and demand that the Trustee return the Excess Amount to the
Employer. The Trustee shall be entitled to conclusively rely on any such certification, and shall return the Excess Amount to the
Employer as soon as administratively practicable after receipt of such certification. The Trustee shall have no duty, responsibility, or
authority to calculate any Excess Amount or to determine whether returning any Excess Amount to the Employer complies with any
applicable laws or regulations. The Trustee shall not be liable to the Employer or any third-party for any damages whatsoever arising
from Trustees return to the Employer of any Excess Amount.

Section 2. Payments To Plan Participants And Their Beneficiaries

(a)

Payment of Benefits by Trustee. With respect to each Plan participant, the Employer shall deliver to the Trustee a schedule (the
"Payment Schedule") that indicates the amounts payable in respect of the participant (and his or her beneficiaries), that provides a
formula or other instructions acceptable to the Trustee for determining the amounts so payable, the form in which such amounts are to be
paid (as provided for or available under the Plan), and the time of commencement for payment of such amounts. The Payment Schedule
shall be delivered to the Trustee not more than thirty (30) business days nor fewer than fifteen (15) business days prior to the first date
on which a payment is to be made to the Plan participant. Any change to a Payment Schedule shall be delivered to the Trustee not more
than thirty (30) business days nor fewer than fifteen (15) business days prior to the date on which the first payment is to be made in
accordance with the changed Payment Schedule. Except as otherwise provided herein, the Trustee shall make payments to Plan
participants and their beneficiaries in accordance with such Payment Schedule. The Trustee shall make provisions for the reporting and
withholding of any federal, state or local taxes that may be required to be withheld with respect to the payment of benefits pursuant to the
terms of the Plan and shall pay amounts withheld to the appropriate taxing authorities or determine that such amounts have been
reported, withheld and paid by the Employer, it being understood between the parties hereto that (1) the Employer shall on a timely basis
provide the Trustee specific information as to the amount of taxes to be withheld and (2) the Employer shall be obligated to receive such
withheld taxes from the Trustee and properly pay and report such amounts to the appropriate taxing authorities.

(b)

Entitlement to Benefits.

The entitlement of a Plan participant or his or her beneficiaries to benefits under the Plan shall be determined

by the Employer or such party as it shall designate under the Plan, and any claim for such benefits shall be considered and reviewed
under the procedures set out in the Plan.
(c)

Payment of Benefits by Employer. The Employer may make payment of benefits directly to Plan participants or their beneficiaries as
they become due under the terms of the Plan. If the Employer determines to make a payment of a deferred compensation benefit directly
to a
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participant or beneficiary as the benefit becomes payable to the participant or such participant's beneficiary under the terms of the Plan,
the Employer shall notify the Trustee of the decision to make payment of the benefit directly to the participant or the participant's
beneficiary prior to the time the benefit becomes payable to the participant or the participant's beneficiary. The Employer shall provide
written certification to the Trustee evidencing such payment, and may at that time or at a subsequent time request reimbursement from the
Trustee of the amount of such payment. The Trustee, upon receipt of such written certification and such request, shall distribute such
amount to the Employer. In addition, if the principal of the Trust, and any earnings thereon, are not sufficient to make payments of
benefits in accordance with the terms of the Plan, the Employer shall make the balance of each payment as it falls due. The Trustee shall
notify the Employer where principal and earnings are not sufficient.

(d)

No Duty to Determine Sufficiency.

The Trustee shall have no responsibility to determine whether the Trust is sufficient to meet the

liabilities under the Plan, and shall not be liable for payments or Plan liabilities in excess of the value of the assets held in the Trust.

Section 3. Trustee Responsibility Regarding Payments In The Event Of Insolvency

(a)

Insolvency. The Trustee shall cease payment of benefits to Plan participants and their beneficiaries if the Employer is Insolvent. The
Employer shall be considered "Insolvent" for purposes of this Trust Agreement if (i) the Employer is unable to pay its debts as they
become due, or (ii) the Employer is subject to a pending proceeding as a debtor under the United States Bankruptcy Code.

(b)

Notice of Insolvency. At all times during the continuance of this Trust, as provided in Section 1 (d) hereof, the principal and income
of the Trust, for which the Employer is treated as grantor and owner shall be subject to the claims of general creditors of the Employer
under federal and state law as set forth below.

(i)

The Board of Directors and the Chief Executive Officer of the Employer (or, if there is no Chief Executive Officer, the highest
ranking officer) shall have the duty to inform the Trustee in writing of the Insolvency of the Employer. If a person claiming to be
a creditor of the Employer alleges in writing to the Trustee that the Employer has become Insolvent, the Trustee shall determine
whether the Employer is Insolvent and, pending such determination, the Trustee shall discontinue payment of benefits to Plan
participants or their beneficiaries.

(ii)

Unless the Trustee has actual knowledge of the Insolvency of the Employer, or has received notice from the Employer or a
person claiming to be a creditor alleging that the Employer is Insolvent, the Trustee shall have no duty to inquire whether the
Employer is Insolvent. The Trustee may in all events rely on such evidence concerning the solvency of the Employer as may be
furnished to the Trustee and that provides the Trustee with a reasonable basis for making a determination concerning the
solvency of the Employer.

(iii)

If at any time the Trustee has determined that the Employer is Insolvent, the Trustee shall discontinue payments to Plan
participants or their beneficiaries and shall hold the assets of the Trust for the benefit of the general creditors of the Employer.
Nothing in this Trust Agreement shall in any way diminish any rights of Plan participants or their beneficiaries to pursue their
rights as general creditors of the Employer with respect to benefits due under the Plan or otherwise.
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(iv)

(c)

The Trustee shall resume the payment of benefits to Plan participants or their beneficiaries in accordance with Section 2 of this
Trust Agreement only after the Trustee has determined that the Employer is not Insolvent (or is no longer Insolvent).

Amount of Payments after Insolvency. Provided that there are sufficient assets, if the Trustee discontinues the payment of benefits
from the Trust pursuant to Section 3(b) hereof and subsequently resumes such payments, the first payment following such
discontinuance shall include the aggregate amount of all payments due to Plan participants or their beneficiaries under the terms of the
Plan for the period of such discontinuance, less the aggregate amount of any payments made to Plan participants provided for hereunder
during any such period of discontinuance; provided that the Employer has given the Trustee the information with respect to such
payments made during the period of discontinuance prior to resumption of payments by the Trustee.

(d)

Parent Assets after Insolvency. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 3, to the extent a parent corporation, if any
("Parent"), contributes Parent stock or other assets to the Trust to satisfy any subsidiary corporation's obligations to the Plan participants
and beneficiaries ("Parent Assets"), such Parent Assets are subject to claims of both the general creditors of the subsidiary corporation
as well as the general creditors of the Parent.

Section 4. Payments To The Employer
Except as provided in Section 1(g), Section 2(c) and Section 3 hereof, since the Trust is irrevocable, in accordance with Section 1(b) hereof, the
Employer shall have no right or power to direct the Trustee to return to the Employer or to divert to others any of the Trust assets before the payment of
all benefits have been made to Plan participants and their beneficiaries pursuant to the terms of the Plan and this Trust Agreement.

Section 5. Investment Authority

(a)

Investment of Principal and Interest. The Trustee shall invest and reinvest the principal and income of the Trust as directed by the
Employer (including directions that the Trustee follow Plan participants' deemed investment elections made in accordance with the terms
of the Plan), which directions may be changed from time to time, all in accordance with procedures established by the Trustee. The
Trustee may limit the categories of assets in which the Trust may be invested.

(b)

Voting Rights. The Trustee may invest in securities (including stock or rights to acquire stock) or obligations issued by the Employer.
All rights associated with assets of the Trust shall be exercised by the Trustee or the person designated by the Trustee, and shall in no
event be exercised by or rest with Plan participants, except that voting rights with respect to Trust assets will be exercised by the
Employer, unless an investment adviser has been appointed pursuant to Section 5(d) and voting authority has been delegated to such
investment adviser.

(c)

Substitution of Assets.

The Employer shall have the right at any time, and from time to time in its sole discretion, to substitute assets

of equal fair market value for any asset held by the Trust. This right is exercised by the Employer in a nonfiduciary capacity without the
approval or consent of any person in a fiduciary capacity.

(d)

Appointment of Investment Manager. The Employer may appoint one or more investment managers, including any entities
affiliated with the Trustee, who shall have the power to
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manage, acquire, or dispose of such portion of the assets of the Trust as the Employer shall determine subject to the following:
(i)

An investment manager shall act in accordance with the provisions of an investment management agreement entered into between
it and the Employer, an executed copy of which investment management agreement shall be filed with the Trustee;

(ii)

Each such investment manager must be: (i) registered as an investment adviser under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940; (ii) if
not registered as an investment adviser under such Act because of paragraph (1) of Section 203A(a) of such Act, is registered as
an investment adviser under the laws of the state (referred to in such paragraph (1)) in which it maintains its principal office and
place of business and satisfied any applicable filing requirements; (iii) a bank, as defined in said Act; (iv) an insurance company
qualified to manage, acquire and dispose of the assets of the Plan under the laws of more than one state of the United States; or
(v) an independent third party that shall be designated or appointed by the Employer, and that shall provide investment advice on
a discretionary or nondiscretionary basis with respect to that portion of the assets of the Trust as the Employer shall specify from
time to time by written direction(s) to the Trustee;

(iii)

The indicia of ownership of the assets of the Trust shall be held by the Trustee at all times, unless another custodian is appointed
by the Employer;

(iv)

Any entity affiliated with the Trustee may act as broker or dealer to execute transactions, including the purchase of any securities
directly distributed, underwritten, or issued by an entity affiliated with the Trustee, at standard commission rates, mark-ups or
concessions, and to provide other management or investment services with respect to such trust, including the custody of assets;

(v)

Any direction provided to the Trustee by an investment manager shall be provided in writing or given orally and confirmed in
writing, or by telephonic or electronic methods acceptable to the Trustee as soon as practicable. Alternatively, an investment
manager may provide investment instructions directly to the broker or dealer and receipt by the Trustee of a confirmation of the
transaction from the broker or dealer shall be conclusive evidence of such transactions. In either case, the Trustee shall have the
authority within twenty-four (24) hours of receipt of such direction from the investment manager or confirmation of a transaction
to instruct the investment manager to rescind the transaction if the Trustee determines that the investment is inconsistent with its
operational or administrative requirements; and

(vi)

The Trustee may pay any such investment manager for any such services from the assets of the Trust without reduction for any
fees or compensation paid to the Trustee for its services as trustee.

Notwithstanding any other provision of the Trust Agreement to the contrary, with respect to the investment of the assets of the Trust managed by
an investment manager, the Trustee shall have only the duty to follow the directions of the investment manager and the Trustee shall not be liable to
anyone and shall be completely indemnified and held harmless by the Employer:

(I)

for an act or omission of the investment manager (including an act or omission by the Trustee pursuant to the direction of the
investment manager) with respect to the investment of such assets;

(II)

for failing to act with respect to the investment or reinvestment of such assets absent direction from the investment manager; or
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(III)

for failing to invest, periodically review, diversify or otherwise deal with the investment of such assets.

In the event the Employer is Insolvent for purposes of Section 3 and the Employer fails to provide effective investment instructions to the Trustee
as provided in Section 5(a), the Trustee may appoint one or more investment advisers who are registered as investment advisers under the Investment
Advisers Act of 1940, who may be affiliates of the Trustee, to provide investment advice on a discretionary or nondiscretionary basis with respect to all
or a specified portion of the assets of the Trust.
(e)

Powers of Trustee. Subject to Section 5(a), the Trustee, or the Trustee's designee, is authorized and empowered:

(i)

To invest and reinvest Trust assets, together with the income therefrom, in common stock, preferred stock, convertible preferred
stock, bonds, debentures, convertible debentures and bonds, mortgages, notes, commercial paper and other evidences of
indebtedness (including those issued by the Trustee), shares of mutual funds (which funds may be sponsored, managed or
offered by an affiliate of the Trustee), guaranteed investment contracts, bank investment contracts, other securities, policies of life
insurance, annuity contracts, options, options to buy or sell securities or other assets, and all other property of any type (personal,
real or mixed, and tangible or intangible);

(ii)

To deposit or invest all or any part of the assets of the Trust in savings accounts or certificates of deposit or other deposits in a
bank or savings and loan association or other depository institution, including the Trustee or any of its affiliates, provided with
respect to such deposits with the Trustee or an affiliate the deposits bear a reasonable interest rate;

(iii)

To hold, manage, improve, repair and control all property, real or personal, forming part of the Trust; to sell, convey, transfer,
exchange, partition, lease for any term, even extending beyond the duration of this Trust, and otherwise dispose of the same from
time to time;

(iv)

To hold in cash, without liability for interest, such portion of the Trust as is pending investments, or payment of expenses, or the
distribution of benefits;

(v)

To take such actions as may be necessary or desirable to protect the Trust from loss due to the default on mortgages held in the
Trust including the appointment of agents or trustees in such other jurisdictions as may seem desirable, to transfer property to
such agents or trustees, to grant to such agents such powers as are necessary or desirable to protect the Trust, to direct such agent
or trustee, or to delegate such power to direct, and to remove such agent or trustee;

(vi)

To settle, compromise or abandon all claims and demands in favor of or against the Trust;

(vii)

To exercise all of the further rights, powers, options and privileges granted, provided for, or vested in trustees generally under
the laws of the state in which the Trustee has its principal place of business so that the powers conferred upon the Trustee herein
shall not be in limitation of any authority conferred by law, but shall be in addition thereto;

(viii)

To borrow money from any source and to execute promissory notes, mortgages or other obligations and to pledge or mortgage
any trust assets as security; and

(ix)

To maintain accounts at, execute transactions through, and lend on an adequately secured basis stocks, bonds or other securities
to, any brokerage or other firm, including any firm which is an affiliate of the Trustee.
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Section 6. Additional Powers Of The Trustee

To the extent necessary or which it deems appropriate to implement its powers under Section 5 or otherwise to fulfill any of its duties and
responsibilities as the Trustee of the Trust, the Trustee shall have the following additional powers and authority:
(a)

(b)

To register securities, or any other property, in its name or in the name of any nominee, including the name of any affiliate or the
nominee name designated by any affiliate, with or without indication of the capacity in which property shall be held, or to hold securities
in bearer form and to deposit any securities or other property in a depository or clearing corporation;

To designate and engage the services of, and to delegate powers and responsibilities to, such agents, representatives, advisers, counsel
and accountants as the Trustee considers necessary or appropriate, any of whom may be an affiliate of the Trustee or a person who
renders services to such an affiliate, and, as part of its expenses under this Trust Agreement, to pay their reasonable expenses and
compensation;

(c)

To make, execute and deliver, as the Trustee, any and all deeds, leases, mortgages, conveyances, waivers, releases or other instruments
in writing necessary or appropriate for the accomplishment of any of the powers listed in this Trust Agreement; and

(d)

Generally to do all other acts which the Trustee deems necessary or appropriate for the protection of the Trust.

Section 7. Disposition Of Income
During the term of this Trust Agreement, all income received by the Trust, net of expenses and taxes, shall be accumulated and reinvested.
Section 8. Accounting By The Trustee
The Trustee shall keep accurate and detailed records of all investments, receipts, disbursements, and all other transactions required to be made,
including such specific records as shall be agreed upon in writing between the Employer and the Trustee. Within ninety (90) calendar days following the
close of each calendar year and within ninety (90) calendar days after removal or resignation of the Trustee, the Trustee shall deliver to the Employer a
written account of its administration of the Trust during such year or during the period from the close of the last preceding year to the date of such
removal or resignation, setting forth all investments, receipts, disbursements and other transactions effected by it, including a description of all securities
and investments purchased and sold with the cost or net proceeds of such purchases or sales (accrued interest paid or receivable being shown
separately), and showing all cash, securities and other property held in the Trust at the end of such year or as of the date of such removal or resignation,
as the case may be. The Trustee may satisfy its obligation under this Section 8 by rendering to the Employer monthly statements setting forth the
information required by this Section separately for the month covered by the statement.

Section 9. Responsibility And Indemnity of the Trustee

(a)

Standard of Conduct.

The Trustee shall act with the care, skill, prudence and diligence under the circumstances then prevailing that a

prudent person acting in like capacity and familiar with such matters would use in the conduct of an enterprise of a like character and
with like aims, provided, however, that the Trustee shall incur no liability to any person for any action taken pursuant to a direction,
request or approval given by the Employer which is contemplated by, and in conformity with, the terms of the Plan and this Trust and is
given in writing by the Employer or in such other manner prescribed by the Trustee. The Trustee shall
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also incur no liability to any person for any failure to act in the absence of direction, request or approval from the Employer which is
contemplated by, and in conformity with, the terms of this Trust. In the event of a dispute between the Employer and a party, the Trustee
may apply to a court of competent jurisdiction to resolve the dispute.

(b)

Indemnification of Trustee. The Employer hereby indemnifies the Trustee and each of its affiliates (collectively, the "Indemnified
Parties") against, and shall hold them harmless from, any and all loss, claims, liability, and expense, including reasonable attorneys' fees,
imposed upon or incurred by any Indemnified Party as a result of any acts taken, or any failure to act, in accordance with the directions
from the Employer or any designee of the Employer, or by reason of the Indemnified Party's good faith execution of its duties with
respect to the Trust, including, but not limited to, its holding of assets of the Trust. The Trustee is authorized to prosecute or defend
actions, suits, claims or proceedings for the protection of Trust assets and of the Trustee in the performance of the duties of the Trustee
and to represent the Trust in all actions, suits, claims or proceedings. The Trustee shall have the authority to pay, contest or settle any
claim by or against the Trust by compromise, arbitration or otherwise; to release, in whole or in part, any claim belonging to the Trust to
the extent that the claim is deemed uncollectible by the Trustee. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Trustee may only pay or settle a claim
assessed against the Trust by the Employer if it is compelled to do so by a final order of a court of competent jurisdiction which is not
subject to appeal. The Employer agrees to indemnify the Trustee against the Trustee's costs, expenses and liabilities (including, without
limitation, attorneys' fees and expenses) relating thereto. The Employer's obligations in the foregoing regard shall be satisfied promptly
by the Employer, provided that in the event the loss, claim, liability or expense involved is determined by a no longer appealable final
judgment entered in a lawsuit or proceeding to have resulted from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of the Trustee, the Trustee
shall promptly on request thereafter return to the Employer any amount previously received by the Trustee under this Section with
respect to such loss, claim, liability or expense. If the Employer does not pay such costs, expenses and liabilities in a reasonably timely
manner, the Trustee may obtain payment from the Trust without direction from the Employer.

(c)

Legal Counsel. The Trustee may consult with legal counsel (who may also be counsel for the Employer generally) with respect to any
of its duties or obligations hereunder.

(d)

Other Advisers. The Trustee may hire agents, accountants, actuaries, investment advisers, financial consultants or other professionals
to assist it in performing any of its duties or obligations hereunder.

(e)

Authority of Trustee. The Trustee shall have, without exclusion, all powers conferred on the Trustee by applicable law, unless
expressly provided otherwise herein, provided, however, that if an insurance policy is held as an asset of the Trust, the Trustee shall
have no power to name a beneficiary of the policy other than the Trust, to assign the policy (as distinct from conversion of the policy to a
different form) other than to a successor Trustee, or to loan to any person the proceeds of any borrowing against such policy.

(f)

Loan Against Insurance Policy. However, notwithstanding the provisions of Section 9(e) above, the Trustee may loan to the
Employer the proceeds of any borrowing against an insurance policy held as an asset of the Trust.

(g)

Limitation on Trustee.

Notwithstanding any powers granted to the Trustee pursuant to this Trust Agreement or to applicable law, the

Trustee shall not have any power that could give this Trust the objective of carrying on a business and dividing the gains therefrom,
within the meaning of Section 301.7701-2 of the Procedure and Administrative Regulations promulgated pursuant to the Internal
Revenue Code.

8

Section 10. Compensation And Expenses Of The Trustee
The Trustee is authorized, unless otherwise agreed by the Trustee, to withdraw from the Trust without direction from the Employer the amount of
its fees in accordance with the fee schedule agreed to in writing by the Employer and the Trustee. The Employer shall pay all administrative expenses,
but if not so paid, the expenses shall be paid from the Trust.

Section 11. Resignation And Removal Of The Trustee
(a)

Resignation of Trustee. The Trustee may resign at any time by written notice to the Employer, which shall be effective sixty
(60) calendar days after receipt of such notice unless the Employer and the Trustee agree otherwise.

(b)

Removal of Trustee. The Trustee may be removed by the Employer on sixty (60) calendar days' written notice or upon shorter written
notice accepted by the Trustee.

(c)

Transfer of Assets to Successor.

(i)

Upon resignation or removal of the Trustee and appointment of a successor Trustee, all assets shall subsequently be transferred
to the successor Trustee. The transfer shall be completed within 60 days after receipt of notice of resignation, removal or transfer,
unless the Employer extends the time limit, provided that the Trustee is provided assurance by the Employer satisfactory to the
Trustee that all fees and expenses reasonably anticipated will be paid.

(ii)

Upon settlement of the account and transfer of the Trust assets to the successor Trustee, all rights and privileges under this Trust
Agreement shall vest in the successor Trustee and all responsibility and liability of the Trustee with respect to the Trust and
assets thereof shall terminate subject only to the requirement that the Trustee execute all necessary documents to transfer the Trust
assets to the successor Trustee.

Section 12. Appointment Of Successor

(a)

Employer Appointment of Successor. If the Trustee resigns or is removed in accordance with Section 11(a) or Section 11(b), the
Employer may appoint any third party, such as a bank trust department or other party that may be granted corporate trustee powers under
state law, as a successor to replace the Trustee upon resignation or removal. The appointment shall be effective when accepted in writing
by the new Trustee, who shall have all of the rights and powers of the former Trustee, including ownership rights in the Trust assets.
The former Trustee shall execute any instrument necessary or reasonably requested by the Employer or the successor Trustee to evidence
the transfer.

(b)

Court Appointment of Successor. If the Trustee resigns or is removed, a successor shall be appointed, in accordance with
Section 12(a) hereof, by the effective date of resignation or removal under Section 11(a) or Section 11(b). If no such appointment has
been made, the Trustee may apply to a court of competent jurisdiction for appointment of a successor or for instructions. All expenses of
the Trustee in connection with the proceeding shall be allowed as administrative expenses of the Trust.

(c)

Duty of Successor Trustee. The successor Trustee need not examine the records and acts of any prior Trustee and may retain or
dispose of existing Trust assets, subject to Sections 8 and 9. The successor Trustee shall not be responsible for and the Employer shall
indemnify and defend the successor Trustee from any claim or liability resulting from any action or inaction of any prior Trustee or from
any other past event, or any condition existing at the time it becomes successor Trustee.
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Section 13. Amendment Or Termination

(a)

Amendment.

This Trust Agreement may be amended by a written instrument executed by the Trustee and the Employer.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, no such amendment shall conflict with the terms of the Plan or shall make the Trust revocable, since the
Trust is irrevocable in accordance with Section 1(b) hereof.

(b)

Termination by Employer. The Trust shall not terminate until the date on which Plan participants and their beneficiaries are no longer
entitled to benefits pursuant to the terms of the Plan. Upon termination of the Trust any assets remaining in the Trust shall be returned to
the Employer. Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, if Parent Assets remain in the Trust at termination, such Parent Assets shall be
returned to Parent.

(c)

Termination with Participant Approval. Upon written approval of participants or beneficiaries entitled to payment of benefits
pursuant to the terms of the Plan, the Employer may terminate this Trust prior to the time all benefit payments under the Plan have been
made. All assets in the Trust at termination shall be returned to the Employer. Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, if Parent Assets
remain in the Trust at termination, such Parent Assets shall be returned to Parent.

Section 14. Miscellaneous
(a)

Severability. Any provision of this Trust Agreement prohibited by law shall be ineffective to the extent of any such prohibition,
without invalidating the remaining provisions hereof.

(b)

No Assignment of Benefits. Benefits payable to Plan participants and their beneficiaries under this Trust Agreement may not be
anticipated, assigned (either at law or in equity), alienated, pledged, encumbered or subjected to attachment, garnishment, levy, execution
or other legal or equitable process.

(c)

Governing Law. This Trust Agreement and its enforcement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the
State of New Jersey.

(d)

Survival.

The provisions of Sections 2(d), 3(b)(iii), 9(b) and 15 of this Trust Agreement shall survive termination of this Trust

Agreement.
(e)

Conflict with Plan Document.

The rights, duties, responsibilities, obligations and liabilities of the Trustee are as set forth in this

Trust Agreement, and no provision of the Plan or any other documents shall affect such rights, responsibilities, obligations and
liabilities. If there is a conflict between provisions of the Plan and this Trust Agreement with respect to any subject involving the Trustee,
including but not limited to the responsibility, authority or powers of the Trustee, the provisions of this Trust Agreement shall be
controlling.

(f)

Shareholder Communications Act. The Employer agrees that the Trustee will not supply the Employer's name to issuers of any
securities held in the Trust and, therefore, the Employer will not receive information regarding those securities directly from the issuer.
Instead, the Employer will receive information from the Trustee, unless the Employer notifies the Trustee in writing otherwise.
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Section 15. Arbitration
By signing this Trust Agreement, including this arbitration clause, the Employer and the Trustee agree as follows:

•

The Employer and the Trustee are giving up the right to sue each other in court, including the right to a trial by jury, except as provided
by the rules of the arbitration forum in which a claim is filed.

•

Arbitration awards are generally final and binding; a party's ability to have a court reverse or modify an arbitration award is very limited.

•

The ability of the Employer and the Trustee to obtain documents, witness statements and other discovery is generally more limited in
arbitration than in court proceedings.

•

The arbitrators do not have to explain the reason(s) for their award.

•

The panel of arbitrators will typically include a minority of arbitrators who were or are affiliated with the securities industry.

•

The rules of some arbitration forums may impose time limits for bringing a claim in arbitration. In some cases, a claim that is ineligible
for arbitration may be brought in court.

•

The rules of the arbitration forum in which the claim is filed, and any amendments thereto, shall be incorporated into this agreement.

The undersigned Employer and the Trustee agree that all controversies which may arise between the Employer and the Trustee in connection with
this Trust Agreement, including but not limited to those involving any transaction related to the Plan or the Plan accounts, or the construction,
performance, or breach of this or any other agreement between the Employer and the Trustee, whether entered into prior to, on, or subsequent to the date
hereof, shall be determined by arbitration.

Any arbitration under this Trust Agreement shall be conducted only before the New York Stock Exchange, Inc. ("NYSE"), an arbitration facility
provided by any other exchange of which Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated ("MLPF& S") is a member, or the National Association
of Securities Dealers, Inc. ("NASD"), and in accordance with its rules then in force.
The Employer may elect in the first instance whether arbitration shall be conducted before the NYSE, another exchange of which MLPF&
S is a member, or the NASD. If the Employer fails to make such election, by registered letter or telegram addressed to:

Director—Non-QualifiedDeferred Compensation Product
Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated
Retirement Group
1400 Merrill Lynch Drive, MSC 0602
Pennington, NJ 08534
before the expiration of five (5) days after receipt of a written request from the Trustee to make such election, then the Trustee may make such election.
Judgment upon the award of arbitrators may be entered in any court, state or federal, having jurisdiction. No person shall bring a putative or certified
class action to arbitration, nor seek to enforce any pre-dispute arbitration agreement against any person who has initiated in court a putative class action,
or who is a member of a putative class who has not opted out of the class with respect to any claims encompassed by the putative class action until:
(i)

the class certification is denied;

(ii)

the class is decertified; or

(iii)

the person is excluded from the class by the court.

Such forbearance to enforce an agreement to arbitrate shall not constitute a waiver of any rights under this Trust Agreement except to the extent
stated herein.
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Employer Copy
BY SIGNING THIS TRUST AGREEMENT, THE UNDERSIGNED EMPLOYER ACKNOWLEDGES (1) THAT, IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE ABOVE TERMS, THE UNDERSIGNED IS AGREEING ON BEHALF OF THE PLAN IN ADVANCE TO
ARBITRATE ANY CONTROVERSIES WHICH MAY ARISE WITH THE TRUSTEE AND (2) RECEIPT OF A COPY OF THIS
TRUST AGREEMENT, INCLUDING THIS ARBITRATION CLAUSE.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Employer and the Trustee have executed this Trust Agreement each by action of a duly authorized person.

Merrill Lynch Bank & Trust Co., FSB

Crocs, Inc.

«Employer»
By:

/s/ A. Scott Roberts

Name/Title: A. Scott Roberts / Trust Officer

Date:

3.10.08

By:

/s/ Erik Rebich

Name/Title: Erik Rebich / Secretary

Date:

2/27/08

Add second signature if required:
By:

/s/ Ronald R. Snyder

Name/Title: Ronald R. Snyder / President

Date:

2/28/08
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Trustee Copy
BY SIGNING THIS TRUST AGREEMENT, THE UNDERSIGNED EMPLOYER ACKNOWLEDGES (1) THAT, IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE ABOVE TERMS, THE UNDERSIGNED IS AGREEING ON BEHALF OF THE PLAN IN ADVANCE TO
ARBITRATE ANY CONTROVERSIES WHICH MAY ARISE WITH THE TRUSTEE AND (2) RECEIPT OF A COPY OF THIS
TRUST AGREEMENT, INCLUDING THIS ARBITRATION CLAUSE.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Employer and the Trustee have executed this Trust Agreement each by action of a duly authorized person.
Merrill Lynch Bank & Trust Co., FSB

Crocs, Inc.

«Employer»
By:

/s/ A. Scott Roberts

Name/Title: A. Scott Roberts / Trust Officer

Date:

3.10.08

By:

/s/ Erik Rebich

Name/Title: Erik Rebich / Secretary

Date:

2/27/08

Add second signature if required:
By:

/s/ Ronald R. Snyder

Name/Title: Ronald R. Snyder / President

Date:

2/28/08
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Exhibit 10.38
AMENDMENT NO. 5 TO LOAN AGREEMENT
THIS AMENDMENT NO. 5 TO LOAN AGREEMENT (this "Amendment"), dated and effective as of September 30, 2008, is entered into by
and between Union Bank of California, N.A. ("Bank") and Crocs, Inc., a Delaware corporation ("Borrower"), with reference to the following facts:
RECITALS

A. Borrower and Bank are parties to that certain Loan Agreement, dated as of May 8, 2007 (as heretofore amended, the "Loan Agreement"),
pursuant to which Bank has provided Borrower with certain credit facilities.
B. Borrower has requested that Bank amend and waive compliance with the Loan Agreement as set forth below.
C. Bank is willing to grant such amendment and waiver on the terms and conditions set forth below.

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the amendment and waiver herein granted and for other good and valuable consideration the receipt and
adequacy of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereby agree as follows:
1. Initially capitalized terms used in this Amendment (including without limitation in the recitals hereto) without definition shall have the
respective meanings given thereto in the Loan Agreement.

2. Bank hereby waives compliance by Borrower for the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2008 with the covenants set forth in Sections 4.6,
4.7 and 4.8 of the Loan Agreement, and agrees that noncompliance therewith and any related event such as any failure to report any such purported
noncompliance, shall not in any event constitute an Event of Default under the Loan Agreement.
3. Effective as of the date written above, each of Sections 4.6, 4.7 and 4.8 of the Loan Agreement is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced
with "[Intentionally Omitted]".

4.

In consideration of the amendment and waiver provided for above, Borrower hereby agrees:
(i) that availability under Borrower's Revolving Loan shall immediately be reduced to the sum of Nineteen Million Eight Hundred
Thousand Dollars ($19,800,000) (representing the principal amount outstanding under the Revolving Note as of on or about November 14,
2008), plus Two Million Six Hundred Twenty One Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($2,621,500) (representing the amount available to be
drawn under the one standby letter of credit (the "Standby L/C") issued under the Standby L/C Line,
(ii) that the Standby L/C will not be renewed or extended upon its current maturity or expiry date,
(iii) that Borrower will no longer be able to request advances or the issuance of letters of credit under the Loan Agreement,

(iv) that if the amount outstanding under the Revolving Loan plus the amount available to be drawn under the Standby L/C shall at any
time exceed the sum of (A) 70% of the gross domestic accounts receivable of Borrower, and (B) 40% of the gross domestic inventory of
Borrower, Borrower shall immediately (x) pay down the principal amount outstanding under the Revolving Loan (plus the amount available to
be drawn under the Standby L/C) in cash, in the amount of such excess or, (y) if the full principal amount outstanding under the Revolving Loan
has already been paid in full, provide cash collateral with respect to the full amount available to be drawn under the Standby L/C,

(v) to provide Bank with a projected weekly cash flow statement for December, 2008 by no later than Wednesday, November, 19, 2008
and a projected weekly cash flow statement for January

and February 2009 by no later than Wednesday, November, 26, 2008, each in form satisfactory to Bank,

(vi) to provide Bank, by Monday of each week for the preceding week, with a weekly borrowing base certificate based upon the advance
rates disclosed in section (iv), above, and
(vii) to provide Bank, by Monday of each week for the preceding week, with a weekly reconciliation of actual cash balances to the
projected weekly cash flow statement as required in section (v), above.

5.

The effectiveness of this Amendment shall be subject to the prior satisfaction of each of the following conditions:

(a) Bank shall have received an original of this Amendment, duly executed by Borrower; and

(b) Borrower shall have paid Bank all legal fees and expenses incurred in connection with this Amendment (estimated not to exceed
Seven Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($7,500)), which may be debited from any of Borrower's accounts with Bank; and
(c) Borrower shall have paid Bank a waiver and amendment fee in the amount of One Hundred Twelve Thousand Dollars ($112,000),
which may be debited from any of Borrower's accounts with Bank.
6. All representations and warranties made in the Loan Agreement or in any other documents or instruments relating thereto, including without
limitation any Loan Documents furnished in connection with this Amendment, after giving effect to this Amendment, shall survive the execution and
delivery of this Amendment and the other Loan Documents, and nothing shall affect the representations and warranties or the right of Bank to rely
thereon.

7. Borrower is not aware of any events which now constitute, or with the passage of time or the giving of notice, or both, would constitute, an
Event of Default under the Loan Agreement as amended by this Amendment.
8. The Loan Agreement, each of the other Loan Documents, and any and all other agreements, documents or instruments now or hereafter
executed and delivered pursuant to the terms of this Amendment, or pursuant to the terms of the Loan Agreement as amended hereby, are hereby
amended so that any reference therein to the Loan Agreement shall mean a reference to the Loan Agreement as amended hereby.
9. The Loan Agreement and the other Loan Documents remain in full force and effect and Borrower herby ratifies and confirms its agreements
and covenants contained therein. Borrower hereby confirms that, after giving effect to this Amendment, no Event of Default exists as of the date hereof.

10. Any provision of this Amendment held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unenforceable shall not impair or invalidate the
remainder of this Agreement and the effect thereof shall be confined to the provision so held to be invalid or unenforceable.
11. THIS AMENDMENT AND ALL OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS EXECUTED PURSUANT HERETO SHALL BE DEEMED TO
HAVE BEEN MADE AND TO BE PERFORMABLE IN THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA AND SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND
CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA.
12. This Amendment is binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of Bank and Borrower and their respective successors and assigns; provided
that Borrower may not assign or transfer any of its rights or obligations hereunder without the prior written consent of the Bank.
2

13. This Amendment may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which when so executed shall be deemed to be an original, but all of
which when taken together shall constitute one and the same instrument.
14. THIS AMENDMENT, TOGETHER WITH THE OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS AS WRITTEN, REPRESENTS THE FINAL
AGREEMENT BETWEEN BANK AND BORROWER AS TO THE SUBJECT MATTER HEREOF AND MAY NOT BE CONTRADICTED BY
EVIDENCE OF PRIOR, CONTEMPORANEOUS OR SUBSEQUENT ORAL AGREEMENTS OF THE PARTIES. THERE ARE NO
UNWRITTEN ORAL AGREEMENTS BETWEEN BANK AND BORROWER.
[Balance of Page Intentionally Left Blank]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have entered into this Amendment by their respective duly authorized officers as of the date first
above written.
CROCS, INC.

By:

/s/ Russ Hammer

Printed Name: Russ Hammer
Title:

Chief Financial Officer & SVP

UNION BANK OF CALIFORNIA, N.A.

By:

/s/ JON STRAYER

Printed Name: Jon Strayer
Title:

SVP
[Signature Page to Amendment No. 5 to Loan Agreement]
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Exhibit 10.39
AMENDMENT NO. 6 TO LOAN AGREEMENT
THIS AMENDMENT NO. 6 TO LOAN AGREEMENT (this "Amendment"), dated and effective as of December 1, 2008, is entered into by and
between Union Bank of California, N.A. ("Bank") and Crocs, Inc., a Delaware corporation ("Borrower"), with reference to the following facts:
RECITALS

A. Borrower and Bank are parties to that certain Loan Agreement, dated as of May 8, 2007 (as heretofore amended, the "Loan Agreement"),
pursuant to which Bank has provided Borrower with certain credit facilities.
B. Borrower has requested that Bank amend the Loan Agreement as set forth below.
C. Bank is willing to grant such amendment on the terms and conditions set forth below.

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the amendment and for other good and valuable consideration the receipt and adequacy of which are
hereby acknowledged, the parties hereby agree as follows:
1. Initially capitalized terms used in this Amendment (including without limitation in the recitals hereto) without definition shall have the
respective meanings given thereto in the Loan Agreement.

2.

Section 1.1.1 of the Loan Agreement hereby is amended and restated in its entirety to read as follows:

"1.1.1 The Committed Loan.

Bank has loaned to Borrower the principal amount of Twenty Two Million Four Hundred Twenty One

Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($22,421,500). The foregoing loan hereafter is referred to as the 'Committed Loan.' The proceeds of the Committed
Loan have been used for Borrower's general working capital purposes and for the issuance of letters of credit. Borrower may not request and Bank shall
not make additional advances or issue additional letters of credit hereunder. Borrower may repay, but not reborrow, all or a part of the Committed Loan
in amounts of not less than Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($500,000) in accordance with the terms of the Committed Note (defined below). The
Committed Loan shall be repaid on or before December 31, 2008, at which time all unpaid principal and interest on the Committed Loan shall be due
and payable. The Committed Loan shall be evidenced by Bank's standard form of commercial promissory note (the 'Committed Note'). Bank shall enter
each amount borrowed and repaid in Bank's records and such entries shall be deemed correct. Omission of Bank to make any such entries shall not
discharge Borrower of its obligation to repay in full with interest all amounts borrowed."
3.

References in the Loan Agreement and/or other Loan Documents to the "Revolving Loan" shall mean and refer to the "Committed Loan."

4. If the amount outstanding under the Committed Loan shall at any time exceed the sum of (A) 70% of the gross domestic accounts receivable
of Borrower, and (B) 40% of the gross domestic inventory of Borrower, Borrower shall immediately pay down the principal amount outstanding under
the Revolving Loan in cash, in the amount of such excess.
5. Bank hereby waives Borrower's failure to deliver to Bank, by November 26, 2008, Borrower's projected weekly cash flow statement for
January and February 2009. Borrower shall deliver to Bank, by December 9, 2008, Borrower's projected weekly cash flow statement for the first
quarter of 2009. Such projections shall be in form and content reasonably acceptable to Bank.
6.

The effectiveness of this Amendment shall be subject to the prior satisfaction of each of the following conditions:

(a) Bank shall have received an original of this Amendment, duly executed by Borrower; and

(b) Borrower shall have executed and delivered to Bank the Committed Note and such other documents and instruments as Bank may
reasonably request; and
(c) Borrower shall have paid Bank all legal fees and expenses incurred in connection with this Amendment, estimated not to exceed
$5,000, which may be debited from any of Borrower's accounts with Bank.

7. All representations and warranties made in the Loan Agreement or in any other documents or instruments relating thereto, including without
limitation any Loan Documents furnished in connection with this Amendment, after giving effect to this Amendment, shall survive the execution and
delivery of this Amendment and the other Loan Documents, and nothing shall affect the representations and warranties or the right of Bank to rely
thereon.
8. Borrower is not aware of any events which now constitute, or with the passage of time or the giving of notice, or both, would constitute, an
Event of Default under the Loan Agreement as amended by this Amendment.
9. The Loan Agreement, each of the other Loan Documents, and any and all other agreements, documents or instruments now or hereafter
executed and delivered pursuant to the terms of this Amendment, or pursuant to the terms of the Loan Agreement as amended hereby, are hereby
amended so that any reference therein to the Loan Agreement shall mean a reference to the Loan Agreement as amended hereby.

10. The Loan Agreement and the other Loan Documents remain in full force and effect and Borrower herby ratifies and confirms its agreements
and covenants contained therein. Borrower hereby confirms that, after giving effect to this Amendment, no Event of Default exists as of the date hereof.

11. Any provision of this Amendment held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unenforceable shall not impair or invalidate the
remainder of this Agreement and the effect thereof shall be confined to the provision so held to be invalid or unenforceable.
12. THIS AMENDMENT AND ALL OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS EXECUTED PURSUANT HERETO SHALL BE DEEMED TO
HAVE BEEN MADE AND TO BE PERFORMABLE IN THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA AND SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND
CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA.
13. This Amendment is binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of Bank and Borrower and their respective successors and assigns; provided
that Borrower may not assign or transfer any of its rights or obligations hereunder without the prior written consent of the Bank.
14. This Amendment may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which when so executed shall be deemed to be an original, but all of
which when taken together shall constitute one and the same instrument.
15. THIS AMENDMENT, TOGETHER WITH THE OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS AS WRITTEN, REPRESENTS THE FINAL
AGREEMENT BETWEEN BANK AND BORROWER AS TO THE SUBJECT MATTER HEREOF AND MAY NOT BE CONTRADICTED BY
EVIDENCE OF PRIOR, CONTEMPORANEOUS OR SUBSEQUENT ORAL AGREEMENTS OF THE PARTIES. THERE ARE NO
UNWRITTEN ORAL AGREEMENTS BETWEEN BANK AND BORROWER.
[Balance of Page Intentionally Left Blank ]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have entered into this Amendment by their respective duly authorized officers as of the date first
above written.
CROCS, INC.

By:

/s/ Russ Hammer

Printed Name: Russ Hammer
Title:

Chief Financial Officer & SVP

UNION BANK OF CALIFORNIA, N.A.

By:

/s/ JON STRAYER

Printed Name: Jon Strayer
Title:

SVP
[Signature Page to Amendment No. 6 to Loan Agreement]
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Exhibit 10.40
AMENDMENT NO. 7 TO LOAN AGREEMENT
THIS AMENDMENT NO. 7 TO LOAN AGREEMENT (this "Amendment"), dated and effective as of December 19, 2008, is entered into by
and between Union Bank of California, N.A. ("Bank") and Crocs, Inc., a Delaware corporation ("Borrower"), with reference to the following facts:
RECITALS

A. Borrower and Bank are parties to that certain Loan Agreement, dated as of May 8, 2007 (as heretofore amended, the "Loan Agreement"),
pursuant to which Bank has provided Borrower with certain credit facilities.
B. Borrower has requested that Bank amend the Loan Agreement as set forth below.
C. Bank is willing to grant such amendment on the terms and conditions set forth below.

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the amendment and for other good and valuable consideration the receipt and adequacy of which are
hereby acknowledged, the parties hereby agree as follows:
1. Initially capitalized terms used in this Amendment (including without limitation in the recitals hereto) without definition shall have the
respective meanings given thereto in the Loan Agreement.

2. The sentence in Section 1.1.1 of the Loan Agreement which reads as follows: "The Committed Loan shall be repaid on or before
December 31, 2008, at which time all unpaid principal and interest on the Committed Loan shall be due and payable," hereby is amended and restated in
its entirety to read as follows: "The Committed Loan shall be repaid on or before February 16, 2009, at which time all unpaid principal and interest on
the Committed Loan shall be due and payable."

3. Bank shall refer to Borrower two (2) consultants for the purpose of verifying Borrower's cash flow and borrowing base projections;
Borrower shall, at Borrower's expense, engage one (1) such consultant no later than January 12, 2009, and such consultant shall deliver to Bank, in
form and content reasonably acceptable to Bank, verification of Borrower's cash flow and borrowing base projections, by no later than February 10,
2009.

4. Borrower shall, at Borrower's expense, engage Great American Appraisal no later than January 5, 2009, and Great American shall deliver to
Bank, in form and content reasonably acceptable to Bank, an appraisal of Borrower's domestic inventory, by no later than February 10, 2009.
5. Bank hereby suspends Borrower's delivery to Bank of Borrower's projected weekly cash flow statement and borrowing base certificate
otherwise due for the last two (2) weeks of December, 2008, until January 5, 2009, at which time Borrower shall deliver the same to Bank. Such
projections and borrowing base certificate shall be in form and content reasonably acceptable to Bank.
6.

The effectiveness of this Amendment shall be subject to the prior satisfaction of each of the following conditions:

(a) Bank shall have received an original of this Amendment, duly executed by Borrower; and

(b) Bank shall have received an original of that certain Intellectual Property Security Agreement, in form and content reasonably
acceptable to Bank, duly executed by Borrower; and

(c) Borrower shall have executed and delivered to Bank an amended and restated Committed Note and such other documents and
instruments as Bank may reasonably request; and

(d) Borrower shall have paid Bank all legal fees and expenses incurred in connection with this Amendment, which may be debited from
any of Borrower's accounts with Bank.
7. All representations and warranties made in the Loan Agreement or in any other documents or instruments relating thereto, including without
limitation any Loan Documents furnished in connection

with this Amendment, after giving effect to this Amendment, shall survive the execution and delivery of this Amendment and the other Loan
Documents, and nothing shall affect the representations and warranties or the right of Bank to rely thereon.

8. Borrower is not aware of any events which now constitute, or with the passage of time or the giving of notice, or both, would constitute, an
Event of Default under the Loan Agreement as amended by this Amendment.
9. The Loan Agreement, each of the other Loan Documents, and any and all other agreements, documents or instruments now or hereafter
executed and delivered pursuant to the terms of this Amendment, or pursuant to the terms of the Loan Agreement as amended hereby, are hereby
amended so that any reference therein to the Loan Agreement shall mean a reference to the Loan Agreement as amended hereby.

10. The Loan Agreement and the other Loan Documents remain in full force and effect and Borrower herby ratifies and confirms its agreements
and covenants contained therein. Borrower hereby confirms that, after giving effect to this Amendment, no Event of Default exists as of the date hereof.

11. Any provision of this Amendment held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unenforceable shall not impair or invalidate the
remainder of this Agreement and the effect thereof shall be confined to the provision so held to be invalid or unenforceable.
12. THIS AMENDMENT AND ALL OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS EXECUTED PURSUANT HERETO SHALL BE DEEMED TO
HAVE BEEN MADE AND TO BE PERFORMABLE IN THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA AND SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND
CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA.
13. This Amendment is binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of Bank and Borrower and their respective successors and assigns; provided
that Borrower may not assign or transfer any of its rights or obligations hereunder without the prior written consent of the Bank.
14. This Amendment may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which when so executed shall be deemed to be an original, but all of
which when taken together shall constitute one and the same instrument.
15. THIS AMENDMENT, TOGETHER WITH THE OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS AS WRITTEN, REPRESENTS THE FINAL
AGREEMENT BETWEEN BANK AND BORROWER AS TO THE SUBJECT MATTER HEREOF AND MAY NOT BE CONTRADICTED BY
EVIDENCE OF PRIOR, CONTEMPORANEOUS OR SUBSEQUENT ORAL AGREEMENTS OF THE PARTIES. THERE ARE NO
UNWRITTEN ORAL AGREEMENTS BETWEEN BANK AND BORROWER.
[Balance of Page Intentionally Left Blank ]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have entered into this Amendment by their respective duly authorized officers as of the date first
above written.
CROCS, INC.

By:

/s/ RUSS HAMMER

Printed Name: Russ Hammer
Title:

Chief Financial Officer

UNION BANK OF CALIFORNIA, N.A.

By:

/s/ JON STRAYER

Printed Name: Jon Strayer
Title:

SVP
[Signature Page to Amendment No. 7 to Loan Agreement]

Acknowledged and Agreed:

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NA

By:

/s/ BRIAN MCDOUGAL

Printed Name: Brian McDougal
Title:

Vice President

[Acknowledgement Page to Amendment No. 7 to Loan Agreement]

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY SECURITY AGREEMENT
This Intellectual Property Security Agreement (the "Agreement") is made as of December 19, 2008, by and between Crocs, Inc., a Delaware
corporation ("Grantor"), and Union Bank, N.A. (formerly known as Union Bank of California, N.A.; "Secured Party").

RECITALS

A. Secured Party has agreed to make certain advances of money and to extend certain financial accommodations to Grantor (the "Loans") in the
amounts and manner set forth in that certain Loan Agreement, dated as of May 8, 2007 (as amended from time to time, including by that certain
Amendment No. 7 to Loan Agreement of even date herewith, the "Loan Agreement"). All capitalized terms used herein without definition shall have the
meanings ascribed to them in the Loan Agreement)
B. Secured Party is willing to make the Loans to Grantor, but only upon the condition, among others, that Grantor shall grant to Secured Party a
security interest in all of Grantor's right title, and interest in, to and under all of the Collateral whether presently existing or hereafter acquired.

NOW, THEREFORE, THE PARTIES HERETO AGREE AS FOLLOWS:
1. Grant of Security Interest. As collateral security for the prompt and complete payment and performance of all of Grantor's present or future
indebtedness, obligations and liabilities to Secured Party, Grantor hereby grants a security interest and mortgage to Secured Party, as security, in and to
Grantor's entire right, title and interest in, to and under all of its intellectual property, including without limitation the following (all of which shall
collectively be called the "Collateral"):
(a) Any and all trade secrets, and any and all intellectual property rights in computer software and computer software products now or
hereafter existing, created, acquired or held;
(b) Any and all design rights which may be available to Grantor now or hereafter existing, created, acquired or held;
(c) All patents, patent applications and like protections including without limitation improvements, divisions, continuations, renewals,
reissues, extensions and continuations in part of the same, including without limitation the patents and patent applications set forth on Exhibit A
attached hereto (collectively, the "Patents");

(d) Any trademark and servicemark rights, whether registered or not, applications to register and registrations of the same and like
protections, and the entire goodwill of the business of Grantor connected with and symbolized by such trademarks, including without limitation
those set forth on Exhibit B attached hereto (collectively, the "Trademarks");
(e) Any and all claims for damages by way of past, present and future infringement of any of the rights included above, with the right, but
not the obligation, to sue for and collect such damages for said use or infringement of the intellectual property rights identified above;
(f) All licenses or other rights to use any of the Trademarks or Patents, and all license fees and royalties arising from such use to the
extent permitted by such license or rights;
(g) All amendments, renewals and extensions of any of the Copyrights, Trademarks or Patents; and
(h) All proceeds and products of the foregoing, including without limitation all payments under insurance or any indemnity or warranty
payable in respect of any of the foregoing. Secured Party understands and agrees that Grantor may from time to time abandon or fail to renew
elements of the Collateral for reasons that are in the best interest of the company and its business as determined in Grantor's good faith business
judgment. Such Collateral will be, upon written
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request from and at the sole expense of Grantor, released as Collateral by Secured Party without penalty to Grantor.

2.

Covenants and Warranties. Grantor represents, warrants, covenants and agrees as follows:
(a) Grantor or its subsidiaries are now the sole owner of the Collateral, except for licenses granted by Grantor and or its corporate
subsidiary entities to its customers in the ordinary course of business;
(b) Except as set forth in the Schedule, Grantor's rights as a licensee of intellectual property do not give rise to more than five percent
(5%) of its gross revenue in any given month, including without limitation revenue derived from the sale, licensing, rendering or disposition of
any product or service;
(c) Performance of this Agreement does not conflict with or result in a breach of any agreement to which Grantor is party or by which
Grantor is bound;

(d) During the term of this Agreement, Grantor will not transfer or otherwise encumber any interest in the Collateral, except for licenses
granted by Grantor to its affiliated entities or in the ordinary course of business or as set forth in this Agreement;

(e) To its knowledge, except as set forth on the schedule attached hereto, each of the Patents is valid and enforceable, and no part of the
Collateral has been judged invalid or unenforceable, in whole or in part, and no claim has been made that any part of the Collateral violates the
rights of any third party;
(f) Grantor shall deliver to Secured Party within thirty (30) days of the last day of each fiscal quarter, a report signed by Grantor, in form
reasonably acceptable to Secured Party, listing any applications or registrations that Grantor has made or filed in respect of any patents or
trademarks and the status of any outstanding applications or registrations and a list of any patents or trademarks that have been abandoned or
have not been renewed. Grantor shall promptly advise Secured Party of any material change in the composition of the Collateral, including but
not limited to any subsequent ownership right of the Grantor in or to any Trademark or Patent not specified in this Agreement;
(g) Except as otherwise specifically set forth herein, Grantor shall use commercially reasonable efforts (including consistent with
Grantor's past practice) to (i) protect, defend and maintain the validity and enforceability of the Trademarks and Patents (ii) detect infringements
of the Trademarks and Patents and promptly advise Secured Party in writing of material infringements detected and (iii) not allow any
Trademarks or Patents to be abandoned, forfeited or dedicated to the public without the written consent of Secured Party, which shall not be
unreasonably withheld;

2.2 Grantor shall register or cause to be registered (to the extent not already registered) with the United States Patent and Trademark Office those
registerable intellectual property rights now owned or hereafter developed or acquired by Grantor to the extent that Grantor, in its reasonable business
judgment, deems it appropriate to so protect such intellectual property rights;
2.3 Grantor shall, on a quarterly basis, give Secured Party written notice of any applications or registrations of intellectual property rights filed
with the United States Patent and Trademark Office, including the date of such filing and the registration or application numbers, if any;
2.4 Secured Party may audit the Collateral to confirm compliance with this Section, provided such audit may not occur more often than twice per
year, unless an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing;

2.5 This Agreement creates, and in the case of after acquired Collateral, this Agreement will create at the time Grantor first has rights in such after
acquired Collateral, in favor of Secured Party a
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valid and perfected first priority security interest in the Collateral in the United States securing the payment and performance of the obligations
evidenced by the Loan Documents;

2.6 All information heretofore, herein or hereafter supplied to Secured Party by or on behalf of Grantor with respect to the Collateral is accurate
and complete in all material respects;
2.7 Grantor shall not enter into any agreement that would materially impair or conflict with Grantor's obligations hereunder without Secured
Party's prior written consent, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld. Grantor shall not permit the inclusion in any material contract to which
it becomes a party of any provisions that could or might in any way prevent the creation of a security interest in Grantor's rights and interests in any
property included within the definition of the Collateral acquired under such contracts; and

2.8 Upon any executive officer of Grantor obtaining actual knowledge thereof, Grantor will promptly notify Secured Party in writing of any event
that materially adversely affects the value of any Collateral, the ability of Grantor to dispose of any Collateral or the rights and remedies of Secured
Party in relation thereto, including the levy of any legal process against any of the Collateral.
3. Secured Party's Rights. Secured Party shall have the right, but not the obligation, to take, at Grantor's sole expense, any actions that Grantor
is required under this Agreement to take but which Grantor fails to take, after fifteen (15) days' notice to Grantor. Grantor shall reimburse and
indemnify Secured Party for all reasonable costs and reasonable expenses incurred in the reasonable exercise of its rights under this section 3.
4. Inspection Rights . Grantor hereby grants to Secured Party and its employees, representatives and agents the right to visit, during reasonable
hours upon prior reasonable written notice to Grantor, any of Grantor's plants and facilities that manufacture, install or store products (or that have done
so during the prior six month period) that are sold utilizing any of the Collateral, and to inspect the products and quality control records relating thereto
upon reasonable written notice to Grantor and as often as may be reasonably requested.
5.

Further Assurances; Attorney in Fact.

(a) On a continuing basis, Grantor will make, execute, acknowledge and deliver, and file and record in the proper filing and recording
places in the United States, all such instruments, including appropriate financing and continuation statements and collateral agreements and
filings with the United States Patent and Trademark Office, and take all such action as may reasonably be deemed necessary or advisable, or as
requested by Secured Party, to perfect Secured Party's security interest in all Patents and Trademarks and otherwise to carry out the intent and
purposes of this Agreement, or for assuring and confirming to Secured Party the grant or perfection of a security interest in all Collateral.
(b) Grantor hereby irrevocably appoints Secured Party as Grantor's attorney in fact, with full authority in the place and stead of Grantor
and in the name of Grantor, from time to time in Secured Party's discretion, to take any action and to execute any instrument which Secured
Party may deem necessary or advisable to accomplish the purposes of this Agreement, including (i) to modify, in its sole discretion, this
Agreement without first obtaining Grantor's approval of or signature to such modification by amending Exhibit A and Exhibit B , hereof, as
appropriate, to include reference to any right, title or interest in any Trademarks or Patents acquired by Grantor after the execution hereof or to
delete any reference to any right, title or interest in any Trademarks or Patents in which Grantor no longer has or claims any right, title or
interest, (ii) to file, in its sole discretion, one or more financing or continuation statements and amendments thereto, relative to any of the
Collateral without the signature of Grantor where permitted by law and (iii) after the occurrence of an Event of Default, to transfer the Collateral
into the name of
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Secured Party or a third party to the extent permitted under the California Uniform Commercial Code.

6.

Events of Default. The occurrence of any of the following shall constitute an Event of Default under the Agreement:

(a) An Event of Default occurs under the Loan Agreement; or
(b) Grantor breaches any warranty or agreement made by Grantor in this Agreement and, as to any breach that is capable of cure, Grantor
fails to cure such breach within five (5) days of the earlier of (x) Grantor's knowledge or (y) Secured Party's notice to Grantor, of the occurrence
of such breach.

7. Remedies. Upon the occurrence and continuance of an Event of Default, Secured Party shall have the right to exercise all the remedies of a
secured party under the California Uniform Commercial Code, including without limitation the right to require Grantor to assemble the Collateral and
any tangible property in which Secured Party has a security interest and to make it available to Secured Party at a place designated by Secured Party.
Secured Party shall have a nonexclusive, royalty free license to use the Trademarks and Patents to the extent reasonably necessary to permit Secured
Party to exercise its rights and remedies upon the occurrence of an Event of Default. Grantor will pay any expenses (including reasonable attorneys'
fees) incurred by Secured Party in connection with the exercise of any of Secured Party's rights hereunder, including without limitation any expense
incurred in disposing of the Collateral. All of Secured Party's rights and remedies with respect to the Collateral shall be cumulative.
8. Indemnity . Grantor agrees to defend, indemnify and hold harmless Secured Party and its officers, employees, and agents against all
obligations, demands, claims, and liabilities claimed or asserted by any other party in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
9. Course of Dealing . No course of dealing, nor any failure to exercise, nor any delay in exercising any right, power or privilege hereunder
shall operate as a waiver thereof.
10. Attorneys' Fees. If any action relating to this Agreement is brought by either party hereto against the other party, the prevailing party shall be
entitled to recover reasonable attorneys' fees, costs and disbursements.
11. Amendments . This Agreement may be amended only by a written instrument signed by both parties hereto.
12. Counterparts . This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original but all of which
together shall constitute the same instrument.
13. GOVERNING LAW; VENUE. EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE EXPRESSLY PROVIDED IN ANY OF THE LOAN DOCUMENTS, IN
ALL RESPECTS, INCLUDING ALL MATTERS OF CONSTRUCTION, VALIDITY AND PERFORMANCE, THIS AGREEMENT AND THE
OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS AND THE OBLIGATIONS ARISING HEREUNDER AND THEREUNDER SHALL BE GOVERNED BY,
AND CONSTRUED AND ENFORCED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA APPLICABLE TO
CONTRACTS MADE AND PERFORMED IN SUCH STATE, WITHOUT REGARD TO THE PRINCIPLES THEREOF REGARDING
CONFLICTS OF LAWS, AND ANY APPLICABLE LAWS OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA. BORROWER HEREBY CONSENTS
AND AGREES THAT THE STATE OR FEDERAL COURTS LOCATED IN SAN DIEGO COUNTY, CALIFORNIA SHALL HAVE
EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION TO HEAR AND DETERMINE ANY CLAIMS OR DISPUTES BETWEEN BORROWER AND BANK
PERTAINING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY OTHER LOAN DOCUMENT OR TO ANY MATTER ARISING OUT OF OR RELATED
TO THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY OF THE OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS; PROVIDED, THAT BANK,
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AND BORROWER ACKNOWLEDGE THAT ANY APPEALS FROM THOSE COURTS MAY HAVE TO BE HEARD BY A COURT
LOCATED OUTSIDE OF SAN DIEGO COUNTY, CALIFORNIA; AND FURTHER PROVIDED, THAT NOTHING IN THIS AGREEMENT
SHALL BE DEEMED OR OPERATE TO PRECLUDE BANK FROM BRINGING SUIT OR TAKING OTHER LEGAL ACTION IN ANY
OTHER JURISDICTION TO COLLECT THE OBLIGATIONS, TO REALIZE ON THE COLLATERAL OR ANY OTHER SECURITY FOR
THE OBLIGATIONS, OR TO ENFORCE A JUDGMENT OR OTHER COURT ORDER IN FAVOR OF AGENT FOR THE BENEFIT OF
ITSELF AND LENDERS. BORROWER EXPRESSLY SUBMITS AND CONSENTS IN ADVANCE TO SUCH JURISDICTION IN ANY
ACTION OR SUIT COMMENCED IN ANY SUCH COURT, AND BORROWER HEREBY WAIVES ANY OBJECTION WHICH IT MAY
HAVE BASED UPON LACK OF PERSONAL JURISDICTION, IMPROPER VENUE OR FORUM NON CONVENIENS AND HEREBY
CONSENTS TO THE GRANTING OF SUCH LEGAL OR EQUITABLE RELIEF AS IS DEEMED APPROPRIATE BY SUCH COURT.
BORROWER HEREBY WAIVES PERSONAL SERVICE OF THE SUMMONS, COMPLAINT AND OTHER PROCESS ISSUED IN ANY
SUCH ACTION OR SUIT AND AGREES THAT SERVICE OF SUCH SUMMONS, COMPLAINTS AND OTHER PROCESS MAY BE
MADE BY REGISTERED OR CERTIFIED MAIL ADDRESSED TO BORROWER AT THE ADDRESS SET FORTH IN THE LOAN
AGREEMENT AND THAT SERVICE SO MADE SHALL BE DEEMED COMPLETED UPON THE EARLIER OF BORROWER'S ACTUAL
RECEIPT THEREOF OR THREE DAYS AFTER DEPOSIT IN THE UNITED STATES MAILS, PROPER POSTAGE PREPAID.
14. DISPUTES. TO THE EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, IN CONNECTION WITH ANY CLAIM, CAUSE OF ACTION,
PROCEEDING OR OTHER DISPUTE CONCERNING THE LOAN DOCUMENTS (EACH A "CLAIM"), THE PARTIES TO THIS
AGREEMENT EXPRESSLY, INTENTIONALLY, AND DELIBERATELY WAIVE ANY RIGHT EACH MAY OTHERWISE HAVE TO
TRIAL BY JURY. IN THE EVENT THAT THE WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL SET FORTH IN THE PREVIOUS SENTENCE IS NOT
ENFORCEABLE UNDER THE LAW APPLICABLE TO THIS AGREEMENT, THE PARTIES TO THIS AGREEMENT AGREE THAT ANY
CLAIM, INCLUDING ANY QUESTION OF LAW OR FACT RELATING THERETO, SHALL, AT THE WRITTEN REQUEST OF ANY
PARTY, BE DETERMINED BY JUDICIAL REFERENCE PURSUANT TO THE STATE LAW APPLICABLE TO THIS AGREEMENT. THE
PARTIES SHALL SELECT A SINGLE NEUTRAL REFEREE, WHO SHALL BE A RETIRED STATE OR FEDERAL JUDGE. IN THE EVENT
THAT THE PARTIES CANNOT AGREE UPON A REFEREE, THE COURT SHALL APPOINT THE REFEREE. THE REFEREE SHALL
REPORT A STATEMENT OF DECISION TO THE COURT. NOTHING IN THIS PARAGRAPH SHALL LIMIT THE RIGHT OF ANY
PARTY AT ANY TIME TO EXERCISE SELF-HELP REMEDIES, FORECLOSE AGAINST COLLATERAL OR OBTAIN PROVISIONAL
REMEDIES. THE PARTIES SHALL BEAR THE FEES AND EXPENSES OF THE REFEREE EQUALLY, UNLESS THE REFEREE ORDERS
OTHERWISE. THE REFEREE SHALL ALSO DETERMINE ALL ISSUES RELATING TO THE APPLICABILITY, INTERPRETATION, AND
ENFORCEABILITY OF THIS PARAGRAPH. THE PARTIES ACKNOWLEDGE THAT IF A REFEREE IS SELECTED TO DETERMINE THE
CLAIMS, THEN THE CLAIMS WILL NOT BE DECIDED BY A JURY.
[Balance of Page Intentionally Left Blank ]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement on the day and year first above written.
Address of Grantor:

GRANTOR

6328 Monarch Park Place
Niwot, Colorado 80503

CROCS, INC.

Attn: Mike Kruteck

By: /s/ RUSS HAMMER
Its:

Russ Hammer, CFO

Address of Secured Party:

SECURED PARTY

530 B Street, 4th Floor
San Diego, California 92101

UNION BANK, N.A.

Attn: Jon Strayer

By: /s/ JON STRAYER
Its:

Jon Strayer, SVP

[Signature Page to Intellectual Property Security Agreement ]

EXHIBIT A

Patents
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.
10.
11.
12.
13.
14.
15.
16.
17.
18.
19.
20.
21.
22.
23.
24.
25.
26.
27.
28.
29.
30.
31.
32.
33.
34.
35.
36.
37.
38.
39.
40.
41.
42.
43.
44.
45.
46.
47.
48.
49.
50.
51.
52.
53.
54.
55.
56.
57.
58.
59.
60.
61.

Description
(SMALL) OPEN SHOE, SUCH AS A SLIPPER, SANDAL AND THE LIKE
ALL PURPOSE NUBBED CLEAT FOR SHOES AND OTHER NON-SLIP APPLICATIONS
ALL TERRAIN SPIKE
Breathable Footwear Pieces
CLEAT ASSEMBLY FOR SHOES
ELASTOMERIC FASTENER
FASTENER
FASTENER
FOOTWEAR
FOOTWEAR
FOOTWEAR
FOOTWEAR
FOOTWEAR (Adara)
FOOTWEAR (Axis)
FOOTWEAR (Axis)
FOOTWEAR (Baya)
FOOTWEAR (Celeste)
FOOTWEAR (CHUBB HYBRID)
FOOTWEAR (Crocstyle Flip ll—Ithaca)
FOOTWEAR (Crocstyle Slide ll—Cleo)
FOOTWEAR (Electro I)
FOOTWEAR (Electro II)
FOOTWEAR (Golf Shoe)
FOOTWEAR (Hybrid Flip Men's ll—Crete)
FOOTWEAR (Hybrid Flip Women's ll—Capri)
FOOTWEAR (Kid's Hydro ll—Crocling)
FOOTWEAR (Lena—Final Prototype)
FOOTWEAR (Lexi—Final Prototype)
FOOTWEAR (Mammoth)
FOOTWEAR (Mary Jane)
FOOTWEAR (Men's Slide Hybrid ll—Sobek)
FOOTWEAR (Mist—Final Prototype)
FOOTWEAR (Nadia—Final Prototype))
FOOTWEAR (Nanook—Final Prototype)
FOOTWEAR (No Holes)
FOOTWEAR (OFF ROAD II)
FOOTWEAR (Otter)
FOOTWEAR (Plunge—Final Prototype)
FOOTWEAR (PRIMA)
FOOTWEAR (PROFESSIONAL)
FOOTWEAR (Rally I)
FOOTWEAR (SCUTES)
FOOTWEAR (Snowmass Sole)
FOOTWEAR (Snowmass)
FOOTWEAR (Specialist)
FOOTWEAR (Velocity)
FOOTWEAR (Wedge ll—Sassari)
FOOTWEAR (Women's Slide Hybrid ll—Patra)
FOOTWEAR (Yucatan)
Footwear Pieces
FOOTWEAR SOLE
FOOTWEAR UPPER
FOOTWEAR UPPER
FOOTWEAR UPPER
FOOTWEAR UPPER
FOOTWEAR UPPER
FOOTWEAR UPPER (ALL TERRAIN HYBRID)
FOOTWEAR UPPER (CHUBB)
HIGH TOP SANDAL UPPER
MANUFACTURING AND MARKETING METHOD FOR ACCESSORIZING SHOES
MOLDED FOAM RECEPTACLE WITH MOLDED FOAM JAW OPENING

App. No.
11/124,048
08/882,516
29/040,047

App. Date
5/9/2005
6/25/1998
1/16/1996

08/768,846
11/530,005
29/289,779
29/289,789
29/206,427
29/254,474
29/283,855
29/328,528
29/282,751
29/306,958
29/326,323
29/282,760
29/282,583
29/246,178
29/275,178
29/275,176
29/306,957
29/326,324
29/298,228
29/275,180
29/275,181
29/275,191
29/302,587
29/302,586
29/280,317
29/246,201
29/275,189
29/302,590
29/302,592
29/302,588
29/206,450
29/251,384
29/282,763
29/302,591
29/251,383
29/244,661
29/306,953
29/251,329
29/252,517
29/252,526
29/280,627
29/282,762
29/275,183
29/275,188
29/282,764

12/18/1996
9/7/2006
7/31/2007
7/31/2007
5/28/2004
2/23/2006
8/24/2007
11/25/2008
7/27/2007
4/18/2008
10/15/2008
7/27/2007
7/24/2007
3/9/2006
12/15/2006
12/15/2006
4/18/2008
10/15/2008
11/30/2007
12/15/2006
12/15/2006
12/15/2006
1/18/2008
1/18/2008
5/23/2007
3/20/2006
12/15/2006
1/18/2008
1/18/2008
1/18/2008
5/28/2004
1/6/2006
7/27/2007
1/18/2008
1/6/2006
12/8/2005
4/18/2008
1/6/2006
1/23/2006
1/23/2006
6/3/2007
7/27/2007
12/15/2006
12/15/2006
7/27/2007

29/228,429
29/226,792
29/226,856
29/226,870
29/228,428
29/243,850
29/251,316
29/241,490
29/086,356
11/408,130
61/110,846

4/22/2005
3/31/2005
3/31/2005
3/31/2005
4/22/2005
11/30/2005
1/6/2006
10/26/2005
4/10/1998
4/20/2006
11/3/2008

Patent No.
7,367,142
5,860,228
D375,192
6,993,858
5,848,482

Issue Date
5/6/2008
1/19/1999
11/5/1996
2/7/2006
12/15/1998

D517,789
D547,540

3/28/2006
7/31/2007

D564,206
D578,279
D576,387

3/18/2008
10/14/2008
9/9/2008

D576,388
D576,389
D584,037

9/9/2008
9/9/2008
1/6/2009

D564,207
D576,390

3/18/2008
9/9/2008

D517,790
D564,208

3/28/2006
3/18/2008

D571,548
D575,499

6/24/2008
8/26/2008

D563,082
D556,438
D557.006

3/4/2008
12/4/2007
12/11/2007

D575,943
D575,942

9/2/2008
9/2/2008

7,146,751

12/12/2006

D549,434
D550,441
D525,419
D543,681
D543,341
D564,743
D564,205
D405,949

8/28/2007
9/11/2007
7/25/2006
6/5/2007
5/29/2007
3/25/2008
3/18/2008
2/23/1999

62.
63.
64.
65.
66.
67.
68.
69.
70.
71.
72.
73.
74.
75.
76.
77.
78.
79.
80.
81.
82.
83.
84.

Description
MULTI-FUNCTIONAL CARRIER FOR CARRYING ITEMS (Crocs-a-Dial)
PHONE CASE (CROCS-A- DIAL)
RUNNING SANDAL
RUNNING SANDAL
Running Sandal
SANDAL STRAP SYSTEM
SANDAL SYSTEM FOR ATHLETIC ACTIVITES
SANDAL UPPER
SANDAL UPPER
SANDAL WITH RESILIENT CLAW SHAPED CLEATS
SANDAL WITH TOE GUARD
SANDAL WITH X-CROSS WEAVE STRAPS
SANDALS WITH ADJUSTABLE CENTER POST ASSEMBLIES
SHOE ACCESSORY
SHOE SOLE
SHOE SPIKE
SHOES HAVING LIGHTWEIGHT SOLE ASSEMBLIES AND METHODS FOR MANUFACTURING SUCH
ASSEMBLIES
SYSTEM AND METHOD FOR SECURING ACCESSORIES TO WEARABLE ITEMS
SYSTEMS AND METHODS FOR CUSTOMIZING SHOES WITH ELASTOMERIC FASTENERS
SYSTEMS AND METHODS FOR DISPLAY OR COLLECTION OF DECORATIVE ACCESSORIES
SYSTEMS AND METHODS FOR SHOE CONSTRUCTION
TOE GUARD
VENTILATED TOE GUARD FOR SANDALS

App. No.
12/185,059
29/303,882
10/644,126
11/438,908

App. Date
8/1/2008
2/19/2008
8/20/2003
5/22/2006

11/970,058
10/652,410
29/058,452
29/071,106
09/576,747
09/657,729
09/136,494
11/708,852
29/258,148
29/058,697
29/070,581
61/057,771

1/7/2008
8/29/2003
8/15/1996
5/21/1997
5/23/2000
9/8/2000
8/19/1998
2/20/2007
4/17/2006
8/21/1996
5/12/1997
5/30/2008

11/737,649
61/103,504
12/199,634
12/037,814
29/131/324
29/162,734

7/7/2006
10/7/2008
8/27/2008
2/26/2008
10/17/2000
6/18/2002

Patent No.

Issue Date

7,121,020
7,320,188
7,320,188

10/17/2006
1/22/2008
1/22/2008

7,055,265
D387,893
D392,453
6,295,742
6,493,965
6,052,920

6/6/2006
12/23/1997
3/24/1998
10/2/2001
12/17/2002
4/25/2000

D554,847
D390,347
D396,949

11/13/2007
2/10/1998
8/18/1998

D440,754
D489,524

4/24/2001
5/11/2004

EXHIBIT B
Trademarks
Description

1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.
10.
11.
12.
13.
14.
15.
16.
17.
18.
19.
20.
21.
22.
23.
24.
25.
26.
27.
28.
29.
30.
31.
32.
33.
34.
35.
36.
37.
38.
39.
40.
41.
42.
43.
44.
45.
46.
47.
48.
49.

BEACH
BITE
BITE
BITE GOLF
CROC-A-DOODLES
CROCS
CROCS
CROCS
CROCS
CROCS CARES
CROCS FOR A CAUSE
CROCS LOCK
CROCS Logo
CROCS Logo
CROCS ORTHO
CROCSBUTTER
CROCSKIN
CROCSRX
CROCSRX
CROCSRX Logo
CROCSRX Logo
CROCSSTYLE
CROSLITE
CROSLITE AG+
CROSLITE and Molecule Logo
Croslite Logo
CROSLITE RT
Design of Flame
FURY
FURY and Design
GOLACES
GoLaces Logo
JIBBITZ
JIBBITZ
JIBBITZ
JIBBITZ
JIBBITZ
JIBBITZ
JIBBITZ & Design
JIBBITZ & Design (Black & White)
JIBBITZ & Design (Color)
LIVE. PROTECT. RESPECT.
MAMBAZ
MAMBAZ and Design
OCEAN CUSTODIAN
OCEAN MINDED
OCEAN MINDED
OCEAN MINDED
ORTHOLINER

Serial Number

78/636,356
75/028,825
78/174,782
78/078,536
77/197,229
76/520,746
78/645,937
78/857,086
77/194,912
77/194,907
77/194,910
77/105,599
78/636,674
77/335,228
78/642,974
78/693,878
78/588,872
78/727,760
78/765,325
78/765,373
78/765,382
78/465,359
78/693,873
78/857,082
78/765,338
78/765,359
77/146,388
77/975,447
77/072,824
78/597,376
77/231,530
77/204,594
78/771,256
77/086,355
77/086,366
77/086,369
77/086,370
77/221,870
78/771,251
77/221,873
78/771,254
77/117,003
77/975,221
77/975,220
78/688,672
75/322,835
77/636,065
77/636,092
78/187,412

Filing Date

5/24/2005
11/20/1995
10/15/2002
8/9/2001
6/4/2007
5/27/2003
6/8/2005
4/7/2006
5/31/2007
5/31/2007
5/31/2007
2/12/2007
5/25/2005
11/21/2007
6/3/2005
8/16/2005
3/16/2005
10/6/2005
12/2/2005
12/2/2005
12/2/2005
8/10/2004
8/16/2005
4/7/2006
12/2/2005
12/2/2005
4/2/2007
12/28/2006
12/28/2006
3/29/2005
7/17/2007
6/13/2007
12/12/2005
1/19/2007
1/19/2007
1/19/2007
1/19/2007
7/3/2007
12/12/2005
7/3/2007
12/12/2005
2/27/2007
1/30/2007
1/30/2007
8/9/2005
7/11/1997
12/18/2008
12/18/2008
11/21/2002

Description

50.
51.
52.
53.
54.
55.
56.
57.
58.
59.
60.
61.
62.
63.
64.
65.

ORTHOSPORT
ORTHOSPORT
PREPAIR
RETROFIT
RT Molecule Logo
Scales Design
SLIP 'EM ON AND GO.
SO, THAT'S WHAT THE HOLES ARE FOR!
SOLESUNITED
SOLESUNITED and Design
Tail Logo
THE CROCS FOUNDATION
WEAR A PAIR, SHARE A PAIR
XGOLF
YOU BY CROCS
YOU BY CROCS Stylized

Serial Number

78/174,717
78/174,718
77/635,449
77/048,599
77/146,410
77/144,169
77/221,992
78/858,716
77/144,161
77/144,163
77/095,095
77/194,906
77/501,809
75/291,152
77/975,296
77/975,297

Filing Date

10/15/2002
10/15/2002
12/17/2008
11/21/2006
4/2/2007
3/29/2007
7/3/2007
4/11/2006
3/29/2007
3/29/2007
1/30/2007
5/31/2007
6/18/2008
5/13/1997
2/21/2007
4/11/2007

SCHEDULE TO IP SECURITY AGREEMENT
Patent No. D517,789

[UNION BANK LOGO] COMMERCIAL PROMISSORY NOTE
(REFERENCE RATE)

Debtor Name

Crocs, Inc., a Delaware Corporation
Debtor Address

Office

Loan Number

6328 Monarch Park Place
Niwot, CO 80503

40061

163-151-024-2

Maturity Date

Amount

February 16, 2009

$22,421,500.00

$22,421,500.00

Date December 19, 2008

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned ("Debtor") promises to pay to the order of UNION BANK OF CALIFORNIA, N.A. ("Bank"), as
indicated below, the principal sum of TWENTY TWO MILLION FOUR HUNDRED TWENTY ONE THOUSAND FIVE HUNDRED AND
NO/100 DOLLARS ($22,421,500.00), together with interest on the balance of such principal from time to time outstanding at the per annum rate or
rates and at the times set forth below.
At any time prior to the maturity of this note, subject to the provisions of paragraph 5, below, Debtor may repay but not reborrow hereunder so long as
the total outstanding at any one time does not exceed the maximum amount then available to be borrowed hereunder as set forth above or in paragraph 1,
below.
1. PAYMENTS. Debtor shall pay all principal and accrued but unpaid interest on February 16, 2009 (the "Termination Date"). Should interest not
be paid when due it shall become part of the principal and bear interest as herein provided. If any interest rate defined in this note ceases to be available
for any reason, then said interest rate shall be replaced by the rate then offered by Bank which, in the sole discretion of Bank, most closely approximates
the unavailable rate.
Debtor shall pay all amounts due under this note in lawful money of the United States to Bank at P.O. Box 30115, Los Angeles, CA 90030-0115, or at
such other office as may be designated by Bank from time to time.

2.

INTEREST RATE.
(a)

VARIABLE INTEREST RATE. All principal outstanding hereunder shall bear interest at a rate per annum equal to nine percent

(9.0%) in excess of the Reference Rate, which rate shall vary as and when the Reference Rate changes.

(b)

INTEREST RATE COMPUTATIONS. All computations of interest under this note shall be made on the basis of a year of 360 days

for actual days elapsed.

3. LATE PAYMENTS. If any payment required by the terms of this note shall remain unpaid ten days after same is due, at the option of Bank,
Debtor shall pay a fee of $100 to Bank.
4.

INTEREST RATE FOLLOWING DEFAULT. In the event of default, at the option of Bank, and, to the extent permitted by law. interest shall

be payable on the outstanding principal under this note at a per annum rate equal to five percent (5%) in excess of the interest rate specified in
paragraph 2(b), above, calculated from the date of default until all amounts payable under this note are paid in full.

5.

PREPAYMENT.
(a)

Amounts outstanding under this note bearing interest at a rate based on the Reference Rate may be prepaid in whole or in part at any time,

without penalty or premium.

(b)

All prepayments shall include payment of accrued interest on the principal amount so prepaid and shall be applied to payment of interest

before application to principal. A determination by Bank as to the prepayment fee amount, if any, shall be conclusive.

(c)

Bank shall provide Debtor a statement of the amount payable on account of prepayment.

DEBTOR INITIAL HERE:
6.

RH

DEFAULT AND ACCELERATION OF TIME FOR PAYMENT. Default shall include, but not be limited to, any of the following: (a) the

failure of Debtor to make any payment required under this note when due; (b) any breach, misrepresentation or other default by Debtor, any guarantor,
co-maker, endorser, or any person or entity other than Debtor providing security for this note (hereinafter individually and collectively referred to as the
"Obligor") under any security agreement, guaranty or other agreement between Bank and any Obligor; (c) the insolvency of any Obligor or the failure
of any Obligor generally to pay such Obligor's debts as such debts become due; (d) the commencement as to any Obligor of any voluntary or
involuntary proceeding under any laws relating to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, arrangement, debt adjustment or debtor relief; (e) the
assignment by any Obligor for the benefit of such Obligor's creditors; (f) the appointment, or commencement of any proceeding for the appointment of
a receiver, trustee, custodian or similar official for all or substantially all of any Obligor's property; (g) the commencement of any proceeding for the
dissolution or liquidation of any Obligor; (h) the termination of existence or death of any Obligor; (i) the revocation of any guaranty or subordination
agreement given in connection with this note; (j) the failure of any Obligor to comply with any order, judgment, injunction, decree, writ or demand of
any court or other public authority; (k) the filing or recording against any Obligor, or the property of any Obligor, of any notice of levy, notice to
withhold, or other legal process for taxes other than property taxes; (1) the default by any Obligor personally liable for amounts owed hereunder on any
obligation concerning the borrowing of money; (m) the issuance against any Obligor, or the property of any Obligor, of any writ of attachment,
execution, or other judicial lien; or (n) the deterioration of the financial condition of any Obligor which results in Bank deeming itself, in good faith,
insecure. Upon the occurrence of any such default, Bank, in its discretion, may cease to advance funds hereunder and may declare all obligations under
this note immediately due and payable; however, upon the occurrence of an event of default under d, e, f, or g, all principal and interest shall
automatically become immediately due and payable.

7.

ADDITIONAL AGREEMENTS OF DEBTOR. If any amounts owing under this note are not paid when due, Debtor promises to pay all

costs and expenses, including reasonable attorneys' fees (including the allocated costs of Bank's in-house counsel and legal staff) incurred by Bank in
the negotiation, documentation and modification of this note and all related documents and in the collection or enforcement of any amount outstanding
hereunder. Debtor and any Obligor, for the maximum period of time and the full extent permitted by law, (a) waive diligence, presentment, demand,
notice of nonpayment, protest, notice of protest, and notice of every kind; (b) waive the right to assert the defense of any statute of limitations to any
debt or obligation hereunder; and (c) consent to renewals and extensions of time for the payment of any amounts due under this note. If this note is
signed by more than one party, the term "Debtor" includes each of the undersigned and any successors in interest thereof; all of whose liability shall be
joint and several. Any married person who signs this note agrees that recourse may be had against the separate property of that person for any
obligations hereunder. The receipt of any check or other item of payment by Bank, at its option, shall not be considered a payment on account until such
check or other item of payment is honored when presented for payment at the drawee bank. Bank may delay the credit of such payment based upon
Bank's schedule of funds availability, and interest under this note shall accrue until the funds are deemed collected. In any action brought under or
arising out of this note, Debtor and any Obligor, including their successors and assigns, hereby consent to the jurisdiction of any competent court within
the State of California, as provided in any alternative dispute resolution agreement executed between Debtor and Bank, and consent to service of process
by any means authorized by said state's law. The term "Bank" includes, without limitation, any holder of this note. This note shall be construed in
accordance with and governed by the laws of the State of California. This note hereby incorporates any
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alternative dispute resolution agreement previously, concurrently or hereafter executed between Debtor and Bank.

8.

DEFINITIONS . As used herein, the following terms shall have the meanings respectively set forth below: "Business Day" means a day on

which Bank is open for business for the funding of corporate loans. "Reference Rate" means the rate announced by Bank from time to time at its
corporate headquarters as its Reference Rate. The Reference Rate is an index rate determined by Bank from time to time as a means of pricing certain
extensions of credit and is neither directly tied to any external rate of interest or index nor necessarily the lowest rate of interest charged by Bank at any
given time.

9.

SUPERSESSION OF PRIOR NOTE . This note supersedes and replaces that certain Commercial Promissory Note (Base Rate) in a principal

amount not to exceed $22,421,500.00, dated December 1, 2008, executed by Debtor to the order of Bank.

DEBTOR:
Crocs, Inc., a Delaware corporation

By:

/s/ RUSS HAMMER

Title: CFO

3
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AMENDMENT NO. 8 TO LOAN AGREEMENT
THIS AMENDMENT NO. 8 TO LOAN AGREEMENT (this "Amendment"), dated and effective as of January 27, 2009, is entered into by and
between Union Bank, N.A. (formerly known as Union Bank of California, N.A.; "Bank") and Crocs, Inc., a Delaware corporation ("Borrower"), with
reference to the following facts:
RECITALS

A. Borrower and Bank are parties to that certain Loan Agreement, dated as of May 8, 2007 (as heretofore amended, the "Loan Agreement"),
pursuant to which Bank has provided Borrower with certain credit facilities.
B. Borrower has requested that Bank amend the Loan Agreement as set forth below.
C. Bank is willing to grant such amendment on the terms and conditions set forth below.

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the amendment and for other good and valuable consideration the receipt and adequacy of which are
hereby acknowledged, the parties hereby agree as follows:
1. Initially capitalized terms used in this Amendment (including without limitation in the recitals hereto) without definition shall have the
respective meanings given thereto in the Loan Agreement.

2. Notwithstanding any provision of the Loan Agreement to the contrary, Bank hereby consents to the execution, delivery and performance by
Borrower of that certain Security Agreement: Specific Rights to Payment (the "Security Agreement") by and between Borrower and Wells Fargo Bank,
National Association, dated as of January
, 2009. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Bank shall not be deemed to release its security interest in the
Collateral, as defined in the Security Agreement, which is expressly retained.
3. Sections (vi) and (vii) of paragraph 4 of that certain Amendment No. 5 to Loan Agreement by and between Borrower and Bank dated as of
September 30, 2008, hereby are amended and restated in their entireties to read as follows:

"(vi) to provide Bank, by Wednesday of each week for the preceding week, with a weekly borrowing base certificate based upon the
advance rates disclosed in section (iv), above, and
(vii) to provide Bank, by Wednesday of each week for the preceding week, with a weekly reconciliation of actual cash balances to the
projected weekly cash flow statement as required in section (v), above."

4.

The effectiveness of this Amendment shall be subject to the prior satisfaction of each of the following conditions:

(a) Bank shall have received an original of this Amendment, duly executed by Borrower;; and

(b) Borrower shall have paid Bank all legal fees and expenses incurred in connection with this Amendment, which may be debited from
any of Borrower's accounts with Bank.
5. All representations and warranties made in the Loan Agreement or in any other documents or instruments relating thereto, including without
limitation any Loan Documents furnished in connection with this Amendment, after giving effect to this Amendment, shall survive the execution and
delivery of this Amendment and the other Loan Documents, and nothing shall affect the representations and warranties or the right of Bank to rely
thereon.

6. Borrower is not aware of any events which now constitute, or with the passage of time or the giving of notice, or both, would constitute, an
Event of Default under the Loan Agreement as amended by this Amendment.

7. The Loan Agreement, each of the other Loan Documents, and any and all other agreements, documents or instruments now or hereafter
executed and delivered pursuant to the terms of this Amendment, or pursuant to the terms of the Loan Agreement as amended hereby, are hereby
amended so that any reference therein to the Loan Agreement shall mean a reference to the Loan Agreement as amended hereby.
8. The Loan Agreement and the other Loan Documents remain in full force and effect and Borrower herby ratifies and confirms its agreements
and covenants contained therein. Borrower hereby confirms that, after giving effect to this Amendment, no Event of Default exists as of the date hereof.

9. Any provision of this Amendment held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unenforceable shall not impair or invalidate the
remainder of this Agreement and the effect thereof shall be confined to the provision so held to be invalid or unenforceable.
10. THIS AMENDMENT AND ALL OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS EXECUTED PURSUANT HERETO SHALL BE DEEMED TO
HAVE BEEN MADE AND TO BE PERFORMABLE IN THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA AND SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND
CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA.
11. This Amendment is binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of Bank and Borrower and their respective successors and assigns; provided
that Borrower may not assign or transfer any of its rights or obligations hereunder without the prior written consent of the Bank.
12. This Amendment may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which when so executed shall be deemed to be an original, but all of
which when taken together shall constitute one and the same instrument.
13. THIS AMENDMENT, TOGETHER WITH THE OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS AS WRITTEN, REPRESENTS THE FINAL
AGREEMENT BETWEEN BANK AND BORROWER AS TO THE SUBJECT MATTER HEREOF AND MAY NOT BE CONTRADICTED BY
EVIDENCE OF PRIOR, CONTEMPORANEOUS OR SUBSEQUENT ORAL AGREEMENTS OF THE PARTIES. THERE ARE NO
UNWRITTEN ORAL AGREEMENTS BETWEEN BANK AND BORROWER.
[Balance of Page Intentionally Left Blank ]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have entered into this Amendment by their respective duly authorized officers as of the date first
above written.
CROCS, INC.

By:

/s/ RUSS HAMMER

Printed Name: Russ Hammer
Title:

CFO

UNION BANK, N.A.

By:

/s/ MICHAEL J. CAMPBELL

Printed Name: Michael J. Campbell
Title:

Vice President

[Signature Page to Amendment No. 8 to Loan Agreement]

Acknowledged and Agreed:

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NA

By:

/s/ DAVID ERICSON

Printed Name: David Ericson
Title:

Senior Vice President

[Acknowledgement Page to Amendment No. 8 to Loan Agreement]
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Exhibit 10.42
AMENDMENT NO. 9 TO LOAN AGREEMENT
THIS AMENDMENT NO. 9 TO LOAN AGREEMENT (this "Amendment"), dated and effective as of February 13, 2009, is entered into by and
between Union Bank, N.A. (formerly known as Union Bank of California, N.A.; "Bank") and Crocs, Inc., a Delaware corporation ("Borrower"), with
reference to the following facts:

RECITALS
A. Borrower and Bank are parties to that certain Loan Agreement, dated as of May 8, 2007 (as heretofore amended, the "Loan Agreement"),
pursuant to which Bank has provided Borrower with certain credit facilities.
B. Borrower has requested that Bank amend the Loan Agreement as set forth below.
C. Bank is willing to grant such amendment on the terms and conditions set forth below.

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the amendment and for other good and valuable consideration the receipt and adequacy of which are
hereby acknowledged, the parties hereby agree as follows:
1. Initially capitalized terms used in this Amendment (including without limitation in the recitals hereto) without definition shall have the
respective meanings given thereto in the Loan Agreement.

2. The sentence in Section 1.1.1 of the Loan Agreement which reads as follows: "The Committed Loan shall be repaid on or before
February 16, 2009, at which time all unpaid principal and interest on the Committed Loan shall be due and payable," hereby is amended and
restated in its entirety to read as follows: "The Committed Loan shall be repaid on or before April 2, 2009, at which time all unpaid principal and
interest on the Committed Loan shall be due and payable."
3. Section (v) paragraph 4 of that certain Amendment No. 5 to Loan Agreement by and between Borrower and Bank dated as of
September 30, 2008, hereby is amended and restated in its entirety to read as follows:
"(v) Intentionally Omitted,"

4. Section (vi) paragraph 4 of that certain Amendment No. 5 to Loan Agreement by and between Borrower and Bank dated as of
September 30, 2008, hereby is amended and restated in its entirety to read as follows:

"(vi) to provide Bank, by Wednesday of each week for the preceding week, with a weekly borrowing base certificate based upon the
advance rates disclosed in section (iv), above, together with a rolling thirteen (13) week projected cash flow forecast in form and content
reasonably acceptable to Bank, and"
5. The reference to "section (v)"in Section (vii) paragraph 4 of that certain Amendment No. 5 to Loan Agreement by and between
Borrower and Bank dated as of September 30, 2008, shall hereby mean and refer to "section (vi)."

6. Notwithstanding anything in the Loan Agreement to the contrary, Borrower agrees to make principal payments on the Committed
Loan, of Two Hundred Thousand Dollars ($200,000) each, on February 27, March 6, March 13, March 20 and March 27, 2009.

7.

The effectiveness of this Amendment shall be subject to the prior satisfaction of each of the following conditions:
(a) Bank shall have received an original of this Amendment, duly executed by Borrower;

(b) Bank shall have received reports from Great American and CRG, in form and content acceptable to Bank; and

(c) Borrower shall have paid Bank all legal fees and expenses incurred in connection with this Amendment, which may be debited
from any of Borrower's accounts with Bank.
8. All representations and warranties made in the Loan Agreement or in any other documents or instruments relating thereto, including
without limitation any Loan Documents furnished in connection with this Amendment, after giving effect to this Amendment, shall survive the
execution and delivery of this Amendment and the other Loan Documents, and nothing shall affect the representations and warranties or the
right of Bank to rely thereon.

9. Borrower is not aware of any events which now constitute, or with the passage of time or the giving of notice, or both, would
constitute, an Event of Default under the Loan Agreement as amended by this Amendment.
10. The Loan Agreement, each of the other Loan Documents, and any and all other agreements, documents or instruments now or
hereafter executed and delivered pursuant to the terms of this Amendment, or pursuant to the terms of the Loan Agreement as amended hereby,
are hereby amended so that any reference therein to the Loan Agreement shall mean a reference to the Loan Agreement as amended hereby.

11. The Loan Agreement and the other Loan Documents remain in full force and effect and Borrower hereby ratifies and confirms its
agreements and covenants contained therein. Borrower hereby confirms that, after giving effect to this Amendment, no Event of Default exists
as of the date hereof.
12. Any provision of this Amendment held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unenforceable shall not impair or
invalidate the remainder of this Agreement and the effect thereof shall be confined to the provision so held to be invalid or unenforceable.
13. THIS AMENDMENT AND ALL OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS EXECUTED PURSUANT HERETO SHALL BE DEEMED
TO HAVE BEEN MADE AND TO BE PERFORMABLE IN THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA AND SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND
CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA.
14. This Amendment is binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of Bank and Borrower and their respective successors and assigns;
provided that Borrower may not assign or transfer any of its rights or obligations hereunder without the prior written consent of the Bank.
15. This Amendment may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which when so executed shall be deemed to be an original, but
all of which when taken together shall constitute one and the same instrument.
16. THIS AMENDMENT, TOGETHER WITH THE OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS AS WRITTEN, REPRESENTS THE FINAL
AGREEMENT BETWEEN BANK AND BORROWER AS TO THE SUBJECT MATTER HEREOF AND MAY NOT BE
CONTRADICTED BY EVIDENCE OF PRIOR, CONTEMPORANEOUS OR SUBSEQUENT ORAL AGREEMENTS OF THE
PARTIES. THERE ARE NO UNWRITTEN ORAL AGREEMENTS BETWEEN BANK AND BORROWER.
[Balance of Page Intentionally Left Blank ]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have entered into this Amendment by their respective duly authorized officers as of the date first
above written.

CROCS, INC.

By:
Printed Name:
Title:

/s/ RUSS HAMMER
Russ Hammer

CFO

UNION BANK, N.A.

By:
Printed Name:
Title:

/s/ MICHAEL J. CAMPBELL
Michael J. Campbell

Vice President

[Signature Page to Amendment No. 9 to Loan Agreement]

Acknowledged and Agreed:
JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NA

By:
Printed Name:
Title:

/s/ BRIAN MCDOUGAL
Brian McDougal
Vice President

[Acknowledgement Page to Amendment No. 9 to Loan Agreement]

[LOGO]
COMMERCIAL PROMISSORY NOTE
(REFERENCE RATE)
Debtor Name
Crocs, Inc., a Delaware Corporation

Debtor Address
6328 Monarch Park Place
Niwot, CO 80503

$22,421,500.00

Office
40061
Maturity Date
April 2, 2009

Loan Number
163-151-024-2
Amount
$22,421,500.00

Date February 13, 2009

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned ("Debtor") promises to pay to the order of UNION BANK OF CALIFORNIA, N.A. ("Bank"),
as indicated below, the principal sum of TWENTY TWO MILLION FOUR HUNDRED TWENTY ONE THOUSAND FIVE HUNDRED AND
NO/100 DOLLARS ($22,421,500.00), together with interest on the balance of such principal from time to time outstanding at the per annum rate or
rates and at the times set forth below.
At any time prior to the maturity of this note, subject to the provisions of paragraph 5, below, Debtor may repay but not reborrow hereunder so
long as the total outstanding at any one time does not exceed the maximum amount then available to be borrowed hereunder as set forth above or in
paragraph 1, below.
1.

PAYMENTS. Debtor shall pay (x) accrued but unpaid interest on the first day of each month (commencing March 1, 2009), and

(y) principal payments of Two Hundred Thousand Dollars ($200,000) on each of February 27, March 6, March 13, March 20 and March 27, 2009.
Debtor shall pay all remaining principal and accrued but unpaid interest on April 2, 2009 (the "Termination Date"). Should interest not be paid when
due it shall become part of the principal and bear interest as herein provided. If any interest rate defined in this note ceases to be available for any reason,
then said interest rate shall be replaced by the rate then offered by Bank which, in the sole discretion of Bank, most closely approximates the unavailable
rate.
Debtor shall pay all amounts due under this note in lawful money of the United States to Bank at P.O. Box 30115, Los Angeles, CA 90030-0115,
or at such other office as may be designated by Bank from time to time.

2.

INTEREST RATE.
(a) VARIABLE INTEREST RATE. All principal outstanding hereunder shall bear interest at a rate per annum equal to nine percent
(9.0%) in excess of the Reference Rate, which rate shall vary as and when the Reference Rate changes.
(b) INTEREST RATE COMPUTATIONS. All computations of interest under this note shall be made on the basis of a year of
360 days for actual days elapsed.

3. LATE PAYMENTS. If any payment required by the terms of this note shall remain unpaid ten days after same is due, at the option of
Bank, Debtor shall pay a fee of $100 to Bank.
4.

INTEREST RATE FOLLOWING DEFAULT. In the event of default, at the option of Bank, and, to the extent permitted by law. interest

shall be payable on the outstanding principal under this note at a per annum rate equal to five percent (5%) in excess of the interest rate specified in
paragraph 2(b), above, calculated from the date of default until all amounts payable under this note are paid in full.

5.

PREPAYMENT.
(a) Amounts outstanding under this note bearing interest at a rate based on the Reference Rate may be prepaid in whole or in part at any
time, without penalty or premium.

(b) All prepayments shall include payment of accrued interest on the principal amount so prepaid and shall be applied to payment of
interest before application to principal. A determination by Bank as to the prepayment fee amount, if any, shall be conclusive.
(c) Bank shall provide Debtor a statement of the amount payable on account of prepayment.

DEBTOR INITIAL HERE:
6.

RH

DEFAULT AND ACCELERATION OF TIME FOR PAYMENT. Default shall include, but not be limited to, any of the following:

(a) the failure of Debtor to make any payment required under this note when due; (b)any breach, misrepresentation or other default by Debtor, any
guarantor, co-maker, endorser, or any person or entity other than Debtor providing security for this note (hereinafter individually and collectively
referred to as the "Obligor") under any security agreement, guaranty or other agreement between Bank and any Obligor; (c) the insolvency of any
Obligor or the failure of any Obligor generally to pay such Obligor's debts as such debts become due; (d) the commencement as to any Obligor of any
voluntary or involuntary proceeding under any laws relating to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, arrangement, debt adjustment or debtor relief;
(e) the assignment by any Obligor for the benefit of such Obligor's creditors; (f) the appointment, or commencement of any proceeding for the
appointment of a receiver, trustee, custodian or similar official for all or substantially all of any Obligor's property; (g) the commencement of any
proceeding for the dissolution or liquidation of any Obligor; (h) the termination of existence or death of any Obligor; (i) the revocation of any guaranty
or subordination agreement given in connection with this note; (j) the failure of any Obligor to comply with any order, judgment, injunction, decree, writ
or demand of any court or other public authority; (k) the filing or recording against any Obligor, or the property of any Obligor, of any notice of levy,
notice to withhold, or other legal process for taxes other than property taxes; (1) the default by any Obligor personally liable for amounts owed
hereunder on any obligation concerning the borrowing of money; (m) the issuance against any Obligor, or the property of any Obligor, of any writ of
attachment, execution, or other judicial lien; or (n) the deterioration of the financial condition of any Obligor which results in Bank deeming itself, in
good faith, insecure. Upon the occurrence of any such default, Bank, in its discretion, may cease to advance funds hereunder and may declare all
obligations under this note immediately due and payable; however, upon the occurrence of an event of default under d, e, f, or g, all principal and
interest shall automatically become immediately due and payable.

7.

ADDITIONAL AGREEMENTS OF DEBTOR.

If any amounts owing under this note are not paid when due, Debtor promises to pay all

costs and expenses, including reasonable attorneys' fees (including the allocated costs of Bank's in-house counsel and legal staff) incurred by Bank in
the negotiation, documentation and modification of this note and all related documents and in the collection or enforcement of any amount outstanding
hereunder. Debtor and any Obligor, for the maximum period of time and the full extent permitted by law, (a) waive diligence, presentment, demand,
notice of nonpayment, protest, notice of protest, and notice of every kind; (b) waive the right to assert the defense of any statute of limitations to any
debt or obligation hereunder; and (c) consent to renewals and extensions of time for the payment of any amounts due under this note. If this note is
signed by more than one party, the term "Debtor" includes each of the undersigned and any successors in interest thereof; all of whose liability shall be
joint and several. Any married person who signs this note agrees that recourse may be had against the separate property of that person for any
obligations hereunder. The receipt of any check or other item of payment by Bank, at its option, shall not be considered a payment on account until such
check or other item of payment is honored when presented for payment at the drawee bank. Bank may delay the credit of such payment based upon
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Bank's schedule of funds availability, and interest under this note shall accrue until the funds are deemed collected. In any action brought under or
arising out of this note, Debtor and any Obligor, including their successors and assigns, hereby consent to the jurisdiction of any competent court within
the State of California, as provided in any alternative dispute resolution agreement executed between Debtor and Bank, and consent to service of process
by any means authorized by said state's law. The term "Bank" includes, without limitation, any holder of this note. This note shall be construed in
accordance with and governed by the laws of the State of California. This note hereby incorporates any alternative dispute resolution agreement
previously, concurrently or hereafter executed between Debtor and Bank.

8. DEFINITIONS. As used herein, the following terms shall have the meanings respectively set forth below: "Business Day" means a day
on which Bank is open for business for the funding of corporate loans. "Reference Rate" means the rate announced by Bank from time to time at its
corporate headquarters as its Reference Rate. The Reference Rate is an index rate determined by Bank from time to time as a means of pricing certain
extensions of credit and is neither directly tied to any external rate of interest or index nor necessarily the lowest rate of interest charged by Bank at any
given time.

9.

SUPERSESSION OF PRIOR NOTE.

This note supersedes and replaces that certain Commercial Promissory Note (Base Rate) in a

principal amount not to exceed $22,421,500.00, dated December 19, 2008, executed by Debtor to the order of Bank.

DEBTOR:
Crocs, Inc., a Delaware corporation

By:

/s/ RUSS HAMMER

Title: CFO
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Exhibit 21
List of Subsidiaries
Name

Western Brands Holding Company, Inc.
Crocs Online, Inc.
Crocs Retail, Inc.
Jibbitz, LLC
Fury Hockey, Inc.
Ocean Minded, Inc.
Crocs Marine, Ltd.
Crocs Puerto Rico, Inc.
Crocs Mexico S.de.R.L. de CV
Crocs Servicios S.de.R.L. de CV
4246519 Canada Inc.
Crocs Canada, Inc.
Colorado Footwear C.V.
Crocs Europe B.V.
Crocs UK Limited
Exo Italia, S.r.l.
Crocs Finland Oy
Crocs International Holding Limited
Crocs Asia Pte. Ltd.
Crocs Australia Pty. Ltd
Heirs and Grace Pty. Ltd.
Crocs New Zealand Limited
Crocs Taiwan Limited
Crocs Hong Kong Ltd.
Crocs Industrial (Hong Kong) Co. Ltd.
Crocs Industrial (Shenzhen) Co. Ltd.
Crocs Brasil Comercio de Calcados Ltda.
Bite, Inc.
Crocs Foundation, Inc.
Crocs Stores Oy
Crocs Stores B.V.
Crocs Germany Gmbh
Crocs Korea Pte Ltd.
Crocs India Private Limited
Peaceful Pea, LLC
Crocs S.r.l.
Panama Footwear
Crocs India Retail Limited
Crocs Trading (Shanghai) Co. Ltd.
Crocs South Africa
Crocs BH LLC
Crocs CIS
RA Footwear

State/Country of organization or incorporation

Colorado
Colorado
Colorado
Colorado
Colorado
Colorado
Cayman
Puerto Rico
Mexico
Mexico
Canada
Canada
Netherlands
Netherlands
United Kingdom
Italy
Finland
Cayman
Singapore
Australia
Australia
New Zealand
Taiwan
Hong Kong
Hong Kong
China
Brazil
Colorado
Colorado
Finland
Netherlands
Germany
Korea
India
Colorado
Argentina
Panama
India
China
South Africa
Bosnia-Herzegovina
Russia
United States
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Exhibit 23

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement Nos. 333-132312 and 333-144705 on Forms S-8 of our reports dated
March 17, 2009, relating to the consolidated financial statements of Crocs, Inc. (the Company) (which report expresses an unqualified opinion and
includes explanatory paragraphs relating to (a) the existence of substantial doubt about the Company's ability to continue as a going concern and (b) the
adoption on January 1, 2007, of the Financial Accounting Standards Board's Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes), and
the effectiveness of Crocs, Inc.'s internal control over financial reporting, appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Crocs, Inc. for the year
ended December 31, 2008.
/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Denver, Colorado
March 17, 2009
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Exhibit 31.1
SECTION 302 CERTIFICATION
I, Ronald R. Snyder, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Crocs, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors or (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: March 17, 2009

/s/ RONALD R. SNYDER
Ronald R. Snyder
President and Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)
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Exhibit 31.2
SECTION 302 CERTIFICATION
I, Russell C. Hammer, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Crocs, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors or (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: March 17, 2009

/s/ RUSSELL C. HAMMER
Russell C. Hammer
Chief Financial Officer, Senior Vice President—Finance and Treasurer

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
The undersigned, Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of Crocs, Inc. (the "Company"), hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
§1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of their knowledge:

(1)

The Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2008 ("Form 10-K") fully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m) or 78o(d)); and

(2)

The information contained in the Form 10-K fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of
the Company for the period covered by the Form 10-K.

Date: March 17, 2009

/s/ RONALD R. SNYDER
Ronald R. Snyder
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ RUSSELL C. HAMMER
Russell C. Hammer
Chief Financial Officer, Senior Vice President—Finance and Treasurer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Crocs, Inc. and will be retained by Crocs, Inc. and
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
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